
 

Dinas a Sir Abertawe 
 
Hysbysiad o Gyfarfod 
 
Fe'ch gwahoddir i gyfarfod 

 

Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio 
 

Lleoliad: 
 

Cyfarfod Aml-Leoliad  - Ystafell Gloucester, Neuadd y Ddinas / MS 
Teams 
 

Dyddiad: 
 

Dydd Mercher, 25 Hydref 2023 

Amser: 
 

2.00 pm 

Cadeirydd: Paula O'Connor 
 

 

Aelodaeth: 
Cynghorwyr: A Davis, P R Hood-Williams, J W Jones, M B Lewis, M W Locke, 
S Pritchard, L V Walton a/ac T M White 
 
Aelod(au) Lleyg: Gordon Anderson, Julie Davies a/ac David Roberts 
 
Gwylio ar-lein: https://bit.ly/3tnASdL  
 

 

Agenda 
Rhif y Dudalen. 

1   Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.  
 
2   Datgeliadau o fuddiannau personol a rhagfarnol.  

 www.abertawe.gov.uk/DatgeluCysylltiadau  
 
3   Cofnodion. 1 - 9 

 Cymeradwyo a llofnodi, fel cofnod cywir, gofnodion y cyfarfod(ydd) 
blaenorol. 

 

 
4   Adroddiad Archwilio Ysgolion Gynradd Clydach 2023.  (Er 

Gwybodaeth) (David Roe) 
10 - 19 

 
5   Adroddiad Asesu Allanol 2023/24. (Er Gwybodaeth) (Simon 

Cockings) 
20 - 80 

 
6   Cyfarwyddiaeth Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol: Amgylchedd 

Rheoli Mewnol 2023/24.  (Er Gwybodaeth) (David Howes) 
81 - 111 

 
7   Adroddiad Blynyddol Craffu 2022-23 a'r Rhaglen Waith Craffu. (ER 

Gwybodaeth) (Cynghorydd P M Black) 
112 - 172 

 
8   Llythyr Blynyddol Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus 

Cymru 2022-23.  (Er Gwybodaeth) (Sarah Lackenby) 
173 - 185 

https://bit.ly/3tnASdL
http://www.abertawe.gov.uk/DatgeluCysylltiadau


 

 

 
9   Trefniadau Llywodraethu a Sicrhau Partneriaethau Strategol 

Cyngor Abertawe.  (Er Gwybodaeth) (Richard Rowlands) 
186 - 196 

 
10   Cyflogaeth Staff yr Asiantaeth - Diweddariad 2023.  (Er 

Gwybodaeth) (Rachael Davies) 
197 - 207 

 
11   Diweddariad Adroddiad Archwilio Rheoli Absenoldeb.  (Er 

Gwybodaeth) (Rachael Davies) 
208 - 217 

 
12   Adroddiad ar 'gyfle a gollwyd' Archwilio Cymru - Mentrau 

Cymdeithasol yn adrodd argymhellion. (Er Gwybodaeth) (Lee 
Cambule) 

218 - 295 

 
13   Adroddiad ar 'Gyda'n Gilydd Gallwn' Archwilio Cymru - 

argymhellion adroddiad gwytnwch cymunedol a 
hunanddibyniaeth. (Er Gwybodaeth) (Lee Cambule) 

296 - 369 

 
14   Archwilio Cymru - Cynllun Archwilio Manwl Dinas a Sir Abertawe 

2023. 
370 - 391 

 
15   Rhaglen Waith ac Amserlen Archwilio Cymru - Cyngor Dinas a Sir 

Abertawe. 
392 - 410 

 
16   Adroddiad Olrhain Gweithredu y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac 

Archwilio.  (Er Gwybodaeth) (Jeremy Parkhouse) 
411 - 417 

 
17   Cynllun Gwaith y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio.  (Er 

Gwybodaeth) (Jeremy Parkhouse) 
418 - 437 

 
 

Cyfarfod nesaf: Dydd Mercher, 6 Rhagfyr 2023 am 2.00 pm 

 
 
Huw Evans 
Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
Dydd Mercher, 18 Hydref 2023 

Cyswllt: Gwasanaethau Democrataidd: - 636923 
 
 



 
 

 

Dinas a Sir Abertawe 
 

Cofnodion Cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac 
Archwilio 

 
Cyfarfod Aml-Leoliad  - Ystafell Gloucester, Neuadd y Ddinas / 

MS Teams  

Dydd Mercher, 13 Medi 2023 am 2.00 pm 

 
Yn Bresennol: Paula O'Connor (Cadeirydd) oedd yn llywyddu 

 
Y Cynghorydd(wyr) Y Cynghorydd(wyr) Y Cynghorydd(wyr) 
P R Hood-Williams J W Jones M B Lewis 
M W Locke S Pritchard L V Walton 
T M White   

 
Aelod(au) Lleyg  
Julie Davies                         David Roberts 

 
Swyddog(ion)  
Ness Young Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol Dros Dro 
Ben Smith Cyfarwyddwr Cyllid / Swyddog Adran 151 
Richard Rowlands Rheolwr yr Uned Cyflwyno Strategol 
Jeremy Parkhouse Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
Stephen Holland Uwch-Gyfreithiwr 
Nick Davies Archwiliwr 
Helen Morgan-Rees Cyfarwyddwr Addysg 
Kelly Small Pennaeth yr Uned Cyllid a Gwybodaeth 
 
Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb 
Cynghorydd A Davis, Gillian Gillet, Non Jenkins a/ac Bethan Roberts 
 

 
24 Newid aelodaeth y pwyllgor. 

 
Nododd y Cadeirydd fod aelodaeth y Pwyllgor wedi gostwng i 8 Cynghorydd a 4 
Aelod Lleyg.  Diolchodd i'r Cynghorwyr A J Jeffrey a K M Roberts, nad oeddent 
bellach yn Aelodau'r Pwyllgor, am eu cefnogaeth a'u cyfranogiad. 
 

25 Datgeliadau o fuddiannau personol a rhagfarnol. 
 
Yn unol â'r Côd Ymddygiad a fabwysiadwyd gan Ddinas a Sir Abertawe, datganwyd 
y buddiannau canlynol: - 
 
Datganodd y Cynghorwyr M B Lewis a T M White gysylltiadau personol â Chofnod 
Rhif 26 – Adroddiad Monitro Archwilio Mewnol – Chwarter 1 – 2023/24. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio (Dydd Mercher, 13 Medi 2023) 
Parhad 

 

Datganodd y Cynghorwyr P R Hood-Williams ac L V Walton gysylltiadau personol â 
Chofnod Rhif 28 - Adroddiad Dilynol Argymhelliad Archwilio Mewnol Chwarter 1 
2023/24.  
 

26 Cofnodion. 
 
Penderfynwyd cymeradwyo cofnodion cyfarfod blaenorol y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu 
ac Archwilio fel cofnod cywir. 
 

27 Adroddiad Monitro Archwilio Mewnol Chwarter 1 - 2023/24. 
 
Cyflwynodd y Prif Archwiliwr, Nick Davies, adroddiad 'er gwybodaeth' manwl a oedd 
yn darparu'r archwiliadau terfynol ac unrhyw waith arall a wnaed gan yr Is-adran 
Archwilio Mewnol yn ystod y cyfnod o 1 Ebrill i 30 Mehefin 2023. 
 
Cwblhawyd cyfanswm o 12 archwiliad yn ystod y chwarter. Rhestrwyd yr 
archwiliadau a gwblhawyd yn Atodiad 1, a oedd hefyd yn dangos lefel y sicrwydd a 
roddwyd ar ddiwedd yr archwiliad a nifer yr argymhellion a wnaed ac y cytunwyd 
arnynt. Roedd Atodiad 2 yn darparu crynodeb o gwmpas yr adolygiadau a 
gwblhawyd yn ystod y cyfnod. 
 
Rhoddwyd dadansoddiad o lefelau sicrwydd yr archwiliadau a gwblhawyd a gwnaed 
cyfanswm o 120 o argymhellion archwilio a chytunodd y rheolwyr i roi’r holl 
argymhellion ar waith.   
 
Ychwanegwyd bod salwch staff o fewn y Tîm Archwilio Mewnol wedi parhau i fod yn 
sylweddol yn ystod y chwarter, gyda chyfanswm o 43 diwrnod o absenoldeb wedi'u 
cofnodi. Roedd un aelod o staff yn parhau i fod ar salwch hirdymor.  Yn ogystal, 
roedd Uwch-archwiliwr wedi gadael yn ystod y chwarter a chymerwyd ei le gan 
Archwilydd a oedd eisoes yn y tîm. Llenwyd swydd wag yr Archwilydd ac roedd yr 
aelod newydd o staff yn ei swydd ac yn derbyn hyfforddiant.  Collwyd cyfanswm o 10 
niwrnod oherwydd bod y swydd yn wag. 
 
Roedd Cynllun Archwilio Mewnol 2023/24 yn cynnwys 116 o weithgareddau 
archwilio ac ar 30 Mehefin 2023, roedd 16 o weithgareddau archwilio (14%) wedi'u 
cwblhau, gyda dau weithgaredd ychwanegol (2%) wedi'u cwblhau'n sylweddol, a'r 
adroddiadau archwilio wedi'u cyhoeddi fel fersiynau drafft.  O ganlyniad, roedd 18 o 
weithgareddau archwilio wedi'u cwblhau hyd y cam adroddiad drafft o leiaf (16%). 
Roedd 20 gweithgaredd ychwanegol ar y gweill ar ddiwedd y flwyddyn (17%). O 
ganlyniad, roedd tua 33% o'r gweithgareddau archwilio a gynhwysir yng Nghynllun 
Archwilio 2023/24 naill ai wedi'u cwblhau neu ar waith. 
 
Cyhoeddwyd dau adroddiad cymedrol yn ystod y chwarter mewn perthynas â'r 
canlynol: - 
 
• Ysgol Gynradd Clydach 2023/24. 
• Tîm Arlwyo a Glanhau 2023/24. 
 
Rhoddwyd manylion i'r pwyllgor hefyd am y gwaith dilynol a gwblhawyd rhwng 1 
Ebrill a 30 Mehefin 2023. 

Page 2



Cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio (Dydd Mercher, 13 Medi 2023) 
Parhad 

 

 
Trafododd y Pwyllgor y canlynol: - 
 

 Yr Uwch-archwilydd yn gadael y tîm a'r hyder bod digon o arbenigedd o fewn yr 
adran i lenwi'r swydd. 

 Archwilio gwaith rhanbarthol, cwmpas y profi a'r posibilrwydd o ddarparu 
gwybodaeth i'r pwyllgor am ba feysydd oedd wedi cael eu profi. 

 Gwasanaethu boeleri nwy, y potensial risg cysylltiedig gydag oediadau o 
ganlyniad i COVID a darparu diweddariad mewn adroddiad chwarterol yn y 
dyfodol. 

 Gosodiadau ym Marina Abertawe a'r Mannau Cadw Cychod, sicrwydd a 
ddarperir gan swyddogion a chael sicrwydd pellach gyda gwybodaeth ddilynol yn 
ystod y chwarter nesaf. 

 Archwiliad Gosod Cyrchfannau – darparu cadarnhad bod y ffi drwyddedu heb ei 
thalu wedi cael ei thalu, yn cael ei hadennill neu wedi cael ei dirymu. 

 
Gofynnodd y Cadeirydd i'r canlynol gael ei ychwanegu at adroddiad Olrhain Camau 
Gweithredu'r Pwyllgor.  
 

28 Adroddiad Cymedrol - Tîm Arlwyo a Glanhau 2023/23. 
 
Cyflwynodd Kelly Small, y Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth Cynllunio ac Adnoddau Addysg 
adroddiad 'er gwybodaeth' a oedd yn rhoi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am yr adroddiad 
archwilio cymedrol ar gyfer y Tîm Arlwyo a Glanhau. 
 
Amlinellwyd bod archwiliad mewnol o'r Tîm Arlwyo a Glanhau wedi'i gynnal yn haf 
2023, a rhoddwyd lefel sicrwydd cymedrol ar ei gyfer.  Roedd yr archwiliad blaenorol 
o'r tîm arlwyo, a gynhaliwyd yn 2017/18 a'r tîm glanhau, a gynhaliwyd yn 2018/19, 
hefyd wedi arwain at lefelau sicrwydd cymedrol.  Datblygwyd cynllun gweithredu i 
fynd i'r afael â'r materion a nodwyd a rhoddwyd camau gweithredu addas yn eu lle. 
 
Roedd yr adroddiad yn tynnu sylw at saith eitem Risg Ganolig a nodwyd yn yr 
archwiliad.  Rhestrwyd yr holl eitemau yn y Cynllun Gweithredu Rheolaeth yn 
Atodiad A, a oedd yn manylu ar yr holl argymhellion, risgiau canolig, risgiau isel ac 
arferion da a argymhellwyd, yn ogystal â'r camau gweithredu perthnasol a gymerwyd 
i gael gwared arnynt. 
 
Roedd y cynllun gweithredu yn mynd i'r afael â'r eitemau Risg Canolig (MR) sy'n 
ymwneud â gwariant; arian parod ac incwm credyd; arian parod; costau teithio; 
cofnodion personél; a cherbydau. 
 
Trafododd y Pwyllgor y canlynol: - 
 

 Sicrhau bod yr holl staff dan sylw yn ymwybodol o'r broses gaffael ac wedi cael 
hyfforddiant ynddi. 

 Y nifer bach o ysgolion a drefnodd eu harlwyo/glanhau eu hunain a'r 
gwasanaethau canolog a gynigir gan yr Adran Addysg. 

Page 3



Cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio (Dydd Mercher, 13 Medi 2023) 
Parhad 

 

 Y sicrwydd a ddarperir gan yr holl argymhellion ac eithrio un sy'n cael eu 
datblygu, gan gynnwys cwblhau hawliadau'n gywir a oedd yn diogelu'r awdurdod 
a'r gweithwyr. 

 
Diolchodd y Cadeirydd i'r swyddog am yr adroddiad ac am ba mor gyflym yr oedd yr 
argymhellion wedi'u cwblhau. 
 

29 Adroddiad Dilynol am Argymhelliad yr Archwiliad Mewnol ar gyfer Chwarter 1 
2023/24. 
 
Cyflwynodd y Prif Archwilydd adroddiad 'er gwybodaeth' i'r pwyllgor, a oedd yn 
darparu statws yr argymhellion a wnaed yn yr archwiliadau hynny lle gwnaethpwyd y 
gwaith dilynol yn Chwarter 1 2023/24, a oedd yn caniatáu i'r Pwyllgor fonitro'r broses 
o roi’r argymhellion a wnaed gan Archwilio Mewnol ar waith.   
 
Darparodd Atodiad 1 grynodeb o'r argymhellion a dderbyniwyd ac a roddwyd ar 
waith.   
 
Gofynnodd y Cadeirydd i'r adroddiad hwn gael ei gyfuno â'r adroddiad monitro 
chwarterol yn y dyfodol. Holodd y Pwyllgor hefyd ynghylch yr adroddiadau am yr holl 
risgiau uchel/canolig a oedd yn weddill na chymerwyd camau yn eu cylch i'w cyflawni 
yn y dyfodol er mwyn nodi risgiau hirdymor sy'n weddill. Datganodd y Prif Archwilydd 
y byddai unrhyw feysydd na chawsant eu gweithredu yn cael eu hamlygu yn yr 
adroddiad dilynol a bod yn rhaid i feysydd gwasanaeth egluro pam nad oeddent wedi 
cymryd camau i gyflawni argymhellion.  Ychwanegodd y byddai'n trafod y ddau gais 
â'r Prif Archwilydd a gofynnwyd i'r camau gweithredu gael eu cynnwys yn yr 
Adroddiad Olrhain Camau Gweithredu. 
 
Rhoddodd Ness Young, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol, ddiweddariad 
i'r Pwyllgor ar y cynnydd ynghylch gosod olrheiniwr camau gweithredu archwilio 
allanol.  Ychwanegodd ei bod yn cymryd mwy o amser na'r disgwyl ond bod yr holl 
argymhellion archwilio allanol yn cael eu holrhain ar hyn o bryd ar daenlen.  Byddai 
adroddiad ynghylch argymhellion archwilio allanol yn cael ei ddarparu ym mis 
Rhagfyr 2023 ac ychwanegwyd y camau gweithredu at yr Adroddiad Olrhain 
Gweithredu.  
 

30 Trosolwg Risgiau Corfforaethol 2023/24 - Chwarter 1. 
 
Rhoddodd Ness Young, Cyfarwyddwr Dros Dro'r Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol 
adroddiad 'er gwybodaeth' a oedd yn rhoi trosolwg o statws risgiau corfforaethol y 
cyngor i roi sicrwydd i'r Pwyllgor eu bod yn cael eu rheoli'n unol â pholisi a 
fframwaith rheoli risgiau'r cyngor. 
 
Roedd y canlynol yn crynhoi statws y risgiau a gofnodwyd yn y 
Gofrestr Risgiau Corfforaethol ar ddiwedd Chwarter 1 2023/24: - 
 
Roedd 4 risg statws coch yn y Gofrestr Risgiau Corfforaethol  
Diwedd Ch1 2023/24: 
 

 Rhif Adnabod Risg 153: Diogelu. 

Page 4



Cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio (Dydd Mercher, 13 Medi 2023) 
Parhad 

 

 Rhif Adnabod Risg 159: Rheolaeth Ariannol: Cynllun Ariannol Tymor Canolig 

 Rhif Adnabod Risg 222: Digidol, Data a Seiberddiogelwch. 

 Rhif Adnabod Risg 334: Argyfwng costau byw. 

 Cofnodwyd bod yr holl risgiau corfforaethol wedi'u hadolygu  
o leiaf unwaith yn ystod Ch1. 

 Ychwanegwyd un risg newydd at y Gofrestr Risgiau Corfforaethol: 
     Rhif Adnabod Risg 350: Cynllun Trawsnewid Corfforaethol Abertawe 
     Lwyddiannus a Chynaliadwy  
      

 Cafodd 2 risg eu dadactifadu: 
      Rhif Adnabod Risg 309: Rhoi prosiect Oracle Fusion ar waith. 
      Rhif Adnabod Risg 333: Cynllun Trawsnewid Corfforaethol. 

 Ni chafodd unrhyw risgiau eu huwch-gyfeirio i'r Gofrestr Risgiau Corfforaethol.   

 Ni chafodd unrhyw risgiau corfforaethol eu tynnu oddi ar y Gofrestr Risgiau 
Corfforaethol. 

 Newidiodd dwy risg gorfforaethol eu statws Coch Oren Gwyrdd (COG) yn ystod 
Ch1: 

      Rhif Adnabod Risg 309: Prosiect rhoi Oracle Fusion ar waith – Oren i  
      wyrdd. 
      Rhif Adnabod Risg 290: Effaith Tlodi – Dim COG i oren. 

 Newidiodd dwy risg gorfforaethol eu sgôr risg weddilliol yn ystod Ch1: 
      Rhif Adnabod Risg 159: Rheolaeth Ariannol – Cyflawni'r CATC - sgôr o 20 
      i sgôr o 25. 
      Rhif Adnabod Risg 309: Rhoi Prosiect Oracle Fusion ar waith – sgôr o 8 i   
      sgôr o 2.  
 
Roedd Atodiad A yn cyflwyno'r risgiau a gofnodwyd ar Gofrestr Risgiau Gorfforaethol 
y cyngor ar 30 Mehefin 2023.  Roedd yr adroddiadau ar gyfer pob risg yn cynnwys 
gwybodaeth esboniadol gyffredinol yn ymwneud â'u dosbarthiad. 
 
Dilynwyd hyn gan drafodaethau ar y canlynol: - 
 

 Adolygiad o'r Fframwaith Rheoli Risgiau Corfforaethol – Y cam cadarnhaol iawn i 
ddarparu hyfforddiant rheoli risgiau gan y Gymdeithas Rhagoriaeth mewn 
Gwasanaeth Cyhoeddus (APSE) i'r Cabinet/TRhC fel rhan o'r adolygiad, a 
fyddai'n cael ei gyflwyno i swyddogion.  Cadarnhawyd bod y costau hyfforddi'n 
cael eu hariannu gan Gronfa Wella Cymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol Cymru (CLlLC) 
ac y byddai hyfforddiant pellach yn cael ei ddarparu'n fewnol. 

 Rhif Adnabod Risg 309 – Rhoi Prosiect Oracle Fusion ar waith – nodwyd bod y 
system newydd wedi mynd yn fyw ym mis Ebrill yn unol ag amserlen y prosiect. 

 Rhif Adnabod Risg 159 – Rheolaeth Ariannol – Cyflawni CATC – Dywedodd Ben 
Smith, y Cyfarwyddwr Cyllid fod cyllid llywodraeth leol yn ddifrifol iawn ar hyn o 
bryd a dyma'r sefyllfa bresennol y mae'r cyngor yn ei hwynebu.  Ychwanegodd y 
byddai'r risg yn parhau'n uchel nes bod y gyllideb ar gyfer 2024/25 wedi'i gosod. 
Gofynnwyd am yr effaith ar arbedion trawsnewid.  Dywedodd y Cyfarwyddwr 
Cyllid er bod yr Awdurdod mewn sefyllfa well na'r rhan fwyaf o awdurdodau lleol 
yng Nghymru, fod y sefyllfa ariannol yn parhau i fod yn hynod sensitif.  
Ychwanegodd bod cyllideb 2023/24 wedi sicrhau arbedion sylweddol ac roedd 
trawsnewid yn agwedd bwysig dros fywyd y Cynllun Ariannol Tymor Canolig.  

Page 5



Cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio (Dydd Mercher, 13 Medi 2023) 
Parhad 

 

Fodd bynnag, byddai'r cyngor yn gorfod wynebu gwneud dewisiadau anodd yn y 
dyfodol, a allai effeithio ar ei allu i ddod o hyd i arbedion ychwanegol a buddsoddi 
mewn prosiectau trawsnewid.  

 Rhif Adnabod Risg 153 – Diogelu – Holwyd a oedd pwysau'r gweithlu yn parhau 
a nodwyd y byddai'r mater yn cael ei godi gyda Chyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol ym mis Hydref 2023 pan fydd yn cyflwyno'i Adroddiad ar 
Amgylchedd Rheoli Mewnol y Gyfarwyddiaeth. 

 
31 Y Gyfarwyddiaeth Addysg: Amgylchedd Rheoli Mewnol 2023/2024. 

 
Darparodd Helen Morgan-Rees, Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Kelly Small, Pennaeth 
Cynllunio ac Adnoddau Addysg adroddiad 'er gwybodaeth' a oedd yn cyflwyno 
amgylchedd rheoli'r Gyfarwyddiaeth Addysg, gan gynnwys rheoli risgiau sydd ar 
waith i sicrhau: bod swyddogaethau'n cael eu harfer yn effeithiol; bod adnoddau’n 
cael eu defnyddio’n effeithlon ac effeithiol ac yn economaidd a; bod llywodraethu 
effeithiol i sicrhau'r trefniadau hyn. 
 
Amlinellwyd dadansoddiad bras o gyllideb y Portffolio Addysg, pwyntiau allweddol i'w 
nodi, elfennau allweddol o'r fframwaith sicrhau, elfennau allweddol o drosolwg yr 
Awdurdod o drefniadau ariannol ysgolion, manylion trefniadau archwilio ysgolion ac 
agweddau allweddol ar drefniadau'r Gyfarwyddiaeth Addysg. 
 
Darparwyd manylion rheoli risgiau, parhad busnes, rheoli perfformiad/DPA, 
cynllunio, gwneud penderfyniadau, cyllideb, twyll ac amhriodoldeb, cydymffurfiaeth â 
pholisïau, rheolau a gofynion rheoleiddio a rheoli adnoddau.   
 
Ychwanegwyd bod y Risgiau o fewn Addysg wedi'u nodi'n brydlon a'u rheoli ar 
lefelau priodol (corfforaethol, cyfarwyddiaeth, gwasanaeth, rhaglen/prosiect), ac 
wedi’u lliniaru gyhyd ag y bo modd, fel rhan o'r adolygiad o wasanaethau a 
phrosesau'r cylch cynllunio a hunanwerthusiad parhaus. Aethpwyd ati i fonitro drwy 
reoli perfformiad y Gyfarwyddiaeth a  mecanweithiau adrodd yng nghyfarfodydd 
MPA, BAS ac UDAA a byrddau rhaglen/prosiect gyda risgiau'n cael eu huwch-
gyfeirio fel y bo'n briodol (gan ganolbwyntio'n benodol ar risgiau 'coch'). 
 
Rheolwyd risgiau ar lefel  rhaglenni a phrosiectau sy'n gysylltiedig ag Addysg o 
Safon (AoS)/Rhaglen Cymunedau Cynaliadwy ar gyfer Dysgu drwy raglen aeddfed a 
phrosesau rheoli risgiau prosiect yn unol â gofynion corfforaethol ac amodau grant 
Llywodraeth Cymru ac argymhellion adolygiad Gateway. 
 
Amlygodd yr adroddiad hefyd nodweddion allweddol dulliau rheoli mewnol, diogelu 
data a llywodraethu partneriaethau/cydweithio. 
 
Roedd Atodiad A yn darparu  Risgiau’r Gyfarwyddiaeth a Chorfforaethol (y 
Gyfarwyddiaeth) ar 1 Medi 2023 ac roedd Atodiad B yn darparu’r Map Sicrwydd 
(Cyfarwyddiaeth) diweddaraf. 
 
Rhoddodd y Cyfarwyddwr Addysg ddiweddariad i'r Pwyllgor hefyd ar y cefndir, y 
cynnydd a wnaed a'r sefyllfa bresennol ynghylch Ysgol Gynradd Clydach, a oedd 
mewn mesurau arbennig ar hyn o bryd, er mwyn rhoi sicrwydd bod yr adran yn 
monitro'r sefyllfa'n agos.   

Page 6



Cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio (Dydd Mercher, 13 Medi 2023) 
Parhad 

 

 
Trafododd y Pwyllgor y canlynol: - 
 

 Hyfforddiant caffael - nodwyd bod y niferoedd a oedd yn mynd i'r hyfforddiant 
wedi bod yn gadarnhaol ac roedd yr adran yn monitro'r ysgolion oedd wedi mynd 
iddo. 

 Ysgol Gynradd Clydach - Cadarnhawyd bod yr ysgol mewn mesurau arbennig ar 
hyn o bryd, bod arweinyddiaeth yr ysgol wedi newid ac y dylai'r ysgol fod yn 
gweithredu'n iawn ymhen tua 12 mis ac y dylai fod allan o fesurau arbennig 
mewn tua 18 i 24 mis.  Mynegodd y Pwyllgor bryder am y diffyg rheolaeth 
ariannol yn yr ysgol. 

 
Nododd y Cadeirydd y byddai'r Panel Craffu Perfformiad Addysg yn monitro'r sefyllfa 
yn Ysgol Gynradd Clydach ac ychwanegodd y byddai'r Pwyllgor yn cael sicrwydd o'u 
canfyddiadau.  Gofynnodd bod hyn yn cael ei ychwanegu at yr Adroddiad Olrhain 
Camau Gweithredu. 
 
Diolchodd y Cadeirydd i'r Swyddogion am ddarparu adolygiad manwl o'r 
Gyfarwyddiaeth Addysg. 
 

32 Adolygiad Perfformiad Blynyddol 2022-23 (gan gynnwys Adroddiad 
Hunanasesu). 
 
Cyflwynodd Aelod y Cabinet dros Wasanaethau Corfforaethol a Pherfformiad 
adroddiad a oedd yn cyflwyno drafft o Adolygiad Perfformiad Blynyddol 2022/23 y 
cyngor, sy'n bodloni'r gofynion statudol i gyhoeddi adroddiad hunanasesu blynyddol 
ac adroddiad blynyddol ar les o dan Ran 6 o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol ac Etholiadau 
Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2021 a Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol (Cymru) 
2015 yn eu tro. 
 
Eglurodd y Cadeirydd fod yr adroddiad wedi'i drafod yng nghyfarfodydd y Grŵp 
Llywodraethu Strategol ym mis Mai a mis Awst a bod y Panel Craffu Gwella 
Gwasanaethau, Adfywio a Chyllid wedi craffu arno'n gynnar ym mis Medi 2023, felly 
roedd wedi bod drwy broses herio.   
 
Mynegwyd bod yr adroddiad yn darparu'r cynnydd yr oedd y cyngor wedi'i wneud i 
gyflawni'i amcanion lles, fel y nodir yn ei Gynllun Corfforaethol ar gyfer 2022/23.  
 
Amlinellwyd yr ymagwedd, y dull a'r gwelliannau a wnaed yn dilyn asesiad 2021/22 a 
chrynodeb o hunanasesiad 2022/23. 
 
Dywedodd Ness Young, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol mai hon oedd 
ail flwyddyn yr hunanasesiad a bod nifer o elfennau wedi'u cynnwys i wneud yr 
adroddiad yn fwy hygyrch, gan adlewyrchu sylwadau'r Pwyllgor ar adroddiad 2021-
22, wrth sicrhau hefyd fod gofynion y ddeddf yn cael eu bodloni. 
 
Trafododd y Pwyllgor y canlynol: - 
 

 Nid oedd 30% yn cyrraedd eu targedau perfformiad a sut y byddai'r cyngor yn 
adolygu'r wybodaeth. 

Page 7



Cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio (Dydd Mercher, 13 Medi 2023) 
Parhad 

 

 Lefel y manylion a gynhwysir yn Adran 7 – Meysydd ar gyfer gwelliant parhaus. 

 Yr angen i'r ddogfen gael ei phrawf ddarllen oherwydd camgymeriadau 
teipograffyddol. 

 Ychwanegu astudiaethau achos at yr adroddiad sy'n gam cadarnhaol. 

 Lefel y manylion a ddarperir mewn perthynas â gweithio mewn partneriaeth a'r 
posibilrwydd o gynnal adolygiadau 360 gradd gyda sefydliadau partner yn y 
dyfodol. 

 Cyfraniadau a wnaed gan staff at yr hunanasesiad a hysbysebwyd yn fewnol 
mewn gwahanol leoliadau. 

 Roedd yr angen i wirio'r ffigurau perfformiad yn gyson â'r rheini yn adroddiadau 
perfformiad corfforaethol y Cabinet.  

 Sut i hwyluso mwy o ymgysylltiad â'r cyhoedd wrth ddatblygu adroddiadau yn y 
dyfodol. 

 
Penderfynwyd:  - 
 
1) Caiff yr Adolygiad Perfformiad Blynyddol drafft ar gyfer 2022/23 ei nodi. 
2) Bydd y diwygiadau awgrymedig i'r adroddiad drafft yn cael eu diweddaru cyn i'r 

adroddiad gael ei gyflwyno i'r cyngor. 
 

33 Adroddiad Olrhain Camau Gweithredu'r Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio. 
 
Adroddwyd am Adroddiad Olrhain Camau Gweithredu'r Pwyllgor Archwilio a 
Llywodraethu 'er gwybodaeth'. 
 
Amlygodd y Cadeirydd fod y Pwyllgor i fod i gael gwybod am y cam gweithredu sy’n 
ymwneud â Chofnod Rhif 40 – 27/09/22 - Diweddariad ar yr Adroddiad Archwilio 
Rheoli Absenoldeb, ym mis Hydref 2023. 
 
Dywedodd Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol y byddai adroddiad am yr 
adolygiad o reoli salwch a'r broses rheoli absenoldeb o'r dechrau i'r diwedd, gan 
gynnwys Iechyd Galwedigaethol, yn cael ei roi i'r Tîm Rheoli Corfforaethol ym mis 
Hydref ac i'r Pwyllgor ym mis Rhagfyr 2023. 
 
Nodwyd hefyd fod y camau canlynol wedi'u cwblhau: - 
 

 Cofnod 17 – 19/07/23 – Adroddiad Cwynion Blynyddol – Diweddariad Chwe Mis. 

 Cofnod 70 – 14/12/22 – Adolygiad Perfformiad Blynyddol 2021-22.  
 

34 Rhaglen waith y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio. 
 
Adroddwyd am Gynllun Gwaith y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio 'er 
gwybodaeth’. 
 
Dywedodd y Cyfarwyddwr Cyllid fod Datganiad Cyfrifon drafft ar gyfer 2022/23 ac 
Adroddiad Archwilio Cyfrifon – Drafft - Dinas a Sir Abertawe – Archwilio Cymru 
wedi'u hoedi ac y byddent yn cael eu gohirio tan gyfarfod y Pwyllgor ym mis Rhagfyr. 
 
 

Page 8



Cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio (Dydd Mercher, 13 Medi 2023) 
Parhad 

 

 
Daeth y cyfarfod I ben am 3.51 pm 
 
 

Cadeirydd 
 

Page 9



 

 
 

Report of the Director of Education 
 

 Governance and Audit Committee – 25 October 2023  
 

Clydach Primary School Audit Report 2023   
 
Purpose: To provide an update on the Clydach Primary 

School audit report  
 

Report Author: David Roe (Acting Headteacher)  
 

Finance Officer: Aimee Dyer  
  
Legal Officer: Stephanie Williams 
  
Access to Services Officer: Rhian Millar 
 
For Information 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 As a result of an internal audit on Clydach Primary School carried out in 

2023, an assurance level of moderate was given. 
 

1.2 An action plan was developed to address the issues identified and 
appropriate implementation steps put in place. All items including actions 
taken to date can be found within Appendix A, which sets out the 
recommendations, associated actions and review of actions to undertaken 
to date. 
 
The acting headteacher (in post since September 2023) and the interim 
headteacher (in post November 2022 – July 2023) have been leading in 
addressing all of the recommendations and have been supported by 
appropriate local authority officers to address the points within the action 
plan.  

 
1.3 All recommendations have been fully met other than 2.1.4 in the action plan 

which is planned to be met by January 2024. Internal Audit are due to 
undertake their follow up audit late in Q3 or Q4 of 2023-2024. 
 

1.4 The action plan shown at Appendix A reports progress against all the 
recommendations.  
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



 

1.5 Medium Risk Recommendations 
 
• Unofficial Funds 

 
(2.4.6) A monthly reconciliation of all Unofficial Funds should be  
completed and reviewed by an independent person, and evidence of 
the review should be recorded.  
 
Progress to Date/Agreed and updated actions – Monthly 
reconciliation of unofficial funds now takes place. This is checked by the 
acting head. 

 
• Inventory 

 
(2.9.1 & 2.9.2) Appropriate inventories should be maintained in 
accordance with Accounting Instruction No. 9. 

 
Progress to date/Agreed and updated actions - Inventory with all 
required details undertaken. 

 
• Delegated Budget and Expenditure 

 
 (2.4.4) A bank mandate should be completed as a matter of urgency 

and all outstanding invoices paid. 
 

Progress to date/Agreed and updated actions - Bank mandate  
has been updated and all invoices paid.  

 
(2.4.5) Arts Council Wales grant should be spent in accordance with the 
Terms and Conditions of the grant offer letter. 

 
Progress to date/Agreed and updated actions - Invoices were  
paid from the delegated budget. Now mandate is updated for unofficial 
funds the money has been moved. 
 
(2.6.1) Bank reconciliations should be reviewed by someone other  
than the member of staff who has completed the reconciliation. The  
person reviewing should sign the Bank Reconciliation documents as  
evidence of the review. 

 
Progress to date/Agreed and updated actions - Monthly  
reconciliation now takes place. This is checked by the acting head  
using the local authority pro forma. 

 
(2.7.1) An official order should be raised in advance for all  
expenditure to ensure that the expenditure is duly authorised and  
committed promptly to the cost centre. Non-order payments should  
be restricted to utilities invoices and supply teaching costs only. 

 

Page 11



 

Progress to date/Agreed and updated actions - Action fully  
completed.   

  
(2.7.5) The Cheque Stock Record should be signed by an authorised 
signatory each time cheques are issued and used. 

 
Progress to date/Agreed and updated actions - Cheque stock record 
introduced and being used from October 2023.  

 
2. Integrated Assessment Implications 
 
2.1 There are no equality and engagement implications associated with this 

report. 
 
3. Financial Implications 
 
3.1 There are no financial implications with this report. 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 There are no legal implications with this report. 
 
Background Papers: None. 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A  Clydach Primary School – Reviewed Management Action Plan   
  

Page 12



 

 
Appendix A  
 
 

CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA 
AUDIT REPORT ACTION PLAN – UPDATE 

EDUCATION: Clydach Primary School 2023 (Reviewed October 2023) 
 
 
REPORT 

REF 
RECOMMENDATION CLASS 

(HR; 
MR; LR; 

GP) 

AGREED ACTION/ 
COMMENTS 

RESPONSIB
ILITY FOR 

IMPLEMENT
ATION 

IMPLEMENTATION 
DATE 

Review commentary 
October 2023   

Progress 
RAG 

Review  

2.1.2 The extent of delegation of 
powers to the Head teacher 
should be approved annually by 
the Governing Body.  
 

LR 
 

To be completed 
as part of the 
Business meeting 
in the Autumn 
term 2023 

CoG By Dec 23 This action was 
completed at the Annual 
General Meeting of the 
governing body on 2 
October 2023. 

 

2.1.3 The Authorised Signatory Form 
for Payroll should be completed 
and the Chair of Governors 
should be included on the Form. 
  

LR To be completed 
by Interim HT 
before her return 
to PPS. 

Interim HT End of Summer 
term 23 

The authorised 
signatory form was 
updated on 24 May 
2023. This includes the 
chair of governors.  

 

2.1.4 A member of staff with 
administrative and financial 
responsibilities should be 
appointed as soon as possible. 
 

MR Due to Financial 
circumstances 
this will be 
reviewed again 
by the Finance 
and Staffing 
committee.  

Interim HT / 
DHT / CoG 

End of Summer 
term – to be 
reviewed half 
termly. 

A temporary agency 
member of staff has 
been appointed.  
An advert has been sent 
to the local authority 
with a proposed start 
date of January 2024. 
Revision of budget to 
support this.  

 

2.3.1 Where invoices for educational 
visits are paid from the 
Delegated Budget, the income 
should be paid into this account. 
 

LR Ensure all Visit 
income is paid 
into Unofficial 
fund account. 

TK / Supply 
Admin JC 

To commence 
Sept 23 

Payment for the 
Pendine residential 
2023 was paid from the 
delegated budget and 
money raised was 

 

P
age 13



 

REPORT 
REF 

RECOMMENDATION CLASS 
(HR; 

MR; LR; 
GP) 

AGREED ACTION/ 
COMMENTS 

RESPONSIB
ILITY FOR 

IMPLEMENT
ATION 

IMPLEMENTATION 
DATE 

Review commentary 
October 2023   

Progress 
RAG 

Review  

moved into the correct 
line via cheque payment 
from the unofficial 
school fund.   

2.4.1 All Unofficial Funds should be 
audited annually. 
 

LR Current Admin to 
ensure this is 
completed prior 
to the GB 
Business meeting 
in Autumn term 
2023. 

TK / Supply 
Admin JC / 

CoG 

Autumn term 23 Audit undertaken by 2 
independent persons 
October 2023.  

 

2.4.1 The Audit Certificate should 
record details of the bank 
balance as at the date of the 
audit. 
 

LR Agreed. TK / Supply 
Admin JC 

Autumn 23 Audit certificate filed.   

2.4.2 A management committee 
should be established, and Fund 
Constitution or Terms of 
Reference set out for all 
Unofficial Funds. 

LR Agreed. Interim HT / 
DHT / CoG 

Autumn 23 Terms of reference for 
the unofficial fund 
adopted 2 October 2023 
at AGM. 

 

2.4.3 Receipts for all items of 
expenditure should be retained. 
 

LR Signing in and 
out system to be 
implemented for 
Petty cash. 

TK / Supply 
Admin JC 

Immediately New system now fully in 
place – spot checks 
undertaken during audit.  

 

2.4.4 A bank mandate should be 
completed as a matter of 
urgency and all outstanding 
invoices paid. 
 

MR Ensure 
signatories for all 
school accounts 
are up to date. 

DR June 23 Bank mandate updated 
and invoices paid.  
 

 

2.4.5 Arts Council Wales grant should 
be spent in accordance with the 
Terms and Conditions of the 
grant offer letter. 

MR DHT to liaise with 
the Expressive 
Arts leader 
regarding 

DR & JR Autumn 23 Invoices were paid from 
the delegated budget. 
Now mandate is 
updated for unofficial 

 

P
age 14



 

REPORT 
REF 

RECOMMENDATION CLASS 
(HR; 

MR; LR; 
GP) 

AGREED ACTION/ 
COMMENTS 

RESPONSIB
ILITY FOR 

IMPLEMENT
ATION 

IMPLEMENTATION 
DATE 

Review commentary 
October 2023   

Progress 
RAG 

Review  

 expenditure or 
this grant. 

funds the money has 
been moved.  

2.4.6 A monthly reconciliation of all 
Unofficial Funds should be 
completed and reviewed by an 
independent person, and 
evidence of the review should 
be recorded.  
 

MR Agreed. TK / Supply 
Admin JC 

June 23 Monthly reconciliation of 
unofficial funds now 
takes place. This is 
checked by the acting 
head.  

 

2.5.4 Staff arrears for school meal 
income should be cleared 
immediately. 
 

LR TK to e-mail staff 
regarding paying 
their debts. 

TK June 23 There are no staff meal 
arrears now.  
 

 

2.6.1 Bank reconciliations should be 
reviewed by someone other 
than the member of staff who 
has completed the 
reconciliation. The person 
reviewing should sign the Bank 
Reconciliation documents as 
evidence of the review. 
 

MR Agreed. TK / Supply 
Admin JC 

June 23 Monthly reconciliation 
now takes place. This is 
checked by the acting 
head using the local 
authority pro forma.  

 

2.7.1 An official order should be 
raised in advance for all 
expenditure to ensure that the 
expenditure is duly authorised 
and committed promptly to the 
cost centre. Non-order 
payments should be restricted to 
utilities invoices and supply 
teaching costs only. 
(Previous audit 
recommendation.) 

MR Ensure that all 
orders are placed 
on to the system 
prior to any 
orders actually 
being made so 
that the money is 
committed.  

TK / Supply 
Admin JC 

To commence 
Autumn term 23 

Action completed.    

P
age 15



 

REPORT 
REF 

RECOMMENDATION CLASS 
(HR; 

MR; LR; 
GP) 

AGREED ACTION/ 
COMMENTS 

RESPONSIB
ILITY FOR 

IMPLEMENT
ATION 

IMPLEMENTATION 
DATE 

Review commentary 
October 2023   

Progress 
RAG 

Review  

 
2.7.2 It should be ensured that proper 

insurance arrangements are in 
place and have been checked 
for any persons / companies 
used by the school to provide 
services / consultancy advice 
which have not been arranged 
via the Corporate Contract. 
E.g. 
• 3rd party insurance for all. 
• Professional indemnity for 

Consultants 
• Employers Liability for all 

where the Contractor 
employs anyone regardless 
of number or if they are full 
time. 

• Contractors ‘All risk’ for 
Building related services. 

Copies of insurance certificates 
and other relevant 
documentation should be 
retained as confirmation. 
 

LR Agreed. Interim HT / 
DHT / CoG 

Autumn 23 Only two since the audit 
– Baby ballet and Zac 
Franks – both provided 
the documents required.  

 

2.7.3 HMRC form IR35 should be 
completed. 
(https://www.gov.uk/guidance/c
heck-employment-status-for -
tax).  
 

LR DHT and TK to 
attend IR35 
training. 

DR / TK / 
Supply 

Admin JC 

June 23 1 completed as 
required.    

 

P
age 16



 

REPORT 
REF 

RECOMMENDATION CLASS 
(HR; 

MR; LR; 
GP) 

AGREED ACTION/ 
COMMENTS 

RESPONSIB
ILITY FOR 

IMPLEMENT
ATION 

IMPLEMENTATION 
DATE 

Review commentary 
October 2023   

Progress 
RAG 

Review  

2.7.4 ii A batch header form should be 
completed and signed for each 
cheque run. 
 

LR To be 
implemented 
immediately.  

TK / Supply 
Admin JC 

June 23 This happens at each 
cheque run signed by 
the admin and acting 
headteacher.  

 

2.7.4 iii All invoices should be noted as 
received, checked and certified. 
This can either be done on each 
individual invoice or the new, 
approved batch header form can 
be used. 
(Previous audit 
recommendation.) 
 

LR To be 
implemented 
immediately. 

TK / Supply 
Admin JC 

June 23 Stamp purchased – all 
invoices are now 
checked, initialled and 
approved. 

 

2.7.5 The Cheque Stock Record 
should be signed by an 
authorised signatory each time 
cheques are issued and used. 
 

MR Agreed. TK / Admin 
supply JC 

By end of July 23 Cheque stock record 
introduced and being 
used from October 
2023.  
 
Confirmed no issues 
with cheque stock.  

 

2.7.6 Spoiled cheques should be 
recorded in the Cheque Stock 
Record. 
(Previous audit 
recommendation.) 
 

LR Agreed. TK / Admin 
supply JC 

By end of July This happens – record 
of spoiled cheques in 
school.  

 

2.7.7 Petty Cash expenditure should 
be administered in accordance 
with Accounting Instruction No 
6. 
 

LR Signing in and 
out system to be 
set up. 

TK / Admin 
supply JC 

June 23 Petty cash system in 
place and is in 
accordance with 
instructions.   

 

P
age 17



 

REPORT 
REF 

RECOMMENDATION CLASS 
(HR; 

MR; LR; 
GP) 

AGREED ACTION/ 
COMMENTS 

RESPONSIB
ILITY FOR 

IMPLEMENT
ATION 

IMPLEMENTATION 
DATE 

Review commentary 
October 2023   

Progress 
RAG 

Review  

2.8.1 Fire drills should be completed 
termly. 
 

LR Fire drills to be 
completed for 
both buildings – 
June 23 

Interim HT / 
DR 

June 23 Termly fire drills planned 
and taking place.  

 

2.9.1, 
2.9.2 

Appropriate inventories should 
be maintained in accordance 
with Accounting Instruction No. 
9.  It should be ensured that: 
 
• Full descriptions are 

recorded inc. make, model & 
serial number where item 
has not been centrally 
recorded with an asset 
reference number. 

• Entries are made upon 
receipt of items. 

• Inventory is physically 
verified annually, with an 
inventory certificate 
completed and signed. 

• Inventory checks should be 
recorded. 

(Previous audit 
recommendation.) 
 

MR Inventories to be 
completed for 
both sites, 
including IT.  

DR / TK To commence 
June 23 

Inventory with all 
required details 
undertaken.    

 

2.9.3 A Disposal Form should be 
completed for all items disposed 
of during the year. 
 

LR DR DHT to seek 
advice on this – 
to inform IT 
leader 

DR Autumn 23 Message shared with 
ICT lead on how to do 
this via ICT service 
desk.  

 

2.10.1 All users of the FMS system 
should change their passwords 
at least annually. 

GP Reminder to be 
given to all FMS 
users. 

Interim HT / 
DR 

June 23 Done (TK & JC) 
Summer 2023.  

 

P
age 18



 

REPORT 
REF 

RECOMMENDATION CLASS 
(HR; 

MR; LR; 
GP) 

AGREED ACTION/ 
COMMENTS 

RESPONSIB
ILITY FOR 

IMPLEMENT
ATION 

IMPLEMENTATION 
DATE 

Review commentary 
October 2023   

Progress 
RAG 

Review  

 
(Previous audit 
recommendation.) 
 

2.10.2 Data protection registration with 
the Information Commissioner’s 
office should be arranged 
immediately. 
 

LR Apply and 
complete Data 
protection 
registration 
immediately.  

TK / Admin 
supply JC 

June 23 Done – DR is registered 
– certificate in office.  

 

2.10.3 GDPR training should take 
place every two years.  
 

LR GDPR training to 
be organised for 
the Autumn term 
23. 

DR Autumn 23 GDPR training was 
undertaken by staff and 
governors 26 
September 2023. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 19



  

 

 

Report of the Chief Auditor 

Governance and Audit Committee – 25 October 2023 

External Assessment Report 2023/24 
 

  Purpose: This report provides a summary of results of the external 
assessment of compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards undertaken by the Internal Audit Team of 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council.  

Policy Framework: None  

Consultation: 
Corporate Management Team, Legal and Access to 
Services 

Report Author: Simon Cockings  

Finance Officer: Ben Smith 

Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 

Access to Services Officer: Rhian Millar  

For Information   

 

1. Introduction 

 
1.1 An effective, objective and independent internal audit service (IAS) is the cornerstone 

of good governance in all public sector bodies. Internal audit plays a pivotal role in 

providing assurance to officers and members that the system of internal control within 

their organisation is operating effectively and to recommend how that system of internal 

control can be strengthened.  

2. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards  

2.1  From 1 April 2013, a new set of internal audit standards for the public sector, the 

‘Public Sector Internal Audit Standards’ (PSIAS) have been in effect. The PSIAS adopt 

the principal requirements of the Institute of Internal Auditors Professional Practices 

Page 20

Agenda Item 5



  

Framework and adapt these to ensure they are relevant and appropriate for the UK 

public sector. The PSIAS were updated and re-issued in 2017. 

2.2 The overall objective of the PSIAS is to provide a high-level, overarching framework 

applicable to all public sector bodies. In summary, the Standards: 

 • Define the nature of internal auditing within the UK public sector. 

 • Set basic principles for carrying out internal audit in the UK public sector. 

• Establish a framework for providing internal audit services, which add value to the 

organisation, leading to improved organisational processes and operations; and 

• Establish the basis for the evaluation of internal audit performance and to drive 

improvement planning. 

3. Local Government Application Note  

3.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) recognised the 

potential significance of the changes resulting from the adoption of the PSIAS and 

provided guidance to internal auditors in the form of an Application Note. The Application 

Note and PSIAS combined constitute ‘proper practices’ in internal control as set out in 

the Accounts and Audit Regulations. 

4. External Assessment  

4.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standard introduced a requirement for an external 

assessment of all internal audit services, which must be conducted at least once every 

five years by a qualified, independent reviewer from outside of the organisation. 

4.2 The two possible approaches to external assessments outlined in the standard included 

either a full external assessment or an internal self-assessment which is validated by an 

external reviewer. Members of the Welsh Chief Internal Auditor Group (WCIAG) elected 

to adopt the self-assessment approach, with another member of the WCIAG undertaking 

the validation. The Chief Audit Executive (Chief Auditor) has undertaken a self-

assessment in accordance with the PSIAS and submitted it, together with supporting 

evidence, to the Head of Internal Audit at Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council for 

Validation.  

4.2 This is the second external assessment that has been undertaken. The first assessment, 

completed in 2017/18 by Cardiff Council, concluded that the Council was broadly 

compliant with the PSIAS and Cipfa Application Note with no significant deviations from 

the standards being noted. Some minor suggestions for improvement were made all of 

which were addressed.  

 4.3 The most recent review by Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council was undertaken 

between December 2022 and August 2023. Meetings were also held with various 

officers within Swansea Council.  

Page 21



  

4.4 The External Assessment Report outlining the findings of the review can be found in 

Appendix 1.  

5.  Conclusion  

5.1 The assessment comprised a desktop review of the self-assessment and supporting 

evidence and discussions were held with the Chief Audit Executive (CAE), by the 

Professional Lead and the Senior Auditor at Blaenau Gwent CBC to gain insight and 

views on the operation of the Internal Audit Team and adherence to the Standards. 

5.2 In summary, there are 304 best practice lines within the PSIAS. The Internal Audit 

Service of Swansea Council has been assessed as fully conforming with 303 of the 

requirements (includes those not applicable). One area of partial compliance was noted 

in relation to a dedicated Information Technology audit resource within the team. 

Therefore, the Internal Audit Service of Swansea Council has been assessed as 

generally conforming with the standards in all significant areas and operating 

independently and objectively. Three optional actions were also suggested as part of 

the review with the aim of enhancing existing compliance in some areas, as shown in 

Appendix 1.   

5.3 Actions that will be completed to address the one area assessed as partially compliant 

and the three suggestions to enhance current compliance can be found in the Action 

Plan contained in the External Assessment Report in Appendix 1 for Governance and 

Audit Committee’s consideration and comment.  

6. Integrated Assessment Implications  
 

6.1    The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and the socio-
economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh 
Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the exercise of their functions, have due 
regard to the need to: 

 

   Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-economic 
disadvantage. 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language. 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs. 

  
6.2    The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that public bodies 

in Wales must carry out sustainable development. Sustainable development means 
the process of improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being 
of Wales by taking action, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 
aimed at achieving the ‘well-being goals’. 

  

Page 22



  

6.3    Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid due regard to 
the above. It also takes into account other key issues and priorities, such as poverty 
and social exclusion, community cohesion, carers, the United Nations Convention on 
the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and Welsh language. 

 
6.4  The completion of the Integrated Impact Assessment Screening revealed that: 

 

  The External Assessment Report has a low positive impact across all groups.  

  It has been subject to consultation with the Director of Finance, the Corporate 
Management Team, Legal and Access to Services. 

  All Well-being of Future Generations Act considerations are positive and any risks 
identified are low.  

  The overall impact of the External Assessment Report is positive as it will support 
the Authority in its requirement to protect public funds.  

 
7.  Financial Implications  
 
7.1  There are no financial implications associated with this report.  
 
8.  Legal Implications  

 
8.1  There are no legal implications associated with this report.  

 
 
Background Papers: None   

 
Appendices: Appendix 1 – External Assessment Report 
   Appendix 2 – Internal Audit Charter  
   Appendix C – Internal Audit Charter appendix C 
   Appendix D – internal Audit Charter appendix D 
   Appendix 3 – Internal Audit Flowchart 
   Appendix 4 – Integrated Impact Assessment Form  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 23



1 | P a g e  
 

 

  Appendix 1  

 

 

 

Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council  

Internal Audit Report 

 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

 

External Assessment of  

Swansea City Council Internal Audit Service 

Welsh Chief Internal Auditor Group 

WCIAG 

 

 

  

Date of Assessment Fieldwork May 2023 –August 2023 

Date of Report Issue 07th  August 2023 

Report Status Draft Report 

Report Author Andrea Owen, Professional Lead – Internal Audit 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council. 

Issued to Simon Cockings, Chief Internal Auditor. 

Page 24



2 | P a g e  
 

 

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standard (PSIAS) became effective from 1st April 
2013 and introduced a requirement for an external assessment of all internal audit 
services, which must be conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, 
independent reviewer from outside of the organisation.  
 

1.2 The two possible approaches to external assessments outlined in the standard 
included either a full external assessment or an internal self-assessment which is 
validated by an external reviewer. 
 

1.3 Members of the Welsh Chief Internal Auditor Group (WCIAG) elected to adopt the 
self-assessment approach, with another member of the WCIAG undertaking the 
validation.  
 

2. Purpose 

2.1 The purpose of the external assessment is to help improve delivery of the audit 
service to an organisation. The assessment is designed to be a supportive process 
that identifies opportunities for development which ultimately help to enhance the 
value of the audit function to the authority. 

 

3. Results 
 

3.1 The assessment involved a validation of a self-assessment of conformance against 
the PSIAS undertaken by the Professional Lead – Internal Audit at Blaenau Gwent 
County Borough Council.    
 

3.2 The assessment comprised a desktop review of the self-assessment and supporting 
evidence and discussions were held with the Chief Audit Executive (CAE), by the 
Professional Lead and the Senior Auditor at Blaenau Gwent CBC to gain insight and 
views on the operation of the Internal Audit Team and adherence to the Standards.  
 

3.3 In summary, there are 304 best practice lines within the PSIAS. The Internal Audit 
Service of Swansea City Council is currently conforming to 274 of the requirements, 
with 29 areas deemed not applicable and partial conformance in 1 area.  

  

Page 25



3 | P a g e  
 

 

3.4 The table below summarises the outcome of the assessment. 
 

Standard 
Conformance  

Yes Partly No N/A Total 

1. Mission of Internal Audit 1    1 

2. Definition of Audit Risk 2    2 

3. Core Principles 10    10 

4. Code of Ethics 13    13 

5. Attribute Standards      

Purpose, Authority and 
Responsibility 19   1 20 

Objectivity and Independence 27   2 29 

Proficiency and Due Professional 
Care 17 1  3 21 

Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme 24    24 

6. Performance Standards      

Managing the Internal Audit 
Activity 35   2 37 

Nature of Work 24   4 28 

Engagement Planning 37   15 52 

Performing the Engagement 15    15 

Communicating Results 45   1 46 

Monitoring Progress 3   1 4 

Communicating the Acceptance 
of Risks 2    2 

Total 274 1 0 29 304 
 
 

  

Page 26



4 | P a g e  
 

 

 
3.5 This report contains three appendices as follows: 

Appendix A Action Plan to address partial conformance area 

Appendix B Enhancing proposals for areas where conformance is already 
achieved 

Appendix C Completed checklist for assessing conformance with the PSIAS 
and Local Government Application Note (LGAN) 

 
 

3.6 The area of partial compliance relate to: 
 
 Standard 1200 Proficiency and Due professional Care.  

This area relates specifically to auditors having sufficient knowledge of key 
information technology risks and controls. It was discussed with the CAE that the 
Principal Auditor has some IT audit experience however there is no designated 
IT auditor resource within the team and no evidence of any IT audits being 
sourced from an external provider. 
 

Impact of partial-compliance and steps to be taken to ensure compliance. 

 
3.6.1 In terms of the review that has been undertaken, the impact of the partial 

conformance is not considered to be significant, and the Internal Audit service of 
Swansea City Council complies with the Standards in all significant areas and 
operates independently and objectively.  
 

3.6.2 The CAE has agreed that an action plan will be drafted to respond to the area of 
partial compliance for consideration by the Governance & Audit Committee. 

Page 27



5 | P a g e  
 

 

Appendix A 

Action Plan to address partial conformance area 

Rec No Standard Action to address non-compliance Responsible 
Person Timescale 

 
 Action to address partial compliance   

1 1210 Proficiency  
Internal Auditors must have 
sufficient knowledge of key 
information technology risks 
and controls 

It was discussed that the Principal Auditor 
has some ICT Audit experience however, 
there is no designated IT auditor resource 
within the team and no evidence of recent 
ICT Audits being sourced from an external 
provider.   
 
 
 
 

Discussed with 
CMT 06/09/23 
 
Agreed to 
explore options 
to enhance 
internal ICT audit 
skills and/or 
consider the 
feasibility of 
sourcing external 
ICT internal audit 
provision if 
necessary.  

2024/25 financial 
year  

 

  

P
age 28



6 | P a g e  
 

 

Appendix B 

Further Action Plan – Enhancing proposals for areas where conformance is already achieved  

Standard Compliant, but enhancing recommendation 
proposed. 

Who is responsible for 
implementing the action 

Timescale 

1130 Impairment to 
independence or Objectivity 
Where there have been 
significant additional 
consulting services agreed 
during the year that were not 
already included in the audit 
plan, was approval sought 
from the board before the 
engagement was accepted. 

Whilst the Internal Audit Charter states the process 
for undertaking consultancy work however, it does 
not state that the CAE will notify the Board of any 
agreed consultancy engagements prior to accepting 
them. The Internal Audit Charter should be updated 
to reflect this. 
 

Chief Auditor  
 
The Audit Charter has 
been updated as 
requested. See Audit 
Charter – paragraph 6.3.  

August 2023 – 
Completed  
 
The updated Charter 
will be presented to 
the Governance & 
Audit Committee 
when the EQA 
Report is presented 
in October 2023.  

1210 Proficiency 
The CAE holds a professional 
qualification, such as 
CMIIA/CCAB or equivalent  

Whilst the internal Audit Charter states that the CAE 
needs to hold a professional qualification, the 
Charter does not specify what professional 
qualification is required. The Internal Audit Charter 
should be updated to reflect this. 
 

Chief Auditor  
 
The Audit Charter has 
been updated as 
requested. See Audit 
Charter - paragraph 8.2.   

August 2023 - 
Completed 
 
The updated Charter 
will be presented to 
the Governance & 
Audit Committee 
when the EQA 
Report is presented 
in October 2023. 

P
age 29



7 | P a g e  
 

 

2040 Policies and 
Procedures  
The CAE must develop and 
put into place policies and 
procedures to guide the 
internal audit activity. 
 

On the job audit training is provided within the team 
and staff have access to an internal audit manual. 
However, there is no evidence of an internal audit 
flowchart to guide auditors in their role.   
 

Chief Auditor  
 
A flowchart has been 
produced to complement 
the existing guidance 
material.  

August 2023 - 
Completed 
 
The flowchart will be 
presented to the 
Governance & Audit 
Committee when the 
EQA Report is 
presented in 
October 2023. 

P
age 30



8 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 

Appendix C 
CHECKLIST FOR ASSESSING CONFORMANCE WITH THE PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS  

AND THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT APPLICATION NOTE (LGAN) 
 

 

Glossary 

GC 
 

Generally Conforms with PSIAS - The relevant structures, policies and procedures of the activity, as well as the processes by which they are applied, comply with the requirements of individual 
Standard or element of the Code of Ethics in all material respects. For the sections and major categories, this means that there is general conformance to a majority of the individual Standards or 
elements of the Code of Ethics, and at least partial conformance to the others, within the section / category. General conformance does not require complete / perfect conformance, the ideal situation, 
successful practice, etc. 

PC 
Partially Conforms with PSIAS - The activity is making good-faith efforts to comply with the requirements of the individual Standard or element of the Code of Ethics, section or major category, but 
falls short of achieving some major objectives. These will usually represent significant opportunities for improvement in effectively applying the Standards or Code of Ethics and / or achieving their 
objectives. 

DNC 
Does Not Conform with PSIAS - The activity is not aware of, is not making good-faith efforts to comply with, or is failing to achieve many / all of the objectives of the individual Standard or element 
of the Code of Ethics, section, or major category. These deficiencies will usually have a significant negative impact on the activity’s effectiveness and its potential to add value to the organisation. 
These may also represent significant opportunities for improvement, including actions by senior management or the board. 

N/A Not Applicable - The sections marked N/A do not apply to this assessment. Any n/a answers should be treated as generally conforming with the PSIAS.  

CAE Chief Audit Executive (CAE) - A generic title used to describe the person responsible for managing the internal audit activity. In Blaenau Gwent Council, it is the Audit & Risk Manager. 

      
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 31



9 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

  SUMMARY OF RESULTS GC PC DNC N/A 

A Mission of Internal Audit 1    

B Definition of Internal Auditing 2    

C Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing  10    

D Code of Ethics  13    

      E Attribute Standards  87 1 0 6 

1000 Purpose, Authority and Responsibility (The sum of Standards 1000-1010) 19   1 

1100 Independence and Objectivity 8     

1110 Organisational Independence 6    

1111 Direct Interaction with the Board 1    

1112 Chief Audit Executive Roles Beyond Internal Auditing 2    

1120 Individual Objectivity 2    

1130 Impairments to Independence or Objectivity 8   2 

1200 Proficiency and Due Professional Care      

1210 Proficiency 8 1   

1220 Due Professional Care 5   3 

1230 Continuing Professional Development 4    

1300 Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme  4    

1310 Requirements of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 1    

1311 Internal Assessments 10    

1312 External Assessments 4    

1320 Reporting on the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 2    

1321 Use of Conforms with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 1    

1322 Disclosure of Non-conformance 2    

      F Performance Standards 161 0 0 23 

2000 Managing the Internal Audit Activity     

2010 Planning 22   2 

2020 Communication and Approval 3    

2030 Resource Management 3    

2040 Policies and Procedures 2    

2050 Coordination 1    

2060 Reporting to Senior Management and the Board 3    

P
age 32



10 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 SUMMARY OF RESULTS GC PC DNC N/A 

2070 External service Provider and Organisational Responsibility for Internal Audit 1    

2100 Nature of Work     

2110 Governance 8    

2120 Risk Management 11   3 

2130 Control 5   1 

2200 Engagement Planning 13   7 

2210 Engagement Objectives 11   2 

2220 Engagement Scope 3   6 

2230 Engagement Resource Allocation 3    

2240 Engagement Work Programme 7    

2300 Performing the Engagement     

2310 Identifying Information 1    

2320 Analysis and Evaluation 6    

2330 Documenting Information 6    

2340 Engagement Supervision 2    

2400 Communicating Results      

2410 Criteria for Communicating 12   1 

2420 Quality of Communications 1    

2421 Errors and Omissions 1    

2430 Use of ‘conducted in conformance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing’. 1    

2431 Engagement Disclosure of Non-conformance 3    

2440 Disseminating Results 6    

2450 Overall Opinions 21    

2500 Monitoring Progress 3   1 

2600 Resolution of Senior Managements Acceptance of Risks 2    

       OVERALL CONCLUSION – CONFORMANCE WITH PSIAS 274 1 0 29 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 33



11 | P a g e  
 

 

Ref Conformance with the Standard GC PC DNC Evidence 

A Mission of Internal Audit     

1 Based on your review of conformance with other requirements of the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and Local Government Application 
Note (LGAN), does the internal audit activity aspire to accomplish the 
Mission of Internal Audit as set out in the PSIAS? To enhance and protect 
organisational value by providing risk-based and objective assurance, advice 
and insight. 

   Swansea Council Internal Audit service’s mission is in-line with the stated definition 
of internal audit which is named as the purpose in the Charter. 

 Mission of Internal Audit GC    

B Definition of Internal Auditing     

2 Based on your review of conformance with other requirements of the  PSIAS and 
LGAN, is the internal audit activity independent and objective? 

   The IA Activity’s independence and objectivity is established and set out in the 
Charter which is approved by the Audit and Governance Committee. 

3 Based on your review of conformance with other requirements of the PSIAS 
and LGAN, does the internal audit activity use a systematic    and disciplined 
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, 
control and governance processes within the organisation? 

   The IA Activity uses a systematic and disciplined approach to evaluate the 
effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.  A 5 year 
plan is developed based on risk assessment analysis. 

 Definition of Internal Audit Conclusion GC    

C Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing     

4 Having regard to your review of conformance with the Code of Ethics 
(Integrity, Seven Principles of Public Life), do you consider that the 
internal audit activity fully conforms with the PSIAS and LGAN by 
demonstrating integrity? 

   Internal Audit Charter and the Declarations of compliance with the Code of Ethics. 

5 Having regard to your review of conformance with the Code of Ethics 
(Competence, Confidentiality, Seven Principles of Public Life) and any 
other evidence from the review of conformance with Standards, do you 
consider that the internal audit activity fully conforms with the PSIAS and 
LGAN by demonstrating competence and due professional care? 

   Internal Audit Charter, Declarations of compliance with the Code of Ethics and 
Annual Performance Review. 

6 Having regard to your review of conformance with the Code of Ethics 
(Objectivity, Seven Principles of Public Life) and any other evidence from the 
review of conformance with standards, do you consider that the internal audit 
activity fully conforms with the PSIAS and LGAN by being objective and free 
from undue influence (independent)? 

   Internal Audit Charter and the Declarations of compliance with the Code of Ethics. 

7-13 Based on your review of conformance with standards, do you consider that 
the internal audit activity fully conforms with the PSIAS and LGAN  
a) By being aligned with the strategies, objectives, and risks of the 

organisation by? 
b) Being appropriately positioned and adequately resourced? 
c) Demonstrating quality and continuous improvement? 
d) Communicating effectively? 
e) Providing risk-based assurance, based on adequate risk assessment? 
f) Being insightful, proactive, and future-focused? 
g) Promoting organisational improvement? 
 
 
 

   Internal Audit Charter, Risk-based Audit Plan. Declarations of compliance with the 
Code of Ethics and Annual Performance Review. 
QAIP in place, which has been approved by AC as part of Charter approval. 
Quarterly Progress Reports provided to G&AC 

 Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing GC    

P
age 34



12 | P a g e  
 

 

D Code of Ethics     

14-17 Integrity 
Based on your review of conformance with other requirements of 
the PSIAS and LGAN, do you consider that internal auditors display 
integrity by: 
a) Performing their work with honesty, diligence and responsibility? 
b) Observing the law and making disclosures expected by the law and 

the profession? 
c) Not knowingly partaking in any illegal activity nor engaging in acts 

that are discreditable to the profession of internal auditing or to the 
organisation? 

d) Respecting and contributing to the legitimate and ethical objectives of 
the organisation? 

   Annual declaration of ethical compliance certified by IA staff. 
Annual record of Business Interests completed by IA staff. 
Annual staff performance review and monthly supervision. 
Staff are also required to comply with their own professional code of conduct. 

18-20 Objectivity 
Based on your review of conformance with other requirements of 
the PSIAS and LGAN, do you consider that internal auditors display 
objectivity by: 
a) Not taking part in any activity or relationship that may impair or be 

presumed to impair their unbiased assessment? 
b) Not accepting anything that may impair or be presumed to impair 

their professional judgement? 
c) Disclosing all material facts known to them that, if not disclosed, may 

distort the reporting of activities under review? 

   Annual declaration of ethical compliance certified by IA staff. 
Annual record of Business Interests completed by IA staff. 
Annual staff performance review and monthly supervision. 
Staff are also required to comply with their own professional code of conduct. 
 

21-22 Confidentiality 
Based on your review of conformance with other requirements of the 
PSIAS and LGAN, do you consider that internal auditors display due 
respect and care by: 
a) Acting prudently when using information acquired in the course of their 

duties and protecting that information? 
b) Not using information for any personal gain or in any manner that would 

be contrary to the law or detrimental to the legitimate and ethical 
objectives of the organisation? 

   Annual declaration of ethical compliance certified by IA staff. 
Annual record of Business Interests completed by IA staff. 
Annual staff performance review and monthly supervision. 
Staff are also required to comply with their own professional code of conduct. 
 

23-25 Competency 
Based on your review of conformance with other requirements of 
the PSIAS and LGAN, do you consider that internal auditors display 
competence by: 
a) Only carrying out services for which they have the necessary 

knowledge, skills and experience? 
b) Performing services in accordance with the PSIAS? 
c) Continually improving their proficiency and effectiveness and quality 

of their services, for example through CPD schemes? 

   The Internal Audit team is staffed with suitably experienced, qualified and part-
qualified officers.   
Annual staff performance review and monthly supervision. 
Staff are also required to comply with their own professional code of conduct. 
 

26 Seven Principles of Public Life 
Based on your review of conformance with other requirements of the 
PSIAS and LGAN, do you consider that internal auditors, whether 
consciously or through conformance with organisational procedures 
and norms, have due regard to the Committee on Standards of Public 
Life’s Seven Principles of Public Life? 
 
 
 

   Internal Audit Charter. 
Internal Audit Flow Chart. 
Declarations of compliance with the Code of Ethics. 
7 Principles included within the Charter document. 

 Code of Ethics Conclusion GC    

P
age 35



13 | P a g e  
 

 

 Standards     

E Attribute Standards     

 1000 Purpose, Authority and Responsibility     

27-29 Does the internal audit charter conform with the PSIAS by including a 
formal definition of: 
a) the purpose 
b) the authority, and 
c) the responsibility 
of the internal audit activity consistent with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS)? 

   Internal Audit Charter 

30 Does the internal audit charter conform with the PSIAS by clearly and 
appropriately defining the terms ‘board’ and ‘senior management’ for the 
purposes of the internal audit activity? 
 
Note that it is expected that the audit committee will fulfil the role of the board 
in the majority of instances. 

   Internal Audit Charter 

31-45 
 
 

Does the internal audit charter also: 
a) Set out the internal audit activity’s position within the organisation? 
b) Establish the chief audit executive’s (CAE) functional reporting 

relationship with the board? 
c) Establish the accountability, reporting line and relationship between 

the CAE and those to whom the CAE may report administratively? 
Where applicable, this will need to encompass shared service or 
external providers of internal audit, and the role of the contract 
manager. 

d) Establish the responsibility of the board and also the role of the 
statutory officers (such as the CFO, the monitoring officer and the 
head of paid service) with regards to internal audit? 

e) Establish internal audit’s right of access to all records, assets, 
personnel and premises and its authority to obtain such information 
and explanations as it considers necessary to fulfil its 
responsibilities? 

f) Define the scope of internal audit activities? 
g) Recognise that internal audit’s remit extends to the entire control 

environment of the organisation? 
h) Establish the organisational independence of internal audit? 
i) Cover the arrangements for appropriate resourcing? 
j) Define the role of internal audit in any fraud-related work? 
k) Set out the existing arrangements within the organisation’s anti- 

fraud and anti-corruption policies, requiring the CAE to be notified of 
all suspected or detected fraud, corruption or impropriety? 

l) Include arrangements for avoiding conflicts of interest if internal audit 
or the CAE undertakes non-audit activities? 

m) Define the nature of assurance services provided to the organisation, 
as well as assurances provided to parties external to the organisation? 

n) Define the nature of consulting services? 
o) Recognise the mandatory nature of the PSIAS? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

N/A 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Internal Audit Charter 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

46 Does the CAE periodically review the internal audit charter and present it 
to senior management and the board for approval? 

   Internal Audit Charter reviewed annually.  Latest review and approval April 2023. 

 1000 Conclusion GC    

P
age 36



14 | P a g e  
 

 

 1100 Independence and Objectivity     

47 Does the CAE have direct and unrestricted access to senior management 
and the board? 

   Internal Audit Charter states unrestricted access to Senior Management and the 
Board. 

48 Does the CAE have free and unfettered access to, as well as 
communicate effectively with, the chief executive or equivalent and the 
chair of the audit committee? 

   The Internal Audit Charter does state that the CAE has unfettered access to, as 
well as communicate effectively with, the Chief Executive. 
Internal Audit Charter does state unrestricted access to Chair of G&AC. 

49 Does the CAE attend audit committee meetings?    Governance & Audit Committee agendas and minutes. 

50 Does the CAE contribute to audit committee agendas?    Governance & Audit Committee agendas and minutes. 

51-54 Are threats to objectivity identified and managed at the following levels: 
a) Individual auditor? 
b) Engagement? 
c) Functional? 
d) Organisation? 

   Annual declaration of ethical compliance certified by IA staff. 
Annual record of Business Interests completed by IA staff. 
Annual staff performance review and monthly supervision. 
Staff are also required to comply with their own professional code of conduct. 

 1100 Conclusion GC    

 1110 organisational Independence     

55 Does the CAE report to an organisational level equal or higher to the 
corporate management team? 

   CAE reports to the Director of Finance, who is part of the Corporate Management 
Team. 

56 Does the CAE report to a level within the organisation that allows the 
internal audit activity to fulfil its responsibilities? 

   CAE reports to the Director of Finance, who is part of the Corporate Management 
Team. 

57-58 Does the CAE’s position in the management structure: 
a) Provide the CAE with sufficient status to ensure that audit plans, 

reports and action plans are discussed effectively with the board? 
b) Ensure that he or she is sufficiently senior and independent to be able 

to provide credibly constructive challenge to senior management? 

   CAE reports to the Director of Finance, who is part of the Corporate Management 
Team. 

59 Does the CAE confirm to the board, at least annually, that the internal audit 
activity is organisationally independent? 

   Annual Internal Audit Report. 

60 Is the organisational independence of internal audit realised by functional 
reporting by the CAE to the board? 
 
The ‘Interpretation’ to PSIAS 1110 provides examples of factors which 
may indicate that the CAE reports functionally to the Board, which 
include where the board: 

a) approves the internal audit  charter 

b) approves the risk-based audit plan 

c) approves the internal audit budget and resource plan 

d) receives communications from the CAE on the activity’s 
performance (in relation to the plan, for example) 

e) approves decisions relating to the appointment and removal of the 
CAE 

f) approves the remuneration of the CAE 
g) seeks reassurance from management and the CAE as to whether there 

are any inappropriate scope or resource limitations. 
 

   Governance & Audit Committee agendas and minutes. 

 1110 Conclusion GC    

 1111 Direct Interaction with the Board     

P
age 37



15 | P a g e  
 

 

61 Does the CAE communicate and interact directly with the board?    Governance & Audit Committee agendas and minutes. 

 1111 Conclusion GC    

  1112 Chief Audit Executive Roles Beyond Internal Auditing     

62 Where the CAE has roles or responsibilities that fall outside of internal 
auditing, are adequate safeguards in place to limit impairments to 
independence or objectivity? 

   The CAE has sole management of the Internal Audit Section. 

63 Does the board periodically review these safeguards?    The arrangements are reported annually within the Annual Internal Audit Report 
and are included within the Audit Charter. 

 1112 Conclusion GC    

 1120 Individual Objectivity     

64 Do internal auditors have an impartial, unbiased attitude?    Annual declaration of ethical compliance certified by IA staff. 
Annual record of Business Interests completed by IA staff. 
Annual staff performance review and monthly supervision. 
Staff are also required to comply with their own professional code of conduct. 

65 Do internal auditors avoid any conflict of interest, whether apparent or 
actual? 

   Annual declaration of ethical compliance certified by IA staff. 
Annual record of Business Interests completed by IA staff. 
Annual staff performance review and monthly supervision. 
Staff are also required to comply with their own professional code of conduct. 

 1120 Conclusion GC    

 1130 Impairment to Independence or Objectivity     

66 If there has been any real or apparent impairment of independence or 
objectivity, has this been disclosed to appropriate parties (depending on the 
nature of the impairment and the relationship between the CAE and senior 
management/the board as set out in the internal audit charter)? 

   No declarations have been made for the financial year. 

67 Does review indicate that work allocations have operated so that internal 
auditors have not assessed specific operations for which they have been 
responsible within the previous year? 

   Internal Audit Charter. 
Internal Audit Plan 

68 If there have been any assurance engagements in areas over which the 
CAE also has operational responsibility, have these engagements been 
overseen by someone outside of the internal audit activity? 

   N/a CAE has no other areas of responsibility. 

69 Is the risk of over-familiarity or complacency managed effectively: for 
example by rotating assignments for ongoing assurance engagements 
and other audit responsibilities periodically within the internal audit team? 

   Internal Audit Charter  
Internal Audit Plan 
There is Rotation of fundamental Audits within the confines of the resources pool 
available, with supervision and monitoring. Review of audits is shared to ensure 
segregation. 

70 Have internal auditors declared interests in accordance with 
organisational requirements? 

   Annual declaration of ethical compliance certified by IA staff. 
Annual record of Business Interests completed by IA staff. 
 

71 Where any internal auditor has accepted any gifts, hospitality, 
inducements or other benefits from employees, clients, suppliers or other 
third parties (other than as may be allowed by the organisation's own 
policies), has this been declared and investigated fully? 

N/A   No declarations have been made for the financial year. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 38



16 | P a g e  
 

 

72 Does review indicate that no instances have been identified where an 
internal auditor has used information obtained during the course of 
duties for personal gain? 

   Annual declaration of ethical compliance certified by IA staff. 
Annual record of Business Interests completed by IA staff. 
Annual staff performance review and monthly supervision. 
Staff are also required to comply with their own professional code of conduct. 

73 Have internal auditors disclosed all material facts known to them 
which, if not disclosed, could distort their reports or conceal unlawful 
practice, subject to any confidentiality agreements? 

   Annual declaration of ethical compliance certified by IA staff. 
Annual record of Business Interests completed by IA staff. 
Annual staff performance review and monthly supervision. 
Staff are also required to comply with their own professional code of conduct. 

74 If there has been any real or apparent impairment of independence or 
objectivity relating to a proposed consulting services engagement, was 
this disclosed to the engagement client before the engagement was 
accepted? 

N/A   No consultancy is undertaken. 

75 Where there have been significant additional consulting services 
agreed during the year that were not already included in the audit 
plan, was approval sought from the board before the engagement was 
accepted? 

   The Charter states the process for undertaking consultancy work however, it does 
not state that the CAE will notify the Board of any agreed consultancy engagements 
prior to accepting them. 
 

 1130 Conclusion GC    

 1200 Proficiency and Due Professional Care     

 1210 Proficiency     

76 Does the CAE hold a professional qualification, such as CMIIA/CCAB or 
equivalent? 

   The Chief Audit Executive is ACA qualified. The CAE’s performance review is 
undertaken by the Director of Finance. 
 
The Audit Charter states that the CAE needs to hold a professional qualification 
however, the Charter does not specify what the current postholder’s qualification 
is.  
 

77 Is the CAE suitably experienced?    The CAE has worked within Internal Audit since 2008 and has been the CIA since 
2017. 

78 Is the CAE responsible for recruiting appropriate internal audit staff, in 
accordance with the organisation’s human resources processes? 

   Corporate Policies for the recruitment of staff. 

79 Does the CAE ensure that up-to-date job descriptions exist that reflect 
roles and responsibilities and that person specifications define the 
required qualifications, competencies, skills, experience and personal 
attributes? 

   Job Descriptions 

80 Having regard to the answers to the other questions in this section and 
other matters, does the internal audit activity collectively possess or obtain 
the skills, knowledge and other competencies required to perform its 
responsibilities? 

   Annual staff performance review and monthly supervision. 
 

81 Where the internal audit activity does not possess the skills, knowledge 
and other competencies required to perform its responsibilities, does the 
CAE obtain competent advice and assistance? 

   Advised that where required, suitable skills would be procured.  E.g., external IT 
audit provision is currently procured. 

82 Do internal auditors have sufficient knowledge to evaluate the risk of fraud 
and anti-fraud arrangements in the organisation? 

   Designated Fraud Team is within the Section. 

83 Do internal auditors have sufficient knowledge of key information 
technology risks and controls? 

    It was discussed that the Principal Auditor has some ICT Audit experience 
however, there is no designated IT auditor resource within the team and no 
evidence of recent ICT Audits being sourced from an external provider.   
 

P
age 39



17 | P a g e  
 

 

84 Do internal auditors have sufficient knowledge of the appropriate computer-
assisted audit techniques that are available to them to perform their work, 
including data analysis techniques? 

   The Principal Auditor is able to undertake ICT Audit work, however none are 
employed. 
 
 
 
 

 1210 Conclusion GC    

 1220 Due Professional Care     

85-89 Do internal auditors exercise due professional care by considering the: 
a) Extent of work needed to achieve the engagement’s objectives? 
b) Relative complexity, materiality or significance of matters to which 

assurance procedures are applied? 
c) Adequacy and effectiveness of governance, risk management and 

control processes? 
d) Probability of significant errors, fraud, or non-compliance? 
e) Cost of assurance in relation to potential benefits? 

   Internal Audit assignment documentation  
Evidence of supervision and review by Principal auditor. 

90-92 Do internal auditors exercise due professional care during a consulting 
engagement by considering the  
a) Needs and expectations of clients, including the nature, timing and 

communication of engagement results? 
b) Relative complexity and extent of work needed to achieve the 

engagement’s objectives? 
c) Cost of the consulting engagement in relation to potential benefits? 

N/A   No consultancy work is undertaken. 

 1220 Conclusion GC    

 1230 Continuing Professional Development     

93 Has the CAE defined the skills and competencies for each level of auditor?    Job Descriptions 
Training Records 
Annual staff performance review and monthly supervision 

94 Does the CAE periodically assess individual auditors against the 
predetermined skills and competencies? 

   

95 Do internal auditors undertake a programme of continuing professional 
development? 

   

96 Do internal auditors maintain a record of their professional development and 
training activities? 

   

 1230 Conclusion GC    

 1300 Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme     

97 Has the CAE developed a QAIP that covers all aspects of the internal 
audit activity and enables conformance with all aspects of the PSIAS to 
be evaluated? 

   QAIP – approved by Audit committee as part of the Charter. 
 

98 Does the QAIP assess the efficiency and effectiveness of the internal audit 
activity and identify opportunities for improvement? 

   

99 Does the CAE maintain the QAIP?    

100 Are any statutory requirements for review of the internal audit activity 
satisfied? 

   

 1300 Conclusion GC    

 1310 Requirements of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme     

101 Does the QAIP include both internal and external assessments?    QAIP – approved by Audit committee as part of the Charter. 

P
age 40



18 | P a g e  
 

 

 1310 Conclusion GC    

 1311 Internal Assessments     

102 Does the CAE ensure that audit work is allocated to staff with the appropriate 
skills, experience and competence? 

   Internal Audit Plan 
 

103-
104 

Do internal assessments include ongoing monitoring of the internal audit 
activity such as: 
a) Routine quality monitoring processes? 
b) Periodic assessments for evaluating conformance with the PSIAS? 

   QAIP – approved by Audit committee as part of the Charter. 
 

105 Does ongoing performance monitoring contribute to quality improvement 
through the effective use of performance targets? 

   Internal Audit Performance Measures 

106 Is there a set of comprehensive targets which between them 
encompass all significant internal audit activities? 

   Internal Audit Performance Measures 

107 Are the performance targets developed in consultation with 
appropriate parties and included in any service level agreement? 

   Internal Audit Performance Measures 

108 Does the CAE measure, monitor and report on progress against 
these targets? 

   Internal Audit Performance Measures 
Governance & Audit Committee Agendas and Minutes 

109 Does ongoing performance monitoring include obtaining stakeholder 
feedback? 

   A QCQ process is in place where a formal document is issued on completion of an 
audit with stakeholder feedback obtained. Return rate is 90%. 

110 Are the periodic self-assessments or assessments carried out by people 
external to the internal audit activity undertaken by those with a sufficient 
knowledge of internal audit practices? 
Sufficiency would require knowledge of the PSIAS and the wider guidance 
available such as the Local Government Application Note and/or IIA practice 
advisories, etc. 

   Current External Quality Assessment undertaken  

111 Does the periodic assessment include a review of the activity against the 
risk-based plan and the achievement of its aims and objectives? 

   Internal Audit Performance Measures 
Governance & Audit Committee Agendas and Minutes 

 1311 Conclusion GC    

 1312 External Assessments     

112 Has an external assessment been carried out, or is one planned to be 
carried out, at least once every five years? 
 

   Current External Quality Assessment  

113 Has the CAE discussed the alternative approaches to external assessment 
with the board?  
This should reflect the relative costs of   the different approaches, the 
potential advantages of an external viewpoint, and whether there are factors 
which might be considered to warrant a demonstrably independent 
assessment. 

   Current External Quality Assessment process being undertaken as part of the 
Welsh Chief Auditor Group Self-Assessment Approach. 

114 Has the CAE properly discussed the qualifications and independence of 
the assessor or assessment team with the board? 
In doing this, the CAE should consider whether the assessor or 
assessment team has demonstrated its competence in both the 
professional practice of internal auditing and the external assessment 
process. Competence can be demonstrated through both experience 
and theoretical learning. Experience of similar organisations or 
sectors is more valuable than less relevant experience. In the case 
of an assessment team, not all members need to have all the 
competencies 

   Current External Quality Assessment process being undertaken as part of the 
Welsh Chief Auditor Group Self-Assessment Approach. 

P
age 41



19 | P a g e  
 

 

– it is the team as a whole that is qualified. 

If the capability of the assessor or assessment team is not 
immediately obvious, the CAE should document how they used 
professional judgement to decide whether this is sufficient to carry out 
the external assessment. 
If the assessor or assessment team has any real or apparent 
conflicts of interest with the organisation, this should be clearly 
explained to the board, and safeguards should be put in place to 
minimise the effect of this on the conduct of the external assessment. 

Conflict of interest may include, but is not limited to, being a part of or 
under the control of the organisation to which the internal audit activity 
belongs. 

115 Has the CAE agreed the scope of the external assessment with an 
appropriate sponsor, such as the chair of the audit committee, the CFO 
or the chief executive? 
The CAE should also agree this scope with the external assessor or 
assessment team. 

   The CAE has met with the external assessor to agree the scope of the assessment. 

 1312 Conclusion GC    

 1320 Reporting on the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme     

116 Has the CAE reported the results of the QAIP to senior management and the 
board? 
Note that: 
a) the results of both external and periodic internal assessment must be 
communicated upon completion 
b) the results of ongoing monitoring must be communicated at least annually 
c) the results must include the assessor’s or assessment team’s evaluation 
with regards to the degree of the internal audit activity’s conformance with 
the PSIAS. 

   QAIP 
Internal Audit Annual Report 
Internal Audit Charter 

117 Has the CAE included the results of the QAIP and progress against any 
improvement plans in the annual report? 

   QAIP 
Internal Audit Annual Report 
Internal Audit Charter 

 1320 Conclusion GC    

 1321 Use of ‘Conforms with the International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing’ 

    

118 Has the CAE stated that the internal audit activity conforms with the PSIAS 
only if the results of the QAIP support this? 

   QAIP 
Internal Audit Annual Report 
Internal Audit Charter 

 1321 Conclusion GC    

 1322 Disclosure of Non-conformance     

119 Has the CAE reported any instances of non-conformance with the PSIAS to 
the board? 

   No instances of non-conformance is stated or known. 

120 If appropriate, has the CAE considered including any significant deviations 
from the PSIAS in the governance statement and has this been evidenced? 

   No instances of non-conformance is stated or known. 

 1322 Conclusion GC    
 

F Performance Standards     

P
age 42



20 | P a g e  
 

 

 2000 Managing the Internal Audit Activity     

 2010 Planning     

121 Has the CAE determined the priorities of the internal audit activity in a risk-
based plan and are these priorities consistent with the organisation’s goals?   

   Audit Plan is approved by the Governance & Audit Committee.  A detailed audit 
plan is decided, and actioned.    
 
 

122 Does the risk-based plan take into account the requirement to produce an 
annual internal audit opinion? 

   Annual Internal Audit Report 

123-
125 

Does the risk-based plan incorporate or is it linked to a strategic or high-level 
statement of: 
a) How the internal audit service will be delivered? 
b) How the internal audit service will be developed in accordance with the 
internal audit charter? 
c) How the internal audit service links to organisational objectives and 
priorities? 

   Internal Audit Plan 
 

126 Does the risk-based plan set out how internal audit’s work will identify and 
address local and national issues and risks? 

   

127 In developing the risk-based plan, has the CAE taken into account the 
organisation’s risk management framework and relative risk maturity of the 
organisation? 

   

128 If such a risk management framework does not exist, has the CAE used 
their judgement of risks after input from senior management and the board 
and evidenced this? 

   

129-
131 

Does the risk-based plan set out the: 
a) Audit work to be carried out? 
b) Respective priorities of those pieces of audit work? 
c) Estimated resources needed for the work? 

   

132 Does the risk-based plan differentiate between audit and other types of 
work? 

   

133 Is the risk-based plan sufficiently flexible to reflect the changing risks and 
priorities of the organisation? 

   

134 Does the CAE review the plan on a regular basis and has he or she 
adjusted the plan when necessary in response to changes in the 
organisation’s business, risks, operations, programmes, systems and 
controls? 

   Internal Audit Plan 

135 Is the internal audit activity’s plan of engagements based on a 
documented risk assessment? 

   

136 Is the risk assessment used to develop the plan of engagements 
undertaken at least annually? 

   

137-
140 

In developing the risk-based plan, has the CAE also given sufficient 
consideration to: 
a) Any declarations of interest (for the avoidance for conflicts of interest)? 
b) The requirement to use specialists, eg IT or contract and procurement 

auditors? 
c) Allowing contingency time to undertake ad hoc reviews or fraud 

investigations as necessary? 

   

P
age 43



21 | P a g e  
 

 

d) The time required to carry out the audit planning process effectively as 
well as regular reporting to and attendance of the board, the development 
of the annual report and the CAE opinion? 

141 In developing the risk-based plan, has the CAE consulted with senior 
management and the board to obtain an understanding of the 
organisation’s strategies, key business objectives, associated risks and 
risk management processes? 

   

142 Does the CAE identify and consider the expectations of senior 
management, the board and other stakeholders for internal audit opinion 
and any other conclusions? 

   

143 Does the CAE take into consideration any proposed consulting 
engagement’s potential to improve the management of risks, to add value 
and to improve the organisation’s operations before accepting them? 

N/A   No consulting engagements undertaken. 

144 Are consulting engagements that have been accepted included in the risk-
based plan? 

N/A   No consulting engagements undertaken. 

 2010 Conclusion GC    

 2020 Communication and Approval     

145 Has the CAE communicated the internal audit activity’s plans and resource 
requirements to senior management and the board for review and approval? 

   Audit Plan is approved by the Governance & Audit Committee.  A detailed audit 
plan is decided, and actioned.    
 
 

146 Has the CAE communicated any significant interim changes to the plan 
and/or resource requirements to senior management and the board for 
review and approval, where such changes have arisen? 

   Internal Audit Plan 
Governance & Audit Committee Agendas and Minutes 

147 Has the CAE communicated the impact of any resource limitations to 
senior management and the board? 

   Internal Audit Plan 
Governance & Audit Committee Agendas and Minutes 

      

 2020 Conclusion GC    

 2030 Resource Management     

148 Does the risk-based plan explain how internal audit’s resource requirements 
have been assessed? 

   Internal Audit Plan 

149 Has the CAE planned the deployment of resources, especially the timing 
of engagements, in conjunction with management to minimise disruption 
to the functions being audited, subject to the requirement to obtain 
sufficient assurance? 

   Internal Audit Plan 
Allocation of work is managed by the Principal Auditor on a quarterly basis. 
Fundamental audits are undertaken around service needs i.e. annual billing. 

150 If the CAE believes that the level of agreed resources will impact 
adversely on the provision of the internal audit opinion, has he or she 
brought these consequences to the attention of the board? 

   Governance & Audit Committee Agendas and Minutes 

 2030 Conclusion GC    

 2040 Policies and Procedures     

151 Has the CAE developed and put into place policies and procedures to guide 
the internal audit activity? 

   An Internal Audit Charter is in place. 
It was discussed that training is provided within the team and staff have access to 
an Internal Audit Manual. However, there is no evidence of an internal audit 
flowchart to guide auditors in their role    
 

P
age 44



22 | P a g e  
 

 

152 Are the policies and procedures regularly reviewed and updated to reflect 
changes in working practices and standards? 

   Internal Audit Charter – reviewed and approved annually 
 

 2040 Conclusion GC  
 
 
 
 

   
 
 

 2050 Coordination     

153 Does the risk-based plan include an adequately developed approach to 
using other sources of assurance and any work that may be required to 
place reliance upon those sources? 

   An assurance map is put together as part of the planning process. Service 
Manager’s provide details to the CAE. 

 2050 Conclusion GC    

 2060 Reporting to Senior Management and the Board     

154 Does the CAE report periodically to senior management and the board 
on the internal audit activity’s purpose, authority, responsibility and 
performance relative to its plan? 

   Governance & Audit Committee Agendas and Minutes 
Annual Internal Audit Report 

155 Does the periodic reporting also include significant risk exposures 
and control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other 
matters needed or requested by senior management and the board? 

   

156 Is the frequency and content of such reporting determined in discussion 
with senior management and the board and are they dependent on the 
importance of the information to be communicated and the urgency of the 
related actions to be taken by senior management or the board? 

   

 2060 Conclusion GC    

 2070 External Service Provider and Organisational Responsibility for Internal 
Auditing 

    

157 Where an external internal audit service provider acts as the internal audit 
activity, does that provider ensure that the organisation is aware that the 
responsibility for maintaining an effective internal audit activity remains 
with the organisation? 

    

 2070 Conclusion GC    

 2100 Nature of Work     

 2110 Governance     

158-
163 

Does the internal audit activity assess and make appropriate 
recommendations to improve the organisation’s governance processes 
for: 

a) Making strategic and operational decisions? 

b) Overseeing risk management and control? 

c) Promoting appropriate ethics and values within the organisation? 

d) Ensuring effective organisational performance management and 
accountability? 

e) Communicating risk and control information to appropriate areas of 
the organisation? 

f) Coordinating the activities of and communicating information 
among the board, external and internal auditors and management? 

   Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

P
age 45



23 | P a g e  
 

 

164 Has the internal audit activity evaluated the design, implementation and 
effectiveness of the organisation’s ethics-related objectives, programmes 
and activities? This is an area where the CAE may be able to use other 
sources of assurance. 

   Internal Audit Plan 

165 Has the internal audit activity assessed whether the organisation’s 
information technology governance supports the organisation’s 
strategies and objectives? This is an area where the CAE may be able to 
use other sources of assurance. 

   Internal Audit Annual Report  

 2110 Conclusion GC    

 2120 Risk Management     

166-
169 

Has the internal audit activity evaluated the effectiveness of the 
organisation’s risk management processes by determining that: 
a) Organisational objectives support and align with the organisation’s 

mission? 
b) Significant risks are identified and assessed? 
c) Appropriate risk responses are selected that align risks with the 

organisation’s risk appetite? 
d) Relevant risk information is captured and communicated in a timely 

manner across the organisation, thus enabling the staff, management 
and the board to carry out their responsibilities? 

   The Internal Audit activity has evaluated the effectiveness of the organisation’s risk 
management processes. 
 
Risk Management audits are undertaken on an annual basis. They are rotated 
through the directorates and followed up on an annual basis. 
 
Fraud Risk is captured on the Service level Risk Register and is reviewed on a 
monthly basis by the CAE. 

170-
174 

Has the internal audit activity evaluated the risks relating to the 
organisation’s governance, operations and information systems regarding 
the: 
a) Achievement of the organisation’s strategic objectives? 
b) Reliability and integrity of financial and operational information? 
c) Effectiveness and efficiency of operations and programmes? 
d) Safeguarding of assets? 
e) Compliance with laws, regulations, policies, procedures and 

contracts? 

   Internal Audit Plan 
Annual Internal Audit Report 

175 Has the internal audit activity evaluated the potential for fraud and also how 
the organisation itself manages fraud risk? 

   Yes designated Fraud team is in place. 

176 Do internal auditors address risk during consulting engagements 
consistently with the objectives of the engagement? 

N/A    

177 Are internal auditors alert to other significant risks when undertaking 
consulting engagements? 

N/A    

178 Do internal auditors incorporate knowledge of risks gained from 
consulting engagements into their evaluation of the organisation’s risk 
management processes? 

N/A    

179 Do internal auditors successfully avoid managing risks themselves, which 
would in effect lead to taking on management responsibility, when 
assisting management in establishing or improving risk management 
processes? 

   Internal Audit Plan 
Annual Internal Audit Report 

 2120 Conclusion GC    

 2130 Control     

180-
184 

Has the internal audit activity evaluated the adequacy and effectiveness 
of controls in the organisation’s governance, operations and information 
systems regarding the: 
a) Achievement of the organisation’s strategic objectives? 
b) Reliability and integrity of financial and operational information? 

   Internal Audit Plan 
Annual Internal Audit Report 

P
age 46



24 | P a g e  
 

 

c) Effectiveness and efficiency of operations and programmes? 
d) Safeguarding of assets? 
e) Compliance with laws, regulations, policies, procedures and contracts? 

185 Do internal auditors utilise knowledge of controls gained during 
consulting engagements when evaluating the organisation’s control 
processes? 

N/A   No consulting engagements undertaken  
 
 
 
 

 2130 Conclusion GC    

 2200 Engagement Planning     

186 Do internal auditors develop and document a plan for each engagement?    Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

187-
190 

Does the engagement plan include the engagement’s: 
a) Objectives? 
b) Scope? 
c) Timing? 
d) Resource allocations? 

   Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

191-
198 

Do internal auditors consider the following in planning an engagement, and 
is this documented: 
a) The objectives of the activity being reviewed? 
b) The means by which the activity controls its performance? 
c) The significant risks to the activity being audited? 
d) The activity’s resources? 
e) The activity’s operations? 
f) The means by which the potential impact of risk is kept to an acceptable 

level? 
g) The adequacy and effectiveness of the activity’s governance, risk 

management and control processes compared to a relevant framework 
or model? 

h) The opportunities for making significant improvements to the activity’s 
governance, risk management and control processes? 

   Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

199-
201 

Where an engagement plan has been drawn up for an audit to a party 
outside of the organisation, have the internal auditors established a 
written understanding with that party about the following: 
a) Objectives? 
b) Scope? 
c) The respective responsibilities and other expectations of the internal 

auditors and the outside party (including restrictions on distribution of 
the results of the engagement and access to engagement records)? 

N/A   No engagements undertaken relating to outside parties. 

202-
204 

For consulting engagements, have internal auditors established an 
understanding with the engagement clients about the following: 
a) Objectives? 
b) Scope? 
c) The respective responsibilities of the internal auditors and the client and 

other client expectations? 

N/A   No consulting engagements undertaken 

205 For significant consulting engagements, has this understanding been 
documented? 

N/A   No consulting engagements undertaken  

 2200 Conclusion GC    

 2210 Engagement Objectives     

P
age 47



25 | P a g e  
 

 

206 Have objectives been agreed for each engagement?    Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

207 Have internal auditors carried out a preliminary risk assessment of the 
activity under review? 

   Internal Audit Plan 
Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

208 Do the engagement objectives reflect the results of the preliminary risk 
assessment that has been carried out? 

   Internal Audit Plan 
Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

209-
212 

Have internal auditors considered the probability of the following, when 
developing the engagement objectives: 
a) Significant errors? 
b) Fraud? 
c) Non-compliance? 
d) Any other risks? 

   Internal Audit Plan 
Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

213 Have internal auditors ascertained whether management and/or the 
board have established adequate criteria to evaluate and determine 
whether organisational objectives and goals have been accomplished? 

   Annual Internal Audit Report 
Internal Audit Plan 
Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

214 If the criteria has been deemed adequate, have the internal auditors used 
the criteria in their evaluation of governance, risk management and 
controls? 

   

215 If the criteria has been deemed inadequate, have the internal auditors 
worked with management and/or the board to develop appropriate evaluation 
criteria? 

   

216 If the value for money criteria has been referred to, has the use of all the 
organisation’s main types of resources been considered, including money, 
people and assets? 

   

217 Do the objectives set for consulting engagements address governance, 
risk management and control processes as agreed with the client? 

N/A   No consulting engagements undertaken  

218 Are the objectives set for consulting engagements consistent with the 
organisation’s own values, strategies and objectives? 

N/A   No consulting engagements undertaken  

 2210 Conclusion GC    

 2220 Engagement Scope     

219 Is the scope that is established for each engagement generally sufficient 
to satisfy the engagement’s objectives? 

   Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

220 Does the scope for each engagement include consideration of relevant 
systems, records, personnel and physical properties?  

   

221 Does this consideration include areas under the control of outside parties, 
where appropriate? 

   

222 Where significant consulting opportunities have arisen during an 
assurance engagement, was a specific written understanding as to the 
objectives, scope, respective responsibilities and other expectations 
drawn up? 

N/A   consulting engagements undertaken  

223 Where significant consulting opportunities have arisen during an 
assurance engagement, were the results of the subsequent engagement 
communicated in accordance with the relevant consulting standards? 

N/A   

224 For each consulting engagement, was the scope of the engagement 
generally sufficient to address any agreed-upon objectives? 

N/A   

225 If the internal auditors developed any reservations about the scope 
of a consulting engagement while undertaking that engagement, did 

N/A   

P
age 48



26 | P a g e  
 

 

they discuss those reservations with the client and therefore determine 
whether or not to continue with the engagement? 

226 During consulting engagements, did internal auditors address the 
controls that are consistent with the objectives of those engagements? 

N/A   

227 During consulting engagements, were internal auditors alert to any 
significant control issues? 

N/A 
 

  

 2220 Conclusion GC 
 

   

 2230 Engagement Resource Allocation     

228-
230 

Have internal auditors decided upon the appropriate and sufficient level of 
resources required to achieve the objectives of the engagement based on: 
a) The nature and complexity of each individual engagement? 
b) Any time constraints? 
c) The resources available? 

   Annual Internal Audit Plan 

 2230 Conclusion GC    

 2240 Engagement Work Programme     

231 Have internal auditors developed and documented work programmes that 
achieve the engagement objectives? 

   Internal Audit Plan 
Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

232-
235 

Do the engagement work programmes include the following procedures for: 
a) Identifying information? 
b) Analysing information? 
c) Evaluating information? 
d) Documenting information? 

   

236 Were work programmes approved prior to implementation for each 
engagement? 

   

237 Were any adjustments required to work programmes approved promptly?    

 2240 Conclusion GC    

 2300 Performing the Engagement     

 2310 Identifying In formation     

238 Do internal auditors generally identify (sufficient, reliable, relevant and 
useful) information which supports engagement results and conclusions? 

   Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

 2310 Conclusion GC    

 2320 Analysis and Evaluation     

239 Have internal auditors generally based their conclusions and 
engagement results on appropriate analyses and evaluations? 

   Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

240-
244 

Have internal auditors generally remained alert to the possibility of the 
following when performing their individual audits, and has this been 
documented: 
a) Intentional wrongdoing? 
b) Errors and omissions? 
c) Poor value for money? 
d) Failure to comply with management policy? 
e) Conflicts of interest? 

   Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

 2320 Conclusion GC    

P
age 49



27 | P a g e  
 

 

 2330 Documenting Information     

245 Have internal auditors documented the relevant information required to 
support engagement conclusions and results? 

   Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

246 Are working papers sufficiently complete and detailed to enable another 
experienced internal auditor with no previous connection with the audit to 
ascertain what work was performed, to re-perform it if necessary and to 
support the conclusions reached? 

   

247 Does the CAE control access to engagement records?    The Audit drive is a secured network drive with access controlled by the Audit and 
Risk Manager. 

248 Has the CAE obtained the approval of senior management and/or  legal 
counsel as appropriate before releasing such records to external parties? 

   Self-assessment states that Audit documents are provided to relevant officers only.   
Commercially sensitive or confidential information is controlled. 

249 Has the CAE developed and implemented retention requirements for all 
types of engagement records? 

   Internal Audit retention requirements are in line with the corporate guidelines, as 
well as regulatory/other requirements. 

250 Are the retention requirements for engagement records consistent with the 
organisation’s own guidelines as well as any relevant regulatory or other 
requirements? 

   Internal Audit retention requirements are in line with the corporate guidelines, as 
well as regulatory/other requirements. 

 2330 Conclusion GC    

 2340 Engagement Supervision     

251 Are all engagements properly supervised to ensure that objectives are 
achieved, quality is assured and that staff are developed? 

   Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

252 Is appropriate evidence of supervision documented and retained for each 
engagement? 

   Internal Audit Assignment Documents 

 2340 Conclusion GC    

 2400 Communicating Results     

 2410 Criteria for Communicating     

253-
256 

Do the communications of engagement results include the following: 
a) The engagement’s objectives? 
b) The scope of the engagement? 
c) Applicable conclusions? 
d) Recommendations and action plans, if appropriate? 

   Internal Audit Assignment Documents 
Internal Audit Reports 

257 Do internal auditors generally discuss the contents of the draft final 
reports with the appropriate levels of management to confirm factual 
accuracy, seek comments and confirm the agreed management actions? 

   

258 If recommendations and an action plan have been included, are 
recommendations prioritised according to risk? 

   

259 If recommendations and an action plan have been included, does the 
communication also state agreements already reached with 
management, together with appropriate timescales? 

   

260 If there are any areas of disagreement between the internal auditor and 
management, which cannot be resolved by discussion, are these recorded 
in the action plan and the residual risk highlighted? 

   

261 Subject to confidentiality requirements and other limitations on reporting, 
do communications disclose all material facts known to them in their audit 
reports which, if not disclosed, could distort their reports or conceal 
unlawful practice? 

   

P
age 50



28 | P a g e  
 

 

262 When an opinion or conclusion is issued, are the expectations of senior 
management, the board and other stakeholders taken into account? 

   

263 Where appropriate, do engagement communications acknowledge 
satisfactory performance of the activity in question? 

   

264 When engagement results have been released to parties outside of the 
organisation, does the communication include limitations on the distribution 
and use of the results? 

   Advised that most IA results are in the public domain through the Governance & 
Audit Committee.   
Public interest tests performed on reporting as required.   

265 Where the CAE has been required to provide assurance to other 
partnership organisations, or arm's length bodies such as trading 
companies, have the risks of doing so been managed effectively, having 
regard to the CAE’s primary responsibility to the management of the 
organisation for which they are engaged to provide internal audit 
services? 

N/A     

 2410 Conclusion GC    

 2420 Quality of Communications     

266 Are internal audit communications generally accurate, objective, clear, 
concise, constructive, complete and timely? 

   Internal Audit Assignment Documents 
Internal Audit Reports 

 2420 Conclusion GC    

 2421 Errors and Omissions     

267 If a final communication has contained a significant error or omission, did 
the CAE communicate the corrected information to all parties who 
received the original communication? 

   No evidence that this has occurred, but should the situation arise, the corrected 
information would be communicated appropriately.  

 2421 Conclusion GC    

 2430 Use of ‘Conducted in Conformance with the International Standards for 
the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing’ 

    

268 Do internal auditors report that engagements are ‘conducted in 
conformance with the PSIAS’ only if the results of the QAIP support such 
a statement? 

   Internal Audit Charter 
Annual Internal Audit Report 
QAIP 

 2430 Conclusion GC    

 2431 Engagement Disclosure of Non conformance     

269-
271 

Where any non-conformance with the PSIAS has impacted on a specific 
engagement, do the communication of the results disclose the following: 
a) The principle or rule of conduct of the Code of Ethics or Standard(s) 

with which full conformance was not achieved? 
b) The reason(s) for non-conformance? 
c) The impact of non-conformance on the engagement and the 

engagement results? 

   No evidence that this has occurred.  However, self-assessment records that if this 
did occur, it would be reported via the Audit and Risk Manager’s annual report. 

 2431 Conclusion GC    

 2440 Disseminating Results     

272 Has the CAE determined the circulation of audit reports within the 
organisation, bearing in mind confidentiality and legislative 
requirements? 

   Internal Audit Charter 
Internal Audit Assignment Documents 
Internal Audit Reports 
 

273 Has the CAE communicated engagement results to all appropriate 
parties? 

   

P
age 51



29 | P a g e  
 

 

274-
276 

Before releasing engagement results to parties outside the organisation, did 
the CAE: 
a) Assess the potential risk to the organisation? 
b) Consult with senior management and/or legal counsel as appropriate? 
c) Control dissemination by restricting the use of the results? 

   Advised that the CAE is responsible for reviewing and approving the final 
engagement communication before it is issued, including the decision on who it is 
issued to and how it is disseminated.  

277 Where any significant governance, risk management and control issues 
were identified during consulting engagements, were these 
communicated to senior management and the board? 

   Governance & Audit Committee Agendas and Minutes 

 2440 Conclusion GC    

 2450 Overall Opinion     

278 Has the CAE delivered an annual internal audit opinion?    Annual Report reviewed – Internal Audit opinion was ‘Reasonable’ 

279 Does the annual internal audit opinion conclude on the overall adequacy 
and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk 
management and control? 

   

280 Does the annual internal audit opinion take into account the expectations of 
senior management, the board and other stakeholders? 

   

281 Is the annual internal audit opinion supported by sufficient, reliable, 
relevant and useful information (having regard to the answers to 
questions on PSIAS 2300)? 

   

282-
285 

Does the communication identify the following: 
a) The scope of the opinion, including the time period to which the opinion 

relates? 
b) Any scope limitations? 
c) The consideration of all related projects including the reliance on other 

assurance providers? 
d) The risk or control framework or other criteria used as a basis for the 

overall opinion? 

   

286 Where a qualified or unfavourable annual internal audit opinion is given, are 
the reasons for that opinion stated? 

   

287 Has the CAE delivered an annual report that can be used by the 
organisation to inform its governance statement? 

   

 
 
288-
298 
 

Does the annual report incorporate the following: 
a) The annual internal audit opinion? 
b) A summary of the work that supports the opinion? 
c) A disclosure of any qualifications to the opinion? 
d) The reasons for any qualifications to the opinion? 
e) A disclosure of any impairments or restriction in scope? 
f) A comparison or work actually carried out with the work planned? 
g) A statement on conformance with the PSIAS? 
h) The results of the QAIP? 
i) Progress against any improvement plans resulting from the QAIP? 
j) A summary of the performance of the internal audit activity against its 

performance measures and targets? 
k) Any other issues that the CAE judges is relevant to the preparation of 

the governance statement? 

   

 2450 Conclusion GC    

P
age 52



30 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 2500 Monitoring Progress     

299 Has the CAE established a process to monitor and follow up 
management actions to ensure that agreed actions have been effectively 
implemented or that senior management have accepted the risk of not 
taking action? 

   Fundamental audits are followed-up on a 6 monthly basis. 
Standard follow-ups are undertaken on a grading basis. Lower grades are followed 
up. Results are reported quarterly to the Governance and Audit Committee.  

300 Where issues have arisen during the follow-up process (for example, where 
agreed actions have not been implemented), has the CAE considered 
revising the internal audit opinion? 

    

301 Do the results of monitoring management actions inform the risk- based 
planning of future audit work? 

   Internal Audit Plan 

302 Does the internal audit activity monitor the results of consulting 
engagements as agreed with the client? 

N/A   No consulting engagements undertaken  

 2500 Conclusion GC    

 2600 Communicating the Acceptance of Risks     

303 If the CAE has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk 
that may be unacceptable to the organisation, has he or she discussed the 
matter with senior management? 

   Internal Audit Charter 
Governance & Audit Committee Agendas and Minutes 

304 If, after discussion with senior management, the CAE 
continues to conclude that the level of risk may be 
unacceptable to the organisation, has he or she 
communicated the situation to the board? 

   

 2600 Conclusion GC    

P
age 53



Updated August 2023 

 
 

City and County of Swansea  
 

Internal Audit Charter 2023/24  
 
 

1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) came into force on 

1st April 2013 and replaced the CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit 
in Local Government. 

 
1.2 The PSIAS were adopted by the Relevant Internal Audit Standard 

Setters which is made up of 7 organisations including CIPFA and the 
Welsh Government.  

 
1.3 The PSIAS were developed by CIPFA and the Chartered Institute of 

Internal Auditors (CIIA) and are mandatory for all providers of internal 
audit services in the public sector. 

 
1.4 The PSIAS consist of the following: 
 

• Mission of Internal Audit.  
• Definition of Internal Audit. 
• Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Audit 
• Code of Ethics. 
• International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 

Auditing. 
 
1.5 One of the requirements of the PSIAS is that each internal audit provider 

must have an Internal Audit Charter which is a formal document that: 
 

• Defines the purpose, authority and responsibility for internal audit. 
• Establishes the internal audit activity’s position within the 

organisation. 
• Authorises access to records, personnel and physical assets. 
• Defines the scope of internal audit activities. 
• Defines the nature of assurance and consulting activities. 

 
1.6 The Internal Audit Charter must be reviewed periodically by the Chief 

Auditor and presented to the Corporate Management Team and the 
Governance and Audit Committee for approval. Responsibility for the 
final approval of the Internal Audit Charter resides with the Governance 
and Audit Committee. 

 

Appendix 2 

Page 54



Updated August 2023 

2.  Definition of Internal Audit 
 
2.1 The statutory nature of Internal Audit is established by the following 

legislation: 
 

• Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 which states that 
local authorities are required to make arrangements for the proper 
administration of its financial affairs and shall ensure that one of 
its officers has responsibility for the administration of those affairs. 
In the City and County of Swansea, this is the responsibility of the 
Section 151 & Chief Finance Officer.  
 

• The Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014 state that ‘a 
larger relevant body shall maintain an adequate and effective 
system of internal audit of its accounting records and of its system 
of internal control’.  The 2014 Regulations also say that ‘a larger 
relevant body must, at least once a year, conduct a review of the 
effectiveness of its internal audit’. 

 
2.2 Against this statutory background, the PSIAS provides the following 

definition of internal audit: 
 

• ‘Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and 
consulting activity designed to add value and improve an 
organisation’s operations. 
 

• It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a 
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control and governance 
processes’. 

 
2.3 The Mission of Internal Audit articulates what internal audit aspires to 

accomplish within an organisation. This Mission, as outlined in the latest 
version of the Standards is as follows: 

 
 ‘To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based 
 and objective assurance, advice and insight’. 
 
2.4 The Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 

articulate internal audit effectiveness. For an internal audit function to be 
considered effective, all of the Principles should be present and 
operating effectively. The Standards state that failure to achieve any of 
the Principles would imply that an internal audit activity was not as 
effective as it could be in achieving internal audit’s mission. The Core 
Principles are listed in Appendix A.  

 
2.5 The PSIAS also includes a Code of Ethics which all internal audit staff 

are required to comply with. The principles which underpin the Code of 
Ethics are integrity, objectivity, confidentiality and competency. All audit 
staff are required to complete annual declarations to confirm that they 

Page 55



Updated August 2023 

comply with the Code of Ethics. Further details on the Code of Ethics 
can be found in Appendix B.  

 
2.6 Internal auditors are also expected to adhere to the requirements of any 

professional body that they are members of as well as the Council’s 
Officers’ Code of Conduct. 

 
2.7 A number of generic terms are used throughout the PSIAS which must 

be defined in the Internal Audit Charter. The terms and how they are 
interpreted in the City and County of Swansea are shown in the following 
table: 

 
PSIAS City & County Swansea 
Chief Audit Executive Chief Auditor 
Senior Management Corporate Management Team 
Board  Governance and Audit 

Committee 
 
 

3. Role and Function of Internal Audit 
 
3.1 A professional, independent and objective internal audit service is one 

of the key elements of good governance in local government with the 
foundation of an effective internal audit service being evidenced by 
compliance with the required standards and proper practices. 

 
3.2 Internal Audit is an assurance function that primarily provides an 

independent and objective opinion to the Council on the control 
environment comprising risk management, internal control and 
governance by evaluating its effectiveness in achieving the Council’s 
objectives. 

 
3.3 Internal Audit objectively examines, evaluates and reports on the 

adequacy of the control environment as a contribution to the proper, 
economic, efficient and effective use of resources. 

 
3.4 It is management’s responsibility to establish and maintain a sound 

control environment including risk management, internal control 
processes, accounting records and governance arrangements. 

 
3.5 It is Internal Audit’s role to review the established systems and advise 

management whether suitable arrangements are in place and are 
operating effectively. It is particularly important that the work of Internal 
Audit adds value to the services under review. 

 
3.6 Internal Audit will work with management to improve the control 

environment and assist the Council in achieving its objectives. 
 
3.7 The role undertaken by Internal Audit and the annual opinion on the 

control environment provided by the Chief Auditor which also informs the 
Council’s Annual Governance Statement provides a vital assurance 

Page 56



Updated August 2023 

function over the Council’s activities. This also assists in ensuring the 
Council’s Governance and Audit Committee discharges its 
responsibilities in line with the Committee’s Statement of Purpose which 
can be found in Appendix C. 

 
 
4.  Scope of Internal Audit 
 
4.1 The definition of Internal Audit established by the PSIAS covers the 

control environment of the Council as a whole. 
 
4.2 This means that the scope of Internal Audit similarly covers the Council’s 

operations as a whole and is not limited to the review of financial 
systems. 

 
4.3 Financial Procedure Rule 12 – Internal Audit states that the Chief Auditor 

will maintain an adequate and effective internal audit service and 
provides authority to: 

 
• Enter at all reasonable times on any Council premises or land. 
• Have access to, and removal if necessary into custody of, all 

records, documents and correspondence relating to any financial 
or other transaction of the Council. 

• Require and receive such explanations as are necessary 
concerning any matter under examination. 

• Require any employee of the Council to produce on demand 
cash, stores or any other Council property under his/her control. 

  
 
5 Independence of Internal Audit 
 
5.1 It is essential that Internal Audit is independent of the services it reviews 

and reports upon. Internal Audit must be seen to be independent and all 
staff must be free of any restrictions which prevent them acting in an 
independent and objective manner. 

 
5.2 The Internal Audit Section is part of the Finance Directorate reporting to 

the Director of Finance & Section 151 Officer. 
 
5.3 The Chief Auditor has no other management responsibilities which 

restrict the independence of Internal Audit. 
 
5.4 The Chief Auditor also has unrestricted access to the Chief Executive, 

Directors, Chief Officers and Heads of Service and may report to any 
level of management as considered necessary. Regular meetings are 
also held with the Council’s external auditor. 

 
5.5 The Chief Auditor reports functionally to the Governance and Audit 

Committee in his own name and has unrestricted access to the Chair of 
the Audit Committee and elected members. The Chief Auditor or a senior 

Page 57



Updated August 2023 

representative from the Internal Audit team attends all Governance and 
Audit Committee meetings and contributes to the agenda. 

 
5.6 All Internal Audit staff are required to declare any possible conflicts of 

interest, of whatever kind, which may impair their ability to demonstrate 
an impartial, unbiased and objective approach to their work on an annual 
basis. Staff are also required to declare any potential conflicts of interest 
as they arise during the year. The declarations are considered by the 
Chief Auditor and the Principal Auditor when allocating work to individual 
Auditors and Senior Auditors to ensure any potential conflicts of interest 
are appropriately managed.   

 
 
6 Consultancy Role of Internal Audit 
 
6.1 In addition to the assurance function provided by Internal Audit, there 

are also occasions where it may also provide a consultancy or advisory 
role e.g. providing training or advice on controls for systems under 
development. 

 
6.2 On such occasions, Internal Audit is providing advice and guidance and 

is not giving assurance. Where this occurs, Internal Audit always retains 
the right to review the service at a later date and make further 
recommendations. 

 
6.3 Should a request be received for consultancy work of a significant nature 

which is not included in the annual plan, the work will not be accepted if 
it will restrict the ability to complete the required assurance work and 
deliver the annual internal audit opinion. The Chief Auditor will also 
ensure that the Governance and Audit Committee is notified of any 
requests for significant consultancy work prior to accepting them.  

 
 
7 Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Role of Internal Audit 
 
7.1 The establishment of systems and controls to prevent fraud, bribery and 

corruption is the responsibility of management. 
 
7.2 Internal Audit will be aware of the risk of loss by fraud, bribery or 

corruption in all audit reviews undertaken and will report any exposure 
to the risk of loss. 

 
7.3 Financial Procedure Rule 12 – Internal Audit requires any responsible 

officer who suspects financial irregularity to inform the Director of 
Finance immediately and to provide facilities for investigation in 
accordance with the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy.  

 
7.4 The details of any suspected or detected frauds will be considered when 

preparing the risk based Internal Audit Plan and will also inform the Chief 
Auditor’s annual internal audit opinion. 
 

Page 58



Updated August 2023 

7.5 The Council established a Corporate Fraud function with effect from 1st 
June 2015 based in the Internal Audit Section. 
 

7.6 The Corporate Fraud function is responsible for raising the profile of 
fraud awareness and promoting an anti-fraud and corruption culture 
across the Council. Where appropriate the Corporate Fraud 
Investigators undertake or assist management in the investigation of 
suspected cases of fraud, corruption or bribery. 
 
 

8 Internal Audit Resources 
 
8.1 Internal Audit should be appropriately resourced to meet its objectives in 

terms of the number of staff, grades, qualifications, personal attributes 
and experience. 

 
8.2 The PSIAS require the Chief Auditor to be professionally qualified and 

suitably experienced. The Chief Auditor must be a full member of a 
CCAB accounting body or a member of the Institute of Internal Auditors. 

 
8.3 Risk assessment methodology is used to identify the level of audit 

coverage required to provide the annual internal audit opinion on the 
control environment.  

 
8.4 A risk based annual Internal Audit Plan is produced which matches the 

required audit coverage to the available resources. The plan is approved 
by the Corporate Management Team and the Governance and Audit 
Committee. The Chief Auditor is required to bring to the attention of the 
Committee the potential consequences of any shortfall in resources 
which may impact on the provision of the annual opinion. 

 
8.5 The annual plan will be constantly reviewed during the year in response 

to any changes e.g. vacancies, new risks, frauds and special 
investigations. 

 
8.6 Quarterly reports showing progress made against the annual plan will be 

presented to the Director of Finance & Section 151 Officer and the 
Governance and Audit Committee. 

 
 
9 Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
 
9.1 To ensure compliance with the PSIAS, the Chief Auditor must put in 

place a Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP). 
 
9.2 The QAIP must include both internal and external assessments of 

Internal Audit. 
 
9.3 The internal assessment includes the ongoing supervision and review of 

work produced by Internal Audit staff as well as performance against 
targets and client feedback for each audit completed. 

Page 59



Updated August 2023 

 
9.4 A periodic, internal self-assessment must also be undertaken to confirm 

compliance with the PSIAS. The results of the internal self-assessment 
are reported to the Director of Finance & Section 151 Officer and the 
Governance and Audit Committee as part of the Internal Audit Annual 
Report.  

 
9.5 The PSIAS also require an external assessment at least once every 5 

years. The external assessment may either be a full assessment by a 
suitably qualified external assessor or a self-assessment with 
independent external validation. 

 
9.6 The results of the QAIP must be included in the Chief Auditor’s annual 

report to the Governance and Audit Committee. The report must 
highlight any areas of non-conformance with any significant areas of 
non-conformance being included in the Annual Governance Statement. 
 

9.7 Further details of the QAIP can be found in Appendix D.  
 
 

Appendices: Appendix A – Core Principles of Internal Audit 
   Appendix B – Code of Ethics  
   Appendix C – Amended Audit Committee Terms of Reference 
   Appendix D – QAIP  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



Updated August 2023 

 
 

Core Principles for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing 

 
The Core Principles, taken as a whole, articulate internal audit effectiveness. 
For an internal audit function to be considered effective, all Principles should 
be present and operating effectively. How an internal auditor, as well as an 
internal audit activity, demonstrates achievement of the Core Principles may be 
quite different from organisation to organisation, but failure to achieve any of 
the Principles would imply that an internal audit activity was not as effective as 
it could be in achieving internal audit’s mission ‘to enhance and protect 
organisational value by providing risk-based  and objective assurance, 
advice and insight’.  
 
The Core Principles are:  
 

1. Demonstrates integrity. 
 

2. Demonstrates competence and due professional care. 
 

3. Is objective and free from undue influence (independent). 
 

4. Aligns with the strategies, objectives, and risks of the organisation. 
 

5. Is appropriately positioned and adequately resourced. 
 

6. Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement. 
 

7. Communicates effectively. 
 

8. Provides risk-based assurance. 
 

9. Is insightful, proactive, and future-focused. 
 

10. Promotes organisational improvement. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

Page 61



Updated August 2023 

 

Code of Ethics 
 
 
Public sector requirement 
 
Internal auditors in UK public sector organisations (as set out in the 
Applicability section) must conform to the Code of Ethics as set out below. If 
individual internal auditors have membership of another professional body 
then he or she must also comply with the relevant requirements of that 
organisation 
 

 
The purpose of the Institute’s Code of ethics is to promote an ethical culture in 
the profession of internal auditing. A code of ethics is necessary and 
appropriate for the profession of internal auditing, founded as it is on the trust 
placed in its objective assurance about risk management, control and 
governance. 
 
The Institute’s code of ethics extends beyond the definition of internal auditing 
to include two essential components: 
 
Components 
 
1. Principles that are relevant to the profession and practice of internal auditing 
 
2. Rules of Conduct that describe behaviour norms expected of internal 

auditors. These rules are an aid to interpreting the Principles into practical 
applications and are intended to guide the ethical conduct of internal auditors 

 
The Code of Ethics provides guidance to internal auditors serving others. 
‘Internal auditors’ refers to Institute members and those who provide internal 
auditing services within the definition of internal auditing. 
 
 
Applicability and Enforcement 
 
This Code of Ethics applies to both individuals and entities that provide internal 
auditing services. For Institute members, breaches of the Code of Ethics will be 
evaluated and administered according to The Institute’s Disciplinary 
Procedures. The fact that a particular conduct is not mentioned in the Rules of 
Conduct does not prevent it from being unacceptable or discreditable and 
therefore, the member liable for disciplinary action. 
 
 
Public sector interpretation 
 
The ‘Institute’ here refers to the IIA. Disciplinary procedures of other 
professional bodies and employing organisations may apply to breaches of 
this Code of Ethics 

Appendix B 

Page 62



Updated August 2023 

 
1. Integrity 
 
Principle 
 
The integrity of internal auditors establishes trust and thus provides the basis 
for reliance on their judgement 
 
Rules of Conduct 
 
Internal auditors: 
 
1.1  Shall perform their work with honesty, diligence and responsibility 
 
1.2  Shall observe the law and make disclosures expected by the law and the 

profession 
 
1.3  Shall not knowingly be a party to any illegal activity, or engage in acts that 

are discreditable to the profession of internal auditing or to the 
organisation 

 
1.4  Shall respect and contribute to the legitimate and ethical objectives of the 

organisation. 
 
 
2. Objectivity 
 
Principle 
 
Internal auditors exhibit the highest level of professional objectivity in gathering, 
evaluating and communicating information about the activity or process being 
examined 
 
Internal auditors make a balanced assessment of all the relevant circumstances 
and are not unduly influenced by their own interests or by others in forming 
judgements. 
 
Rules of Conduct 
 
Internal auditors: 
 
2.1  Shall not participate in any activity or relationship that may impair or be 

presumed to impair their unbiased assessment. This participation includes 
those activities or relationships that may be in conflict with the interests of 
the organisation. 

 
2.2  Shall not accept anything that may impair or be presumed to impair their 

professional judgement. 
 
2.3 Shall disclose all material facts known to them that, if not disclosed, may 

distort the reporting of activities under review 

Page 63



Updated August 2023 

 
3. Confidentiality 
 
Principle 
 
Internal auditors respect the value and ownership of information they receive 
and do not disclose information without appropriate authority unless there is a 
legal or professional obligation to do so 
 
Rules of Conduct 
 
Internal auditors: 
 
3.1  Shall be prudent in the use and protection of information acquired in the 

course of their duties 
 
3.2  Shall not use information for any personal gain or in any manner that 

would be contrary to the law or detrimental to the legitimate and ethical 
objectives of the organisation. 

 
 
4. Competency 
 
Principle 
 
Internal auditors apply the knowledge, skills and experience needed in the 
performance of internal auditing services. 
 
Rules of Conduct 
 
Internal auditors: 
 
4.1  Shall engage only in those services for which they have the necessary 

knowledge, skills and experience. 
 
4.2 Shall perform internal auditing services in accordance with the 

International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 
 
4.3 Shall continually improve their proficiency and effectiveness and quality of 

their services 
 
 
 
 
Public sector requirement 
 
Internal auditors who work in the public sector must also have regard to the 
Committee on Standards of Public Life’s Seven Principles of Public Life, 
further information on which can be found at www.public-standards.gov.uk  
 

 

Page 64

http://www.public-standards.gov.uk/


Updated August 2023 

The 7 Principles of Public Life (10 Principles in Wales) 
 
1. Selflessness 
 
 Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. They 

must never use their position to improperly confer an advantage on, or to 
avoid a disadvantage for, themselves or to improperly confer an advantage 
or disadvantage on others. 

 
2. Integrity and propriety  
 
 Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation 

to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in 
their work. They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships. 

 
Holders of public office must not put themselves in a position where their 
integrity is called into question by any financial or other obligation to 
individuals or organisations that might seek to influence them in the 
performance of their duties. Members must on all occasions avoid the 
appearance of such behaviour. 

 
3. Objectivity  
 
 Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and 

transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public 
unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing. 

 
4. Accountability 
 
 Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and 

actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 
 
5. Openness  
 
 Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and 

transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public 
unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing. 

 
6. Honesty  
 
 Holders of public office should be truthful. They must declare any private 

interests relevant to their public duties and take steps to resolve any conflict 
in a way that protects the public interest. 

 
7. Leadership 
 
 Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. 

They should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be 
willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

Page 65



Updated August 2023 

 
In Wales the seven ‘Nolan Principles’ are supplemented with three additional 
principles, which are: 
 
8. Duty to uphold the Law 
 
 Holders of public office must act to uphold the law and act on all occasions 

in accordance with the trust that the public has placed in them. 
 
9. Stewardship 
 
 In discharging their duties and responsibilities holders of public office must 

ensure that their Authority’s resources are used both lawfully and prudently. 
 
10. Equality and respect 
 
 Holders of public office must carry out their duties and responsibilities with 

due regard to the need to promote equality of opportunity for all people, 
regardless of their gender, race, disability, sexual orientation, age or religion, 
and show respect and consideration for others 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



  Agreed by Council – 7 July 2022 

  Governance & Audit Committee – Terms of ReferenceCM3 
 

Statement of Purpose 
 

The Governance and Audit Committee is a key component of the City and 
County of Swansea’s corporate governance. It provides an independent and 
high level focus on the audit, assurance and reporting arrangements that 
underpin good governance and financial standards. 
 
The purpose of the Governance and Audit Committee is to provide 
independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk management framework, 
the internal control environment and the performance assessment of the 
Council. It provides an independent review of the governance, performance 
assessment, risk management and control frameworks and oversees the 
financial reporting and annual governance processes. It oversees internal 
audit and external audit, helping to ensure efficient and effective assurance 
arrangements are in place. 
 
Membership  
 
The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 provides that two thirds of the 
members of the Committee are to be members of the council and one third 
must be lay members. Only one member of the Cabinet or Assistant to the 
Cabinet may sit on the Committee, and that person must not be the Leader. 
The Chair must be a lay member and the vice chair must not be a member 
of the Cabinet or an Assistant to the Cabinet. 

 
Governance, Performance, Risk and Control 

 
a) To review the Council’s corporate governance arrangements against 

the good governance framework and consider annual governance 
reports and assurances. 

 
b) To review the Council’s draft annual Self-Assessment Report, and 

make any appropriate recommendations for changes to the 
conclusions or actions the Council intends to make. 

 

c) To review the Council’s draft response to the Panel Performance 
Assessment Report, and make any appropriate recommendations 
for changes. 

 

d) To review the Council’s draft response to any Auditor General’s 
recommendations arising from a special inspection in respect of the 
Council’s performance requirements and to make any appropriate 
recommendations for changes. 

 

e) To review and assess the authority’s ability to handle complaints 
effectively and to make any associated reports and 

Appendix C 

Page 67



  Agreed by Council – 7 July 2022 

recommendations in relation to the authority’s ability to handle 
complaints effectively. 

 
f) To review the Annual Governance Statement prior to approval and 

consider whether it properly reflects the risk environment and 
supporting assurances. 

 
g) To consider the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money 

and review assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of 
these arrangements. 

 
h) To consider the Council’s framework of assurance and ensure that it 

adequately addresses the risks and priorities of the council. 
 
i) To monitor the effective development and operation of risk 

management in the Council. 
 
j) To monitor progress in addressing risk related issues reported to the 

Committee. 
 
k) To consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and 

monitor the implementation of agreed actions. 
 
l) To review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the 

Council from fraud and corruption. 
 
m) To monitor the counter fraud strategy, actions and resources. 

 

n) To review any proposals in relation to the appointment of external 
providers of internal audit services and to make recommendations. 

 

o) To review the governance and assurance arrangements for 
significant partnerships or collaborations. 

 
Internal Audit 

 
p) To approve the internal audit charter and resources. 

 
q) To approve the risk-based internal audit plan, containing internal 

audit’s resource requirements, the approach to using other sources 
of assurances and any work required to place reliance upon those 
other sources. 

 

r) To approve significant interim changes to the risk based internal 
audit plan and resource requirements. 

 

Page 68



  Agreed by Council – 7 July 2022 

s) To make appropriate enquiries of both management and the Chief 
Internal Auditor to determine if there are any inappropriate scope or 
resource limitations. 

 
t) To consider the Chief Internal Auditor’s annual report and opinion, 

and a summary of internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and 
the level of assurance it can give over the Council’s corporate 
governance arrangements. 

 

u) To consider the Chief Internal Auditor’s annual report. 
 

v) To consider reports from the Chief Internal Auditor on Internal 
Audit’s performance during the year including the performance of 
external providers of internal audit services. 

 

w) To consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support 
the Annual Governance Statement, where required to do so by the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations. 

 

x) To consider any impairments to independence or objectivity arising 
from additional roles or responsibilities outside of internal auditing of 
the Chief Internal Auditor. To approve and periodically review 
safeguards to limit such impairments. 

 
y) To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as 

requested. 
 

z) To receive reports outlining the action taken where the Chief Internal 
Auditor has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk 
that may be unacceptable to the authority or there are concerns 
about progress with the implementation of agreed actions. 

 
aa) To consider reports dealing with the management and performance 

of the providers of internal audit services. 
 
bb) To consider a report from internal audit on agreed recommendations 

not implemented within a reasonable timescale. 
 
cc) To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports, and 

the report to those charged with governance. 
 

dd) To contribute to the Quality Assurance and Improvement 
Programme and in particular the external quality assessment of 
internal audit that takes place at least once every five years. 

 

Page 69



  Agreed by Council – 7 July 2022 

ee) To provide free and unfettered access to the Governance and Audit 
Committee Chair for the Chief Internal Auditor, including the 
opportunity for a private meeting with the Committee. 

 

External Audit 
 
ff) To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports, and 

to those charged with governance. 
 

gg) To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor. 
 
hh) To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to 

ensure it gives value for money. 
 
ii) To commission work from external audit. 

 

jj) To advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships 
between external audit and other inspector agencies or relevant 
bodies 

 
Financial Reporting 

 
kk) To review the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider 

whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed and 
whether there are concerns arising from the financial statements or 
from the audit that need to be brought to the attention of the Council. 

 
ll) To consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with 

governance on issues arising from the audit of the accounts. 
 

Accountability Arrangements 
 

mm) To report to full Council on a regular basis on the Committee’s 
performance in relation to the terms of reference and the 
effectiveness of the Committee in meeting its purpose. 
 

nn) To report to Council on an annual basis and to publish an annual 
report on the Committee’s work, its performance in relation to the 
Terms of Reference, and its effectiveness in meeting its purpose. 

 

oo) To raise the profile of probity generally within the Council and to 
report on matters of concern to the individual Cabinet Member, 
relevant Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet or to Council as necessary 
and appropriate. 

 

pp) To work in synergy with the Scrutiny Committees of the Council and 
liaise with other Council Committees as and when appropriate to 
avoid duplication in work programmes. 

Page 70



  Agreed by Council – 7 July 2022 

 

qq) To report to those charged with governance on the committee’s 
findings, conclusions and recommendations concerning the 
Appendix 1 adequacy and effectiveness of their governance, risk 
management and internal control frameworks, financial reporting 
arrangements, and internal and external audit functions 

 

rr) To publish an annual report on the work of the committee. 
 

Training and Development 

 

ss) To attend relevant training sessions including specialist training 
tailored for Members of the Governance and Audit Committee. 
 

 

Page 71



 
Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 

 
The Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme (QAIP) should be based on 
the following key elements to ensure compliance with the Standards: 

 Supervision of the work undertaken by internal auditors as an ongoing 

process throughout the year. 

 Internal reviews or self-assessments to appraise the quality of the audit work 

and compliance with the PSIAS which is usually undertaken on an annual 

basis. 

 External reviews carried out by a qualified independent person to appraise 

the quality of the audit work and compliance with the PSIAS which must be 

completed at least once every 5 years. 

 
Internal Assessment – Ongoing Review 

 
The following systems and procedures have been established to form the 
internal assessment ongoing review element of the QAIP. 

 Policies and procedures have been established to guide staff in the 

performance of their internal audit duties. Guidance in policies and 

procedures is provided to internal audit staff by the Chief Auditor, Principal 

Auditor and Senior Auditors. The Team also has access to a set of guidance 

notes and templates that are stored on a shared drive for staff to refer to 

when necessary.  

 Audit work is allocated to staff based on their level of skills, experience and 

competence. A quarterly Audit Plan is prepared by the Principal Auditor 

which allocates audit assignments to staff and is reviewed by the Chief 

Auditor before being issued. 

 A Lead Auditor is assigned to each audit and will be either the Principal 

Auditor or a Senior Auditor. The role of the Lead Auditor is to supervise and 

monitor progress in completion of the audit and to complete a quality 

assurance review to ensure that the work has been completed to the required 

level and complies with the PSIAS. The level of supervision required will 

depend upon the competence and experience of the auditor. 

 The Lead Auditor will also review the draft and final report to ensure it fully 

reflects the findings of the audit and includes appropriate recommendations 

and level of assurance. 

 All draft and final reports are subject to review by the Principal Auditor prior 

to being issued. 

 A Quality Control Questionnaire is issued with the final report to the client to 

obtain their feedback on the audit. Any issues identified in the completed 

QCQ are discussed with the auditor and action taken where required. 

 A comprehensive set of Performance Indicators are maintained. The PI’s are 

measured at team and individual level with targets being set at the start of 

Appendix D 

Page 72



each year. The PI’s measured at individual auditor level are monitored on a 

quarterly basis by the Principal Auditor and Chief Auditor and any issues 

identified are discussed with the auditor and action taken where necessary. 

The team PI’s are monitored annually and are reported to the Director of 

Finance & Section 151 Officer and the Governance and Audit Committee in 

the Internal Audit Annual Report. 

 The Welsh Chief Auditors Group collects performance indicator information 

from across Wales which is used to compare performance against other 

similarly sized internal audit teams. 

 Performance indicator information is also used as part of the annual 

appraisal process under the Employee Performance Management Policy. All 

employees receive an annual appraisal which is a competency based 

process that reviews performance and training and development needs. 

 Use is made of available training programmes to keep staff up to date with 

professional practice and to meet any skill shortages identified. Particular 

use is made of the annual training programme put together by the South 

Wales Chief Auditors Group. 

 
Internal Assessment – Periodic Review 

 
The following systems and procedures have been established for the periodic 
internal assessment: 

 A quarterly review of progress made against the Annual Audit Plan is 

undertaken by the Chief Auditor to ensure the Section is meeting its aims 

and objectives. The results of the review are reported to the Director of 

Finance & Section 151 Officer and the Governance and Audit Committee in 

the quarterly Internal Audit Monitoring Report. 

 The Chief Auditor completes an annual self-assessment of compliance with 

the PSIAS using the detailed checklist included in CIPFA’s Local 

Government Application Note.  

 The annual self-assessment also fulfils the requirement established in the 

Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014 for an annual assessment of 

the effectiveness of the Internal Audit service. 

 The results of the annual self-assessment are reported to the Director of 

Finance & Section 151 Officer and the Governance and Audit Committee as 

part of the Chief Auditors Annual Report.   

 

External Assessment 
 

An external assessment of compliance with the PSIAS must be completed at 
least once every 5 years and may either be a full external assessment or a self-
assessment which is subject to independent external validation. 
 
The format of the external assessment must be considered fully by the Chief 
Auditor and discussed with the Governance and Audit Committee. If an 

Page 73



independent validation is to be used, the person or team appointed must be 
appropriately qualified, have sufficient knowledge of the PSIAS and there must 
be no conflicts of interest or impairment to objectivity. 
 
The external assessment in Swansea was undertaken during Q3 and Q4 
2017/18 with the preferred method being a self-assessment subject to an 
external validation using the peer review group established by the Welsh Chief 
Auditors Group. This approach was agreed with the Director of Finance & 
Section 151 Officer and was approved by the Audit Committee on the 8 August 
2017. 

 
As agreed by the Welsh Chief Auditors Group, the external assessment saw 
Chief Auditors acting as independent assessors of other Internal Audit Sections 
arranged on a random basis.  

 
The outcome of the external assessment was presented to the then Head of 
Financial Services & Service Centre (now the Director of Finance & Section 151 
Officer), the Director of Resources and the Chief Executive on 28/03/18 and to 
the Audit Committee on the 10/04/18. In summary, the peer review concluded 
that the City and County of Swansea’s Internal Audit Section is broadly 
compliant with the PSIAS and CIPFA Application Note with no significant 
deviations from the Standards being noted.  

 
The external assessment must be undertaken at least every 5 years. The 
second assessment is currently underway and is due to be completed by the 
end of 2022/23.  

 
 
Reporting  

 
The Chief Auditor will report the outcome of the periodic internal assessment to 
the Director of Finance & Section 151 Officer and the Governance and Audit 
Committee on an annual basis. 

 
The results of the external assessment will also be reported to the Director of 
Finance & Section 151 Officer, the Corporate Management Team and the 
Governance and Audit Committee when received along with an Action Plan to 
address any issues raised in the report. The Action Plan will be subject to 
regular monitoring with progress being reported to the Director of Finance & 
Section 151 Officer and the Governance and Audit Committee. 
 
The Chief Auditor will only use the phrase ‘Conforms with International 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing’ in reports where 
the results of the QAIP support the statement. 

Page 74



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



 

Risk Based Audit Plan 

Audit Assigned  

Research & Scoping  

Pre-audit Meeting & Audit Brief 

Review Audit Programme 

Undertake Audit   

Produce Draft Audit Report  

Senior Review Audit Work & Report 

Review Points Completed 

 Draft Report Finalised  

Audit Assurance Level  

High or 

Substantial 

Assurance 

Principal & 

Chief Auditor 

Review  

Draft Report Issued  

Closure Meeting with Client to 

Discuss Findings  

QCQ Issued  

Report & Action Plan Agreed with 

Client  

Final Report Issued  

Planning  

> The Annual Audit Plan is compiled based on the schedule of audits, audit risk scores and 

consultation exercise. The plan is approved by CMT and Governance and Audit Committee.  

> Audits are allocated to the team via a quarterly audit plan. Auditors research the audit 

areas, review the previous report, file, risk assessment and run relevant reports to inform the 

planned audit.  

> Each audit is allocated a Senior Auditor to assist during the audit and to review the audit 

brief and audit programme. (Quality Control) 

> In consultation with the Senior Auditor, a pre-audit meeting will be held with the client 

contact to discuss the audit and to agree the scope and prepare the audit brief to be signed 

off by the client. (Quality Control) 

> The Auditor and Senior will review and update the audit programme as necessary. (Quality 

Control) and a start date start date will be agreed with the client.   

 

Undertaking the Audit  

> Audit fieldwork will be completed as agreed with the client. Any issues uncovered will be 

highlighted during the completion of the work.  

> All findings will be documented in the working papers.  

> The auditor will produce a draft report summarising the outcome of the testing.  

> All audit work and the draft report will be reviewed by a Senior Auditor. Any queries that 

arise will be documented as review points to be completed by the Auditor. (Quality Control) 

> The audit report will include recommendations where necessary and an action plan to be 

completed by the client outlining what action will be taken, who will be responsible for 

completing the action and a target completion date.  

 

Reporting the Outcome   

> All audit reports will be issued with an Assurance Level based on the number of 

recommendations made and risk classification of those recommendations.   

> Any uncertainty around the classification of a recommendation or the overall Assurance 

Level will be discussed with the Principal and/or Chief Auditor.  

> Reports that are due to be issued with a Moderate or Limited assurance level will be 

reviewed by the Principal and Chief Auditor. (Quality Control). 

> Once all queries have been suitably addressed, the Auditor will arrange a closure meeting 

with the client to discuss the outcome of the review and to summarise the findings in the 

draft report.  

> The draft report and management action plan will be issued to the client with a target 

response date.  

> If requested by the client, the auditor and/or senior auditor may be asked to meet to discuss 

the response to the recommendations made in the draft report.  

> Once the management action plan has been completed, the final report will be issued.  

> If the final report is issued with a Moderate or Limited assurance level, a summary of the 

key issues identified during the review will be presented to the Governance and Audit 

Committee as part of the Internal Audit Quarterly Monitoring Report. Management from the 

relevant service will also be expected to attend the committee meeting to provide an update 

on the action taken since the audit report was issued.  

> All actions agreed in the management action plan must have target completion dates to 

inform our recommendation follow-up procedures.  

> A Quality Control Questionnaire (QCQ) accompanies the final report. Clients are asked to 

complete this quality assessment and provide feedback on the audit process. The results form 

part of our internal Performance Indicators (Quality Control).  

 

 

 

 

Moderate or 

Limited 

Assurance  

Track Recommendations   

High/Substantial – confirmation 

Moderate/Limited – re-visit & test    

Track Recommendations    

> Reports with a High/Substantial Assurance Level – clients are asked to confirm 

recommendations have been completed in writing.   

> Moderate/Limited Assurance – a follow-up audit is arranged to confirm implementation.   

Appendix 3 

Page 76



  Appendix 4 

Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form  
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing 
this form.  
 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 
 
Service Area: Internal Audit  
Directorate: Finance  
 
Q1 (a) What are you screening for relevance? 
 
 

 New and revised policies, practices or procedures  
      Service review, re-organisation or service changes/reductions, which affect the wider community, 

service  users and/or staff  
     Efficiency or saving proposals 
     Setting budget allocations for new financial year and strategic financial planning 
    New project proposals affecting staff, communities or accessibility to the built environment, e.g., 

new  construction work or adaptations to existing buildings, moving to on-line services, changing 
location 

 Large Scale Public Events 
 Local implementation of National Strategy/Plans/Legislation 
 Strategic directive and intent, including those developed at Regional Partnership Boards and 

Public Services  Board, which impact on a public bodies functions 
 Medium to long term plans (for example, corporate plans, development plans, service delivery 

and  improvement plans) 
 Setting objectives (for example, well-being objectives, equality objectives, Welsh language 

 strategy) 
 Major procurement and commissioning decisions 
 Decisions that affect the ability (including external partners) to offer Welsh  language 

opportunities and  services 
 
(b) Please name and fully describe initiative here:  
 
The External Assessment Report outlines the results of the external review of 
compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards undertaken by the Internal 
Audit Team of Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council.  
 

 
 

Q2 What is the potential impact on the following: the impacts below could 
be positive (+) or negative (-)  

 
 n/a – no impact  
        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Needs further  
     investigation 
     +    -     +    -               +    -    
Children/young people (0-18)          
OIder people (50+)         
Any other age group           
Future Generations (yet to be born)          

Page 77



Disability          
Race (including refugees)          
Asylum seekers          
Gypsies & travellers          
Religion or (non-)belief         
Sex         
Sexual Orientation         
Gender reassignment          
Welsh Language         
Poverty/social exclusion         
Carers (inc. young carers)         
Community cohesion         
Marriage & civil partnership         
Pregnancy and maternity         
 
Q3 What involvement has taken place/will you undertake e.g. engagement / 

consultation / co-productive approaches?   
 
 Please provide details below – either of your activities or your reasons for 

not undertaking involvement 
 

Consultation undertaken with the Director of Finance and the Corporate 
Management Team.   

 
Q4 Have you considered the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 
2015 in the  development of this initiative:   
 

a) Overall does the initiative support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being Objectives when 
considered together?  
 Yes                  No          
 

b) Does the initiative consider maximising contribution to each of the seven national well-
being goals?  
 Yes                  No          
 

c) Does the initiative apply each of the five ways of working? 
 Yes                  No          
 

d) Does the initiative meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs?  
 Yes                  No          
 

 
 
Q5 What is the potential risk of the initiative? (Consider the following impacts – 

equality, socio-economic, environmental, cultural, legal, financial, political, 
media, public perception etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
                         

Page 78



 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council 
service?  

 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

The review will provide assurance to all Council areas that the Internal Audit function 
of the Council is being delivered in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards.  
 
Q7  What is the cumulative impact of this proposal on people and/or 
communities when considering all the impacts identified within the screening 
and any other key decisions affecting similar groups/ service users made by the 
organisation?   
(You may need to discuss this with your Service Head or Cabinet Member to consider more 
widely if this proposal will affect certain groups/ communities more adversely because of other 
decisions the organisation is making. For example, financial impact/poverty, withdrawal of 
multiple services and whether this is disadvantaging the same groups, e.g., disabled people, 
older people, single parents (who are mainly women), etc.)   
 
To update the Governance & Audit Committee on the outcome of the external 
assessment and to provide assurance to the Committee and the Corporate 
Management Team that the services provide by the Internal Audit Team are compliant 
with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and Cipfa Local Government 
Application Note.   
   
Outcome of Screening 

 
Q8 Please describe the outcome of your screening below: 
 
The completion of the Integrated Impact Assessment Screening revealed that: 
 

• The Peer Review Outcome Report has a potentially low positive impact across 
a number of identified groups.  
 

• It has been subject to consultation with the Director of Finance, the Corporate 
Management Team, Legal and Access to Services.  
 

• All WFG considerations are positive and any risks identified are low.  
 
  (NB: This summary paragraph should be used in the relevant section of corporate 

report)  
   

 Full IIA to be completed  
 

 Do not complete IIA – please ensure you have provided the relevant information above to 
support this  outcome 

    
 

Page 79



NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement 
before obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is 
only required via email. 
 

Screening completed by: 
Name: Simon Cockings 
Job title: Chief Auditor  
Date: 04/08/23 

 

Approval by Head of Service: 
Name: Ben Smith  
Position: Director of Finance & S151 Officer  
Date: 04/08/23 

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 
 

Page 80

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 
 

Report of the Director of Social Services  
 

Governance & Audit Committee – 25 October 2023 
 

Social Services Directorate: Internal Control 
Environment 2023/24 

 
Purpose: The report presents the annual review of the 

(Directorate) control environment, including risk 
management, in place to ensure functions are 
exercised effectively; there is economic, efficient and 
effective use of resources, and; effective governance 
to secure these arrangements. 

 
Report Author: David Howes 
 
Finance Officer: Chris Davies 
 
Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 
 
Access to Services Rhian Millar  
Officer:   
 

For Information 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 The Social Services Directorate continues to be responsible for either 

delivering or commissioning care and support for adults, children and 
families across Swansea. As such, the Directorate is the main vehicle 
through which the Council meets its responsibilities under the Social 
Services and Well Being Act and the All-Wales Safeguarding 
Procedures. The Social Services and Wellbeing Act complements the 
Future Generations Act in requiring a refocus on wellbeing, prevention 
and early help. Consequently, in recent years the Directorate has 
assumed responsibility for the direct delivery of the bulk of the 
Council’s prevention and tackling poverty services. The Directorate is 
also responsible for Youth Offending Services and hosts the West 
Glamorgan Health & Social Care partnership. 
 
 
 

Page 81

Agenda Item 6



1.2 The Social Services Directorate continues to have the highest gross 
and net spend within the Council (excluding schools) and are the 
highest income generator. As a consequence the bulk of the Council’s 
required savings within the medium-term financial plan continue to be 
delivered by the Directorate. The services delivered within the 
Directorate are the most regulated and have the highest number of 
statutory performance indicators. Given the nature of those services, 
the Directorate manages the highest levels of risk as business as usual 
activity. It continues to take lead responsibility for two of the Council’s 
corporate priorities – safeguarding and tackling poverty.  
 

1.3 In order to continue to manage and safely deliver against all of the 
above, the internal control environment within the Directorate continues 
to need to be highly sophisticated and particularly effective. 
 

2. Risk Management and business continuity 
 
2.1 The work of the social services department is dominated by the 

effective management of risk through its work in managing child 
protection and adult safeguarding. 

 
2.2  Service delivery post covid has recovered strongly. However the social 

care sector remains fragile in a context of an extremely challenged 
health system, exacerbated by the continued cost of living crisis. This 
means that the Directorate effectively has to operate a state of 
business continuity. 

 
2.3  Given all of the ongoing challenges post covid, including significant 

workforce challenges, our continued resilience to managing the most 
challenging of circumstances remains remarkably strong.  

 
2.4  We continue to have to focus Corporate and Directorate risks on the 

most critical areas of system wide concern. Therefore the Corporate 
risk register has continued to be used to capture the highest-level risks 
and issues i.e. those that are most pressing at any given time and 
particularly to provide transparency about risks that cannot be wholly 
mitigated.  

 
2.5 Some risks continue to feature permanently on the risk register. The 

most obvious example is the risk for safeguarding. However control 
measures continue to be reviewed and updated to reflect the changing 
context and new challenges including any immediate areas of 
increased risk. We remain as confident as we can be that the Council 
will continue to exercise its functions effectively. 

 
2.6  Risks that are captured on the corporate risk register continue to be 

managed by individual risk owners across the Directorate and then 
monitored at the monthly Directorate P&FM. The risks on a page (see 
appendix) are shared with the responsible Cabinet Members on a 
monthly basis. The P&FM meeting makes the decision about whether 

Page 82



Directorate risks should be escalated to CMT for consideration as to 
whether they should become a corporate risk. As an example, the risk 
associated with WCCIS (the Directorate’s main information record 
system to record the care and support needs of individuals) has been 
escalated to a corporate risk, subsequently de-escalated, then 
removed from the risk register and will now re-appear but for different 
reasons than previously. Individual risk owners continue to be 
encouraged to strengthen the recording of control measures to better 
describe the range of actions we are taking to at least mitigate whole 
system fragility. This was previously flagged as an area for 
improvement. 

 
2.7 It remains the case that the Directorate’s capacity and resilience to 

managing risk and business continuity continues to be tested to a 
degree that would have been considered inconceivable pre-covid. 
Therefore the fact that arrangements continue to stand up well 
continues to provide considerable assurance. 

 
3. Performance Management / KPIs 
 
3.1 Adults, children’s, tackling poverty services and YOS continue to have 

a substantial suite of KPIs that reflect statutory requirements, grant 
award conditions and the corporate performance report. Changes to 
nationally reported KPIs particularly across adults and childrens 
services have been embedded within the Directorate’s performance 
reporting mechanisms and we are now beginning to generate trend 
data. 

 
3.2  All four services continue to have an extensive individual performance 

report that is produced on a monthly basis. Those reports feed the 
monthly Directorate P&FM and are provided to the responsible Cabinet 
Members. The reports for adults and children services are received by 
CMT on a quarterly basis. The YOS report is received by the YOS 
Management Board (a statutory multi agency board) on a quarterly 
basis. The childrens and adults reports are taken to dedicated scrutiny 
performance panels on a quarterly basis. Selective information is 
extracted from these reports to inform the Councils overall quarterly 
performance report against the corporate plan. Care Inspectorate 
Wales are provided with the reports on a quarterly basis. Safeguarding 
information is pulled from the reports and provided quarterly to the 
regional safeguarding board. Welsh Government are provided end of 
year information from these reports to meet the Council’s statutory 
reporting requirements. Information from the reports is extracted to 
inform regional planning priorities across health and care through the 
regional partnership board. The Director uses the end of year 
information to inform his Statutory Report to Council on an annual 
basis. 

 
3.3  Live and contemporary performance information continues to be used 

by frontline teams across the Directorate to inform service delivery and 

Page 83



practice on a day-to-day basis. Swansea’s use of performance data to 
inform and improve day to day practice across social care, to support 
both service planning and improvement and transformation continues 
to be recognised as sector leading. 

 
3.4 The new WCCIS risk is linked to a recently published business plan by 

Digital Health Wales to move away from a single performance 
information system across Wales. At this stage the Council does not 
understand whether these changes may impact negatively on the 
ability of the Council to effectively performance manage its service 
delivery. Local/ regional due diligence of that new national plan is 
underway. 

 
3.5 The Director of Social Services continues to take a lead in supporting 

the Council’s cross cutting approach to corporate safeguarding. The 
work of the corporate safeguarding group jointly chaired by the Director 
and responsible Cabinet Member reports on an annual basis to 
Scrutiny. The cross-Council work plan overseen by the board 
incorporates any recommendations from internal or external scrutiny or 
audit activity. One of the key priorities of that board was in relation to 
improved corporate reporting of things like mandatory training 
compliance. The performance reporting capability of oracle fusion is at 
an early stage, but it does appear that the expected benefit of improved 
corporate reporting will be realised over the next 6 months.  

 
3.6  The fact that performance management arrangements in the 

Directorate are considered sector leading, the high levels of internal 
and external scrutiny and processes in place that ensure performance 
and management drives strategic and operational improvement 
continues to indicate a very high level of assurance in this area. 

 
4. Planning and Decision Making 
 
4.1 Planning for the effective delivery of social care continues to be 

inextricably linked with the planning of the effective delivery of health 
care. This has been recognised by Welsh Government and prompted 
the establishment of regional partnership boards. The West Glamorgan 
Regional Partnership Board provides the infrastructure through which 
the high-level planning priorities across health and social care are 
determined. However the statutory partners retain sovereign 
responsibility. The Director of Social Services advises the Cabinet 
Members, Cabinet and Council on the exercise of its statutory duties 
and ultimately Cabinet signs off on local delivery against both the 
regional priorities and local service delivery. 

 
4.2  Each service within the Directorate has updated annual transformation/ 

improvement plans (service plans) which set out the steps that will be 
taken to deliver against agreed priorities including recovery from Covid 
and any new and emerging issues for example the impact of the cost of 
living crisis. These plans are informed by all of the above and new 

Page 84



Council policies, new statutory requirements, the latest performance 
information, any savings requirements set out within the Council’s 
medium term financial plan and recommendations from internal or 
external audit (in particular the Care Inspectorate for Wales).  

 
4.3  The infrastructure at both a regional and local level to ensure effective 

and coherent planning and decision making has now wholly reverted 
back to a focus on longer term transformation. Overall these 
arrangements continue to work well and again provide considerable 
assurance. 

 
5. Budget and Resources Management 
 
5.1 The Directorate continues to be supported by a dedicated finance 

partner who is part of the corporate finance team. 
 
5.2  The finance partner works an integral part of the Directorate’s budget, 

finance, planning and commissioning hub. The finance partner 
provides independent scrutiny and challenge of the Directorates 
financial plans, including direct advice to the statutory Director and the 
Council’s S151 officer. 

 
5.3  The planning and commissioning hub incorporates representation from 

the corporate procurement team to ensure that the Council’s 
arrangements to commission tens of millions of pounds of care and 
other services from the independent and third sector is done so in a 
way that both supports good outcomes and is cost effective. The 
planning and commissioning hub also continues to provide support to 
Education and Housing colleagues to promote a peoples approach to 
commissioning and procurement of cross cutting services. This cross 
Directorate and increasingly cross Council approach is realising the 
hoped for additional benefits of added value for the recipients of 
commissioned services and best value for the Council. 

 
5.4  The commissioning hub continues to manage applications for tens of 

millions of pounds worth of additional grant income and ensures 
ongoing compliance with grant conditions. The hub is increasingly 
having to focus on mitigating the potential negative consequences of 
reduced levels of funding across public services. 

 
5.5 The Director continues to chair a monthly meeting of the 

commissioning hub to ensure cross Directorate and cross Council 
collaboration. 

 
5.6 Charging of organisations that use Council care services, including 

making sure full cost recovery is applied, is managed by the budget 
officers within the commissioning hub. However, the financial 
assessment and charging of Swansea residents for their care and 
support is managed by the corporate finance and charging team. 

 

Page 85



5.7  The Director also continues to chair a monthly finance and charging 
meeting, involving Directorate and Corporate finance colleagues, to 
ensure effective cross Council charging, income generation and debt 
recovery is maintained.  

 
5.8  Overall financial oversight of the Directorate’s fiscal position and 

delivery against the medium-term financial plan takes place in the 
monthly P&FM and any issues are escalated to CMT and the S.151 
officer. The Cabinet members receive a monthly finance report. The 
s151 officer’s quarterly outturn report is informed by the Directorate’s 
finance report. 

 
5.9  Analysis of demand, costs of new statutory requirements or policy 

commitments, delivery against savings targets, inflationary pressures, 
and new income opportunities are all routinely monitored through the 
above arrangements and then provided to CMT and Cabinet to inform 
the annual budget setting process. 

 
5.10  For the fifth year in a row, despite having the largest savings targets in 

the Council, the Directorate has been particularly successful in 
achieving a balanced budget. The Directorate’s proven effectiveness in 
managing demand led budgets and delivering against challenging 
savings targets provides strong assurance. However in-year financial 
challenges and the potential for a significant drop in public services 
funding looking forward does present considerable financial risk in the 
context extreme inflationary pressures. 

 
6. Fraud and Financial Impropriety 

6.1 The Directorate’s systems of internal controls have been designed in 
accordance with the accounting instructions. Compliance is monitored 
through regular internal audits of the establishments and functions. 
Suspicions of impropriety are referred to internal audit and Human 
Resources. 

7. Compliance with Policies, Rules and Regulatory Requirements 
 
7.1 The functions of the Social Services Department are highly regulated 

and subject to high levels of internal and external scrutiny and audit 
consistent. The main regulator is the Care Inspectorate of Wales (CIW) 
which inspects both at a local authority level and each individual 
regulated service e.g. individual care homes or domiciliary care 
service. This high level of external scrutiny complements our internal 
quality assurance frameworks and the oversight of two dedicated 
scrutiny panels. Any recommendations for improvement whether 
externally or internally generated are incorporated into annual service 
and improvement plans. Throughout this period a number of 
inspections of regulated services have taken place. Feedback has 
been overwhelmingly positive and where actions for improvement have 
been proposed, these have been actioned and reported through the 
Council’s scrutiny, audit and governance arrangements. 

Page 86



 
7.2 CIW’s annual assurance meeting activity has continued. The 

inspectorate remains satisfied that the local authority’s arrangements 
remain strong and effective.  

 
8. Programme and Project Assurance 
 
8.1 The overarching transformation of health and social care programmes 

are facilitated through the infrastructure of the regional partnership 
board. There is a dedicated regional transformation team hosted by 
Swansea Council which facilitates the monitoring and delivery of that 
programme. Plans and projects are monitored by three transformation 
boards chaired at Director level and ultimately report to the partnership 
board with senior representation of the statutory partners.  

 
8.2 A robust and consistent project management methodology is adopted 

at both a regional, local, directorate and service level with dedicated 
specialist resources allocated to ensure project initiation, delivery 
against intended outcomes, risk management and transition to 
business as usual is properly managed.  

 
9. Internal Controls 
 
9.1  All officers have clear roles and responsibilities. Authorisation 

processes whether Oracle, HR or financial are clear and in place. 
Annual review of authorisation levels are carried out. Spending 
restrictions are in place with appropriate escalation up to HOS and 
Director level as appropriate. Risk assessments are in place for 
buildings and services. 

 
9.2  The resilience of both internal control arrangements and the 

Directorate’s workforce continue to be severely tested. The ability to 
flex resource and safely respond to priorities that could change on a 
weekly, sometimes daily, basis indicates strong assurance. 

 
10. Data Security 
 
10.1 The Directorate manages high levels of personal information for 

citizens and statutory requirements and are such that this information 
must routinely be used to inform reports, assessments and plans that 
must be shared in writing with users of our services. 

 
10.2  The combination of these two factors means that the risk of an 

inadvertent data breach is high, and the consequences are always 
serious. 

 
10.3  The processes for monitoring and reporting breaches are well 

established across the Directorate, as are the processes for learning 
from any such a breach.  

 

Page 87



10.4  Improved compliance with mandatory training on data security continue 
to be monitored at P&FM, as are the details of any breaches or near 
misses. 

 
10.5  The number of breaches that have taken place have reduced 

significantly. 
 
11. Partnership / collaboration governance 
 
11.1 The main partnership in which the Directorate is a key partner is the 

Regional Partnership Board as referred to previously. The governance 
arrangements for this board are set out in statute. The region and the 
Council comply with the required governance requirements in full. 

 
11.2  All recommendations of the Regional Partnership Board must be taken 

through the individual organisations governance mechanisms for final 
endorsement. Cabinet is the ultimate decision-making body for the 
Council. 

 
11.3  Partnership arrangements are considered strong in this region.  
 
12. Integrated Assessment Implications 
 
12.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty 

and the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and 
must in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
and other conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-
economic disadvantage 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs. 

 
12.1.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2005 mandates that 

public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. 
Sustainable development means the process of improving the 
economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by 
taking action, in accordance with the sustainable development 
principle, aimed at achieving the ‘well-being goals’. 

 

Page 88



12.1.2 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid 
due regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues 
and priorities, such as poverty and social exclusion, community 
cohesion, carers, the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the 
Child (UNCRC) and Welsh language. 

 
12.2 There is no direct impact associated with this report on the relevant 

groups considered within the IIA itself; but assessing long-term trends 
and preventing risks from becoming issues are key aspects of risk 
management. Sustainable ways of working are incorporated within the 
Council’s risk management policy and framework. 

 
13. Legal Implications 
 
13.1 There are no legal implications.   
 
14. Financial Implications 
 
14.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from the 

consideration of this report.  
 

 
Background papers: None 
 
Appendices:   
 
Appendix A (Directorate) Corporate and Directorate Risks on a page 

Report 
Appendix B (Directorate) Assurance Map updated 
Appendix C IIA Form 
  

Page 89



Risk Title : Risk ID : 

Description : Risk Level : 

Risk on a Page

Deprivation of Liberty 132

If the Local Authority fails to meet its statutory responsibilities to meet the legal requirement in relation to
Deprivation of Liberty across Child and Family and Adult services, the Local Authority would be at risk of legal
challenges and compensation claims.

Directorate

Responsible Officer : 

Last Update : 

Councillor : 

Historical RAG : 

Inherent Risk : Amy.Hawkins

04/09/2023

Louise Gibbard 16

Sep-23

12

Aug

12

Jul

1616

JunMay

16

AprMar

1616

FebJan

1616

DecNov

16

Oct-22

16

Current Control Measures Last Update
Projected

CompletionRisk Response

Adult Services & Child and Family Deprivation of Liberty (DoLO). Identifying those who need a DoLO,
prioritising DoLO applications targeting the most risky cases, and sourcing support to ensure applications
are made in a timely manner, reducing the risk of unauthorised deprivations.  Additional grant funding used
for additional staffing resource to support with applications, Court of Protection support, Best Interest and
Mental Capacity assessments and staff training.

31/08/2023 31/03/2024Treat

New legislation - Liberty Protection Safeguarding.  LPS implementation has been pushed back to 2024. We
are currently involved in regional and national forums to fully understand the requirement of the new act

31/08/2023 31/03/2024Terminate / Close

Identify high risk cases across teams and across Directorate.  Regular cross Directorate meetings are
undertaken to monitor this and to capture high risk cases.

31/08/2023 31/03/2024Treat

Current Impact : Current Likelihood : 4 - High 3 - Medium

5 - Very High  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

2 - Low  -

1 - Very Low  -

SepOct -
22

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

Nov

High

High

High

High

High

Dec

High

High

High

High

High

Jan

High

High

High

High

High

Feb

High

High

High

High

High

Mar

High

High

High

High

High

Apr

High

High

High

High

High

May Jun

High

High

High

High

High

Jul

High

High

High

High

High

Aug

High

High

High

High

High
2 - Low  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

5 - Very High  -

1 - Very Low  -

Mediu

Mediu

Sep

Mediu

Mediu

MediuHigh

Oct -
22

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

Nov

High

High

Dec

High

High

High

High

High

Jan

High

High

High

Feb

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

Mar

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

Apr May

High

High

High

High

Jun

High

High

Jul

High

High

High

High

Mediu

Aug

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Appendix A

P
age 90



Risk Title : Risk ID : 

Description : Risk Level : 

Risk on a Page

Safeguarding 153

If our safeguarding arrangements are not sufficiently robust (particularly with regards being able to fund, recruit
and retain sufficient qualified social workers; ensure placement sufficiency for looked after children and be able
to provide or commission sufficient social care for adults with assessed care and support needs), then we will
not be doing everything we possibly can to prevent the death, injury or neglect of a child or vulnerable adult and
consequential reputational damage.

Corporate

Responsible Officer : 

Last Update : 

Councillor : 

Historical RAG : 

Inherent Risk : David.Howes

19/09/2023

Louise Gibbard 25

Sep-23

16

Aug

16

Jul

1616

Jun

16

May

16

AprMar

1616

FebJan

1616

DecNov

16

Oct-22

16

Current Control Measures Last Update
Projected

CompletionRisk Response

Work with the Health Board to review the current level of partner financial contributions to the funding of
integrated intermediate care services (inc maximising regional and national income opportunities) to ensure
an effective service offer that reduces or delays recourse to long term managed care (within the Council¿s
overall available financial resources)

16/06/2023 31/03/2024Treat

Monitor the effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements bi-monthly at the childrens and adults performance
scrutiny panels, the corporate safeguarding board and the regional safeguarding board, quarterly at CMT
and monthly at PFM and take appropriate remedial action

07/03/2023 01/03/2024Treat

Invest in the Council¿s direct care provision services to maximise capacity and reduce reliance on
independently commissioned care services for adults (within the Council¿s overall available financial
resources)

07/03/2023 01/03/2024Treat

Provide specific advice to Welsh Government as to how they can safely implement the eliminate profit from
children services policy commitment (including supporting the growth of not for profit looked after children
care provision) to avoid inadvertently exacerbating the current lack of placement sufficiency for looked after
children

07/03/2023 01/03/2024Treat

Implement new models for the commissioning local independent domiciliary care provision to build capacity
inc. by supporting providers to provide a fair and competitive wage to their staff (within the Council¿s
overall available financial resources)

07/03/2023 01/03/2024Treat

Invest in increasing the number of Foster Wales Swansea foster carers and the number of in-house
residential care beds for children (both locally and regionally) whilst decreasing reliance on independently
commissioned foster and residential care placements (within the Council¿s overall available financial
resources)

07/03/2023 01/03/2024Treat

Appendix A

P
age 91



Current Control Measures Last Update
Projected

CompletionRisk Response

Implement effective recruitment processes both within the Directorate and the corporate centre (including
maintaining a sufficient workforce infrastructure) to ensure that there are no avoidable delays in recruiting to
essential posts determined as necessary to maintain a safe and effective social services function (within the
Council¿s overall available financial resources)

07/03/2023 01/03/2024Treat

Implement a weekly Directorate workforce planning meeting to consider and prioritise all new recruitment
requests to ensure that new recruitment is focussed on the maintenance of a safe and effective service and
complies with current spending restrictions and supports delivery of the Council¿s MTFP

07/03/2023 01/03/2024Treat

Prioritise and target resources at maintaining care and support for those individuals in most critical need or
at risk of suffering harm as part of the emergency planning infrastructure and re-prioritisation of the
Councils COVID-19 Recovery Plan.

07/03/2023 01/03/2024Treat

Remodel the workforce infrastructure for social services including investment in capacity of alternatively
qualified staff (both frontline and back-office staff) to take on functions that can be safely delivered by a
non-registrant workforce (within the Council¿s overall financial resources)

07/03/2023 01/03/2024Treat

Recruit agency social workers to cover critical gaps in social work capacity 07/03/2023 01/03/2024Treat

Prioritise maintaining investment in and maximising income for the funding of prevention and wellbeing
services that reduce or delay recourse to statutory services and managed care and support for children and
adults who would otherwise develop care and support needs (within the Council¿s overall available
financial resources)

07/03/2023 01/03/2024Treat

Implement a `grow your own¿ strategy to support an increase in the number of internal staff to pursue the
social work qualification

07/03/2023 01/03/2025Treat

Prioritise a sufficient budget allocation (within the Council¿s overall available financial resources) to
maintain the Council meeting at least the minimum level of statutory service across childrens and adults
services

07/03/2023 01/03/2024Treat

Implement a social work academy in children services to support newly qualified staff to gain the skills and
experience to become competent child protection practitioners

07/03/2023 01/03/2024Treat

Work with NPT Council and the Swansea Bay Health Board to implement a recruitment strategy for
overseas staff to fill critical workforce shortages across health and social care

07/03/2023 01/03/2024Treat

Appendix A

P
age 92



Current Impact : Current Likelihood : 4 - High 4 - High

5 - Very High  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

2 - Low  -

1 - Very Low  -

SepOct -
22

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

Nov

High

High

High

High

High

Dec

High

High

High

High

High

Jan

High

High

High

High

High

Feb

High

High

High

High

High

Mar

High

High

High

High

High

Apr

High

High

High

High

High

May

High

High

High

High

High

Jun

High

High

High

High

High

Jul

High

High

High

High

High

Aug

High

High

High

High

High
2 - Low  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

5 - Very High  -

1 - Very Low  -

High

High

Sep

High

High

HighHigh

Oct -
22

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

Nov

High

High

Dec

High

High

High

High

High

Jan

High

High

High

Feb

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

Mar

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

Apr

High

High

High

High

May

High

High

High

High

High

Jun

High

High

Jul

High

High

High

High

High

Aug

High

High

High

High

Appendix A

P
age 93



Risk Title : Risk ID : 

Description : Risk Level : 

Risk on a Page

Data Breaches of Confidentiality 218

If a data breach occurs then this will result in a breach of confidentiality for an individual and the ICO will have to
be notified potentially incurring significant fine for the Authority.

Directorate

Responsible Officer : 

Last Update : 

Councillor : 

Historical RAG : 

Inherent Risk : David.Howes

14/09/2023

Louise Gibbard 16

Sep-23

9

Aug

9

Jul

99

Jun

9

May

9

AprMar

99

FebJan

916

DecNov

16

Oct-22

16

Current Control Measures Last Update
Projected

CompletionRisk Response

If a data breach occurs then it is reported to P&FM which takes place on a monthly basis. Staff who have
also completed Data Breach Training is reviewed, captured and reported to P&FM on a monthly basis. Any
learning that is received from a breach is shared with the Directorate. These are on going measures.

15/05/2023 30/04/2024Treat

Current Impact : Current Likelihood : 3 - Medium 3 - Medium

5 - Very High  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

2 - Low  -

1 - Very Low  -

SepOct -
22

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

High

High

High

High

High

Nov

High

High

High

High

High

Dec

High

High

High

High

High

Jan

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Feb

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mar

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Apr

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

May

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jun

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jul

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Aug

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu
2 - Low  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

5 - Very High  -

1 - Very Low  -

Mediu

Mediu

Sep

Mediu

Mediu

MediuHigh

Oct -
22

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

Nov

High

High

Dec

High

High

High

Mediu

Mediu

Jan

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Feb

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mar

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Apr

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

May

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jun

Mediu

Mediu

Jul

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Aug

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Appendix A

P
age 94



Risk Title : Risk ID : 

Description : Risk Level : 

Risk on a Page

Impact of Poverty 290

If there is increased demand on Council services due to an increased number of residents experiencing the
impact of poverty due to the pandemic and cost of living pressures.  Then the impact includes increased debt,
reduction in household income and negative impact on health and well-being.

Corporate

Responsible Officer : 

Last Update : 

Councillor : 

Historical RAG : 

Inherent Risk : Amy.Hawkins

01/09/2023

Alyson Pugh 16

Sep-23

9

Aug

6

Jul

99

JunMay

9

AprMar

99

FebJan

99

DecNov

9

Oct-22

9

Current Control Measures Last Update
Projected

CompletionRisk Response

Provide targeted advice on financial inclusion to people who are struggling with accessing the support to
manage their debts, to address their needs in a timely, effective manner.

31/08/2023 31/03/2024Treat

Provide weekly access to Welfare Rights Advice helpline for frontline social care staff to improve their
knowledge on benefit entitlements and directly apply this to the people they support in order to increase
take-up of benefits.

31/08/2023 31/03/2024Treat

Support people to gain employment through referrals into mentoring and development of employability skills
as part of an agreed personal development plan, to improve the number of people increasing their
household income through employment.

31/08/2023 31/03/2024Treat

Directly support people through Local Area Co-ordination to access the support they require in a place and
time that meets their needs, to address the impacts of poverty and its effects on their health and well-being.

31/08/2023 31/03/2024Treat

Increased demand on council services due to an increased number of residents experiencing the impact of
poverty due to the cost of living crisis and the ongoing impact of the pandemic.  The impact includes
increased debt, reduction in household income and negative impact on health and well-being.
The cost of living payments have been automatically been paid to those who we have details for other's the
online application is open.   Additional funding has been allocated for energy crisis payments which
residents are accessing.  
Further funding has been allocated to community and voluntary organisations for addressing food poverty
and addressing period poverty, along with new 'holiday food' schemes for Summer 2023.

31/08/2023 31/03/2024Treat

The provision of Employability support, Debt and Benefit advice and guidance commissioned and in-house,
increase take up of benefit entitlements, skills support and administration of Covid Self isolation payments. 
Work across the Authority through the Poverty Forum and with external partners through the Poverty
Partnership Forum to identify risk management strategies to mitigate the impact.

31/08/2023 31/03/2024Treat

Appendix A

P
age 95



Current Control Measures Last Update
Projected

CompletionRisk Response

Co-ordinate targeted and time-bound grant schemes for helping people with Cost of Living challenges (e.g.
fuel poverty) to reduce the impact of poverty on people and businesses.

31/10/2022 31/12/2023Treat

Current Impact : Current Likelihood : 3 - Medium 3 - Medium

5 - Very High  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

2 - Low  -

1 - Very Low  -

SepOct -
22

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Nov

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Dec

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jan

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Feb

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mar

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Apr

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

May Jun

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jul

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Aug

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu
2 - Low  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

5 - Very High  -

1 - Very Low  -

Mediu

Mediu

Sep

Mediu

Mediu

MediuMediu

Oct -
22

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Nov

Mediu

Mediu

Dec

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jan

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Feb

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mar

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Apr May

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jun

Mediu

Mediu

Jul

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Low

Aug

Low

Low

Low

Low

Appendix A

P
age 96



Risk Title : Risk ID : 

Description : Risk Level : 

Risk on a Page

Grant Funding (Revenue Budgets) in Social Services 298

IF grant funding ceases to flow from Welsh Government, THEN key preventative parts of the Directorate will not
be able to deliver the range of services as effectively as it would like to in order to ensure service continuity and
to safeguard preventative activities for the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of residents
of Swansea

Directorate

Responsible Officer : 

Last Update : 

Councillor : 

Historical RAG : 

Inherent Risk : David.Howes

25/09/2023

Louise Gibbard 12

Sep-23

12

Aug

12

Jul

12

Jun

9

May

9

AprMar

99

FebJan

99

DecNov

9

Oct-22

9

Current Control Measures Last Update
Projected

CompletionRisk Response

Close working with teams to understand likelihood of changes in grant allocations and possible remodelling
needed to mitigate ¿ 31.03.24

25/09/2023 31/03/2024Treat

Monthly discussion at relevant SMT meetings to work through these arrangements and manage risk and
over sight at PFM reporting throughout 23/24 31.03.24

25/09/2023 31/03/2024Treat

Indivual Grant Budget envelope planning for 24/25 underway - especially in large grant schemes such as
HSG. CCG and RIF.  Planning assumption on  a flat grant budget envelope with an increase in inflation for
a second year running will impact on the delivery of services for people as provision will have top be
managed within grant envelop.  Risk and impact assessment of this is underway

25/09/2023 30/11/2023Treat

Analysis and monitoring of the range of different grants we receive and when they are likely to end and an
exit route for these funding sources and implications to staffing levels including redundancy costs

25/04/2023 31/05/2024Treat

Current Impact : Current Likelihood : 3 - Medium 4 - High

5 - Very High  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

2 - Low  -

1 - Very Low  -

SepOct -
22

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Nov

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Dec

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jan

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Feb

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mar

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Apr

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

May

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jun Jul

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Aug

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu
2 - Low  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

5 - Very High  -

1 - Very Low  -

High

High

Sep

High

High

HighMediu

Oct -
22

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Nov

Mediu

Mediu

Dec

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jan

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Feb

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mar

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Apr

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

May

Mediu

Jun

High

Jul

High

High

High

High

High

Aug

High

High

High

High

Appendix A

P
age 97



Risk Title : Risk ID : 

Description : Risk Level : 

Risk on a Page

Real Living Wage in Social Care 317

Welsh Government require that the RLW (Real Living Wage) be paid to those who work in registered posts
within Social Care. IF the annually calculated rate by the Resolution Foundation based on inflation measures
that consider the minimum income standard, is higher than budget available to meet these costs THEN
significant remodelling of all services is required 
IF there is not a significant easing of the inflationary pressures, THEN this it is likely that a substantial increase
in living wage will be forthcoming and there is no guarantee that Welsh Government will provide adequate
funding to meet our responsibilities.

Directorate

Responsible Officer : 

Last Update : 

Councillor : 

Historical RAG : 

Inherent Risk : Jane.Whitmore

25/09/2023

Louise Gibbard 9

Sep-23

9

Aug

9

Jul

9

Jun

9

May

16

AprMar

169

FebJan

99

DecNov

9

Oct-22

9

Current Control Measures Last Update
Projected

CompletionRisk Response

Continue to work with WG to highlight the long term impacts of embedding RLW to influence flow of funding
to cover pressures

25/09/2023 31/10/2023Treat

Monitor the level of inflation to understand the likelihood of this risk being realised in line with monthly
published inflation figures.

25/09/2023 31/10/2023Treat

Track and monitoring the RLW calculations on the following website The Calculation | Living Wage
Foundation as they are published annually

25/09/2023 31/10/2023Treat

Current Impact : Current Likelihood : 3 - Medium 3 - Medium

5 - Very High  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

2 - Low  -

1 - Very Low  -

SepOct -
22

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Nov

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Dec

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jan

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Feb

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mar

High

High

High

High

High

Apr

High

High

High

High

High

May

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jun Jul

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Aug

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu
2 - Low  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

5 - Very High  -

1 - Very Low  -

Mediu

Mediu

Sep

Mediu

Mediu

MediuMediu

Oct -
22

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Nov

Mediu

Mediu

Dec

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jan

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Feb

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

High

High

High

Mar

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

Apr

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

May

Mediu

Jun

Mediu

Jul

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Aug

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Appendix A

P
age 98



Risk Title : Risk ID : 

Description : Risk Level : 

Risk on a Page

Fragility of Commissioned Care Market 319

Externally commissioned services are fragile. Rising costs are creating operational pressures and sustainability
risks.  Difficulties recruiting and retaining staff are creating capacity, delivery and quality risks.   
If these problems persist then there is a risk that either care services will not be sustainable; that people may not
receive care; that quality of care may not be satisfactory; that costs to the department will increase.

Directorate

Responsible Officer : 

Last Update : 

Councillor : 

Historical RAG : 

Inherent Risk : David.Howes

29/09/2023

Louise Gibbard 16

Sep-23

9

Aug

9

Jul

9

Jun

12

MayAprMar

1216

FebJan

1616

DecNov

16

Oct-22

16

Current Control Measures Last Update
Projected

CompletionRisk Response

Maintain fuel subsidy for domiciliary care workers and ensure temporary financial support is affordable and
aligned with appropriate budgets.

29/09/2023 31/03/2024Treat

Continue to monitor financial risks to services during 23/24 and where necessary take action to mitigate
new or additional sustainability risks.

29/09/2023 31/03/2024Treat

Implement contract monitoring and contract management arrangements to address any quality or
performance concerns and ensure that services delivered are fit for purpose.

29/09/2023 31/03/2024Treat

Current Impact : Current Likelihood : 3 - Medium 3 - Medium

5 - Very High  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

2 - Low  -

1 - Very Low  -

SepOct -
22

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

High

High

High

High

High

Nov

High

High

High

High

High

Dec

High

High

High

High

High

Jan

High

High

High

High

High

Feb

High

High

High

High

High

Mar

High

High

High

High

High

Apr May

High

High

High

High

High

Jun Jul

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Aug

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu
2 - Low  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

5 - Very High  -

1 - Very Low  -

Mediu

Mediu

Sep

Mediu

Mediu

MediuHigh

Oct -
22

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

High

Nov

High

High

Dec

High

High

High

High

High

Jan

High

High

High

Feb

High

High

High

High

High

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mar

Mediu

Mediu

Apr

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

May

Mediu

Jun

Mediu

Jul

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Aug

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Appendix A

P
age 99



Risk Title : Risk ID : 

Description : Risk Level : 

Risk on a Page

Social Cohesion 337

If we do not manage to continue to improve community involvement and break down barriers amongst people in
terms of economic disparities, encourage tolerance to avoid social discord and strengthen community
development throughout all ages, then we could see increasing community tensions, disorder and civic unrest
exacerbated by the cost of living crisis and perceived differences and people not feeling heard or listened to.

Corporate

Responsible Officer : 

Last Update : 

Councillor : 

Historical RAG : 

Inherent Risk : David.Howes

25/09/2023

Alyson Pugh 16

Sep-23

6

Aug

9

Jul

9

Jun

9

May

9

AprMar

99

FebJan

9

DecNovOct-22

Current Control Measures Last Update
Projected

CompletionRisk Response

Engagement and involvement with minority communities to understand what matters and promote
community cohesion and mitigate tensions, through the Partnership & Involvement Team.
Project initiated and ongoing

25/09/2023 31/01/2024Treat

Commission a research project to ensure complimentary and inclusive policy and decision-making to
ensure social cohesion issues are considered in the development of plans and strategies across the council

25/09/2023 31/03/2024Treat

Utilise opportunities through the Shared Prosperity fund to join up and embed community engagement and
involvement with all ages and all communities to develop shared values and empowered communities,
Fund now launched and activity underway

25/09/2023 31/03/2024Treat

Ensure effective partnership working arrangements to develop supportive networks together through PSB
and other key partnership arrangements transpiring out of the new newly developed Wellbeing Plan

25/09/2023 31/12/2023Treat

Whole Council training and capacity building to implement the Public Sector Equality Duty and the Human
Rights Approach, through Strategic Equalities and Future Generations Board

25/09/2023 31/12/2023Treat

Current Impact : Current Likelihood : 3 - Medium 2 - Low

Appendix A

P
age 100



5 - Very High  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

2 - Low  -

1 - Very Low  -

SepOct -
22

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Nov Dec

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jan Feb

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mar

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Apr

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

May

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jun Jul

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Aug

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu
2 - Low  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

5 - Very High  -

1 - Very Low  -

Low

Low

Sep

Low

Low

Low

Oct -
22

Nov

Mediu

Mediu

Dec

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Jan Feb

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mar

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Apr

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

May

Mediu

Jun

Mediu

Jul

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Aug

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Mediu

Appendix A

P
age 101



Risk Title : Risk ID : 

Description : Risk Level : 

Risk on a Page

Subject Access Requests (SARS) 353

If we have confirmed a requester's identity, then we are then obliged to respond to the request free of charge
within one calendar month, with the ability to extend up to two months if the case has a high volume of content.
Anyone is entitled to find out what information is held by the Authority, about themselves, under a subject
access request (SAR).
CMT agreed that this function should return under the management of Social Services, from Legal, in February
2023. The work transferred with a backlog going back to May 2022.  There has also been an increase in
demand for this service and due to the volume of paperwork that requires printing and redacting, the ability to
meet timescales has been severely compromised.  This delay has prompted more complaints to the ICO which
could result in the service receiving a reprimand or possible fine.

Directorate

Responsible Officer : 

Last Update : 

Councillor : 

Historical RAG : 

Inherent Risk : Deborah.Reed

14/09/2023

Louise Gibbard 20

Sep-23

16

Aug

16

Jul

1616

JunMayAprMarFebJanDecNovOct-22

Current Control Measures Last Update
Projected

CompletionRisk Response

Request to increase team to meet the demand and clear backlog 29/06/2023 31/12/2023Treat

Monitor output and reporting to P & FM on a monthly basis. 29/06/2023 31/12/2023Tolerate

Weekly meetings to agree priorities. 29/06/2023 31/12/2023Tolerate

Current Impact : Current Likelihood : 4 - High 4 - High

5 - Very High  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

2 - Low  -

1 - Very Low  -

SepOct -
22

High

High

High

High

High

Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

High

High

High

High

High

Jul

High

High

High

High

High

Aug

High

High

High

High

High
2 - Low  -

4 - High  -

3 - Medium  -

5 - Very High  -

1 - Very Low  -

High

High

Sep

High

High

High

Oct -
22

Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May

High

High

High

High

Jun

High

High

Jul

High

High

High

High

High

Aug

High

High

High

High

Appendix A

P
age 102



Business Risk 

C
ur

re
nt

 Im
pa

ct
  

C
ur

re
nt

 L
ik

el
ih

oo
d 

O
ve

ra
ll 

R
AG

 S
ta

tu
s 

R
is

k 
O

w
ne

r /
 U

pd
at

er
 

Level and Source of Assurance Internal 
Audit 

Needs 

Planned 
Internal 
Audit 
Work 

Au
di

t P
la

n 
Ar

ea
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Management 
Assurance 

Other Internal Assurance Other Independent Assurance 

Council/ 
Cabinet 

Scrutiny Other Internal 
Audit 

Other 
Bodies 

External 
Audit 

 Risk ID 
153 

Risk Title 
Safeguarding 

Risk Level 
Corporate 

If our 
safeguarding 
arrangements 
are not 
sufficiently 
robust 
(particularly 
with regards 
being able to 
fund, recruit 
and retain 
sufficient 
qualified 
social 
workers; 
ensure 
placement 
sufficiency for 
looked after 
children and 
be able to 
provide or 
commission 
sufficient 
social care for 
adults with 
assessed 
care and 
support 
needs), then 
we will not be 
doing 
everything we 
possibly can 
to prevent the 
death, injury 
or neglect of a 
child or 
vulnerable 
adult and 
consequential 
reputational 
damage. H

ig
h 

H
ig

h 

Re
d 

D
av

id
 H

ow
es

 / 
An

ge
la

 M
or

ga
n 

>Prioritise and target
resources at
maintaining care and
support for those
individuals in most
critical need or
at risk of suffering
harm as part of the
emergency planning
infrastructure and re-
prioritisation of the
Councils COVID-19
Recovery Plan
>Monitor the
effectiveness of 
safeguarding 
arrangements bi-
monthly at the 
children’s and adults 
performance 
scrutiny panels, the 
corporate 
safeguarding board 
and the regional 
safeguarding board, 
quarterly at CMT 
and monthly at PFM 
and take appropriate 
remedial action 
>Invest in the
Council’s direct care 
provision services to 
maximise capacity and 
reduce reliance on 
independently 
commissioned care 
services for adults 
(within the Council’s 
overall available 
financial 
resources) 
>Implement new
models for the 
commissioning local 

>Directors
annual report
to Council
>Fortnightly
meetings with 
Cabinet 
Members 

>Two
dedicated
Scrutiny
Panels in
place to
scrutinise
Social
Services Work 
and
Performance
>Safeguarding
and tackling 
poverty 
corporate 
development 
committee 
>Bi monthly
performance 
reporting to 
CMT 
>Monthly
p&fm 

> Corporate
transformation
board
oversight
>Corporate
Safeguarding 
Board 
>Local
authority 
designated 
officers for 
safeguarding 
within Social 
Services. 
>Mandatory
Corporate 
Safeguarding 
Training in 
place for Staff 
and Members. 
>Corporate
Priority 
>Corporate
plan 
>Corporate
Safeguarding 
Policy  

> Internal
Audit of
Safeguar-
ding
>Internal
audit of 
DBS 

>Regional
safeguardi
ng board
> CIW
inspection
regime
>Regional
partnershi
p board

>Audit
Wales

>Currently
included
as part of
standard
rolling
audit
schedule,
repeated
based on
audit risk
score.

>Safeguar
ding cross
cutting
audit is
included in
the 22/23
audit plan

C
ro

ss
 C

ut
tin

g 
– 

C
ou

nc
il 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

an
d 

C
on

tro
l –

 S
af

eg
ua

rd
in

g 
Pe

op
le

 fr
om

 H
ar

m
  

Appendix B

P
age 103



 
 
 
 

Business Risk 
 

C
ur

re
nt

 Im
pa

ct
   

C
ur

re
nt

 L
ik

el
ih

oo
d 

 

O
ve

ra
ll 

R
AG

 S
ta

tu
s 

 

R
is

k 
O

w
ne

r /
 U

pd
at

er
  

Level and Source of Assurance Internal 
Audit 

Needs 

Planned 
Internal 
Audit 
Work 

Au
di

t P
la

n 
Ar

ea
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
 

 
 

Management 
Assurance 

Other Internal Assurance Other Independent Assurance 
 

 
Council/ 
Cabinet 

 
Scrutiny 

 
Other 

 
Internal 
Audit 

 
Other 

Bodies 

 
External 

Audit 

  
independent 
domiciliary care 
provision to build 
capacity 
inc. by supporting 
providers to provide a 
fair and competitive 
wage to their staff 
(within the Council’s 
overall available 
financial resources) 
>Provide specific 
advice to Welsh 
Government as to how 
they can safely 
implement the 
eliminate profit from 
children services 
policy commitment 
(including supporting 
the growth of not for 
profit looked after 
children 
care provision) to 
avoid inadvertently 
exacerbating the 
current lack of 
placement sufficiency 
for looked after 
children 
>Invest in increasing 
the number of Foster 
Wales Swansea foster 
carers and the number 
of in-house 
residential care beds 
for children (both 
locally and regionally) 
whilst decreasing 
reliance on 
independently 
commissioned foster 
and residential care 
placements (within the 

Appendix B

P
age 104



 
 
 
 

Business Risk 
 

C
ur

re
nt

 Im
pa

ct
   

C
ur

re
nt

 L
ik

el
ih

oo
d 

 

O
ve

ra
ll 

R
AG

 S
ta

tu
s 

 

R
is

k 
O

w
ne

r /
 U

pd
at

er
  

Level and Source of Assurance Internal 
Audit 

Needs 

Planned 
Internal 
Audit 
Work 

Au
di

t P
la

n 
Ar

ea
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
 

 
 

Management 
Assurance 

Other Internal Assurance Other Independent Assurance 
 

 
Council/ 
Cabinet 

 
Scrutiny 

 
Other 

 
Internal 
Audit 

 
Other 

Bodies 

 
External 

Audit 

  
Council’s overall 
available financial 
resources) 
>Work with the Health 
Board to review the 
current level of partner 
financial contributions 
to the funding of 
integrated 
intermediate care 
services (inc 
maximising regional 
and national income 
opportunities) to 
ensure 
an effective service 
offer that reduces or 
delays recourse to 
long term managed 
care (within the 
Council’s 
overall available 
financial resources) 
>Implement effective 
recruitment processes 
both within the 
Directorate and the 
corporate centre 
(including 
maintaining a 
sufficient workforce 
infrastructure) to 
ensure that there are 
no avoidable delays in 
recruiting to 
essential posts 
determined as 
necessary to maintain 
a safe and effective 
social services 
function (within the 
Council’s overall 
available financial 
resources) 

Appendix B

P
age 105



 
 
 
 

Business Risk 
 

C
ur

re
nt

 Im
pa

ct
   

C
ur

re
nt

 L
ik

el
ih

oo
d 

 

O
ve

ra
ll 

R
AG

 S
ta

tu
s 

 

R
is

k 
O

w
ne

r /
 U

pd
at

er
  

Level and Source of Assurance Internal 
Audit 

Needs 

Planned 
Internal 
Audit 
Work 

Au
di

t P
la

n 
Ar

ea
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
 

 
 

Management 
Assurance 

Other Internal Assurance Other Independent Assurance 
 

 
Council/ 
Cabinet 

 
Scrutiny 

 
Other 

 
Internal 
Audit 

 
Other 

Bodies 

 
External 

Audit 

  
>Implement a weekly 
Directorate workforce 
planning meeting to 
consider and prioritise 
all new recruitment 
requests to ensure 
that new recruitment is 
focussed on the 
maintenance of a safe 
and effective service 
and 
complies with current 
spending restrictions 
and supports delivery 
of the Council’s MTFP 
>Remodel the 
workforce 
infrastructure for social 
services including 
investment in capacity 
of alternatively 
qualified staff (both 
frontline and back-
office staff) to take on 
functions that can be 
safely delivered by a 
non-registrant 
workforce (within the 
Council’s overall 
financial resources) 
>Prioritise maintaining 
investment in and 
maximising income for 
the funding of 
prevention and 
wellbeing 
services that reduce or 
delay recourse to 
statutory services and 
managed care and 
support for children 
and 
adults who would 
otherwise develop 

Appendix B

P
age 106



 
 
 
 

Business Risk 
 

C
ur

re
nt

 Im
pa

ct
   

C
ur

re
nt

 L
ik

el
ih

oo
d 

 

O
ve

ra
ll 

R
AG

 S
ta

tu
s 

 

R
is

k 
O

w
ne

r /
 U

pd
at

er
  

Level and Source of Assurance Internal 
Audit 

Needs 

Planned 
Internal 
Audit 
Work 

Au
di

t P
la

n 
Ar

ea
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
 

 
 

Management 
Assurance 

Other Internal Assurance Other Independent Assurance 
 

 
Council/ 
Cabinet 

 
Scrutiny 

 
Other 

 
Internal 
Audit 

 
Other 

Bodies 

 
External 

Audit 

  
care and support 
needs (within the 
Council’s overall 
available 
financial resources) 
>Prioritise a sufficient 
budget allocation 
(within the Council’s 
overall available 
financial resources) to 
maintain the Council 
meeting at least the 
minimum level of 
statutory service 
across children’s and 
adults services 
>Implement a social 
work academy in 
children services to 
support newly 
qualified staff to gain 
the skills and 
experience to become 
competent child 
protection practitioners 
>Work with NPT 
Council and the 
Swansea Bay Health 
Board to implement a 
recruitment strategy 
for 
overseas staff to fill 
critical workforce 
shortages across 
health and social care 
>Implement a `grow 
your own’ strategy to 
support an increase in 
the number of internal 
staff to pursue the 
social work 
qualification 
>Recruit agency social 
workers to cover 

Appendix B

P
age 107



 
 
 
 

Business Risk 
 

C
ur

re
nt

 Im
pa

ct
   

C
ur

re
nt

 L
ik

el
ih

oo
d 

 

O
ve

ra
ll 

R
AG

 S
ta

tu
s 

 

R
is

k 
O

w
ne

r /
 U

pd
at

er
  

Level and Source of Assurance Internal 
Audit 

Needs 

Planned 
Internal 
Audit 
Work 

Au
di

t P
la

n 
Ar

ea
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
 

 
 

Management 
Assurance 

Other Internal Assurance Other Independent Assurance 
 

 
Council/ 
Cabinet 

 
Scrutiny 

 
Other 

 
Internal 
Audit 

 
Other 

Bodies 

 
External 

Audit 

  
critical gaps in social 
work capacity 
 
 
 
 

 

Last Updated: 10/02/23 

Appendix B

P
age 108



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix C 
 

1 
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form.  
 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 
Service Area: Directorate 
Directorate: Social Services 
 
Q1 (a) What are you screening for relevance? 
 
 

 New and revised policies, practices or procedures  
      Service review, re-organisation or service changes/reductions, which affect the wider community, service 

 users and/or staff  
     Efficiency or saving proposals 
     Setting budget allocations for new financial year and strategic financial planning 
    New project proposals affecting staff, communities or accessibility to the built environment, e.g., new 

 construction work or adaptations to existing buildings, moving to on-line services, changing location 
 Large Scale Public Events 
 Local implementation of National Strategy/Plans/Legislation 
 Strategic directive and intent, including those developed at Regional Partnership Boards and Public Services 

 Board, which impact on a public bodies functions 
 Medium to long term plans (for example, corporate plans, development plans, service delivery and 

 improvement plans) 
 Setting objectives (for example, well-being objectives, equality objectives, Welsh language  strategy) 
 Major procurement and commissioning decisions 
 Decisions that affect the ability (including external partners) to offer Welsh  language opportunities and 

 services 
 Other  

 
(b) Please name and fully describe initiative here:  
 
Social Services Directorate Internal Control Environment – a ‘for information’ report setting out 
Social Services control environment, including risk management, in place to ensure functions 
are exercised effectively; there is economic, efficient and effective use of resources, and; 
effective governance to secure these arrangements.  
 
 

 
 

Q2 What is the potential impact on the following: the impacts below could be positive 
(+) or negative (-)  

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Needs further  No  
     Investigation  Impact 
     +    -     +    -               +    -    
Children/young people (0-18)           
OIder people (50+)           
Any other age group              
Future Generations (yet to be born)            
Disability            
Race (including refugees)            
Asylum seekers           
Gypsies & travellers            
Religion or (non-)belief           
Sex           
Sexual Orientation           
Gender reassignment            
Welsh Language           
Poverty/social exclusion           
Carers (inc. young carers)           
Community cohesion           Page 109



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix C 
 

2 
 

Marriage & civil partnership           
Pregnancy and maternity           
Human Rights           
 
 
Q3 What involvement has taken place/will you undertake e.g. 

engagement/consultation/co-productive approaches?   
 Please provide details below – either of your activities or your reasons for not 

undertaking involvement 
 
This is a ‘for information’ report setting out the internal control environment in Social Services, 
so no consultation or engagement is required. 
 
Q4 Have you considered the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 in the 
 development of this initiative:   
 

a) Overall does the initiative support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being Objectives when considered 
together?  
 Yes                  No          
 

b) Does the initiative consider maximising contribution to each of the seven national well-being goals?  
 Yes                  No          
 

c) Does the initiative apply each of the five ways of working? 
 Yes                  No          
 

d) Does the initiative meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs?  
 Yes                  No          

 
 
Q5 What is the potential risk of the initiative? (Consider the following impacts – equality, 

socio-economic, environmental, cultural, legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
                         
 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
 

Q7 Will this initiative result in any changes needed to the external or internal website? 
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 
 
Q8  What is the cumulative impact of this proposal on people and/or communities 
when considering all the impacts identified within the screening and any other key 
decisions affecting similar groups/ service users made by the organisation?   
(You may need to discuss this with your Service Head or Cabinet Member to consider more widely if this 
proposal will affect certain groups/ communities more adversely because of other decisions the 
organisation is making. For example, financial impact/poverty, withdrawal of multiple services and 
whether this is disadvantaging the same groups, e.g., disabled people, older people, single parents (who 
are mainly women), etc.)   Page 110



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix C 
 

3 
 

 
Outcome of Screening – This is a ‘for information’ report on the internal control 
environment in Social Services. There are no specific equality issues relating to this 
report and no direct impact on people or communities, so there is no need to complete a 
full IIA report 

 
Q9 Please describe the outcome of your screening using the headings below: 

• Summary of impacts identified and mitigation needed (Q2) 
• Summary of involvement (Q3) 
• WFG considerations (Q4) 
• Any risks identified (Q5) 
• Cumulative impact (Q7) 

 
  (NB: This summary paragraph should be used in the ‘Integrated Assessment Implications’ 

section of corporate report)  
 
Outcome of Screening – This is a ‘for information’ report on the internal control 
environment in Social Services. There are no specific equality issues relating to this 
report and no direct impact on people or communities, so there is no need to complete a 
full IIA report 
   

 Full IIA to be completed  
 

 Do not complete IIA – please ensure you have provided the relevant information above to support this 
 outcome 

    
 
NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before 
obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via 
email. 
Screening completed by: 
Name: Dave Howes 
Job title: Director of Social Services 
Date: 4 October 2023 

 
Approval by Head of Service: 
Name: As above 
Position: 
Date:  

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

Page 111

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 
 

Report of the Chair of the Scrutiny Programme Committee 
 

Governance & Audit Committee – 25 October 2023 
 

Scrutiny Annual Report 2022-23 & Scrutiny Work 
Programme (For Information) 

 
Purpose: This report supports the development of a strong 

relationship between Scrutiny and the Governance & 
Audit Committee by providing the recently published 
Scrutiny Annual Report 2022-23 and information about 
the current Scrutiny Work Programme. 
  

Policy 
Framework: 

Council Constitution 
 

Consultation: Legal, Finance 
 

Lead Councillor: Councillor Peter Black, Chair of the Scrutiny Programme 
Committee 
 

Report Author: 
 
 

Brij Madahar, Scrutiny Team Leader  
Tel: 01792 637257 
E-mail: brij.madahar@swansea.gov.uk  

Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 
Finance Officer: Amanda Thomas 

 
1. Scrutiny Work Programme 
 
1.1 The Scrutiny Programme Committee is responsible for developing the 

Council’s Scrutiny Work Programme, and managing the overall work of 
Scrutiny to ensure that it is as effective as possible.  

 
1.2 The broad aim of the Scrutiny function is to engage non-executive 

Councillors in activities to: 
 

 provide an effective challenge to the executive 

 help improve services, policies, and performance 

 engage the public in its work 
 
1.3 The Scrutiny Work Programme is guided by the overriding principle 

that the work of Scrutiny should be strategic and significant, focussed 
on issues of concern, and represent a good use of time and resources.   

 
It also needs to be:  

Page 112

Agenda Item 7

mailto:brij.madahar@swansea.gov.uk


 

 manageable, realistic and achievable given resources available to 
support activities 

 relevant to Council priorities  

 adding value and having maximum impact 

 coordinated and avoids duplication 
 
1.4 A range of Scrutiny activity is carried out either by the Committee, or 

informal Panels (for in-depth scrutiny) or Working Groups (one-off 
meetings) established by the Committee. The Scrutiny Programme 
Committee maintains an overview of agreed Scrutiny activities to 
ensure that the work programme is delivered effectively, and co-
ordinate work as necessary. 

 
1.5 Scrutiny communicates findings, views and recommendations for 

improvement from its activities through Chair’s Letters to Cabinet 
Members, and where appropriate by producing reports for Cabinet, for 
response as necessary. 

 
1.6 All Scrutiny meetings are accessible to the public. Agendas, reports, 

letters relating to all Scrutiny activities will be published on the 
Council’s modern.gov online platform: 

 https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1&LLL=0  
 
2. Developing the Relationship between Scrutiny and the 

Governance & Audit Committee. 
 
2.1 The Council has long recognised the relationship between Scrutiny and 

Audit and need for: 
 

 mutual awareness and understanding of each other’s work 

 respective work plans to be coordinated and avoiding duplication / 
gaps 

 clear mechanism for referral of issues, if necessary 
 
2.2 It is important that there is: 
 

 clarity between the core roles of both functions 

 regular conversations about Committees’ work programmes, and 
responsibilities 

 a way to ensure that issues can be passed between Committees, 
avoiding duplication 

 
2.3 Action already taken as part of this process:  
 

i) Chair of Scrutiny Programme Committee / Convener of Service 
Improvement, Regeneration & Finance Scrutiny Performance Panel 
copied into Governance & Audit Committee agendas and vice 
versa, for information. 

ii) Work Programme / Work Plans published, at least annually, in each 
other’s agenda for information. 

Page 113

https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1&LLL=0


iii) Respective Chairs speaking, at least annually, at each other’s 
Committee meeting on their work and the relationship between 
Scrutiny and Audit. 

iv) Governance & Audit Committee Chair invited to participate in the 
Annual Scrutiny Work Planning Conference. 

v) Chairs raise any issues re. coordination / duplication on ongoing 
basis 

vi) Where matters to be referred from Governance & Audit Committee 
Chair writes letter to Chair of Scrutiny Programme Committee, and 
vice versa. 

 
2.3.1 Monitoring of External Audit / Inspection / Regulatory Reports: 
 

The Chair of the Governance & Audit Committee and Chair of the 
Scrutiny Programme Committee decide between them the route that 
specific reports should take, i.e., whether reported to and monitored by 
Governance & Audit Committee or Scrutiny Programme Committee, as 
deemed appropriate. 
 
In order to help co-ordinate activity in relation to external reports, the 
Governance & Audit Committee is provided with a Log of reports being 
dealt with by Scrutiny so that it can maintain an oversight of monitoring 
and be assured that reports are being effectively followed up. An 
updated Log is included in every Governance & Audit Committee 
meeting for awareness.  

 
2.3.2 Council Performance Peer Review and Self-Assessment / Annual 

Complaints Report: 
 

In view of requirements from the Local Government and Elections 
(Wales) Act 2021, and additional responsibilities for the Governance & 
Audit Committee, we are making sure that this is co-ordinated with 
Scrutiny’s existing and ongoing role in regularly challenging 
performance & improvement across Council services. It is noted that 
where the Governance & Audit Committee is considering any 
‘Performance’ reports under this new regime, it is reaching out to the 
Convener of the Service Improvement, Regeneration & Finance 
Scrutiny Performance Panel for input, to help avoid any duplication, 
and ensure respective activity is complementary. The Governance & 
Audit Committee being mainly concerned with assurance around the 
effectiveness of process.  
 

2.4 The relationship benefits from a number of Councillors sitting on both 
 Committees, including the current Vice-Chair of the Scrutiny 
 Programme Committee. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



2.5 To facilitate any discussion the following papers are provided to the 
 Governance & Audit Committee: 
 

 Scrutiny Annual Report 2022-23 (Appendix 1) 

 Current Scrutiny Work Programme, showing the various Scrutiny 
Panel and Working Group topics (Appendix 2) 

 the work plan of the Scrutiny Programme Committee itself, which 
meets every month (Appendix 3) 

 progress report on Panels / Working Groups / Regional Scrutiny 
(Appendix 4)  

 
3.  Scrutiny Annual Report 2022-23 
 
3.1 Every year Council requires that an annual report is produced for the 

work of scrutiny for the previous municipal year. 
 
3.2 The Scrutiny Annual Report is used to: 
 

 Highlight the work carried out by Scrutiny  

 Show how Scrutiny has made a difference 

 Support continuous improvement for the Scrutiny function 
 

3.3 The Annual Report looking back at 2022-23 was presented to 
 Council on 5 October. 
 
4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 Any costs that arise out of work plan activities, for example expenses 
 for witnesses or transport costs, are not envisaged to be significant and 
 will be contained within the existing Scrutiny Budget. 
 
5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 There are no specific legal implications raised by this report. 
 

 Background papers: None 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1: Scrutiny Annual Report 2022-23 
Appendix 2: Current Scrutiny Work Programme  
Appendix 3: Scrutiny Programme Committee Work Plan  
Appendix 4: Progress Report – Panels / Working Groups / Regional Scrutiny 

Page 115



 

 

Appendix 1 

 
 
 
 
 

Scrutiny Annual Report  
2022/23 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Scrutiny Programme Committee 
City and County of Swansea - Dinas a Sir Abertawe 

 

Page 116



 

 

Contents  
  

1. Chair’s Foreword ......................................................................... 1 

 

2. Swansea Scrutiny Results Scorecard 2022/23 .......................... 3 

 

3. About the Indicators .................................................................... 4 

3.a How much Scrutiny did we carry out? ............................................................. 4 

3.b How well did we do? ........................................................................................ 9 

3.c How did Scrutiny impact on the business of the Council? ............................. 13 

3.d What were the outcomes of Scrutiny? ........................................................... 20 

 

4. Impact ......................................................................................... 22 

4.1 How Scrutiny Councillors have made a difference ........................................ 22 

 

5. Feedback and Improvement ..................................................... 24 

5.1 Improving Scrutiny ......................................................................................... 24 

5.2 Scrutiny Improvement Objectives .................................................................. 27 

 
 For further information  .................................................................................. 29 

 
 Appendices:  

 A – Scrutiny Stories 2022-23  

 

 
 

 
  

Page 117



 

1 
 

1. Chair’s Foreword 
 

Councillor Peter Black, Chair of the Scrutiny Programme Committee 
 

I am proud to present the Scrutiny Annual Report, 
reflecting on the first year of the 2022-2027 Council term, 
as Chair of the Scrutiny Programme Committee. This 
report covers the work of Scrutiny between May 2022 and 
May 2023. 
 
Following the Council elections in May 2022, we 
welcomed many new Councillors and set about 

encouraging their involvement in Scrutiny. Scrutiny is a vital part of local 
democracy and good governance, and training on Scrutiny was a key part 
of the Council’s Councillor Induction Programme, with Induction Sessions 
held in June 2022 to improve everyone’s awareness and knowledge of 
the Scrutiny function and the Council’s specific arrangements.  
 
This year also saw the introduction of hybrid (known as multi-location) 
meetings. The meeting of the Scrutiny Programme Committee in July 
2022 was the first held in the Guildhall since the pandemic. It has been 
good being able to see Councillors, Cabinet Members and Officers face-
to-face once again, although some Councillors take advantage of still 
being able to attend meetings remotely.  
 
The work of Scrutiny covered by this report ensures the Council remains 
accountable and transparent. By questioning and providing challenge to 
decision-makers Scrutiny helps the Council to achieve its objectives and 
drive improvement. We appreciate the engagement of Cabinet Members 
in Scrutiny and Officers for their support. Our report focuses on how 
Scrutiny has made a difference in Swansea, and our efforts to support 
continuous improvement and good practice.  
 
Measuring the performance of Scrutiny in a meaningful way can be 
challenging, however we have taken a ‘results based’ approach to tell you 
about: 
 

• How much Scrutiny we carried out 

• How well we did it 

• How Scrutiny impacted on the business of the Council 

• What the outcomes of Scrutiny were 
 

Page 118



 

2 
 

We hope that each Annual Report provides you with assurance and 
confidence that Councillors involved in Scrutiny are contributing to better 
services, policies and decision making in Swansea.  
 

Finally, I would like to give my thanks to all the Councillors who have 
contributed over the past year, in particular those who have led on 
Scrutiny activity.  
 

  
    Councillor Peter Black 

Page 119



 

3 
 

2. Swansea Scrutiny Results Scorecard 2022/23 
 

S
c
ru

ti
n

y
 P

ra
c
ti
c
e
 

A.  How much Scrutiny did we 
carry out? 

B.  How well did we do?   

1. Number of Committee 
meetings = 11 � (10) 

2. Number of Panel & Working 
Group meetings = 48 � (56) 

3. Number of in-depth inquiries 
completed = 0 � (1)  

4. Number of Working Group 
topics completed = 2 � (2) 

 

 

 

5. Average Councillor attendance at 
Scrutiny meetings = 73% � 
(78%)  

6. Backbench Councillors actively 
involved in Scrutiny = 72% � 
(70%)  

7. Meetings with public observers = 
15% � (17%) 

8. Meetings with public input = 24% 
� (17%) 

9. Meetings attracting media 
coverage = 25% � (29%) 

S
c
ru

ti
n

y
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 

C.  How did Scrutiny impact on 
the business of the Council? 

D.  What were the outcomes of 
Scrutiny? 

10. Number of Chairs’ Letters sent 
to Cabinet Members = 58 � 
(66) 

11. Average time for Cabinet 
Member response letter = 21 
days � (18) 

12. Letters responded to within 21 
day target = 65% � (71%) 

13. Number of Scrutiny reports to 
Cabinet = 1 � (0) 

14. Cabinet action plans agreed = 
1 � (0)             

15. Follow ups undertaken = 1 � 
(1) 

16. Number of Cabinet reports 
subject to pre decision scrutiny 
= 5 � (4)  

17. Number of Cabinet reports 
subject to Call-in = 0 � (0)  

18. Cabinet Members who 
attended at least one Scrutiny 
meeting = 100% � (100%) 

19. Scrutiny recommendations 
accepted or partly accepted by 
Cabinet = 100% (n/a) 

20. Recommendations signed off by 
Scrutiny as completed = n/a 
(39%)  

 

 (Last year in brackets) �� = notable change, �� = small change, � no change  
 

Page 120



 

4 
 

3. About the Indicators 
  

A. How much Scrutiny did we carry out? 

3.1 Number of Committee meetings = 11 

The Council has a single overarching Scrutiny Committee, called 
the Scrutiny Programme Committee, meeting every 4 weeks with 
extra meetings added as necessary. During 2022/23 the Committee 
met 11 times (not including the meeting following Council Annual 
General Meeting to elect the Committee chair/vice-chair).  
 
The Committee is responsible for developing, agreeing, and 
managing the overall Scrutiny Work Programme. Overarching 
priorities were shaped by the Annual Scrutiny Work Planning 
Conference which took place in June 2022 (open to all non-
executive Councillors), that heard a range of perspectives on what 
should be included. All Councillors can suggest topics of concern 
for possible Scrutiny.  
 
The Councillor-led Scrutiny Work Programme, which was agreed by 
the Committee in July 2022 is guided by the overriding principle that 
the work of Scrutiny should be strategic and significant, focussed on 
issues of concern, and represent a good use of time and resources.  
 
It is important that the Scrutiny Work Programme strikes a balance 
between community concerns and strategic issues. The Committee 
considers what specific topics should feature in the programme so 
that it is focussed on the right things. Specific scrutiny activities 
included in the Work Programme are carried out either by the 
Committee or by establishing informal Panels and Working Groups. 
All meetings are held in public. 
 
Formal Committee meetings gave Councillors the opportunity to 
hold Cabinet Members to account and provide challenge on a range 
of policy and service issues of concern, relevant to their portfolio 
responsibilities, and its work addressed any gaps in the overall 
Scrutiny Work Programme to ensure good coverage of Scrutiny 
across all Cabinet portfolios. The Committee is also the Council’s 
designated Committee for statutory Scrutiny of Swansea Public 
Services Board, and Crime & Disorder Scrutiny of the Safer 
Swansea Community Safety Partnership. 
 
 

Page 121



 

5 
 

The following topics were also examined in Committee meetings: 
 

• Archives / Community Hub 

• Fly Tipping 

• Homelessness 

• Development and Regeneration activity, including the Swansea 
Bay City Deal 

• Houses in Multiple Occupation 

• Annual Corporate Safeguarding Report 

• Delivery of Corporate Priority – Tackling Poverty 

• Follow Up on Workforce Scrutiny Working Group 
Recommendations 

• Cabinet Reports on: 
- Oracle Project Investment Update 
- National 20 Mph Default Speed Limit 
- Economic Recovery Fund – Capital and Revenue Budget 

allocations 

• Co-ordination with the Governance & Audit Committee – 
Discussion between Chairs / Committees on the Audit / Scrutiny 
Relationship 

 
Comparison with previous years: 

 
 

 

 

3.2 Number of Panel & Working Group meetings = 48 

Most of the work of Scrutiny is delegated to informal topic-based 
Panels and Working Groups. Scrutiny Panels and Working Groups 
are established by the Scrutiny Programme Committee, with an 
appointed Convener (Chair), to carry out specific Scrutiny activities.   
 
 
 

0

5

10

15

20

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

No. of Committee Meetings

Page 122



 

6 
 

There are two types of panels: 
 
Inquiry Panels - these undertake in-depth inquiries into specific and 
significant areas of concern on a task and finish basis, usually 
around six months, and will produce a final report at the end of the 
inquiry with conclusions and recommendations for Cabinet (and 
other decision-makers), informed by the evidence gathered. 
 
Topics examined Convener Status 

• Anti-Social Behaviour 
Key Question: How can the 
Council ensure that it is working 
with its partners to appropriately 
and effectively tackle Anti-
Social Behaviour in Swansea? 

Cllr. Terry 
Hennegan 

Evidence Gathering /  
Consultation Complete 
 
At Final Report Stage – 
expected completion 
October 2023 

 
(See para. 3.15 for previous / completed inquiries followed up) 

 
Performance Panels - these provide in-depth performance / 
financial monitoring and challenge for specific service areas. 
 
Performance Panels 2022/23 Convener 

• Service Improvement & Finance (monthly) Cllr. Chris Holley 

• Education (monthly) Cllr. Lyndon Jones 

• Adult Services (6-weekly) Cllr. Sue Jones 

• Child & Family Services (6-weekly) Cllr. Paxton Hood-Williams 

• Development & Regeneration (every two 
months) 

Cllr. Chris Holley  

• Climate Change & Nature (every two 
months) 
In July 2022 the Committee agreed to rename the 
‘Natural Environment’ Panel to ‘Climate Change & 
Nature’, reflecting recent change in corporate 
priorities 

Cllr. Hannah Lawson 

 

Performance Panels engage in on-going correspondence with 
relevant Cabinet Members to share views and recommendations, 
arising from monitoring activities, about services. Performance 
Panels will hold relevant Cabinet Members to account with clear 
opportunities for questioning, to explore their work, looking at 
priorities, actions, achievements, and impact. Performance Panel 
Conveners provide a regular update to the Committee to enable 
discussion on key activities and impact. 
 
 
 

Page 123



 

7 
 

 
Working Groups are one-off meetings established to enable a 
‘light-touch’ approach to specific topics of concern, to consider a 
specific report or information, resulting in a letter to the relevant 
Cabinet Member(s) or report to Cabinet with views and 
recommendations. 
 
Four one-off Working Groups were included in the Work 
Programme, to be completed as time and resources allow.  The 
following Working Group meetings were held during 2022/23: 
 
Working Groups Convener 

• Road Safety Cllr Chris Holley 

• Co-production Cllr Lyndon Jones 

 

3.3 Number of in-depth inquiries completed = 0 

The Anti-Social Behaviour Inquiry is not yet complete and is 
expected to conclude in October 2023.   
 

3.4 Number of Working Group topics completed = 2 

Work on the following topic(s) was completed through meetings of 
Working Groups:  
 

• Road Safety - Completed in December 2022. This Working 
Group enabled information, focussed questioning & 
discussion to understand the Council’s role and 
responsibilities on road safety, e.g., asking about hot spots; 
work to improve safety; preventative measures; speed controls 
– use of signs / humps / cameras; proposed new 20mph limits; 
condition of roads; safety of cyclists & pedestrians; partnership 
working, etc.  A letter with the Working Group’s conclusions 
and recommendations was sent to the Cabinet Member and 
response received. This was reported to the Committee on 14 
February and the Committee will be responsible for follow up 
in the next 12 months. 

 

• Co-production - Completed in March 2023. It enabled 
information, focussed questioning & discussion on the 
development of Co-production in the Council and progress in 
helping to improve involvement and engagement with service 
users, partners, and the public in the design & delivery of 

Page 124



 

8 
 

services & decision-making, etc.  A letter with the Working 
Group’s conclusions and recommendations was sent to the 
Cabinet Member and response received. This was reported to 
the Committee on 16 May and the Committee will be 
responsible for follow up in the next 12 months. 

 
NOTE: There are also regional Scrutiny arrangements that 
Swansea is involved in, which have enabled Scrutiny councillors to 
look at the work of: 
 

• Partneriaeth – the new regional Education / School 
improvement partnership, through a Joint Scrutiny Councillor 
Group. It comprises of Education Scrutiny Chairs and Vice 
Chairs, or equivalent, across Swansea Council, Carmarthenshire 
Council and Pembrokeshire Councils. Initial meetings took place 
24 October 2022 and 13 February 2023, but otherwise the Group 
will meet termly, mirroring the Partneriaeth Joint Committee. The 
Joint Scrutiny Councillor Group is supported by the Swansea 
Scrutiny Team. 

• Delivery of the Swansea Bay City Deal programme, through 
the Swansea Bay City Region Joint Scrutiny Committee - this 
arrangement involves three councillor representatives from each 
of the four Councils involved in the City Region, meeting to 
scrutinise the work of the Joint Committee responsible for 
delivering the City Deal programme. Meetings took place in July, 
September and December 2022, and February and May 2023. 
As per Joint Agreement, this Joint Scrutiny Committee is serviced 
by Neath Port Talbot Council.   

• The new South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee 
(CJC) -The CJC involves Swansea, Neath Port Talbot, 
Carmarthenshire and Pembrokeshire Councils, as well as 
Brecon Beacons and the Pembrokeshire Coast National Park 
Authorities, and will exercise functions relating to strategic land 
use planning, regional transport planning and the exercise of 
economic well-being powers. The Committee has set up a CJC 
Overview & Scrutiny Sub-Committee which consists of three 
elected members from each Council and will meet at least 
quarterly. The Overview & Scrutiny Sub-Committee will scrutinise 
the decisions / actions of the CJC as it discharges its functions 
and performance in relation to policy objectives and targets. 
Meetings took place in November 2022, and January, February 
and April 2023. The Overview & Scrutiny Sub-Committee is being 
serviced by Neath Port Talbot Council. 

Page 125



 

9 
 

 
A regular update on regional Scrutiny activity was provided to 
Committee members to ensure awareness. 

 
B. How well did we do? 

3.5 Average Councillor attendance at Scrutiny meetings = 73% 

The rate of Councillor attendance measures an important aspect of 
effectiveness as it reflects the engagement of Councillors in the 
Scrutiny process.   
 
Council determines the membership of the Scrutiny Programme 
Committee. However, membership of the various informal Panels 
and Working Groups is based on interest shown by Councillors in 
the topics under Scrutiny. Based on expressions of interest the 
membership of Panels and Working Groups is agreed by the 
Committee. 
 
Attendance figures for Councillors are collected by the Council’s 
Democratic Services Team and published on the Council’s website.  
Our figure is an overall attendance figure that includes the Scrutiny 
Programme Committee, Panel meetings and Working Groups and 
was 73%.  Attendance at Committee meetings was 89%. Both 
healthy figures of engagement. 
 
Comparison with previous years: 

 

 
 
 
 

0

20

40

60

80

100

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Ave. Cllr. Attendance at Scrutiny Meetings (%)

Page 126



 

10 
 

3.6 Backbench councillors actively involved in scrutiny = 72% 
All backbench Councillors can participate in Scrutiny work 
regardless of Committee membership. New Scrutiny topics, once 
agreed, were advertised to all non-executive Councillors and 
expressions of interest sought to lead and/or participate in these 
activities. It enables Councillors to participate based on interest and 
enables them to build up specialist expertise. 
 
Most backbench Councillors were involved in Scrutiny, through 
either the Scrutiny Programme Committee, Panels or Working 
Groups.   
 

Comparison with previous years: 

 

 

3.7 Meetings with public observers = 15%  

Scrutiny is important as a mechanism for community engagement. 
The extent to which the public observes (including the press) 
meetings may indicate whether there is a significant focus of 
Scrutiny on matters of public interest. All Scrutiny meetings, whether 
the Committee or Panels and Working Group, are conducted in 
public, subject to specific items of business that on rare occasions 
may contain exempt information.  
 
With the move to remote meetings over the past few years, people 
were able to watch video recordings of meetings. Since June 2022 
Scrutiny meetings are all now hybrid (or multi-location) meetings, 
meaning people can either attend in the Guildhall or join meetings 
online via MS Teams.  
 

0

20

40

60

80

100

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Backbench Cllrs. actively involved in Scrutiny (%)

Page 127



 

11 
 

Except for the Committee, Panel / Working Group meetings are not 
currently live streamed, but recordings of all meetings are published 
on the Council website / YouTube usually within 24 hours, for public 
viewing. Given access to video of meeting, this has inevitably 
impacted on the number of observers physically attending meeting. 
9 of the 59 Scrutiny meetings held were observed by members of 
the public who either attended in person or joined remotely on 
request or to ask a question.  
 
A scan of YouTube views shows Committee meetings seem to 
attract on average 40 viewers, significantly more people than who 
would have watched meetings pre-COVID from the public gallery. 
There are similarly good figures across other Scrutiny meetings, 
with Development & Regeneration and Climate Change & Nature 
Performance Panel meetings appearing to attract the biggest 
interest. 
 
Comparison with previous years:  

 
 

3.8 Meetings with public input = 24% 

As well as attracting interest and observers to listen to what is being 
discussed, Councillors are keen to increase active public 
involvement in the work of scrutiny. 24% of all Scrutiny meetings 
had some form of such engagement and public input.  
 
This input can take various forms, including submission of questions 
for scrutiny sessions with Cabinet Members, making suggestions for 
the Scrutiny Work Programme, contributing evidence to specific 
items under scrutiny - whether in person or reflected in the meeting 
agenda.  

 
Comparison with previous years:   

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

% of meetings with public observers

Page 128



 

12 
 

 

3.9 Meetings attracting media coverage = 25% 

As well as attracting interest from individuals and getting members 
of the public to engage directly, a measure of whether Scrutiny is 
focussed on the right things and is making an impact is the amount 
of media coverage that Scrutiny is attracting. We found that a 
quarter of scrutiny meetings made the news, e.g., in print in the 
South Wales Evening Post or Western Mail, and/or on websites 
including WalesOnline, BBC etc.  Across all activities there were at 
least 18 scrutiny discussions reported in the local press (print and 
on-line).  
 
Issues which generated coverage included Scrutiny discussion on:  
Archives / Community Hub development; Oracle Project Investment 
Update; Fly Tipping, Homelessness; 20mph National Default Speed 
Limit; Civic Centre re-development; Development and Flood Risk; 
Children’s Residential Care Homes; Welsh Housing Quality 
Standard; Tidal Lagoon development, Castle Square re-
development, Air Pollution; Green Vehicle adoption; Domiciliary 
Care; and the proposed Skyline development. 
 
Comparison with previous years: 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

% of meetings with public input

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

% of meetings attracting media coverage

Page 129



 

13 
 

C. How did Scrutiny impact on the business of the Council? 

3.10 Number of Chair’s Letters sent to Cabinet Members = 58 

Chair’s / Convener’s letters are an established part of the Scrutiny 
process in Swansea. They allow the Committee and Panel meetings 
/ Working Groups to communicate quickly and efficiently directly 
with relevant Cabinet Members.  They will send letters to raise 
concerns, recognise good practice, ask for further information and 
make recommendations for improvement, reflecting the discussion 
at Committee / Panel / Working Group meetings. Letters are 
effectively ‘mini-reports’ with conclusions and proposals from 
Scrutiny – and where necessary require a response.  
 
58 letters were sent to Cabinet Members following Scrutiny activity. 
 
Comparison with previous years: 

 
 
 

3.11 Average time for Cabinet Member response letter = 21 days 

When Scrutiny Letters are sent to Cabinet Members and require a 
response,  Cabinet Members are required to respond within 21 
calendar days. The average response time for letters sent was 21 
days and confirms that Scrutiny is getting a timely response to 
views, concerns, and any suggested action for Cabinet Members. 

 
 Comparison with previous years: 
 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

No. of Chair's Letters sent to Cabinet Members

Page 130



 

14 
 

  
 
 

3.12 Letters responded to within 21 day target = 65% 

Whilst the response to Scrutiny Letters was on average 21 days, 
some did take longer.  The number of letters responded to within the 
21 day target was 65% (13 out of 20 letters). 

 
Comparison with previous years: 

 

 

3.13 Number of Scrutiny reports to Cabinet = 1 

In-depth inquiries are reported to Cabinet, for it to respond to the 
recommendations agreed by Scrutiny and its action plan on how 
recommendations will be implemented.  Scrutiny Working Groups 
also have the option of either writing a letter to relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) or report to Cabinet, depending on outcomes from 
discussion.  

0

5

10

15

20

25

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Average time for Cabinet Member response letters 

(days)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

% of letters responded to within 21 day target

Page 131



 

15 
 

In June 2022, Cabinet was presented with the final report from the 
Procurement Scrutiny Inquiry Panel, by the Panel Convener, 
Councillor Chris Holley.  Here, the work of the Scrutiny Panel 
explored what the Council is doing to ensure it procures locally, 
ethically, and greenly while being cost effective and transparent in 
its practices?  

 
(See also para. 3.16 for Pre-decision Scrutiny feedback reports to 
Cabinet) 
 
Comparison with previous years: 

 
 
 

3.14 Cabinet action plans agreed = 1 

Once recommendations and an action plan have been agreed by 
Cabinet, Scrutiny will follow up on progress with implementation and 
impact.  
 
Cabinet formally responded to the Procurement Scrutiny Inquiry 
final report in October 2022. The Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Service & Performance reported to Cabinet with a proposed 
response to each of the Scrutiny recommendations and action plan, 
which was agreed by Cabinet. 
 
Comparison with previous years: 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

No. of Scrutiny reports to Cabinet

Page 132



 

16 
 

 
 
 

3.15 Follow ups undertaken = 1 

Inquiry Panels reconvene to follow up on the implementation of 
agreed recommendations and Cabinet action plans and assess the 
impact of their work. A meeting will usually be held 6-12 months 
following Cabinet decision, with a further follow up arranged if 
required.   
 
To check whether the agreed action plans have been carried out, 
Scrutiny will ask for follow up reports from Cabinet Members.   If 
Councillors are satisfied, they can then conclude the work and 
monitoring for that inquiry.   
 
Previous Scrutiny inquiries that required a follow up: 
 
Inquiry Convener Cabinet Action 

Plan agreed 
Monitoring Status 

Procurement 
Key Question: What 
is the Council doing 
to ensure it procures 
locally, ethically, and  
greenly while being 
cost effective and 
transparent in its  
practices? 

Cllr. Chris 
Holley 

October 2022 Follow Up meeting 
planned for Oct 
2023 

 

 

 

 

 

0

1

2

3

4

5

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Cabinet action plans agreed

Page 133



 

17 
 

Arrangements for the follow up of one-off Working Groups has been 
strengthened with the Scrutiny Programme Committee formally 
carrying out a follow up. As such, the indicator is now including both 
Inquiry follow ups and Working Group follow ups. During 2022/23 it 
followed up on the Workforce Scrutiny Working Group which 
concluded in February 2022.   

Comparison with previous years: 

 

 

3.16 Number of Cabinet reports subject to pre-decision scrutiny = 
5 

Pre-decision Scrutiny involves Scrutiny Councillors considering 
Cabinet reports before Cabinet makes a final decision.  Considering 
strategic impact, public interest, and financial implications, the 
following five Cabinet reports were subject to Pre-decision Scrutiny 
(carried out by the Committee or relevant Performance Panels), with 
views reported to Cabinet before decisions were taken: 
 
Report Cabinet 

Member 
Cabinet 
Meeting 

Undertaken by 
 

Oracle Project 
Investment Update 

Economy, 
Finance & 
Strategy 
(Leader) & 
Service 
Transformation 
(Deputy 
Leader) 

20 Oct 
2022 

Committee 

Annual Budget Economy, 
Finance & 
Strategy 
(Leader) 

14 Feb 
2023 

Service 
Improvement & 
Finance Panel (with 
contribution from 
other Panels) 

0

1

2

3

4

5

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Follow ups Undertaken

Page 134



 

18 
 

National 20 Mph Default 
Speed Limit 

Environment & 
Infrastructure 

23 Mar 
2023 

Committee 

Financial Procedure Rule 
7 - Additional to the 
Capital Budget & 
Programme 2022/23 - 
2027/28 - Economic 
Recovery Fund (ERF) 
Approved Schemes 
(exceeding one million 
pounds) 

Economy, 
Finance & 
Strategy 
(Leader) 

18 May 
2023 

Committee 

Additional Revenue 
Provision for Residual 
Economic Recovery 
Fund 2023/24. 

Economy, 
Finance & 
Strategy 
(Leader) 

18 May 
2023 

Committee 

 

Comparison with previous years: 

 

 

3.17 Number of Cabinet reports subject to Call-in = 0  

During 2018-19, the Council agreed new Call-in arrangements with 
Scrutiny at the centre of the process. Any valid Call-in of Cabinet 
decisions leads to the calling of a special meeting of the Scrutiny 
Programme Committee. A Call-in can be made by the Chair or Vice-
Chair of the Scrutiny Programme Committee or by any four 
Councillors by giving notice in writing to the Head of Democratic 
Services within a specific Call-in period. With the increase in pre-
decision scrutiny seen over the last few years many Call-ins are not 
anticipated. There were no Cabinet decisions ‘called in’ over the 
past year. 

 
 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Pre-decision Scrutiny

Page 135



 

19 
 

3.18 Cabinet Members who attended at least one Scrutiny meeting 
– 100% 

Cabinet Members attend Scrutiny meetings to answer questions 
and provide information to assist Scrutiny and account for their work.  
Cabinet attendance at Scrutiny meetings is a good indicator that the 
‘holding to account’ role of Scrutiny is functioning well. It ensures 
that Scrutiny can provide regular challenge to decision-makers, and 
explore the work of Cabinet Members, looking at priorities, actions, 
achievements, and impact.  
 
Aside from a regular Q & A session with the Leader of the Council, 
there is targeted approach within the Committee, calling in Cabinet 
Members as and when required to report on specific portfolio 
responsibilities and issues, with emphasis on Performance Panels 
holding relevant Cabinet Members to account with clear 
opportunities for questioning in their meetings.  
 
All Cabinet Members were engaged with Scrutiny, whether with the 
Committee, Panel or Working Group, over the last year. The range 
of issues discussed within the Committee alone involved 9 of the 
11* Cabinet Members.  
 
Our target is always 100%. 
 
*Although there are 10 Cabinet Portfolios, during 2022/23 there were 11 
Councillors in Cabinet positions. The Community portfolio operating under a job 
share system between two councillors sharing the responsibilities.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 136



 

20 
 

D. What were the outcomes of Scrutiny? 

3.19 Scrutiny recommendations accepted or partly accepted by 
Cabinet = 100%  

The rate that Cabinet accept Scrutiny recommendations is a good 
indicator of whether Scrutiny is making strong recommendations 
based on robust evidence.  Cabinet agreed all 14 of the 
Procurement Scrutiny Inquiry recommendations in October 2022.  
 
Comparison with previous years: 

 

 

3.20 Recommendations signed off by scrutiny as completed = n/a 

When follow up reports are presented to Scrutiny (usually within 12 
months following original Cabinet decision) they detail which of the 
recommendations from the in-depth inquiry (or other scrutiny report) 
have been completed in line with the agreed Cabinet Member’s 
action plan and which have not.  In the case of in-depth inquiries 
Scrutiny Councillors consider whether they agree with the 
assessment about implementation of recommendations, looking at 
the evidence they are presented with about the changes that have 
happened following Scrutiny and its impact.  This indictor would 
represent the percentage of recommendations accepted by Scrutiny 
as being complete.  
 
The Procurement Inquiry will be followed up by the Panel in October 
2023.  
 
It should be noted that in many cases implementation of Scrutiny 
recommendations continues beyond the process of formal 
monitoring.  

0

20

40

60

80

100

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 (n/a) 2021/22 (n/a) 2022/23

Scrutiny recommendations accepted or partly accepted 

by Cabinet (%)

Page 137



 

21 
 

Comparison with previous years: 

 

 

 

 

 

  

0

20

40

60

80

100

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 (n/a) 2021/22 2022/23 (n/a)

Recommendations signed off by Scrutiny as complete 

(%)

Page 138



 

22 
 

4. Impact 

4.1 How Scrutiny Councillors have made a difference 

 
4.1.1 Scrutiny Councillors make a difference by: 
 

• Ensuring that Cabinet Members (and other decision-makers) are 
held to account through public question and answer sessions 

• Making evidence-based proposals on topics of concern through 
task and finish Scrutiny Inquiry Panels, and other Scrutiny 
activities, that report to Cabinet 

• Monitoring and challenging service performance and 
improvement through standing Scrutiny Performance Panels 

• Addressing issues of concern through one off Working Groups 

• Acting as a ‘check’ on the key decisions through Pre-decision 
Scrutiny and Call-in 

• Communicating concerns and proposals for improvement 
through regular publication of Scrutiny Letters and Reports 

• Following up on recommendations made, to check on 
implementation and assess the impact of Scrutiny 

• Making the work of the Council open and transparent to the public 

 

4.1.2 It is important to know that the work and the efforts of Scrutiny 
Councillors are having a positive impact and are delivering effective 
Scrutiny. A selection of ‘Scrutiny Stories’ from the past year is 
provided in Appendix A highlighting specific Scrutiny activities 
showing the impact of Scrutiny and how Scrutiny is making a 
difference. Stories from the last year include: 

 

• Creating a Safer Swansea 
 

• Partnership Working 
 

• Tackling Poverty 
 

• Developing the Workforce 
 

• Making our Roads Safer 
 

• Working with Service Users 
 

• Influencing Cabinet decisions 

Page 139



 

23 
 

• Monitoring Climate Change & the Natural Environment 
 

• Monitoring Education & Learning 
 

• Monitoring Development & Regeneration 
 

• Monitoring Council Budgets 
 

• Monitoring Children’s Social Services  
 

• Monitoring Adult Services 
 
4.1.3 The difference made and impact of the overall work of Scrutiny is 
 also communicated via: 
 

• press releases to the local media; 

• regular posts to our Swansea Scrutiny blog; and 

• use of social media, including Twitter. 
 
  
 

 
 
 

Page 140



 

24 
 

5. Feedback and Improvement 

5.1 Improving Scrutiny 

 
5.1.1 It is good practice for those involved in the Scrutiny function to 

undertake  regular self-evaluation of this work. Considering the 
characteristics of effective Scrutiny and our experiences it is 
important for the continuous improvement of the function that any 
issues identified about current Scrutiny practice are discussed and 
addressed. Annual review discussions are usually held within the 
Scrutiny Programme Committee and Scrutiny Performance Panels 
towards the end of each municipal year, to reflect on the year’s work 
and Scrutiny experience, specifically considering, for example, how 
well they have worked, whether they have focussed on the right 
things, and what lessons had been learnt. 

 
5.1.2 The Scrutiny Programme Committee carried out an End of Year 

Review in May 2023, reflecting on the past year, the work of the 
Committee and work programme, to identify any improvement and 
development issues. As well as reviewing previously agreed 
improvement objectives, Councillors were encouraged to identify 
areas of improvement in relation to the work programme and 
Scrutiny practice, so that it is even more effective.  
 
The following were raised: 

 

• The Annual Work Planning Conference is a good way to get all 
Councillors involved in identifying Scrutiny priorities for the year 
ahead. 

• Recent Inquiry Panels have worked very well. 

• The timing of Scrutiny activity should be considered to ensure 
topics are being discussed at the right time when it will enable 
meaningful discussion and maximum impact and value. This will 
help encourage Councillor engagement in Scrutiny. 

• The timeliness of financial monitoring information to support 
effective Scrutiny and better co-ordination with Cabinet reporting, 
needs to be considered. 

• Overall, the work of Scrutiny should be mindful of pressure not 
only on officers providing information but on Councillors 
participating in Scrutiny. It would help if Councillors were clear 
about the demands of any Scrutiny activity to help them consider 

Page 141



 

25 
 

their involvement and ensure they can give their time to it, 
balancing other demands whether within Scrutiny or elsewhere. 

• Whether there is scope to provide Councillors with more time to 
review agendas / information to help them to prepare for 
meetings. 

• The Committee will need to consider the impact of any reduction 
in resources on the Work Programme and capacity. The 
Committee will need to consider quality vs quantity, ensuring 
effective Scrutiny but also good coverage of Scrutiny across all 
important areas of the Council. 

 
5.1.3 Feedback from Scrutiny Performance Panels 
 

As well as specific discussion about future work, the following 
general observations can be noted: 

 

• Overall, Panels were pleased with how the year had gone and 
felt they have made a positive difference to the working of Council 
departments and services, and citizens, through ongoing 
monitoring and challenge. 

• Panels feel they have focussed on the most important issues. 

• There are positive relationships with Cabinet Members and 
officers, who have attended meetings and provided reports / 
information when requested. Panels have felt well supported. 

 
5.1.4 In order to strengthen end of year review / evaluation efforts, a 

Councillor Survey was issued to all Councillors in April inviting views 
about the way Scrutiny has worked over the last year, so that we 
can monitor the effectiveness of Scrutiny, get a better indication of 
satisfaction, and address any areas for improvement. The survey 
also provided an opportunity to input ideas for future Scrutiny topics, 
which were fed into the Scrutiny Work Planning Conference. 28 
Councillors responded to the survey (24 non-executive Councillors 
and 4 Cabinet Members) 

 
Survey results show that: 
 
 Councillors have a good understanding of the role of Scrutiny. 

(89%) 
 Respondents feel that overall, Scrutiny is operating well in 

Swansea. (79%) 
 Swansea Scrutiny is Councillor-led. (100%) 

Page 142



 

26 
 

 Non-executive members have good opportunities to participate 
in Scrutiny (90%) 

 Our Scrutiny Work Programme balances issues of strategic 
importance and community concerns. (79%) 

 Scrutiny activities are well-planned. (82%) 
 Scrutiny provides regular challenge to decision-makers. (86%)  
 Scrutiny is an important Council mechanism for public 

engagement. (75%) 
 Scrutiny has a positive impact on the business of the Council. 

(75%); and 
 Councillors are happy with the level of support and guidance 

provided by the Scrutiny Team. (100%) 
 
However, only 54% agree that Scrutiny has the resources and 
organisational support it needs to be effective.  
 

What Councillors like about getting involved in Scrutiny:  
 
 ability to maintain good oversight on range of topics of concern.  
 a way to find out what’s going on / opportunity to gain insight into 

reasons behind decisions and way to get more information on 
issues affecting the area.  

 opportunity to develop an understanding of a subject.  
 being able to get an issue looked at within scrutiny.  
 best opportunity to ask questions and get into the detail.  
 ability to challenge decision-makers / decision-making.  
 way to help the Council, and its services and policies, to improve.  
 
Some things Councillors have raised that we could give attention to:  
 

• workload / timing of meetings, to assist attendance.  

• more Councillors actively participating. 

• ensuring things are followed up effectively. 

• quality of reports / information to scrutiny. 

• ensuring all are clear about the process. 

• engaging all in meeting preparation. 

• ensuring focussed meetings. 

• making sure scrutiny is well-timed. 

• being careful not to cover the same ground repeatedly.  

• co-ordination with other Committees. 

• resources. 
 

Page 143



 

27 
 

5.2 Scrutiny Improvement Objectives 
 
5.2.1 A number of Scrutiny Improvement Objectives and action plan were 

agreed by the Committee in January 2019. This included actions to 
address the three proposals for improvement made by the Wales 
Audit Office (now Audit Wales) following its review of the Council’s 
scrutiny arrangements in 2018. This was a co-ordinated and 
comprehensive single improvement plan for Scrutiny, for the issues 
that matter most. 

  
WAO Proposals for Improvement 
1) The Council should consider the skills and training that scrutiny members 

may need to better prepare them for current and future challenges, and 
develop and deliver an appropriate training and development programme, 
including providing additional training on the Well-Being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act. 

2) The Council should strengthen its evaluation of the impact and outcomes 
of its scrutiny activity. 

3) The Council should further clarify the distinction between scrutiny and 
Policy Development Committee activity in relation to policy development. 

 
Councillor Improvement Issues 
1) We need more of our work to be reported to Cabinet so that there is more 

formal consideration of scrutiny conclusions and recommendations.  
2) We need to be involved at an earlier stage in proposed Cabinet decisions 

so that our input can be more meaningful. 
3) We need to increase opportunities for participation so that more 

councillors can get involved in the work of scrutiny. 
4) We need to strengthen follow up of all scrutiny recommendations so that 

the response and difference made can be assessed. 
5) We need more coverage in the media so that people are more aware of 

our work. 

 
5.2.2 The Committee has regularly reviewed and considered progress 

against the action plan and did so last in May 2023. The review of 
the improvement plan showed only one outstanding action: 

 

• Development and delivery of a Scrutiny training and development 
programme (as suggested by Audit Wales) 
MAY 2023 UPDATE: this is currently being explored, with a view 
to delivery early in the 2023/24 municipal year. Councillors have 
been surveyed on training development topics that will help 
inform the programme.  
 
 

Page 144



 

28 
 

5.2.3 Further to WAO Proposal for Improvement 2, we are also now 
inviting post-meeting feedback from Cabinet Members and officers 
who have participated in Scrutiny meetings, about their experience 
and satisfaction. They are invited to complete a short anonymous 
survey shortly after each Scrutiny meeting, to help us to evaluate 
the quality and effectiveness of Scrutiny practice and inform the 
improvement and development of Scrutiny in Swansea. During 
2022/23, this has generated 42 responses. 

 
Drawing some headlines from the responses, the feedback 
indicates: 

 

• The purpose of Scrutiny meetings has been clear, with topics of 
discussion being significant and important. 

• Those attending meetings have felt well supported in the process 
of Scrutiny and treated well, with the experience being 
overwhelmingly positive. 

• Scrutiny meetings have been chaired effectively. 

• Those carrying out Scrutiny have been focused on the topic(s) 
and asked pertinent questions, with discussion / debate being fair 
and balanced. 

• Scrutiny meetings have been useful and constructive. 
 

Some improvement suggestions: 
 

• With hybrid meetings it is useful when the Chair says who is in 
the physical room, as it is unclear from the cameras to those 
participating online. 

• Being careful not to stray into personal / ward specific issues 
during Scrutiny. 

 
5.2.4 Thought will be given to new Scrutiny Improvement Objectives for 

the new Council term. 

  

Page 145



 

29 
 

For further information: 
 
 

Making the work of Scrutiny more transparent and accessible 
 

All Scrutiny agenda packs are now available on the Council’s ‘agenda and 
minutes’ webpage. There you can also find all Scrutiny Letters sent to 
Cabinet Members following meetings and responses. All Scrutiny 
meetings are open to the public and anyone living or working in Swansea 
can suggest a topic for Scrutiny. There are also opportunities to suggest 
questions, and submit views. If you would just like to keep an eye on 
what’s going on we have webpages, and a blog. You could even follow us 
on Twitter. 
 
 

Connect with Scrutiny: 
 

Address: Guildhall, Swansea. SA1 4PE (Tel. 01792 637732) 
Email: scrutiny@swansea.gov.uk 

Twitter: @swanseascrutiny 
Web: www.swansea.gov.uk/scrutiny 
Blog: www.swanseascrutiny.co.uk 

 
 

Page 146



Appendix A 

Scrutiny Annual Report 2022/23:  

Scrutiny Stories 
 

Creating a Safer Swansea 

 

The Committee is the authority’s designated Crime & Disorder Scrutiny 

Committee. In discharging this role, the Committee held its annual 

session in April 2023 focusing on the performance of the Safer Swansea 

Partnership, looking at partnership priorities, activities, and impact.  

 

Lead representatives from both South Wales Police and the Council, 

who are involved in the joint-chairing arrangement for the Safer 

Swansea Partnership Steering Group, attended to present information 

and take questions on the work of the Safer Swansea Partnership.  

 

This included questions on Governance and Leadership, Resources, the 

Evening & Night-Time Economy, the Mayhill disturbance and partnership 

/ policing review, Hate Crime reporting and monitoring, Community 

Integration and Cohesion, Anti-Social Behaviour (off-road bikes), dealing 

with Sexual Offences / Rape, Substance Misuse, Community 

Engagement and Co-production, and new Partnership Community 

Safety Priorities for 2023-26. 

 

Committee Letter to the Joint Chairs of the Safer Swansea Partnership 

can be found here: 

 

Apr 2023 

  

Page 147



Appendix A 

Partnership Working 

 

The Committee is responsible for scrutinizing the performance of 

Swansea Public Services Board (PSB) and how it is making a difference. 

This was discussed during meetings held in October 2022 and February 

2023.   

 

In October, as part of ongoing scrutiny, the Committee considered the 

PSB Annual Report 2021/22 in relation to overall progress and 

performance of the PSB. It also considered information on work being 

done to improve the PSB’s performance framework (following issue 

raised by the Committee); the new Assessment of Local Well-being 

(published in May 2022), and the development of a new Local Well-

being Plan.  

 

In February, the Committee was formally consulted on the Draft PSB 

Local Well-being Plan, which must be in place by May 2023. It also 

followed up on issues arising from previous scrutiny sessions, and action 

taken.  

 

The Committee has continued to make suggestions to challenge 

improvement, including around visibility, the measuring and reporting of 

performance against objectives and impact, and public engagement.  

 

The Committee will follow up on the development of the Well-being Plan 

at the next PSB Scrutiny session, around August 2023, when it hopes to 

be able to see the associated action plan and how performance against 

the Plan will be measured. 

 

Committee Letters to the Chair of Swansea PSB can be found here: 

 

Oct 2022 

Feb 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 148



Appendix A 

Tackling Poverty 

 

Ensuring that all Council Priorities are sufficiently covered within the 

Scrutiny Work Programme, the Committee is annually monitoring the 

delivery of the Corporate Priority on Tackling Poverty, to keep close 

watch on progress, follow up on issues raised, and enable scrutiny views 

to influence action and improvement.  

 

A report was provided the Committee with information on progress over 

the last 12 months. It presented evidence, insights and intelligence that 

demonstrated the contributions that have been made in delivering this 

Council priority, as well as future plans. It covered current challenges, 

including the impact of the cost of living crisis, and the Council’s 

response. The report also considered the findings and recommendations 

of Audit Wales’ ‘Time for Change – Poverty in Wales’ Report, published 

in November 2022, showing the Authority’s response to the Audit 

recommendations, and planned action.  

 

This led to questions and discussion including exploration of the level of 

resources to tackle poverty in Swansea and meet corporate objective, 

and, how in addition to a dedicated Tackling Poverty Service, this is 

embedded across the Council, with all departments playing a role, and 

partnership arrangements helping the Council to deliver on objectives.   

 

The Committee also followed up on concerns from last year’s session 

about efforts to improve employability and skills, and tackle barriers 

including access to public and personal transport. It heard about the 

various education, training and employment programmes, and initiatives 

and successes, including from Communities for Work, Workways+, 

Pathways to Work, Beyond Bricks & Mortar, and the opening of a ‘pop-

up’ Employment Hub within the Quadrant Shopping Centre. There was 

also discussion about the links between poverty and mental health, the 

mental health support available from partners and joint working between 

teams. 
 

Committee Letter to relevant Cabinet Member(s), and their response, 

can be found here: 
 

Jan 2023 

Response 

Page 149



Appendix A 

Developing the Workforce 

 

The Committee takes responsibility for following up on previous Scrutiny 

Working Groups, to check on progress with the topic / issue(s) and 

response to any specific suggestions or recommendations made and 

agreed action coming out of the scrutiny session.  

 

The Committee received an update on action following the Workforce 

Scrutiny Working Group, which concluded in February 2022, enabling 

the Committee to consider progress against recommended improvement 

and highlight issues where further action may be required.  

 

A comprehensive report on progress since the Working Group, was 

provided including update on issues raised by the Working Group, 

informing of actions taken in the delivery of work and achievements on 

Workforce, which were discussed.  

 

The Committee heard about key developments including recent 

agreement by Cabinet of a Post Pandemic Working Model (and seven 

agreed principles), and Workforce Strategy 2022-27, which now 

provided a longer-term picture and clearer focus on workforce priorities.  

 

The Committee agreed that there should be clarity around standards 

and expectations regarding future working and customer contact, given 

there is now an established mix of office and home working across the 

organisation.  

 

The latest position was also provided on wellbeing and sickness 

absence, agency workers including improvement actions taken, HR and 

Service Centre operations, Headcount/FTE, and Occupational Health 

Data. The Committee asked about the uptake of wellbeing / mental 

health training by staff. 

 

Committee Letter to relevant Cabinet Member(s), and their response, 

can be found here: 

 

Nov 2022 

Response 

 

 

Page 150



Appendix A 

Making our Roads Safer 

 

The Road Safety Scrutiny Working Group met to look at a number of 

issues including speed controls (signs, humps, and cameras), the new 

20mph limits, road conditions and partnership working. It met with 

Officers from the Road Safety Team. 

 

The Working Group was concerned that the Welsh Government Road 

Safety Grant has been held back for the 2nd year in a row due to the 

20mph speed reduction scheme and the potential impact this will have. It 

requested the Cabinet Member to appeal to the Go Safe Partnership to 

be more proactive in the area of Gower Commons. It recommended 

increasing signage and banners outside schools as a deterrent to 

remind drivers to drive and park safely around schools and raised the 

need for developments in the Kerbcraft programme with the particular 

suggestion of developing a module on encouraging walking to school 

and general active travel. The Working Group was concluded in 

December 2022. 

 

Working Group recommendations will be followed up by the Scrutiny 

Programme Committee during 2023-24. 

 

Working Group Letter to relevant Cabinet Member(s), and their 

response, can be found here: 

 

Dec 2022 

Response 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 151



Appendix A 

Working with Service Users 

 

The Co-production Scrutiny Working Group met to look at a number of 

issues related to the Council’s role and responsibilities on the 

development of co-production in the Council and progress, helping to 

improve involvement and engagement with service users, partners, and 

the public in the design & delivery of services & decision-making. The 

Working Group met with the relevant Cabinet Member and officers. Also 

in attendance was the Director of SCVS and an officer from Social 

Services. 

 

Overall, the Working Group was encouraged by the approach the 

Council are taking to coproduction. It was appraised on developments so 

far including the work of Co-Pro Lab Wales who are contracted for 12 

months until October 2023 to provide advice and support and produce a 

feedback report. It received an update on co-production progress in 

Social Services and heard about Internal Coproduction Champions, a 

model favoured by the Group which can be harder to achieve than a 

centralised coproduction provision but has the potential to be more 

successful in embedding co-production. It recommended using a mix of 

existing coproduction tools and bespoke ones and requested training for 

members as well as officers. The Working Group was concluded in 

March 2023. 

 

Working Group recommendations will be followed up by the Scrutiny 

Programme Committee during 2023-24. 

 

Working Group Letter to relevant Cabinet Member(s), and their 

response, can be found here: 

 

Mar 2023 

Response 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 152



Appendix A 

Influencing Cabinet decisions 

 

With Pre-Decision Scrutiny, the Committee can consider Cabinet reports 

and give views on the proposed decision(s). It is an important practice 

where Scrutiny Councillors look at a planned decision shortly before it is 

made by Cabinet. Scrutiny Councillors bring a different perspective to 

the decision-making process than that provided by Cabinet members or 

officers, which can help decisions to be more robust. 

 

Pre-decision Scrutiny can help Councillors to understand what is being 

proposed and rationale, and considering decisions before they are made 

provides an important means to influence and possibly improve them. It 

gives Scrutiny Councillors an opportunity to challenge, for example, how 

decision-makers have considered what risks might arise from the 

implementation of the decision and how those risks might be mitigated.  

 

Relevant Cabinet Members and officers will attend Scrutiny to present 

and explain proposals and answer questions. Committee views will be 

formally communicated to Cabinet Member(s) after the meeting, and the 

Chair can then attend the Cabinet meeting to convey those views for 

Cabinet’s attention before any decision is taken. Cabinet should provide 

explanation of any rejection of Scrutiny views. 

 

In March 2023 the Committee considered a Cabinet report on the 

‘National 20 Mph Default Speed Limit’, which comes into effect on 17 

September 2023.  It set out the consultation process to be followed and 

sought confirmation of the approach taken in respect of implementation 

of the change in law. It also asked Cabinet to agree to delegate authority 

to the relevant Cabinet Member to approve any exceptions agreed with 

individual ward members leading to the formal public advertisement of 

the appropriate Traffic Regulation Orders. The session helped the 

Committee to understand what is happening, the process and 

implications for the Council and citizens. It was clear to the Committee 

that the department had a sound grasp of the situation and preparations 

were well underway to fulfil the Council’s obligations. Councillors 

reflected positively on the engagement to date with them on proposals 

for their areas. 

 

 

Page 153



Appendix A 

The Committee recognised this represented a significant change in the 

law which will require a culture change, and carried with it several risks 

to success.  The Committee offered some views on implementation for 

Cabinet’s attention, in relation to: costs and funding to support 

implementation; the Council’s influence on local enforcement to ensure 

compliance with the new speed limit; what will happen to traffic signage 

and calming measures already in place for current 20Mph zones, such 

as around Schools; and, the extent of public communication that will be 

necessary to raise awareness amongst the public, for successful 

implementation, with emphasis on the road / community safety benefits, 

as well as keeping local Councillors fully informed of works in their area 

in preparation of the change to facilitate their engagement with local 

residents and awareness of what is happening. 

 
Committee Letter to relevant Cabinet Member(s) can be found here: 

 

Mar 2023 

  

Page 154



Appendix A 

Monitoring Climate Change & the Natural Environment 

 

The Climate Change & Nature Scrutiny Performance Panel is 

responsible for ongoing monitoring of performance in relation to climate 

change and the natural environment, and has been monitoring the 

delivery of the Council’s work, commitments, and implementation of 

agreed plans, to assess progress. 

 

Amongst specific topics covered over the last year were: 

• The Council’s Climate Change Action Plan 

• Water Quality and Management 

• Green Vehicle Adoption 

• Weed Management / Use of Glyphosate 

• Air Quality Management 

• Local Flood Risk Management 

 

The Panel wrote to relevant Cabinet Member(s) following each meeting 

to give views, raise concerns and make recommendations, for example 

the Panel discussed the issue of Public / Residential EV Charging in 

January 2023, as it was concerned people who choose an electric car 

but do not have off road parking are forced to use public chargers and 

are seriously financially disadvantaged.   

 

The Panel felt very strongly about this and queried if the Council could 

consider installing various devices that are available, which allow people 

to charge on the road from their own properties.  The Panel was 

informed that the Council has installed several public charge points, 

providing people with the opportunity to charge within their local 

community and that this was part of a wider provision of charge points 

offered by commercial operators.  Councillors heard that people are not 

allowed to use private electric vehicle charging cables to charge vehicles 

on street locations in Swansea due to the risk this poses to the public, 

but the Council is keeping abreast of new developments that could 

potentially make that possible in the future. 

 

 

 

 

Page 155



Appendix A 

The Panel referred to a pilot scheme in Plymouth where charging points 

come up out of the street, which would prevent adding to street furniture.  

Officers agreed to investigate the project in Plymouth and consider this 

in options for future infrastructure of this nature if funding becomes 

available. 

 

Panel Letter to relevant Cabinet Member(s) can be found here: 

 

Jan 2023 

 

 

  

Page 156



Appendix A 

Monitoring Education & Learning 

 

The Education Scrutiny Performance Panel meets monthly and where 
possible involve schools in their Scrutiny activity, one example is shown 
below. 
 
In January 2023, the Panel were pleased to meet the Headteachers and 
Chairs of Governors from Pontardulais Comprehensive School and each 
of the cluster of Primary Schools feeding into it, including Pengelli, 
Pontlliw, Penllergaer, Pontardulais and Llangyfelach Primary Schools. 
They also invited the Partneriaeth Link Officers, the School Improvement 
Service and the two Commissioned Headteachers for their input into the 
session. 
 
The Panel were keen to discuss with them how the new Curriculum for 
Wales was being implemented on the ground and how the work being 
done at each Primary School in the cluster was being brought together 
as pupils made the transition to the Comprehensive School. 
 
The Panel were encouraged to hear Headteachers in the cluster believe 
that the new curriculum itself is excellent in principle, because it is skills 
based, progressive and is relevant to the children and their experiences 
and needs. Although, they did say there is far more work involved in 
constructing this curriculum than anyone envisaged at a school level and 
particularly at the national level.   
 
From this session the Panel developed a few learning points that have 
been shared with the Cabinet Member, Education Department, and 
schools. 
 
A few of the learning points the Panel took away from the session, 
includes the cluster having:  

 

• A shared understanding of what the cluster means by progression. 

• Continuum of learning between primary and secondary schools. 

• Buy in, enthusiasm and excitement in what the new curriculum can 
do for its pupils. 

• Positive and constructive challenge across the cluster, but always 
in partnership and in a supportive way 

• Regular meetings of the headteachers from across the cluster to 
talk about the progress and ideas openly and frankly. 

Page 157



Appendix A 

• Good development support and brokerage of professional 
learning. 

• Ensuring teaching staff themselves, have the knowledge and the 
confidence to deliver what is a brand-new curriculum. 

• Consistency of approach in relation to progression across the 
cluster. 

• An agreed journey of progression across the cluster. 

• Willingness to consider and take on board the input and views of 
others.  

• Joint working and sharing of experience. 

• Engaging with wider stakeholders. 

• Shared understanding of approaches.  
 

  

Page 158



Appendix A 

Monitoring Development & Regeneration 

 

The Development & Regeneration Scrutiny Performance Panel has 

been responsible for ongoing monitoring of Council performance in 

relation to development and regeneration, including the ‘health’ of the 

city centre, wider economic development across Swansea and 

discussion about progress on the Swansea Bay City Deal. The Panel 

was focused on contributing to the ongoing development and 

regeneration of Swansea by acting as a critical friend for the Cabinet, 

and helping to ensure accountability. 

 

The Panel has kept a close eye on the Council’s regeneration 

programme and projects. This has included sites like Swansea Arena, 

the Civic Centre, Skyline, and the Community Hub.  Amongst wider 

topics of concern, the Panel held a discussion on Tourism, including the 

Council’s Destination Management Plan.  

 

In January 2023 the Development and Regeneration Scrutiny 
Performance Panel heard from the Cabinet Member, relevant officers 
and a key external stakeholder, Steve Crocker, Chair of Tourism 
Swansea Bay, which represents tourism, leisure, and hospitality 
businesses. The Panel were updated on key achievements over the last 
few years. With over 6000 jobs, local tourism is a significant employer in 
Swansea. The Panel asked a variety of questions exploring eco-tourism, 
free attractions, journalist visits, holiday lets and second homes, 
advertising, the post covid recovery plan and accommodation 
regulations. They were made aware of the steady increase of tourists to 
the area year on year outside of the Covid pandemic. The Panel noted 
the significance of tourism employment and potential introduction of 
statutory licencing and a tourism levy for holiday rentals. The Panel also 
requested further survey information regarding numbers of caravans 
visiting Swansea. Because of the impact of tourism in the area, potential 
legislation changes and with a new Development Management Plan in 
progress looking at 2023-25, Scrutiny Councillors will be following this 
up during 2023-24 to consider progress on Tourism.  
 
Panel Letter to relevant Cabinet Member, and their response, can be 

found here: 

 
Jan 2023 
Response 

Page 159



Appendix A 

Monitoring Council Budgets 

 

The Service Improvement & Finance Scrutiny Performance Panel keeps 

an overview of the Council’s performance and finances.  Every year it 

scrutinizes Council spending which is set by the Council which agrees 

an Annual Budget each March for the following year. 

 

The proposed Council budget for 2022-23 was brought before the Panel 

in February 2023.  Given the breadth of services covered by the budget, 

the two Social Services Panels and the Education Panel reviewed 

respective budgets with lead Cabinet Members and officers, and passed 

their views to the Service Improvement & Finance Panel to include in the 

Panel’s overall feedback to Cabinet.  

 

The Service Improvement and Finance Scrutiny Performance Panel met 

to review the Annual Budget Reports in advance of consideration by the 

Cabinet. The Leader and the Director of Finance were in attendance. 

 

Scrutiny Councillors’ questions centred around borrowing costs, 

reserves, affordability, head count reduction and increased charges. The 

Panel reflected their thoughts to Cabinet regarding the risks to future 

service delivery from a headcount reduction, timing of Welsh 

Government budgets, increased capital charges, concerns with Council 

Tax increases further impacting an already inflated cost of living crisis 

and the detrimental effect to city centre footfall derived from increase car 

parking costs.  

 

These points were raised by the Panel Convener at the Cabinet 

meeting. Subsequently a number of savings reductions resulting in a 

headcount reduction were deferred for a year to allow for a 

comprehensive review of services to be carried out. 

 

Scrutiny carries out budget monitoring on an on-going basis at least 

quarterly.  

 

Panel Letter to relevant Cabinet Member can be found here: 

 

Feb 2023  

Page 160



Appendix A 

Monitoring Children’s Social Services  

 

Councillors on the Child & Family Services Scrutiny Performance Panel 

meet regularly to provide ongoing challenge to the performance of 

Children’s Social Services, to ensure that good performance is 

maintained, and monitor service change and improvement across all 

areas of the service. 

 

The Panel regularly receives a performance monitoring report on Child 

and Family Services which enables Councillors to ask questions about 

performance and improvement, focusing on outcomes, provision, and 

leadership. As well as considering the performance monitoring report, 

discussions over the past year were held on several specific topics: 

 

• Residential Care Services (including Ty Nant) 

• Corporate Parenting Board 

• Child and Family Improvement Programme  

• Regional Safeguarding Board 

• Safeguarding Quality Unit Annual Report 

• Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 

• Child Disability Services 

• Support for Carers 

• Youth Offending Service 

• Draft Budget Proposals 

 

During discussion on CAMHS in January 2023, the Panel queried how 

CAMHS measured up against previous Scrutiny Inquiry 

recommendations and was pleased to see the Inquiry’s recommendation 

that CAMHS should come in house was now being taken forward.  The 

Inquiry had also raised the issue of transition from children to adults and 

how children felt that one minute they had access to CAMHS and then 

when they reached 18, especially young boys/men, they were left 

without the support they needed.  Councillors were informed that 

transition is one of the key areas that CAMHS has been exploring but 

needs to do more on, and that they see the transfer of CAMHS back into 

Swansea Bay as one of the key drivers for this.  The Panel was pleased 

to hear CAMHS are looking at recruiting a transitional nurse and have a 

new regional transitional policy.   

 

Page 161



Appendix A 

The Panel queried what support mechanisms would be available to a 

youngster in crisis and if they would be referred through to CAMHS in 

the first instance or if there would other mechanisms to pick up the 

young person and heard CAMHS has a crisis service which operates 

between 9am and 9pm and is accessed via the single point of access 

number. Councillors were pleased to hear the plan is to increase this 

service to 24-7 by June 2023 at the latest.   

 

Panel Letter to relevant Cabinet Member can be found here: 

 

Jan 2023 

 

  

Page 162



Appendix A 

Monitoring Adult Services 

 

Like the Child & Family Services Performance Panel, Scrutiny 

Councillors met every six weeks to focus on the performance of Adult 

Social Services.  

 

The Panel regularly received performance management information, 

which included data on enquires through the Common Access Point; 

Client Reviews; Carers Assessments; Residential and Community 

Reablement; Domiciliary and Residential Care; and Safeguarding 

responses. It also considered the Director of Social Services’ statutory 

Annual Report for 2021/22. The Panel also held a session on the 

delivery of Council Objectives and Policy Commitments in relation to 

Adult Services. 

 

As well as looking at overall performance, discussions over the past year 

were held on several specific topics: 

 

• Actions following Audit Report – Direct Payments for Adult Social 

Care     

• Recent Care Inspectorate Wales Inspection Reports 

• Adult Services Transformation Programme 

• Options Appraisal for Assistive Technology and Community Alarms 

• West Glamorgan Transformation Programme (including relationship 

between Health and Social Care and the rebalancing agenda, and 

partnership elements of Health Board Plans for Change) 

• Local Area Coordination 

• Adult Services Complaints Annual Report 

• Commissioning Reviews 

• Draft Budget Proposals, including Annual Review of Charges 

 

Prompted by a recent Audit Wales report on Direct Payments for Adult 

Social Care, the Panel was pleased to hear that of the 10 

recommendations, the Council was meeting its requirements and 

exceeding in some areas. However, the Panel asked if the wider care 

team have up to date knowledge of direct payments and understand 

how they can be used. There was some concern raised around available 

data and welcomed work within the Direct Payments Team to develop 

more quantitative and qualitative data, so there is a level of measure and 

Page 163



Appendix A 

assurance around whether Direct Payments are being used properly and 

effectively. It was agreed that personal stories of how Direct Payments 

are used will begin to be shared with the Panel. 

 

Panel Letter to relevant Cabinet Member can be found here: 

 

Nov 2022 

 

 

Page 164



Appendix 2 - AGREED Scrutiny Work Programme 2023/24 

Inquiry Panel 
(time-limited in-depth 
scrutiny – six months) 

Working Groups 
(light-touch scrutiny / one-off 
meetings) 

Performance Panels 
(ongoing in-depth performance / financial monitoring & 
challenge) 

Issues for Scrutiny 
Programme Committee 
(overall work programme 
management; discussion of broad 
range of policy and service issues) 

1. Anti-Social
Behaviour (to
complete from
2022/23)

2. Community
Assets
(Terms of Reference /
Key Question to be
agreed by Panel, but
could focus on how
effective the process
of Community Asset
Transfer has been and
benefits, looking at
relevant examples
such as Parks &
Community Centres,
and lessons)

Follow Up of Previous 
Inquiries: 

1. Procurement

1. Customer Contact
(carry over from 2022/23 - enabling
focussed discussion & questioning
on user experience
when contacting the Council /
accessing services whether by
telephone or on-line / though digital
means; response rates; provision
for offline and on-line contact;
effectiveness of Council Contact
Centre; on-going actions to
improve digital inclusion / access;
quality of website, etc.)

2. Public Rights of Way
(enabling focussed questioning &
discussion on overview of Public
Rights of Way across Swansea
(mapping / numbers) and issues;
impact on PRoW from
developments; effect on
communities, etc.)

3. Community Growing
(enabling focussed questioning &
discussion around Council activity /
support to Community Growing,
with examples (e.g., allotments)
and experience; benefits / success;
including focus on schools /
children & young people; and its
contribution to health & well-being,
etc.)

1. Service Improvement, Regeneration &
Finance (monthly)

2. Education (monthly)

3. Adult Services (every six weeks)

4. Child & Family Services (every six weeks)

5. Climate Change & Nature (every two months)

Specific issues to incorporate within wider Panel work plans: 

• Service Improvement, Regeneration & Finance:
- New Panel to refocus work plan, taking into account

previous work – to create capacity some items to be
picked up by Scrutiny Programme Committee

- Delivery against Corporate Plan / Transformation Plan
- Performance Management
- Pre-decision Scrutiny of Budget Proposals
- Economic Regeneration Actions / Delivery
- City Deal ‘Swansea Specific’ Projects
- Planning Policy & Service (incl. Call-in Process & dealing

with 5G Masts)

- Recycling, particularly Commercial Waste
- Highways / Infrastructure Maintenance
- Listed Buildings

• Education:
- Delivery against Corporate Plan / Transformation Plan

(as relevant to Education)
- Delivery against Education Estyn Inspection actions

• Specific annual reports:
- Children & Young People’s

Rights Scheme
- Corporate Safeguarding
- Delivery of Corporate

Priority – Tackling Poverty
- Complaints
- Welsh Language

Standards
- Welsh Housing Quality

Standard

• Leader Q & A Session(s): incl.
- Corporate Transformation /

Recovery Plan
- Councillor / Officer

Relations (communications)

• Other Cabinet Member Q & As
(issues to pick up):
- Active Travel
- Oracle Fusion Project

Implementation
- Delivery against Workforce

Development Strategy (incl.

use of agency staff / Council
structures)

- Support for Businesses
- Homelessness

• Public Services Board
• Crime & Disorder (Community

Safety): incl. Domestic Abuse;

Community Cohesion; Tackling
Extremism; Substance Misuse;
Electric Scooters

P
age 165



Appendix 1 - AGREED Scrutiny Work Programme 2023/24 

 Reserve List: 
 

• Public Consultation 
(enabling focussed questioning and 
discussion on the Council’s approaches 
to public consultation and 
effectiveness; relevant learning and 
development, etc.) 

• Healthy City 
(carry over from 2022/23 - enabling 
focussed questioning & discussion of 
the Healthy City Partnership, key  
activities and achievements, work  
in relation to health promotion,  
particularly physical activities,  
including provision of outdoor sport  
and activities and opportunities for  
young people, etc.) 

 

- Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme 
- Additional Learning Needs (ALN) 
- Post-covid Cost implications for Schools 
- Reading / Literacy 
- School Attendance 
- School Meals service: impact of changes 

• Adult Services: 
- Delivery against Corporate Plan / Transformation Plan 

(as relevant to Adult Services) 
- Safeguarding 
- Local Area Coordination 
- Partnership between Health and Social Care Services 

• Child & Family Services: 
- Delivery against Corporate Plan / Transformation Plan 

(as relevant to Child & Family Services) 
- Safeguarding 

• Climate Change & Nature: 
- Delivery against Corporate Plan / Transformation Plan 

(as relevant to Climate Change & Nature) – e.g., 
Progress against Net Zero 2030 Action Plan 

- Flood Prevention / Drainage Services 
- Natural Environment / Biodiversity 
- Impact of Housing Developments on Environment 
- Public Electric Vehicle Charging Provision 
- Grounds Maintenance 

 

• Follow Up on Previous Working 
Groups: 
- Bus Services 
- Road Safety 
- Co-production 

 

 
Joint / Regional Scrutiny 

• Partneriaeth (Education / School Improvement – Joint Scrutiny Councillor Group) 

• City Deal (Development / Regeneration - Swansea Bay City Region Joint Scrutiny Committee) 

• South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee (Land Use Planning; Regional Transport; Economic Well-being – Joint Overview & Scrutiny Sub-

Committee)  

 

P
age 166



Appendix 3 
Scrutiny Programme Committee – Work Plan 2023/24 
 

ACTIVITY 18 Jul 2023 19 Sep 2023 17 Oct 2023 
 

14 Nov 2023 19 Dec 2023 16 Jan 2024 

Scrutiny Work 
Programme 

Agreement of Scrutiny 
Work Programme 

Scrutiny Annual Report 
2022/23 

 

    

Cabinet Member 
Portfolio Responsibility 
Q & A Sessions 

 Active Travel (CM for 
Environment & 
Infrastructure) 

  Support for Businesses 
(CM for Investment, 
Regeneration, Events & 
Tourism) 
 

Leader / Economy, 
Finance & Strategy  
 

Other Cabinet Member / 
Officer Reports 

  Scrutiny of Swansea 
Public Services Board 
(PSB Chair – Cllr 
Andrea Lewis) 
 

- Annual Corporate 
Safeguarding Report 
(CM for Care Services / 
Director of Social 
Services) 
- Children & Young 
People’s Rights 
Scheme (annual report) 
(CM for Community – 
Support) 

 

Delivery of Corporate 
Priority – Tackling Poverty 
(annual item) (Leader / 
CM for Wellbeing) 

 

Scrutiny Performance 
Panel Progress Reports 

  Education Service Improvement, 
Regeneration & Finance 
 

Adult Services Child & Family 
Services 

Pre-decision Scrutiny 
 

FPR7 Redevelopment 
of 277-278 Oxford 
Street - Community 
Hub Project 

 Oracle Fusion Project 
Implementation / Project 
Closure Report (Leader 
/ CM for Service 
Transformation) 

   

Final Scrutiny Inquiry 
Reports / Follow Up on 
Scrutiny Recs. 

   - Follow Up on Bus 
Services Working Group 
(CM for Environment & 
Infrastructure) 
- Anti-Social Behaviour 
Inquiry Final Report 

 
 

Follow Up on Road 
Safety Working Group 
(CM for Environ. & 
Infrastructure 

P
age 167



ACTVITY 13 Feb 2024 19 Mar 2024 16 Apr 2024 14 May 2024 
 

  

Scrutiny Work 
Programme 
 

 Audit / Scrutiny 
Relationship – 
Discussion w/ Chair of 
Governance & Audit 
Committee 

 End of Year Review   

Cabinet Member 
Portfolio Responsibility 
Q & A Sessions 

Delivery against 
Workforce 
Development Strategy 
(CM for Corporate 
Services & 
Performance 

     

Other Cabinet Member / 
Officer Reports 

Annual Complaints 
Report 2022-23  
(CM for Service 
Transformation) 

- Scrutiny of Swansea 
Public Services Board 
(PSB Chair – Cllr 
Andrea Lewis) 
- Welsh Language 
Standards (annual 
report) (CMs for 
Education & Learning / 
Culture, Human Rights 
& Equalities) 

 

Crime & Disorder 
Scrutiny - Safer 
Swansea Community 
Safety Partnership 
(Joint Chairs of Safer 
Swansea Partnership) 

   

Scrutiny Performance 
Panel Progress Reports 
 

Climate Change & 
Nature 

 

Education Service Improvement, 
Regeneration & 
Finance 
 

   

Pre-decision Scrutiny    
 
 
 

   

Final Scrutiny Inquiry 
Reports / Follow Up on 
Scrutiny Recs. 

   Follow Up on Co-
production Working 
Group (CM for 
Community - Support) 

  

 

P
age 168



Appendix 4 
 

Progress Report – Current Scrutiny Panels / Working Groups / 
Regional Scrutiny 

 

1. Inquiry Panels: 
 
 These will undertake in-depth inquiries into specific and significant 
 areas of concern on a task and finish basis and will be expected to 
 take around six months to complete to enable wide-ranging evidence 
 gathering, and production of a final report with conclusions and 
 recommendations for Cabinet (and other decision-makers). 
 

a)  Anti-Social Behaviour (convener: Cllr Terry Hennegan) 
 
Key Question: How can the Council ensure that it is working with its 
partners to appropriately and effectively tackle Anti-Social Behaviour in 
Swansea?  

Progress Bar:  

Planning Evidence Gathering Draft Final Report 

            
 

The Panel will meet to discuss their final report in October, looking at 
the comments made by contributors then agreeing its submission to 
the Scrutiny Programme Committee in November prior to Cabinet.   
 
(NB - Inquiries may take up to six months to complete, as they will call 
for wide ranging evidence, and will lead to a report with conclusions 
and recommendations that will be presented to Cabinet) 
 

2.      Follow Up on Completed Inquiries: 
 

Follow-ups of inquiries will consider both the implementation of scrutiny 
recommendations and wider impact / difference made. Inquiry Panels 
are reconvened between 6-12 months after cabinet decision on Inquiry 
reports. 
 
Inquiry Cabinet 

Decision 
Recommendations Follow Up Panel 

Meeting Agreed Partly Rejected 

Procurement 20 Oct 
2022 

14 0 0 24 Oct 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 169



3. Performance Panels: 
 
 Performance Panels enable regular and structured in-depth monitoring 

of performance and challenge within these key areas: 
 

a) Service Improvement, Regeneration & Finance (convener: Cllr 
Chris Holley) 

 
This Panel meets every month. On 26 September the Panel reviewed 
the Capital Outturn and Financing 2022/23 and the Quarter 1 
Performance Monitoring Report 2023/24. 
 
At their next meeting on 17 October they will discuss the Audit Wales 
Report on the Setting of Wellbeing Objectives and the Annual Library 
Services Report. 
 
b) Education (convener: Cllr Lyndon Jones) 

 
This Panel meets every month. A progress report appears in the 
agenda under Item 8. 
 
c) Adult Services (convener: Cllr Susan Jones) 
 
This Panel meets every 6 weeks.  The Panel’s meeting on 5 
September received the Performance Monitoring Report for July 2023 
and the Audit Wales Report ‘A Missed Opportunity – Social 
Enterprises. 
 
At is next meeting on 21 October the Panel will discuss the Director of 
Social Services Annual Report and receive briefings on Deprivation of 
Liberty Safeguards and Llais.  
 
d) Child & Family Services (convener: Cllr Paxton Hood-Williams) 
 
This Panel meets every 6 weeks. The meeting on 13 September 
received a video presentation by young carers and an update on the 
Adolescent Strategy and Action Plan. 
 
At its next meeting on 24 October the Panel will receive an update from 
the Regional Safeguarding Board and discuss the Safeguarding 
Quality Unit Annual Report and progress with Commissioning Reviews.  
 
e) Climate Change & Nature (convener: Cllr Sara Keeton) 
 
This Panel meets every two months.  At its meeting on 3 October the 
Panel looked at Water Quality, Management and Pollution Control and 
discussed Planning Enforcement in relation to Nature and Biodiversity.  
 
The next meeting on 28 November will look at Environmental Tourism.  
 
 

Page 170



4. Regional Scrutiny: 
 
 This is collaborative Scrutiny with other Local Authorities for topics / 
 issues of shared interest or concern, and models of regional working.  

 
 a) Partneriaeth - Regional Education Partnership  
 

Partneriaeth Scrutiny is expected to take place every school term, 
mirroring meetings of the Partneriaeth Joint Committee.  
 
The Councillor Group met on the 19 June, where they met with all 
three Directors of Education and the Chair of the Joint Committee, as is 
stipulated in the Joint Agreement that this should happen annually. 
They will also receive an update on Partneriaeth Priority 2 - Developing 
a high-quality education profession and discussed the Risk 
Assessment Profile. 
 
At their next meeting on the 23 October, they will look at progress with 

the introduction of the Curriculum for Wales, the Risk Assessment 

Profile and take a look at the performance of Partneriaeth Priority 2 – 

Embed principles and processes which underpin educational equity in 

all schools and educational settings. 

 
b) Swansea Bay City Region City Deal 
 
The Joint Scrutiny Committee meets every two months. As well as 
overall programme / project monitoring including the latest financial 
position, the meeting on 4 May focussed on progress with the 
‘Supporting Innovation and Low Carbon Growth’ project.  It also 
received an update on the current situation with City Deal portfolio 
private sector investment and contributions. 
 
The next meeting takes place on 24 October for continued programme 
/ project monitoring and focussed discussion on specific regional 
Project(s), with updates on ‘Skills & Talent’ and ‘Digital Infrastructure’ 
 
The Joint Scrutiny Committee is supported by Scrutiny Officers in 
Neath Port Talbot Council and agendas / minutes of meetings can be 
found on-line:  
https://democracy.npt.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=417  
 
 
c) South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee 
 
The CJC Overview & Scrutiny Sub-Committee will meet at least 
quarterly. The last meeting held on 20 April involved the Committee 
discussing the South West Wales Strategic Development Plan, and 
South West Wales Energy Strategy. A meeting planned for 20 July was 
cancelled.  
 

Page 171

https://democracy.npt.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=417


The next meeting is due to take place on 2 November – agenda item(s) 
to be confirmed.  
 
The Overview & Scrutiny Sub-Committee is supported by Scrutiny 
Officers in Neath Port Talbot Council and agendas / minutes of 
meetings can be found on-line:  
https://democracy.npt.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=499  
 

5. Working Groups: 
 

  A number of topics have been identified which will be dealt with 
through one-off Working Groups. These enable a ‘light-touch’ approach 
to specific topics of concern and will be planned as a one-off meeting 
(in the order shown below) primarily involving discussion with relevant 
Cabinet Member(s) / officer(s), and any other persons called, to gather 
information, ask questions, and give views / raise any concerns. 

 
a) Public Rights of Way (convener: Councillor Mike White)  
 
This Working Group has been arranged for 22 November 2023. This 
will enable information, focussed questioning & discussion on overview 
of Public Rights of Way across Swansea (mapping / numbers) and 
issues; impact on Public Rights of Way from developments; effect on 
communities, etc. 
 
b) Customer Contact (convener: Councillor Joe Hale) 
 
This working group will be held in early 2024 and will enable 
information, focussed questioning & discussion on the user experience 
when contacting the Council / accessing services whether by telephone 
or on-line / though digital means; provision for offline and on-line 
contact; effectiveness of Council Contact Centre; on-going actions to 
improve digital inclusion / access; quality of website, etc. 
 
This Working Group was carried forward from 2022/23. 
 
c) Community Growing (convener: TBC) 
 
This will enable information, focussed questioning & discussion around 
Council activity / support to Community Growing, with examples (e.g., 
allotments) and experience; benefits / success; including focus on 
schools / children & young people; and its contribution to health & well-
being, etc. 
 

 

Page 172

https://democracy.npt.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=499


 

 
 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Service Transformation 
 (Joint Deputy Leader) 

 
Governance & Audit Committee – 25 October 2023 

 

Public Services Ombudsman of Wales  
Annual Letter 2022-23 

 

Purpose: To present the Public Services Ombudsman of 
Wales Annual Letter 2022-23 for Swansea 
Council. 
 

Policy Framework: Complaints Policies  
Transformation & Financial Resilience well-being 
objective in the Corporate Plan 
 

Consultation: Finance, Legal, and Access to Services.  
 
Report Author: Sarah Lackenby 

 
Finance Officer: Ben Smith 

 
Legal Officer: 
 
Access to Services Officer: 

Debbie Smith 
 
Rhian Millar 

 
For Information 

 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This report presents the annual Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 

(PSOW) letter for 2022-23 and includes complaints performance of both 

Swansea Council and across the whole of Wales. 

 

1.2 The Council recognises that in order to meet the needs and concerns of 

members of the public, the monitoring of complaints is a valuable resource 

in its requirement to continually improve services. All complaints are taken 

very seriously and provide valuable customer insight. 

 
1.3 Requests for service are different to complaints (e.g. a request for service 

could be a request to repair an unlit lamp post, or missed bin collection).  

Page 173

Agenda Item 8



 

A complaint would only arise should the request for service not be properly 

dealt with. 

 
1.4 The PSOW recognises there are limitations with the Public Services 

Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2019, making it difficult to reconcile performance 

locally. Ombudsman cases received and closed are not reported within 

financial years and so will never match the annual reports of Councils. The 

annual PSOW letter is therefore a standalone picture of the Ombudsman’s 

work and will not match the Council’s Annual Complaints Report. 

 
2. Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Annual Letter 

 

2.1 The PSOW publishes the annual letters to all Councils on its website and 

is attached to this report at appendix A. The letter highlights activities 

undertaken by the Ombudsman’s office during the year and the Council’s 

performance and shows: 

 

 The Ombudsman’s office has seen a 3% increase in requests 

compared with 2021-22. This is double the number of cases compared 

with a decade ago 

 However, the number of complaints relating to local authorities has 

reduced by 11% compared with 2021-22 

 In 2021-22 the Ombudsman upheld 13% of local authority complaints 

 The Ombudsman has launched a new Service Quality process to 

ensure the standard of service meets expectations 

 The second wider Own Initiative Investigation will be looking into carers 

assessments in local authorities in the coming year. 

 

2.2 In 2022-23 the Ombudsman received 94 complaints relating to Swansea 

Council (71 in 2021-22), which represents 6% of Swansea Council’s 

overall complaints and 9% of all complaints received across Wales. The 

table below shows complaints over the past four years and reflects the 

impact of the pandemic: 

 

2.3 24% (23) complaints related to Housing. These were across a range of 

issues with no particular trend. Housing has seen an increase in 

0

20

40

60

80

100

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23

Number of PSOW Complaints

Page 174



 

complaints due to clearing the Covid backlog of internal repairs, and the 

transition period to the new Oracle Field Services system. 

 

2.4 Of the ten complaints that required intervention and reached an early 

resolution / voluntary settlement these relate to: 

 

 Eight Corporate Complaints including: the Contact Centre (1), Housing 

Repairs (4), Rats (1), Council tax (1), and Housing (1) 

 Two Social Services including: Child and Family (1), Adult Services (1). 

 

2.5 Further to the letter, the Ombudsman requests the Council takes the 

following actions: 

 Present the letter to the Cabinet and the Governance and Audit 
Committee, which have subsequently both been scheduled in October. 
In addition to this requirement, the letter will be presented to the 
Standards Committee as the letter refers to Code of Conduct 
complaints which is within the Standards Committee’s terms of 
reference.  

 Continue to engage with the Ombudsman’s Complaints Standards 
work. In this regard the Council: 

o Continues to access training. The Ombudsman delivered 
training to Social Services in October 2022 

o Has aligned to the model policy. Swansea Council’s complaints 
policies are aligned with the model policy and other legislation. 
The Council continues to regularly engage with the 
Ombudsman’s office on any points of clarification or advice 

o Submits quarterly complaints data on time 

 The Council will write to the Ombudsman following the Cabinet and 
Governance and Audit Committee meetings. 

 
3. Integrated Assessment Implications 

 
3.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty 

and the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must 
in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-
economic disadvantage. 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language. 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

Page 175



 

 
3.1.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that 

public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. 
Sustainable development means the process of improving the economic, 
social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at 
achieving the ‘well-being goals’. 
 

3.1.2 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid 
due regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and 
priorities, such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, 
carers, the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child 
(UNCRC) and Welsh language. 
 

3.1.3 This report is for information only.  Any activities following this report will 
be subject to the IIA process as required. 
 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from this report. Any 
expenditure on complaints investigations or re-dress payments incurred 
during 2022-23 will be reported in the Council’s Annual Complaints Report. 

 
5. Legal Implications 

 
5.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. 
 
 
 
Background Papers: None 
 
Appendices:  
Appendix A 
 

Annual letter from the Public Services Ombudsman of Wales 
2022-23 

 

Page 176



Page 1 of 9 

Cllr. Rob Stewart 
Swansea Council  
By Email only: cllr.rob.stewart@swansea.gov.uk 

Annual Letter 2022/23 

Dear Councillor Stewart 

I am pleased to provide you with the Annual letter (2022/23) for Swansea Council 
which deals with complaints relating to maladministration and service failure, 
complaints relating to alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct for Councillors 
and the actions being taken to improve public services.  

This letter coincides with my Annual Report – “A year of change – a year of 
challenge” – a sentiment which will no doubt resonate with public bodies across 
Wales. My office has seen another increase in the number of people asking for our 
help – up 3% overall compared to the previous year, and my office now receives 
double the number of cases we received a decade ago. 

In the last year, I have met with public bodies across Wales – speaking about our 
casework, our recommendations, and our proactive powers. The current climate will 
continue to provide challenges for public services, but I am grateful for the positive 
and productive way in which local authorities continue to engage with my office.  

1,020 complaints were referred to us regarding local authorities last year - a 
reduction of 11% compared to the previous year. During this period, we intervened 
in (upheld, settled or resolved at an early stage) 13% of local authority complaints. 

We received fewer Code of Conduct complaints in 22/23 compared to the previous 
year, relating to both Principal Councils and Town and Community Councils. My role 
is such that I do not make final findings about breaches of the Code of 
Conduct. Instead, where investigations find the most serious concerns, these are 
referred to the Standards Committee of the relevant local authority, or the 

Date: 17 August 2023 

Ask for: Communications 

01656 641150 
Communications 
@ombudsman.wales 

Appendix A

Page 177



 
 
 

Page 2 of 9 
 
  
 

Adjudication Panel for Wales. In 2022/23, the Ombudsman made 12 such referrals – 
a welcome reduction from 20 last year.  

Supporting improvement of public services 
 
Despite the challenges of last year, we have pushed forward with our proactive 
improvement work and launched a new Service Quality process to ensure we deliver 
the standards we expect. 
 
Last year, we began work on our second wider Own Initiative investigation – this 
time looking into carers assessments within local authorities. This investigation will 
take place throughout the coming year, and we look forward to sharing our findings 
with all local authorities – not just those involved in the investigation. 
 
The Complaints Standards Authority (CSA) continued its work with public bodies in 
Wales last year, with more than 50 public bodies now operating our model policy.  
We’ve also now provided more than 400 training sessions since we started, with 
local authorities, in September 2020. 
 
We continued our work to publish complaints statistics into a second year, with data 
now published twice a year. This data allows us to see information with greater 
context – for example, last year 6% of Swansea Council’s complaints were referred 
to PSOW.  
 
I would encourage Swansea Council, and specifically your Audit and Governance 
Committee, to use this data to better understand your performance on complaints 
and consider how well good complaints handling is embedded throughout the 
Authority. 
 
Further to this letter can I ask that your Council takes the following actions:  
 

• Present my Annual Letter to the Cabinet and to the Governance and Audit 
Committee at the next available opportunity and notify me of when these 
meetings will take place. 

• Continue to engage with our Complaints Standards work, accessing training 
for your staff, fully implementing the model policy, and providing accurate and 
timely complaints data.  

• Inform me of the outcome of the Council’s considerations and proposed 
actions on the above matters at the earliest opportunity.  

 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Michelle Morris 
Public Services Ombudsman 
cc. Martin Nicholls, Chief Executive, Swansea Council.  
By Email only: chiefexecutive@swansea.gov.uk 

Page 178



 

 
 

Page 3 of 9 
 
  
 

Factsheet 
 

Appendix A - Complaints Received 
 
 

 
Local Authority Complaints 

Received

Received 
per 1000 
residents

Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 16 0.24
Bridgend County Borough Council 55 0.38
Caerphilly County Borough Council 49 0.28
Cardiff Council* 142 0.39
Carmarthenshire County Council 53 0.28
Ceredigion County Council 35 0.49
Conwy County Borough Council 31 0.27
Denbighshire County Council 32 0.33
Flintshire County Council 65 0.42
Cyngor Gwynedd 36 0.31
Isle of Anglesey County Council 25 0.36
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 17 0.29
Monmouthshire County Council 23 0.25
Neath Port Talbot Council 39 0.27
Newport City Council 42 0.26
Pembrokeshire County Council 44 0.36
Powys County Council 38 0.29
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council** 54 0.23
Swansea Council 94 0.39
Torfaen County Borough Council 16 0.17
Vale of Glamorgan Council 49 0.37
Wrexham County Borough Council 65 0.48
Total 1020 0.33

* inc 9 Rent Smart Wales
** inc 2 South Wales Parking Group

Page 179



 

 
 

Page 4 of 9 
 
  
 

Appendix B - Received by Subject 
 
Swansea Council Complaints Received % share 

Adult Social Services 6 6% 
Benefits Administration 0 0% 
Children's Social Services 12 13% 
Community Facilities, Recreation and Leisure 1 1% 
Complaints Handling 12 13% 
Covid19 0 0% 
Education 1 1% 
Environment and Environmental Health 8 9% 
Finance and Taxation 3 3% 
Housing 23 24% 
Licensing 3 3% 
Planning and Building Control 10 11% 
Roads and Transport 9 10% 
Various Other 6 6% 
Total 94  

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 180



 

 
 

Page 5 of 9 
 

Appendix C - Complaint Outcomes 
(* denotes intervention) 
 
Swansea Council  % Share 
Out of Jurisdiction 29 29% 
Premature 28 28% 
Other cases closed after initial consideration 32 32% 
Early Resolution/ voluntary settlement* 10 10% 
Discontinued 0 0% 
Other Reports - Not Upheld 0 0% 
Other Reports Upheld* 0 0% 
Public Interest Reports* 0 0% 
Special Interest Reports* 0 0% 
Total 99  

 
 

P
age 181



 

 
 

Page 6 of 9 
 
  
 

Appendix D - Cases with PSOW Intervention 
 

No. of 
interventions

No. of 
closures

% of 
interventions

Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 0 16 0%
Bridgend County Borough Council 5 57 9%
Caerphilly County Borough Council 6 52 12%
Cardiff Council 25 145 17%
Cardiff Council - Rent Smart Wales 1 9 11%
Carmarthenshire County Council 7 60 12%
Ceredigion County Council 13 44 30%
Conwy County Borough Council 5 35 14%
Denbighshire County Council 2 33 6%
Flintshire County Council 5 70 7%
Cyngor Gwynedd 5 33 15%
Isle of Anglesey County Council 5 25 20%
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 1 18 6%
Monmouthshire County Council 1 22 5%
Neath Port Talbot Council 7 38 18%
Newport City Council 8 48 17%
Pembrokeshire County Council 3 45 7%
Powys County Council 8 44 18%
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 2 54 4%
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council - 
South Wales Parking Group 0 2 0%
Swansea Council 10 99 10%
Torfaen County Borough Council 1 17 6%
Vale of Glamorgan Council 15 53 28%
Wrexham County Borough Council 6 67 9%
Total 141 1086 13%

Page 182



 

 
 

Page 7 of 9 
 
  
 

Appendix E - Code of Conduct Complaints 
 
 Swansea Council 

Decision not to investigate 0 
Discontinued 5 
No evidence of breach 0 
No action necessary 0 
Refer to Adjudication Panel 0 
Refer to Standards Committee 0 
Total 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

In
ve

st
ig

at
io

ns
 

P
age 183



 

 
 

Page 8 of 9 
 

Appendix F - Town/Community Council Code of Complaints 

 

Town/Community Council Decision not to 
investigate Discontinued No evidence 

of breach No action necessary
Refer to 

Adjudication 
Panel

Refer to 
Standards 
Committee

Total

Clydach Community Council 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
Grovesend and Waungron Community Council 0 0 0 1 0 0 1
Gowerton Community Council 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mumbles Community Council 5 0 0 0 0 2 7
Pennard Community Council 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
Port Eynon Community Council 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Three Crosses Community Council 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Investigations

P
age 184



 

 
 

Page 9 of 9 
 
  
 

Information Sheet 
 
Appendix A shows the number of complaints received by PSOW for all Local Authorities in 2022/23.  These complaints are 
contextualised by the population of each authority. 
 
Appendix B shows the categorisation of each complaint received, and what proportion of received complaints represents for 
the Local Authority. 
 
Appendix C shows outcomes of the complaints which PSOW closed for the Local Authority in 2022/23.  This table shows both 
the volume, and the proportion that each outcome represents for the Local Authority. 
 
Appendix D shows Intervention Rates for all Local Authorities in 2022/23.  An intervention is categorised by either an upheld 
complaint (either public interest or non-public interest), an early resolution, or a voluntary settlement. 
 
Appendix E shows the outcomes of Code Of Conduct complaints closed by PSOW related to Local Authority in 2022/23.This 
table shows both the volume, and the proportion that each outcome represents for the Local Authority. 
 
Appendix F shows the outcomes of Code of Conduct complaints closed by PSOW related to Town and Community Councils 
in the Local Authority’s area in 2022/23.  This table shows both the volume, and the proportion that each outcome represents 
for each Town or Community Council. 
 
 

P
age 185



 
 

Report of the Director of Corporate Services   
 

Governance & Audit Committee - 25 October 2023 
 

The Governance and Assurance Arrangements of 
Swansea Council’s Strategic Partnerships 

 
Purpose: To provide the committee with an update on the 

governance and assurance arrangements of the council’s 
strategic partnerships 

 
Report Author:  Joanne Portwood  
 
Finance Officer: Paul Roach 
 
Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 
 

For Information 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 The Governance and Audit Committee received a report about the 

governance and assurance arrangements of the council’s strategic 
partnerships at its meeting on the 8th March 2023. The purpose of this  
report is to provide an update on these arrangements within each 
respective partnership including; Swansea Public Services Board, the 
West Glamorgan Regional Partnership, Partneriaeth Joint Committee, 
the South West Wales Joint Committee and the Swansea Bay City 
Region Joint Committee. 

 
2. Swansea Public Services Board  
 
2.1 Swansea Public Services Board met on two occasions between March 

2023 and the end of the September 2023. The main focus of the 
Board’s work during this period was the approval and sign off of the 
Local Well-Being Plan and the development and implementation of the 
Action Plan 2023-24. Alongside this work, the Board also undertook 
work to strengthen the governance and performance management 
arrangements of the partnership. 

 
2.2 In order to strengthen implementation of the Action Plan 2023-24 and 

arrangements for reporting performance, Strategic Leads have been 
identified for each of the 8 steps within the action plan. Each Strategic 

Page 186

Agenda Item 9



Lead is accountable for reporting on the delivery of their step and its 
performance to Swansea’s Public Services Board on a quarterly basis. 
In addition to reporting to formal committee meetings, Strategic Leads 
also meet informally to consider synergy between steps. Performance 
reports will also be considered by the Council’s Scrutiny Programme 
committee twice a year. 

   
2.3 Within the Action Plan 2023-24, a specific step has been identified in 

relation to influencing and connecting with other governance 
arrangements across the Swansea Bay region. Work is currently 
underway to map the Swansea Bay region partnership landscape to 
clarify governance, roles and responsibilities, interfaces and to identify 
opportunities for collaboration on plan content and to identify gaps / 
overlaps in activities. It is anticipated that the outcome of this work will 
result in organisations within the Swansea region and locality having a 
shared understanding of the partnership landscape and the 
opportunities to improve their synergy. 

 
2.4 Within the Action Plan 2023-24, a specific step has been identified in 

relation to developing a Performance Management Framework and an 
Action Plan 2023-24. Work to develop and map milestones, and 
monitoring arrangements has been completed. Work to identify and 
map population level outcome measures is underway. It is anticipated 
that the outcome of this work will result in the PSB having an effective 
performance management framework in place. The PSB are working 
towards making and facilitating connections between all of the 8 steps 
included in the action plan.  

 
2.5 Other notable activities in relation to the governance arrangements of 

Swansea’s Public Services Board over the last six months has included 
revising the frequency of meetings (now quarterly), reviewing the terms 
of reference for the wider Partnership Forum (now to meet once a year, 
prior to undertaking the annual review of performance) and revising the 
terms of reference for Public Services Board. 

 
3. West Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board 
 
3.1 The West Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board has met on three 

occasions between March 2023 and the end of the September 2023. 
The focus of the Board’s work during this period was the approval and 
sign off the West Glamorgan Area Plan and Action Plan for 2023-27, 
Annual Report and End of Year Finance and Performance 
Report.  During the meeting, the Board also reviewed the Regional 
Investment Plan for 2023-24 and received updates on programme 
delivery. 

 
3.2 For the West Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board to deliver the 

Area Plan and Action Plan it was necessary for the Programme to be 
amended to enable the partners to meet the outcomes within the plans. 
The portfolio now has 6 Population Programmes (Communities and 

Page 187



Older People, Carers, Wellbeing and Learning Disabilities, Emotional 
Wellbeing and Mental Health, Children and Young People and 
Neurodivergence). In addition, there are several supporting 
programmes that are designed to enable the population programmes to 
deliver their objectives for example Digital and Data and Workforce. 

 
3.3 The West Glamorgan Regional Partnership officially launched the 

Peoples Forum on 18th April 2023.  The event brought together the 
Statutory Partners, Third Sector organisations, Unpaid Carers and 
citizens from across the region. The programme will include a variety of 
examples of how the Regional Investment Fund has supported the 
region in its delivery of valuable health and social care services, and 
how they are making a meaningful difference to the lives of people who 
need care and support. The event was well attended and included 
presentations, interactive workshop-style sessions, and information 
stalls. 

 
3.4 The Regional Partnership has established two “Liaison Forums” which 

includes Users with Lived Experience and Unpaid Carers to support 
the coproduction of delivery plans and to support the development of 
strategies. The partnership intends to expand the number of liaison 
forums to cover the population programmes and is strengthening the 
participation and engagement by connecting with existing networks 
across the region. 

 
3.5 The Regional Partnership has been working with the Public Service, 

Pan Cluster Planning Network, and its statutory partners to plan and 
map the delivery plans to ensure there is synergy between the plans. 

 
3.6 The West Glamorgan Regional Partnership has been working 

extensively with the other regions across Wales and with Welsh 
Government colleagues to develop a set of national Performance 
Measures both qualitative and quantitative which will support 
assurance for the partnership that the expected outcomes are being 
delivered. 

 
4 Partneriaeth Joint Committee 
 
4.1 Between March 2023 and the end of September 2023, Partneriaeth 

Joint Committee has met on one occasion. The main focus of activity 
has been the approval of Partneriaeth’s Strategic Plan/Business Plan 
for 2023-24, Partneriaeth’s Budget for 2023-24 and Medium Term 
Financial Plan for 2023-34 to 2026-27, in addition to monitoring 
performance and managing risk. Partneriaeth’s Scrutiny Councillor 
Group has also continued to meet during this time period, to ensure 
that Partneriaeth is operating according to its Legal Agreement, its 
Business Plan and its timetable is being managed effectively. 

 
4.2 Partneriaeth Joint Committee has a responsibility for conducting an 

annual review of its governance framework, including the system of 

Page 188



internal control. During the second quarter of 2023, work was 
undertaken to produce Partneriaeth’s Annual Governance Statement 
for 2022-23. The review of effectiveness for 2022-23 was informed by 
the work undertaken during the Internal Audit review, which included a 
follow-up of the implementation of significant governance issues and 
priorities for improvement identified in 2021-22. Additional assurance 
was provided by the Head of Internal Audit Assurance opinion, based 
on the work undertaken by Internal Audit in 2022-23, along with the 
minutes from the Partneriaeth Joint Committee.  

 
4.3 The Internal Audit review gave a ‘moderate’ assurance rating on the 

adequacy and effectiveness of the governance, internal control, risk 
management and financial management arrangements in place. Areas 
requiring further improvement were identified and have been included 
as priorities for improvement within the Annual Governance Statement 
2022-23 Action Plan. The priorities for improvement focus on 
strengthening governance arrangements and business planning 
processes.  

 
4.4 Although governance arrangements have been strengthened through 

the new Legal Agreement approved by the Joint Committee, it has 
been recommended that arrangements are strengthened further 
through the introduction of a scheme of delegation to ensure that there 
is a formal documented approach for decision making (including 
acceptance of grant awards). CIPFA also recommends that all local 
government bodies develop a Local Code of Governance which sets 
out the framework to conduct its business and affairs. The Annual 
Governance Statement 2022-23 Action Plan outlines commitments to; 
develop a local code of governance, develop a scheme of delegation 
and to put in place Business Partnering Agreements with Authorities 
who purchase services from Partneriaeth to ensure that there is clarity 
in the services provided and that the roles and expectations of each 
party are formally documented.  

 
4.5 In terms of Partneriaeth’s Business Plan 2022-23, there are currently 

no clear milestones and outcomes, subsequently the delivery and 
effectiveness of Partneriaeth cannot be fully scrutinised by the Joint 
Committee. The Annual Governance Statement 2022-23 Action Plan 
outlines commitments to; develop SMART outcomes within the 
Business Plan with clear milestones to facilitate the monitoring and 
evidencing of delivery and to ensure the Business Plan is aligned to the 
budget to ensure affordability and deliverability of priorities with a focus 
on Value for Money included within the Business Plan. 

 
5. South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee (CJC) 
 
5.1 The South West Wales CJC has met on two occasions between March 

2023 and the end of the September 2023. The main focus of the 
committee’s work during this period was the committee’s corporate 
plan and finalising governance arrangements. A key focus in the 

Page 189



coming weeks is the submission of the delivery plan for the Regional 
Transport Plan which is being considered at the transport sub 
committee on the 9th October and which will be presented at the next 
CJC meeting on the 24th October for formal approval. In addition 
consideration will be given to the budget proposals for the next 
financial year. Scrutiny is provided by the South West Wales Corporate 
Joint Committee – Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee 

 
5.2 The CJC’s Governance and Audit Committee have met and considered 

its terms of reference. It was suggested that its terms of reference are 
structured in line with recent Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance on Audit Committees. The last meeting 
was postponed, but the next meeting is planned for the 26th October for 
which the agendas are being finalised. However it is anticipated that it 
will include consideration of the budget outturn and also to provide an 
outcome of the recent Audit Wales programme for CJC’s in general 
throughout Wales.  

 
5.3 At the last meeting of the South West Wales CJC (6th June 2023) it 

was resolved that the Chief Executive of Pembrokeshire County 
Borough Council will be appointed as the next Chief Executive for the 
CJC from the 1st November 2023. It was also noted at this meeting, 
that this date was most appropriate to ensure that existing governance 
arrangements were in place, prior to the budget setting process for 
2024-45 and the identification of priorities for the forthcoming year. 

 
5.4. At the last meeting of the South West Wales CJC, further 

arrangements were set out which outlined the administrative and 
governance matters for the forthcoming year;  

 

 the re-establishment of the four sub committees of the South West 
Wales Corporate Joint Committee (Regional Transport Planning, 
Economic Well Being – Regional Economic Development, Strategic 
Development Planning and Economic Well Being – Regional 
Energy Strategy),  

 the re-establishment of the Governance and Audit Sub-Committee 
which would continue to be facilitated by Pembrokeshire County 
Council, 

 the re-confirmation that the Neath Port Talbot County Borough 
Council Standards Committee as the designated Standards 
Committee for the South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee, 

 the re-establishment of the Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee  
for the South West Wales Corporate Joint Committee 

 
 6. Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee 
 
6.1 The Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee was established to 

monitor the Swansea Bay City Region City Deal. The Joint Committee 
met on three occasions between March 2023 and the end of 
September 2023. The main focus of the Board’s work during this period 

Page 190



was to receive project updates, the approval of Swansea Bay City Deal 
Portfolio cases (including the approval of updated existing business 
cases), overseeing progress and performance management and to 
consider the implications of private sector investment and contributions 
to the portfolio. The Board also considered Internal Audit 
Recommendations 2022-23, Audit Wales Outline Plan, Q4 2022/23 
Financial Monitoring - Final Outturn position, the Joint Committee 
Statement of Accounts and the Swansea Bay City Deal Annual Report 
2022-23. 

 
6.2 During 2022-23, the governance and assurance arrangements of the 

Swansea Bay City have continued to be strengthened. The 
recommendations from previous Internal Audit reviews have been 
implemented with the development of action plans to monitor and track 
progress relating to actions arising from Gateway reviews. Risk 
management arrangements remain robust. 

 
6.3 Assurance arrangements have been strengthened during 2022-23 with 

Welsh Government approval of the Gateway Assurance Framework 
received, which provides a framework for the management resourcing 
and governance of Gateway assurance arrangements for the Swansea 
Bay City Deal Portfolio, and its constituent programmes, projects and 
workstreams. The Framework also provides clarity for programme and 
project Senior Responsible Officers (SROs) and their teams on the 
assurance arrangements that apply to the Swansea Bay City Deal 
Portfolio. The introduction of the Joint Assurance Panel underpins the 
Gateway Assurance Framework by providing oversight of the 
development and implementation of the arrangements set out which 
has strengthened and enhanced existing procedures. 

 
6.4 A Change Control Procedure has also been established, which is 

owned by the Programme (Portfolio) Board and highlights the changes 
that result from projects and programmes at Project, Programme and 
Portfolio level. Dashboards are presented to the Joint Committee on a 
quarterly basis, providing high level oversight on the progress of 
Programmes/Projects, with benefit realisation data now collated and 
included within the datasets presented. 

 
6.5 Overall, the Internal Audit report has determined an audit assurance 

rating of ‘Substantial’; with no or few weaknesses in the adequacy 
and/or effectiveness of the governance, internal control, risk 
management and financial management arrangements.  

 
6.6 The Swansea Bay City Region Joint Scrutiny Committee met on two 

occasions between March 2023 to September. Members scrutinised 
progress and performance, approvals to update existing business 
cases and were updated on wider economic contextual issues. 
Members of the committee raised questions related to the risks on the 
RAG status of the Swansea Bay City Deal Portfolio and its constituent 
programmes/projects, private sector funding, the effect of inflation, 

Page 191



increased costs, local job creation and training opportunities and the 
realisation of benefits in the local region. 

 
7. Integrated Assessment Implications 
 
7.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty 

and the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and 
must in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-
economic disadvantage. 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language. 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
7.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that 

public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. 
Sustainable development means the process of improving the 
economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by 
taking action, in accordance with the sustainable development 
principle, aimed at achieving the ‘well-being goals’. 

 
7.3 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid 

due regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues 
and priorities, such as poverty and social exclusion, community 
cohesion, carers, the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the 
Child (UNCRC) and Welsh language. 

 
7.4 An IIA screening report was carried out for this report (Appendix 1). A 

full IIA is not required for this report, as it is for information only. 
 
8. Legal Implications 
 
8.1 There are no legal implications.  
 
9. Financial Implications 
 
9.1 There are no financial implications arising from this information report.   
  
 
 
 

Page 192



Background papers:  
 
Overview of the Governance and Assurance arrangements of Partnerships 
and Collaborations, Governance & Audit Committee, 13 July 2022 
 
The Governance and Assurance Arrangements of Swansea Council's 
Strategic Partnerships, Governance and Audit Committee, 8th March 2023 
 
Appendix 1: IIA screening report 
 

Page 193



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix 1 
 

1 
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form.  
 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 
Service Area: Communications and Marketing 
Directorate: Corporate Services 
 
Q1 (a) What are you screening for relevance? 
 
 

 New and revised policies, practices or procedures  
      Service review, re-organisation or service changes/reductions, which affect the wider community, service 

 users and/or staff  
     Efficiency or saving proposals 
     Setting budget allocations for new financial year and strategic financial planning 
    New project proposals affecting staff, communities or accessibility to the built environment, e.g., new 

 construction work or adaptations to existing buildings, moving to on-line services, changing location 
 Large Scale Public Events 
 Local implementation of National Strategy/Plans/Legislation 

X Strategic directive and intent, including those developed at Regional Partnership Boards and Public Services 
 Board, which impact on a public bodies functions 

 Medium to long term plans (for example, corporate plans, development plans, service delivery and 
 improvement plans) 

 Setting objectives (for example, well-being objectives, equality objectives, Welsh language  strategy) 
 Major procurement and commissioning decisions 
 Decisions that affect the ability (including external partners) to offer Welsh  language opportunities and 

 services 
 Other  

 
(b) Please name and fully describe initiative here:  
Update on the governance and assurance arrangements of Swansea Council’s strategic 
partnerships  
 
 

 
 

Q2 What is the potential impact on the following: the impacts below could be positive 
(+) or negative (-)  

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Needs further  No  
     Investigation  Impact 
     +    -     +    -               +    -    
Children/young people (0-18)      X      
OIder people (50+)      X      
Any other age group        X       
Future Generations (yet to be born)       X      
Disability      X       
Race (including refugees)      X       
Asylum seekers      X      
Gypsies & travellers      X       
Religion or (non-)belief      X      
Sex      X      
Sexual Orientation      X      
Gender reassignment      X       
Welsh Language      X      
Poverty/social exclusion      X      
Carers (inc. young carers)      X      
Community cohesion      X      
Marriage & civil partnership      X      
Pregnancy and maternity      X      
Human Rights      X      Page 194



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix 1 
 

2 
 

 
 
 
Q3 What involvement has taken place/will you undertake e.g. 

engagement/consultation/co-productive approaches?   
 Please provide details below – either of your activities or your reasons for not 

undertaking involvement 
 All of the strategic partnerships have engaged and consulted with a range of different 

stakeholders including the public during the development of their respective plans. This 
report is a retrospective update on the governance and assurance arrangements of each 
partnership. 

 
 
 
Q4 Have you considered the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 in the 
 development of this initiative:   
 

a) Overall does the initiative support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being Objectives when considered 
together?  
 Yes X                  No          
 

b) Does the initiative consider maximising contribution to each of the seven national well-being goals?  
 Yes X                  No          
 

c) Does the initiative apply each of the five ways of working? 
 Yes X                  No          
 

d) Does the initiative meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs?  
 Yes X                  No          
 

 
 
Q5 What is the potential risk of the initiative? (Consider the following impacts – equality, 

socio-economic, environmental, cultural, legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
                      X   
 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

  Yes        No X  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
 

Q7 Will this initiative result in any changes needed to the external or internal website? 
 

  Yes        No X  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
 
Q8  What is the cumulative impact of this proposal on people and/or communities 
when considering all the impacts identified within the screening and any other key 
decisions affecting similar groups/ service users made by the organisation?   

Page 195



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix 1 
 

3 
 

(You may need to discuss this with your Service Head or Cabinet Member to consider more widely if this 
proposal will affect certain groups/ communities more adversely because of other decisions the 
organisation is making. For example, financial impact/poverty, withdrawal of multiple services and 
whether this is disadvantaging the same groups, e.g., disabled people, older people, single parents (who 
are mainly women), etc.)   
 
Outcome of Screening 
This is a for information report and it does not contain any proposals which will impact upon 
people or communities.  
 

 
Q9 Please describe the outcome of your screening using the headings below: 

• Summary of impacts identified and mitigation needed (Q2) 
• Summary of involvement (Q3) 
• WFG considerations (Q4) 
• Any risks identified (Q5) 
• Cumulative impact (Q7) 

 
This is a retrospective description of the governance and assurance arrangements of 
Swansea’s strategic partnerships. All of the partnerships have engaged with stakeholders in a 
variety of different ways which are appropriate and proportionate to the legislative and policy 
drivers of each partnership. The work of the partnerships have taken into account the 7 national 
goals and the 5 ways of working and the sustainability duty within the Well-being and Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. This is a for information report and does not contain any new 
proposals, therefore risks and the cumulative impact of the report is negligible.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  (NB: This summary paragraph should be used in the  ‘Integrated Assessment Implications’ 

section of corporate report)  
   

 Full IIA to be completed  
 

 X Do not complete IIA – please ensure you have provided the relevant information above to support this 
 outcome 

    
 
NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before 
obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via 
email. 
Screening completed by: 
Name: Joanne Portwood 
Job title: Policy and Strategy Officer 
Date: 16/10/23 

 

Approval by Head of Service: 
Name: Lee Wenham 
Position: Head of Communications and Marketing 
Date: 16/10/23 

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

Page 196

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 

 

 
Report of the Director of Corporate Services 

 
Governance and Audit Committee – October 2023 

 

Employment of Agency Staff - 2023 Update 
 

Purpose: To provide an update from the 2021 
Employment of Agency Staff Audit report.  

 
Report Author: Rachael Davies, Head of HR and Service 

Centre 
  
Finance Officer: Ben Smith  
  
Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 
  
Access to Services Officer: Catherine Window 
 
For Information 

 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 As a result of an internal audit on the Employment of Agency Staff carried out 

in 2021/22, an assurance level of “Substantial” was given. 
 

1.2 At the September 2022 Governance and Audit Committee meeting an update 
report was provided which addressed the issues raised by the Committee as 
a result of the 2021/22 audit report. 

 
1.3 In the September 2022 meeting the following areas of discussion arose: 
 

 The number of Agency Workers being employed in Waste, the continuous 
need to maintain frontline services within that service area and recent 
recruitments made by the service. 

 

 Provision of details of agency workers employed for more than 12 months in 
a future report.  

 

 Provision of details of high usage of agency workers against high sickness 
levels in a future report. 

 

Page 197

Agenda Item 10



 

 Provision of agency worker figures from the amalgamated Parks and 
Cleansing Services. 

 

 The use of contractors instead of agency workers. 
 

 The need to hire agency workers to complete seasonal jobs due to the lack 
of candidates.  

 
2.  Actions Undertaken  
 
2.1 The Agency Worker Policy was updated in 2021 to guide managers on the 

appropriate engagement of agency workers in their respective areas and 
has been reviewed in 2022/23. It will be further updated in advance of April 
2024 when the new agency contract will be in place. 

 
2.2 HR&OD continue to send reminders to Managers to review the engagement 

of agency workers who have been engaged for over 12 months and 
Managers are required to confirm that it is still appropriate for the Council to 
engage an agency worker rather than employ someone in the post.  

 
2.3 The engagement of non-corporate contracted agencies has been 
 addressed and all managers via a briefing note have been reminded of the 
 appropriate use of agency workers and that approved suppliers only must 
 be used, unless there are exceptional or emergency 
 circumstances/situations which is authorised by Procurement. 
 
2.4   In relation to “contract spend with companies providing agency workers”, a 

competitive re-tender exercise for the provision of Agency Services has 
been advertised openly on Sell2Wales and the evaluation exercise has 
been completed, with value for money considerations such as rates offered 
forming part of the assessment criteria. After the award has been made the 
new contract will be in place from April 2024. 

 
2.5 The number of Agency Workers being employed in Waste, the continuous 

need to maintain frontline services within that service area and recent 
recruitments made by the service. 

  
 Please see the table in section 3 and commentary in section 7.2 of this report. 
 
2.6 Provision of details of agency workers employed for more than 12 months in 
 a future report.  
 
 Length of time spent on agency fluctuates on a frequent basis and movement 
 is continuous throughout the year. It is difficult to therefore maintain stability 
 in demographics of agency usage. However, there are clear expectations and 
 processes in place that HR support managers with in challenging the use of 
 agency where appropriate and a move to contracted employment is 
 encouraged where there is evidence to suggest that the nature of the work is 
 ongoing. 
 

Page 198



 

2.7 Provision of details of high usage of agency workers against high sickness 
 levels in a future report. 
 
 Where sickness occurs in the Social Services and Place directorates there 
 will be a great number of posts that require immediate cover to continue to 
 provide services to residents and the need for agency that can work from day 
 one of absence is unavoidable. There is currently a challenge with recruiting 
 to fixed term contracts that are short in duration and applicant numbers for 
 these types of contracts can be very low, or in a number of cases, no 
 applications are received. The labour market suggests that permanent 
 employment is preferential in the economic climate and the unstable nature 
 of fixed term employment is causing difficulty in filling key posts when funding 
 may not continue. Consequently, agency demand increases as an 
 alternative way of identifying resource. Section 3 of this report shows the 
 breakdown of agency in each directorate and a separate report on sickness 
 absence is also being presented to Governance and Audit Committee which 
 will align with this report. The sickness absence report will show that most of 
 the absence falls within the Social Services and Place directorates.  The 
 table in section 3 shows that likewise, most of the agency use corresponds 
 with the sickness absence levels and falls within Social Services and Place. 
 
2.8 Provision of agency worker figures from the amalgamated Parks and 
 Cleansing Services. 
 
 Please see the table in section 3 of this report. 
 
2.9 The use of contractors instead of agency workers. 
 
 IR35 legislation requires employers to ensure that appropriate checks 
 are in place to ensure HMRC compliance where contractors are used. 
 There are currently no contractors under IR35 being engaged by the 
 Council but some work may be subcontracted where agency workers cannot 
 be sourced e.g. toilet and beach cleaning as referred to in section 7.2. 
 
2.10 The need to hire agency workers to complete seasonal jobs due to the lack 
 of candidates.  
 
 Please see the commentary in section 7.2 of this report. A lack of 

candidates is prevalent with employment that is not permanent and we are 
seeing this with fixed term contracts as well as seasonal work. The current 
economic climate is contributing to the demand for stable employment in 
the labour market and as such, more flexible, short term opportunities are 
not perceived in as attractive a way as permanent employment. 

 
3. Agency Worker Numbers 
 
Total number of agency workers engaged through the corporate contracted 
agencies (Staffline and RSD Social Care), and reflecting the Governance and 
Audit Committee request are now detailed monthly as follows; 
  

Page 199



 

 
 
*Awaiting last quarter data from the agencies for June-September 

 
February 2023 was the month where the greatest amount of agency work was 
required, with 341 engagements. There has been a decline each month since, 
reducing to 261 by May 2023. This would be explained by the need to cover front 
line services in social care during the Winter period.  
 
Social Services usage peaked in November and December 2022 at 193 agency 
workers for those months, but this has steadily declined each month since and by 
May 2023 was at 124 agency workers.  
 
The numbers engaged through agency in Place have decreased when compared 
to the same period last year, averaging 140 compared to 170 in 2022/23. 
 
The increase in usage throughout the latter part of 2022 and the beginning of 2023 
is in part due to labour market challenges with fixed term recruitment. Permanent 
employment is far more attractive to job applicants given the current economic 
climate and fixed term roles, particularly those of less than 12 months’ duration, 
are becoming increasingly challenging to fill. The only alternative to contracted 
staff is to source agency workers to ensure seamless service delivery for 
residents. 

 
4. Agency Worker Cost 

 
A comparison of agency spend comparison from 2021/22 to 2022/23 is shown in 
the table below: 
 

21/22 Annual spend 
(excl VAT)  

  22/23 Annual spend 
(excl VAT)  

Aled Simons 1,680.00   Aled Simons 3,420.00 

Wellell UK Ltd 14,730.00   Wellell UK Ltd 23,516.00 

Beverly Goold 17,004.00   Beverly Goold 19,217.00 

Manpower UK Ltd 24,596.00   Manpower UK 
Ltd 

29,370.00 

Steddy Ltd 48,432.00   Steddy Ltd 62,708.00 

Directorate Service Area Oct-22 Nov-22 Dec-22 Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23

Corporate Building Services 6 6 6 6 6 3 3 3

Cultural Services 5 5 4 5 5 5 0 2

Highways & Transportation 14 13 12 18 17 18 19 19

Housing & Public Health 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 4

Planning & City Regeneration 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Property Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Waste, Parks and Cleansing 119 114 110 109 114 115 109 103

PLACE TOTAL 147 141 135 141 145 144 137 134

Variation on last year -26 -23 -24 -14 -12 -15 -2 -22

Adult Services

Child & Family Services

SOCIAL SERVICES TOTAL 188 191 190 176 193 159 122 124

Variation on last year 181 186 186 143 168 117 61 49

Communications & Marketing 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0

Digital and Transformation 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 0

HR & Service Centre 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 3

Legal & Democratic Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CORPORATE SERVICES TOTAL

Education 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Finance 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0

GRAND TOTAL 337 334 327 320 341 305 263 261

Place

Social Services

Corporate Services

Page 200



 

Ace Social Work 
Ltd 

80,740.00   Ace Social 
Work Ltd 

126,115.00 

Hays Specialist 
Recruitment Ltd 

216,064.00   Hays 
Specialist 
Recruitment 
Ltd 

523,041.00 

RSD Technology 
Ltd 

240,029.00   RSD 
Technology 
Ltd 

596,432.00 

RSD Social Care 922,490.00   RSD Social 
Care 

1,240,094.00 

Prospero Group 
Ltd 

485,659.00   Prospero 
Group Ltd 

10,309.00 

Staffline Group Plc 
T/A Select 
Appointments Ltd 

3,807,267.00   Staffline Group 
Plc T/A Select 
Appointments 
Ltd 

3,858,151.00 

Total Agency 
spend 21/22 

5,777,951.00   Total Agency 
spend 22/23  

6,366,258.00 

 
The data shows that there has been an increase in agency expenditure when 
compared to the same period by £588,307. This is in line with expected rising 
costs due to inflationary pressures felt in 2022 and does not show any noticeable 
growth of usage, but a stable position compared to the previous year. 
 
The largest total spend continues to be with Staffline and RSD Social Care.. The 
majority of providers have risen with expected levels given inflationary pay rises 
and the overall increase is not out of kilter with the record levels of inflation 
experienced during 2022/23.  
 
5. Compliance 

 
Heads of Service are expected to be compliant with the measures indicated in the 
Audit Report as follows:  
 

 Confirmation of budget provision should be obtained and retained for all 
agency staff appointments.  

 HoS approval should be obtained and retained for all appointments of agency 
workers by line managers.  

 Confirmation of appropriate pre-employment checks should be obtained from 
the Agency and retained by the line manager.  

 Confirmation of further budgetary provision should be obtained and retained 
when agency workers contracts are extended  

 Written requests should be submitted to HoS for re-approval when agency 
workers contracts are extended. This should be in advance of the contract 
being extended.  

 Agency workers engaged by the Council for more than 12 weeks should be 
made aware that they are entitled to equal treatment on basic working and 
employment conditions.  

Page 201



 

6. Social Services Directorate Feedback:  
 

The Directorate remains compliant in all areas and the Social Services Workforce 
Lead has Directorate oversight and governance over the engagement of Agency 
Workers.  
 
Agency worker use remains high across Residential Care due to the impact of  
workforce instability and this is reflected in the Agency numbers contained in the 
table in Section 3. 

 
7. Place Directorate Feedback; 
 
7.1  Waste, Parks and Cleansing  
 
Confirmation has been received that this Service area continues to remain 
compliant in all areas.  
 
Agency staff are engaged for one of the following reasons: 
 
i.  To cover temporary absences of employed staff, such as sickness and 
 leave,  where there is a need to maintain the level of resource 
ii.  To cover temporary positions where the use of agency is considered to 
 most appropriate method, often where the length of need is unknown, or 
 temporary/seasonal recruitment has been unsuccessful. 
iii.  To cover permanent positions pending recruitment 
 
It is intended that Agency staff will continue to be used, where most appropriate, 
until either recruitment into permanent positions has taken place, or 
permanent/seasonal/temporary recruitment becomes the most appropriate way to 
fill a role. 
 
Alternative options to minimise use of agency staff continue to be explored and 
used, and is demonstrated as follows: 
 
i.  We have recruited 102 new starters and Trainees over the last 5 years in 
 Waste, Parks, & Cleansing 
ii.  We have trained and given Relief Driver roles to 15 Waste Operatives as 
 cover for Driver absences to avoid the need for agency drivers 
iii.  We are using contractors to supplement toilet and beach cleaning to avoid 
 the use of agency. 
 
HoS approval is obtained and retained for fixed term placements. There is ongoing 
approval to request agency resources on a daily basis to ensure that the staffing 
levels meet the requirements to deliver the service on a daily basis.  Some of 
these requirements are not known until 6am on the day, due to last minute ‘no 
shows’.  The new draft of the Agency Policy reflects this. The Waste Service is 
considering seeking approval to recruit over and above the required structure to 
create a pool of staff to cover an expected minimum daily level of absence.  
 

Page 202



 

Confirmation of budget provision is obtained and retained for fixed term 
placements.  There is an allocated budget in Waste Management to cover an 
agency requirement to maintain the staffing structures required to provide the 
service every day.   
 
Agency workers engaged by the Council for more than 12 weeks are made aware 
by their Agency that they are entitled to equal treatment on basic working and 
employment conditions. 
 
8. Other Service areas 
 
Compliant in all areas.  
 
9.  Role of Staffline  
 
Staffline provide the following support to work in partnership with the Council to 
ensure compliance;  
 

 Provision of a policy booklet to all Agency Workers which provides details on 
Agency Workers Regulations and their rights.  

 

 Maintaining a record of all start dates of all Agency Workers.  
 

 After 12 weeks, move workers to the enhanced pay rate and enhanced rights.  
 
10. Future agency contract arrangements 
 
A procurement exercise has been carried out in 2023/24 which invited tenders for 
a new 5-year contract. The evaluations have been completed and the award will 
be made very shortly. A range of criteria were included in the assessment process 
including value for money and the new contract will be in place from April 2024. 
This will mean the Council has assessed the most appropriate agency provision 
for the next 5 years and an opportunity to again remind managers of the correct 
use of agency workers will be cascaded in advance of the new contract being in 
place.  
 
11. Integrated Assessment Implications 
 
11.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and 
the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the exercise of their 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 
• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
 conduct prohibited by the Acts. 
• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
 characteristic and those who do not. 
• Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
 and those who do not. 

Page 203



 

• Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-economic 
 disadvantage 
• Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 
• Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 
• Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability 
 of future generations to meet their own needs. 
 
11.2. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2005 mandates that public 
 bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. Sustainable 
 development means the process of improving the economic, social, 
 environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in 
 accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving 
 the ‘well-being goals’. 
 
11.3. Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid due 
 regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and priorities, 
 such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, carers, the 
 United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and Welsh 
 language. 
 
11.4 There are no direct implications associated with this report. 
 
12 Financial Implications 
 
12.1 There are no financial implications other than those set out in the body of the 

report. 
 
13. Legal Implications 
 
13.1 The Agency Workers Regulations Act 2010 provide important rights for 

agency workers, concerning their basic working and employment conditions, 
from day one and after a 12-week qualifying period. These rights are reflected 
in our Policy. 

 
13.2 There are no other legal implications other than those set out in the body of 

the report. 
 
Background Papers: None. 
 
Appendices:  Appendix A - Integrated Impact Assessment Form 

Page 204



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix A 
 

1 
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form.  
 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 
Service Area: HR and Service Centre 
Directorate: Corporate Services 
 
Q1 (a) What are you screening for relevance? 
 
 

 New and revised policies, practices or procedures  
      Service review, re-organisation or service changes/reductions, which affect the wider community, service 

 users and/or staff  
     Efficiency or saving proposals 
     Setting budget allocations for new financial year and strategic financial planning 
    New project proposals affecting staff, communities or accessibility to the built environment, e.g., new 

 construction work or adaptations to existing buildings, moving to on-line services, changing location 
 Large Scale Public Events 
 Local implementation of National Strategy/Plans/Legislation 
 Strategic directive and intent, including those developed at Regional Partnership Boards and Public Services 

 Board, which impact on a public bodies functions 
 Medium to long term plans (for example, corporate plans, development plans, service delivery and 

 improvement plans) 
 Setting objectives (for example, well-being objectives, equality objectives, Welsh language  strategy) 
 Major procurement and commissioning decisions 
 Decisions that affect the ability (including external partners) to offer Welsh  language opportunities and 

 services 
 Other  

 
(b) Please name and fully describe initiative here:  
 
To provide an update report to the Governance & Audit Committee on actions arising from the 
Agency Worker Audit report. 
 

 
 

Q2 What is the potential impact on the following: the impacts below could be positive 
(+) or negative (-)  

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Needs further  No  
     Investigation  Impact 
     +    -     +    -               +    -    
Children/young people (0-18)           
OIder people (50+)           
Any other age group              
Future Generations (yet to be born)            
Disability            
Race (including refugees)            
Asylum seekers           
Gypsies & travellers            
Religion or (non-)belief           
Sex           
Sexual Orientation           
Gender reassignment            
Welsh Language           
Poverty/social exclusion           
Carers (inc. young carers)           
Community cohesion           
Marriage & civil partnership           
Pregnancy and maternity           
Human Rights           Page 205



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix A 
 

2 
 

 
 
 
Q3 What involvement has taken place/will you undertake e.g. 

engagement/consultation/co-productive approaches?   
 Please provide details below – either of your activities or your reasons for not 

undertaking involvement 
 
This is an update report for Audit Committee. There is no requirement for engagement, 
consultation or co-production. 
 
Q4 Have you considered the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 in the 
 development of this initiative:   
 

a) Overall does the initiative support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being Objectives when considered 
together?  
 Yes                  No          
 

b) Does the initiative consider maximising contribution to each of the seven national well-being goals?  
 Yes                  No          
 

c) Does the initiative apply each of the five ways of working? 
 Yes                  No          
 

d) Does the initiative meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs?  
 Yes                  No          
 

 
 
Q5 What is the potential risk of the initiative? (Consider the following impacts – equality, 

socio-economic, environmental, cultural, legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
                         
 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
 

Q7 Will this initiative result in any changes needed to the external or internal website? 
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
 
Q8  What is the cumulative impact of this proposal on people and/or communities 
when considering all the impacts identified within the screening and any other key 
decisions affecting similar groups/ service users made by the organisation?   
 
There is no direct cumulative impact on people and /or communities other than to ensure that 
services are supported through provision of suitable resources, with appropriate governance, in 
line with Council policy. Page 206



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix A 
 

3 
 

 
Outcome of Screening 

 
Q9 Please describe the outcome of your screening using the headings below: 

• Summary of impacts identified and mitigation needed (Q2) 
• Summary of involvement (Q3) 
• WFG considerations (Q4) 
• Any risks identified (Q5) 
• Cumulative impact (Q7) 

 
There are no direct implications as a result of this report. 
 
  (NB: This summary paragraph should be used in the  ‘Integrated Assessment Implications’ 

section of corporate report)  
   

 Full IIA to be completed  
 

 Do not complete IIA – please ensure you have provided the relevant information above to support this 
 outcome 

    
 
NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before 
obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via 
email. 
Screening completed by: 
Name: Rachael Davies 
Job title: Head of HR and Service Centre 
Date: 10/10/2023 

 

Approval by Head of Service: 
Name: Rachael Davies 
Position: Head of HR and Service Centre 
Date: 10/10/2023 

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

Page 207

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 

 

 
Report of the Director of Corporate Services 

 
Governance and Audit Committee – 25 October 2023 

 

Absence Management Audit Report Update   
 

Purpose: To provide an update on the Absence 
Management audit report for the above 
period  

 
Report Authors: Rachael Davies (Head of HR and Service 

Centre) 
  
Finance Officer: Ben Smith 
  
Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 
  
Access to Services Officer: Rhian Millar 
 
For Information 

 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 As a result of the first internal audit on Absence Management carried out in 

2020, an assurance level of moderate was given. A further audit is being 
carried out as at October 2023 but the outcome will not be known prior to 
Governance and Audit Committee meeting to discuss the latest assurance 
level. 
 

1.2 An action plan was developed to address the issues identified and 
appropriate implementation steps put in place.   
 

1.3 This action plan identified High Risk and Medium Risk actions and as 
previously reported to the committee in September 2022, all 
recommendations have been implemented. 

 
1.4 The Committee discussed the following items as areas for future 
 consideration and this report seeks to respond to the discussion topics: 
 

 Sickness data relating to the current financial year, the potential financial 
implications if the figures remained high until the end of the financial year and 
how Directorates would have to absorb the costs from budgets.  

Page 208

Agenda Item 11



 

 Remit of Management of Absence Advisors and training provision provided. 

 Assurances that frontline managers were aware of the Council’s policies and 
procedures. 

 Management of Absence Advisors working across all Directorates.  

 Provision of additional details including reasons in relation to sickness within 
the Social Services Directorate.  

 The impact of training, support and Occupational Health in driving down the 
overall figures. 

 
1.5 In addition, the Chair requested an evaluation of the effectiveness of the 
 occupational health provision. 
 
2. Sickness data 
 
2.1 The table below shows the historic trend in terms of the Council’s outturn in 
 relation to the Key Performance Indicator for the number of sickness days 
 per FTE over the course of the year. 
 

 
 

2.2 The long term trend for sickness absence days per FTE shows that 
 absence in the Council is a generally static position and has  only met the 
 10 day target three times in the last 13 years.   
 
2.4 Excluding schools, the percentage share of absence across directorates is 
 as follows: 
 

 
 
2.5 It is perhaps to be expected that given the type of work carried out in Social 
 Services and Place that the greater share of absence would fall in these 
 directorates. As with the overall number of days lost, the percentage share 
 by directorate is generally stable. 

Year 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Ave FTE Days Lost 12.55 11.55 11.32 8.79 9.56

Year 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Ave FTE Days Lost 11.82 12.61 11.98 12.97 11.85

Year 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Ave FTE Days Lost 9.23 12.66 12.28

Directorate 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Finance 2.09 2.78

Corporate Services 6.26 5.09 4.06 4.86 4.61

Education 11.83 17.82 14.81 11.77 12.58

Social Services 38.58 35.92 45.43 39.75 38.04

Place 43.33 41.17 35.7 41.53 41.99

Total 100 100 100 100 100

Page 209



 

2.6 Our workforce demographics show that 47% of employees are over the age 
 of 50 and 59% are female. Only 9% of our workforce are under the age of 
 30. According to the Department for Work and Pensions/Department of 
 Health and Social Care’s 2019 report into long term absence employees 
 aged 55-64 are three times as likely to have a long term absence than 
 those employees under 25.1 The report also highlights that those working 
 in the caring, leisure or service sectors are more likely than any other 
 sector to have long term sickness absence. This information  demonstrates 
 the ongoing likelihood of absence that the Council has given that our 
 workforce demographics show the extent of our ageing workforce and 
 female dominated job groups in the sectors with the highest  likelihood of 
 employees needing to take long term sickness absence. 
 
2.7 With the increased prevalence of agile and hybrid working there are new 
 considerations with sickness absence. Whilst there could be a 
 masking of illness due to less physical observation, there are also 
 instances where attending a work location would not be possible whilst 
 manging an illness or health condition and employees would be required to 
 report as sick, carrying out no work. Being able to work in an agile way 
 could lead to increased attendance at work. There are anecdotal pieces of 
 evidence in relation to this  but no numerical data to support a finding. This 
 is an area of future exploration to better understand the full impact of 
 agile working on sickness absence. 
 
2.8 The breakdown of long and short term absence over the last 5 years is 
 shown in the table below and demonstrates that the impact of long term 
 absence is considerably greater than short term based on the number of 
 days lost to each scenario. 70% of all absence in the Council is long term, 
 defined as an absence lasting more than 28 calendar days. 
 

 
 
 
2.9 The top 5 reasons for absence for each of the last 5 years are shown below 
 as a percentage of all absence. These collective 9 reasons for absence 
 account for over half of all staff absence.  Despite Covid appearing as a new 
 reason for absence in 2020, stress has remained the top reason for 
 absence each year. 
 

                                            
1 Health in the workplace: patterns of sickness absence, employer support and employment 
retention (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

Short and long term Long Short Total % long % short

2018/19 57382 22054 79437 72 28

2019/20 63008 23568 86576 72 28

2020/21 58796 15604 74400 79 21

2021/22 71756 29877 101633 70 30

2022/23 64918 28101 93019 70 30

Page 210

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5d2c67de40f0b64a82516308/health-in-the-workplace-statistics.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5d2c67de40f0b64a82516308/health-in-the-workplace-statistics.pdf


 

 
 

3 Further progress as of October 2023 
 

3.1 CMT commissioned an internal review into the effectiveness and value for
 money of the Council’s sickness absence management and  occupational 
 health arrangements and to make recommendations for improvement. This 
 review concluded in October 2023 and has been presented to CMT for 
 discussion. Any decisions taken will focus areas of work on improvements 
 in absence management for the coming year. 

 
3.2 The review focused on the policy approach, impact of short term trigger 
 breaches where disciplinary sanctions are applied on the basis of attendance 
 levels, long term absence interventions and the existing occupational health 
 service, along with the effectiveness of the Management of Absence 
 Advisors in supporting directorates to improve levels of attendance. 

 
3.3 Alternatives to consider were included for CMT discussion and a decision is 
 expected shortly on the areas of focus for future improvement. These 
 alternatives include focusing on wellness in work and retaining staff before 
 they need to take sickness absence, identifying stress as the top strategic 
 priority to address and refocusing the work that Management of Attendance 
 Advisors provide to encourage greater cultural change in supporting wellness 
 rather than delivering policy compliance. 

 
3.4 In addition to the absence and occupational health review work continues in 
 other areas to address management of absence. An Oracle Fusion manager 
 dashboard remains in development with the aim to provide information for all 
 managers with absence management responsibility on the following:- 

 

 Staff absent due to sickness and number of days lost 

 Return to Work interviews outstanding 

 Record of Action meetings outstanding 
 
This information will also be available to the next manager in the hierarchy, 
providing additional data and information to improve absence management 
across the authority. 
 

Top 5 reasons per year 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Stress 25.01 20.59 36.39 28.5 26.28

Covid 10.03 15.63 11.73

Hospitalisation 9.45 7.18 5.48 7.51 6.29

Lower limb 4.27 5.99 4.23

Back 5.33 4.32 4.99

Stomach complaints 5.22 3.64

Personal 5.21

Chest infections 4.2 4.02

Upper limb 4.26

Total 50.22 40.62 61.09 61.27 52.55

Page 211



 

3.5 The monthly reminders to managers have had a positive impact in terms of 
 queries and requests for additional training. 
 
3.6 The Learning Module in Fusion is now complete having launched in July 2023 
 and will provide an additional tool to further improve compliance in completing 
 mandatory sickness management training. 

 
3.7 There is continued improvement in terms of completing Return to Work and 
 Record of Action meetings. 
 
3.8 Management of Absence Advisors have continued to work in the 
 Education, Place and Social Services Directorates to support managers 
 in ensuring compliance with our sickness absence policy and to identify pro-
 active ways in managing and reducing sickness. 

 
This has included; 

 Support to progress current long term sickness cases of over 6 months 
and address cases which are progressing into 6 months and over. 

 

 Early interventions in sickness cases to support managers and 
employees in progressing cases as appropriate.  

 

 Strengthening links with occupational health by arranging review 
meetings with the OH team to assist managers by discussing next step 
plans at an earlier stage.  

 

 Provision of additional dedicated clinics for Social Services staff, to 
minimise the waiting times between referrals and appointments.  

 

 Manager training, guidance and upskilling. 
 

 Support with manager compliance  
  

4. Occupational Health Support 
 
4.1 Occupational health services continue to be provided with a combination of 
 in-house and outsourced support. On average there are 100 referrals 
 received by the department each month and circa 85 of these referrals will 
 be given an appointment with an advisor for further exploration. The 
 resulting 15 will be signposted to other avenues where triaging determines 
 that a medical opinion is not the most appropriate route.  
 
4.2 There were 788 referrals to SMAC over the last 12 months- an average 
 of 66 referrals per month.  The target wait time for access to  stress 
 management and counselling is 10 weeks (unless triaged as high risk) and 
 the current average wait is 5 weeks with employees able to access support 
 via Helping Hands while waiting. 
 
4.3 The number of occupational health referrals for the July 2022-2023 period 
 are illustrated below;  

Page 212



 

 

 
4.3 In addition, the service offers a range of proactive interventions such as 
 stress risk assessment training, Supporting Employee Wellbeing Training, 
 Mental Health First Aid, Health Fairs, suicide awareness training sessions, 
 Therapy Garden, Health Promotion Newsletters, the LGBTQ+ café, 
 menopause café, and a bereavement support group. 
 
4.4 As per the absence management review, the occupational health service 
 review has generated options for CMT to consider implementing in order to 
 improve the impact that OH services can have on long term sickness 
 absence. 
 
4.5 The recommendations for consideration include the potential for an 
 Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) to be introduced to support urgent 
 requirements for in-the-moment crises, removing automatic referrals at 28 
 days absence and promoting earlier intervention and a wider review of the 
 current delivery model. Further updates can be provided to the Committee 
 as this work develops. 

 
5. Integrated Assessment Implications 
 
5.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and 

the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the exercise 
of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 
• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 

other conduct prohibited by the Acts. 
• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not. 
• Foster good relations between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not. 

Page 213



 

• Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-
economic disadvantage 

• Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 
• Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 
• Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising 

the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 
 
5.2. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2005 mandates that 

public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. 
Sustainable development means the process of improving the economic, 
social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving 
the ‘well-being goals’. 

 
5.3. Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid due 

regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and 
priorities, such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, 
carers, the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) 
and Welsh language. 

 
5.4 There is no direct cumulative impact on people and /or communities other 

than to ensure that services are supported through provision of suitable 
resources, with appropriate governance, in line with Council policy.  There 
are no implications identified through the Integrated Impact Assessment 
(IIA) process. Should there be any policy changes as a result of the CMT 
review these would be subject to an IIA assessment to identify any impact 
on people or groups. 

 
6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There are no financial implications other than those set out in the body of the 

report. 
 
7. Legal Implications 
 
7.1 There are no legal implications other than those set out in the body of the 

report. 
 
Background Papers:  None. 
 
Appendices: Appendix A - Impact Assessment Report  
 
  

 
 

Page 214



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix A 
 

1 
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form.  
 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 
Service Area: HR and Service Centre 
Directorate: Corporate Services 
 
Q1 (a) What are you screening for relevance? 
 
 

 New and revised policies, practices or procedures  
      Service review, re-organisation or service changes/reductions, which affect the wider community, service 

 users and/or staff  
     Efficiency or saving proposals 
     Setting budget allocations for new financial year and strategic financial planning 
    New project proposals affecting staff, communities or accessibility to the built environment, e.g., new 

 construction work or adaptations to existing buildings, moving to on-line services, changing location 
 Large Scale Public Events 
 Local implementation of National Strategy/Plans/Legislation 
 Strategic directive and intent, including those developed at Regional Partnership Boards and Public Services 

 Board, which impact on a public bodies functions 
 Medium to long term plans (for example, corporate plans, development plans, service delivery and 

 improvement plans) 
 Setting objectives (for example, well-being objectives, equality objectives, Welsh language  strategy) 
 Major procurement and commissioning decisions 
 Decisions that affect the ability (including external partners) to offer Welsh  language opportunities and 

 services 
 Other  

 
(b) Please name and fully describe initiative here:  
 
To provide an update report to the Governance & Audit Committee on actions arising from the 
Sickness Absence Audit report. 
 

 
 

Q2 What is the potential impact on the following: the impacts below could be positive 
(+) or negative (-)  

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Needs further  No  
     Investigation  Impact 
     +    -     +    -               +    -    
Children/young people (0-18)           
OIder people (50+)           
Any other age group              
Future Generations (yet to be born)            
Disability            
Race (including refugees)            
Asylum seekers           
Gypsies & travellers            
Religion or (non-)belief           
Sex           
Sexual Orientation           
Gender reassignment            
Welsh Language           
Poverty/social exclusion           
Carers (inc. young carers)           
Community cohesion           
Marriage & civil partnership           
Pregnancy and maternity           
Human Rights           Page 215



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix A 
 

2 
 

 
 
 
Q3 What involvement has taken place/will you undertake e.g. 

engagement/consultation/co-productive approaches?   
 Please provide details below – either of your activities or your reasons for not 

undertaking involvement 
 
This is an update report for Audit Committee. There is no requirement for engagement, 
consultation or co-production. 
 
Q4 Have you considered the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 in the 
 development of this initiative:   
 

a) Overall does the initiative support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being Objectives when considered 
together?  
 Yes                  No          
 

b) Does the initiative consider maximising contribution to each of the seven national well-being goals?  
 Yes                  No          
 

c) Does the initiative apply each of the five ways of working? 
 Yes                  No          
 

d) Does the initiative meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs?  
 Yes                  No          
 

 
 
Q5 What is the potential risk of the initiative? (Consider the following impacts – equality, 

socio-economic, environmental, cultural, legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
                         
 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
 

Q7 Will this initiative result in any changes needed to the external or internal website? 
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
 
Q8  What is the cumulative impact of this proposal on people and/or communities 
when considering all the impacts identified within the screening and any other key 
decisions affecting similar groups/ service users made by the organisation?   
 
There is no direct cumulative impact on people and /or communities other than to ensure that 
services are supported through provision of suitable resources, with appropriate governance, in 
line with Council policy. Page 216



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix A 
 

3 
 

 
Outcome of Screening 

 
Q9 Please describe the outcome of your screening using the headings below: 

• Summary of impacts identified and mitigation needed (Q2) 
• Summary of involvement (Q3) 
• WFG considerations (Q4) 
• Any risks identified (Q5) 
• Cumulative impact (Q7) 

 
 
 
  (NB: This summary paragraph should be used in the  ‘Integrated Assessment Implications’ 

section of corporate report)  
   

 Full IIA to be completed  
 

 Do not complete IIA – please ensure you have provided the relevant information above to support this 
 outcome 

    
 
NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before 
obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via 
email. 
Screening completed by: 
Name: Rachael Davies 
Job title: Head of HR and Service Centre 
Date: 10/10/2023 

 

Approval by Head of Service: 
Name: Rachael Davies 
Position: Head of HR and Service Centre 
Date: 10/10/2023 

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

Page 217

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Community 
 

Governance & Audit Committee – 25 October 2023 
 

Report on the Audit Wales ‘A Missed Opportunity’ – 
Social Enterprises Report Recommendations 

 
Purpose: To provide a briefing to the Governance and Audit 

Committee on the findings of the Auditor General for 
Wales review of Social Enterprises in Wales and its 
recommendations for action by local authorities. 
 

Report Authors: Lee Cambule  

Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 
 

Finance Officer: 
 

Chris Davies 

Access to Services 
Officer: 

Rhian Millar 
 

 

For Information 
 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Swansea Council’s Report on the Audit Wales ‘A missed opportunity’ 

Social Enterprises report recommendations provides a summary of the 
report and its findings, as well as highlighting the action taken by Swansea 
Council to date. This includes our response to the three recommendations 
and notes areas for further action which we intend to explore further. 
 

2. Context 
 
2.1 On 1 December 2022, Audit Wales published the report ‘A missed 

opportunity’ – Social Enterprises, looking at how local authorities across 
Wales are working to grow and make the most of Social Enterprises. A 
copy of the report is available for reference at 
https://www.audit.wales/publication/missed-opportunity-social-enterprises.  

 
2.2 The report shares the finding of the second of three investigations by Audit 

Wales on the challenge of alleviating and tackling poverty. The overall 
conclusion of the report is that “local authorities are not effectively working 
with Social Enterprises to maximise their impact, make better use of 
resources and improve services for people and communities”. 

Page 218

Agenda Item 12

https://www.audit.wales/publication/missed-opportunity-social-enterprises


3. Content  
 
3.1 The report considers the strategic approach of local authorities to working 

with Social Enterprises. It summarises that local authorities take a passive 
leadership role with variable support arrangements that means local 
authorities miss out on the potential for Social Enterprises to help deliver 
services that improve the quality of live for our population. 

 
3.2 The report considers the mechanisms that local authorities have in place to 

maximise the value of Social Enterprises. It summarises that there are 
issues impacting the effectiveness of local authorities’ processes in getting 
the most value from Social Enterprises, from bureaucratic processes and a 
lack of resources to some procurement and commissioning arrangements 
potentially discouraging engagement with Social Enterprises. 

 
3.3 The report considers the ways that local authorities evaluate and report on 

their duties and impacts in relation to Social Enterprises. It summarises that 
most local authorities are not delivering their responsibilities under the 
Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014, although there are some 
good opportunities for development as well as a drive for positive change. 
For reference, Section 16 of the Act places a duty on local authorities to 
‘promote development of Social Enterprises to provide care and 
support and preventative services’.  

 
3.4 The report highlights the following three recommendations: 
 

 Recommendation What the report says 

R1 Conduct self 
evaluation 

To get the best from their work with and funding of Social Enterprises, 
local authorities need to ensure they have the right arrangements and 
systems in place. We recommend that local authority officers use the 
checklist in Appendix 2 to:  

 self-evaluate current Social Enterprise engagement, 
management, performance and practice;  

 identify opportunities to improve joint working; and  

 jointly draft and implement an action plan with timeframes and 
responsibilities clearly set out to address the gaps and 
weaknesses identified through the self-evaluation. 

 

R2 Deliver Action Plan To drive improvement we recommend that the local authority: 

 formally approve the completed Action Plan; 

 regularly report, monitor and evaluate performance at relevant 
scrutiny committees; and 

 revise actions and targets in light of the authority’s evaluation and 
assessment of its performance. 

 

R3 Leadership on the 
poverty agenda 

To ensure the local authority delivers its S.16 responsibilities to 
promote Social Enterprises we recommend that it reports on current 
activity and future priorities following the evaluation of its Action Plan 
including the Annual Report of the Director of Social Services. 

 

Page 219



4.  Way Forward 
 

4.1  Our analysis of the findings of Audit Wales’ report is detailed in the report 
at Appendix A. This includes the first iteration of our completed self-
evaluation checklist, which has been developed in collaboration with 
colleagues across the organisation and with oversight from the Enabling 
Communities Group and Swansea Council Poverty Forum. 

 
4.2  Based on the evaluation completed as part of the first recommendation, we 

have identified the following key actions to be taken forward: 
 

Actions 

1) We will co-produce, approve, publish and promote our regional vision for Social Enterprises. 
 

2) We will create an engagement plan for continuous communication and interaction with Social 
Enterprise providers across Swansea. 
 

3) We will complete mapping and analysis of existing Social Enterprises across Swansea. 
 

4) We will support and deliver the Regional Social and Micro Enterprise Project Plan in line with 
key milestones, resources and constraints. 

 
5) We will implement a framework for developing and promoting Social Enterprises in Swansea. 

 
6) We will implement a framework for performance and financial monitoring and reporting relating 

to the work of Local Authorities in developing and promoting Social Enterprises in Swansea. 
 

7) We will work with our partners to promote Social Enterprises in Swansea and the value of 
social enterprise. 
 

8) We will develop the Council's relationships with local people and communities to increase 
awareness and understanding of social enterprise and help them to get more involved in 
developing new initiatives in their areas. 

 
9) We will work with our partners to improve the skills and capabilities relevant to Social 

Enterprises in Swansea. 
 

10) We will explore and recommend how information on and access to social and micro enterprises 
is best held and share that link with people with care and support needs to the people providing 
that support. 

 

11) We will advise on available quality standards for social and micro enterprise. 

 
4.3  We agree with the findings of the Audit Wales report and are committed to 

deliver the actions identified above through our existing transformation 
programme governance arrangements. There is a vital role for Social 
Enterprises to play in responding to this challenge and we can help the 
Social Enterprise sector to flourish in this region. 

 
 

Page 220



5. Integrated Assessment Implications 
 

5.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and 
the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the 
exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to:: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-
economic disadvantage 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising 
the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
5.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that 

public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. 
Sustainable development means the process of improving the economic, 
social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving 
the ‘well-being goals’. 

 
5.3 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid due 

regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and 
priorities, such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, the 
United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and Welsh 
language.  

 
5.4 An Integrated Impact Screening has been completed for this report with no 

further assessment required (See Appendix C). This is an IIA Screening for 
the ‘For Information’ Report to the Governance and Audit Committee 
regarding on the findings of the Auditor General for Wales review of Social 
Enterprises in Wales and its recommendations for action by local 
authorities.  A full IIA will be carried out as part of the development process 
for the Tackling Poverty Strategy in due course. 

 
6. Legal implications  
 
6.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 
7. Finance Implications 
 
7.1 There are no immediate financial implications associated with this report. 

The actions noted in section 4 will be undertaken in line with departmental 
budgets. 

 

Page 221



 
Background papers: None 
 
Appendices:  
Appendix A – Report on the Audit Wales ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social 
Enterprises report recommendations 
Appendix B – ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises Report 
Appendix C – Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) Screening 

Page 222



Appendix A 
 

1 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Report on the Audit Wales ‘A missed 
opportunity’ report recommendations 

 
 

Governance & Audit Committee 
 
 

25 October 2023 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 223



Appendix A 
 

2 
 

1. Executive Summary 
 
In 2017, Swansea Council published Working towards prosperity for all in Swansea: A 
tackling poverty strategy for Swansea. This corporate strategy represented the Council’s 
commitment to reducing poverty and the impacts that poverty has on the people of Swansea. 
In line with this commitment, tackling poverty is one of Swansea Council’s well-being 
objectives defined in its Corporate Plan 2023-2027: 
 

Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities so that every person in Swansea can 
achieve their potential. 

 
On 1st December 2022, Audit Wales published the report ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social 
Enterprises. The report looks at how local authorities across Wales are working to grow and 
make the most of Social Enterprises. The report concludes that “local authorities are not 
effectively working with Social Enterprises to maximise their impact, make better use of 
resources and improve services for people and communities”. 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the findings of this report (including the 
key recommendations for consideration) and set out proposals for our local response. 
 
 

2. Context 
 
Social Enterprises are businesses which trade for a social or environmental purpose. They 
operate across many different industries and there are estimated to be around 100,000 social 
enterprises in the UK. In the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, Section 16 
imposes a duty on local authorities to promote social enterprises, co-operative organisations, 
co-operative arrangements and third sector organisations to provide care and support and 
preventative services in their area. 
 
Audit Wales published this report as the second of three 
key reviews relating to tackling poverty in Wales (the 
other reports being ‘Time for Change’ and ‘Together 
We Can’). This report was compiled based on a high-
level examination of all local authorities in Wales 
conducted between August 2021 and September 2022, 
using document reviews, data analysis, interviews and 
surveys to inform the final report.  
 
The report recognises most local authorities take a 
passive or responsive approach to social enterprises, 
with little evidence of leadership or proactive 
engagement in this area. This includes the link to Social 
Value, where processes and resource constraints mean 
that procurement and commissioning opportunities do 
not encourage or enable a role for social enterprise. 
While the likes of Regional Partnership Boards (RPB) 
encourage change in this area, most local authorities are 
not delivering their commitments against Section 16 of 
the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act in 
relation to promoting Social Enterprises. 
 

Page 224



Appendix A 
 

3 
 

Considering the strategic approach of local authorities to working with Social Enterprises, the 
report highlights the importance of mapping and understanding role of Social Enterprises in 
their local area. Where local authorities talk positively about Social Enterprises, this does not 
translate into action or realisation of the benefits that social enterprises can provide. No local 
authorities in Wales have a dedicated Social Enterprise strategy or a clear vision for the 
potential outcomes of social enterprises to people and communities (especially considering 
collaborative working opportunities). Leadership from local authorities is often limited and not 
senior enough to direct resources, policies and decisions, while there is limited information 
and promotion of social enterprises by local authorities (e.g. on council websites). 
 
Considering how local authorities exploit the potential value of Social Enterprises, the report 
highlights that most social enterprises in Wales get their income from trading with the public 
or grants from public sector sources like Welsh Government, which indicates an opportunity 
for local authorities to tap into this potential. Recognising the continuing economic pressures 
facing local authorities, the report does recognise their strong record of local economic 
development and the opportunities are there if we can overcome barriers such as: 
 

 Procurement rules that discourage smaller businesses; 

 Processes focus on profit and savings over social value, community resilience and well-
being; 

 Preference of local authorities to ‘work with what we know’ rather than actively seeking 
new opportunities; 

 Limited skilled resources in local authorities to target Social Enterprises. 
 
It is worth noting that social value is a key driver in the potential of Social Enterprises and the 
report highlights the lack of definitions and measures relating to social value. Procurement 
and commissioning teams often lack the right skills and capacity to realise the benefits of 
social value although there is good evidence of approaches to developing social value such 
as in partnership with the third sector. 
 
Considering how local authorities deliver their responsibilities under Section 16 of the Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, the report evidences that few local authority 
officers were aware of the legal duty and how they play a role in growing the social enterprise 
sector. This was in particular reference to the social care sector where the private sector 
remains the dominant partner. The creation of Social Value Forums through the RPBs is 
intended to drive delivery of the Section 16 responsibilities at a regional level while Directors 
of Social Services are required to produce an annual report setting out the improvement 
journey of each local authority in providing services to the people in its area. There are other 
areas of improvement such as reporting to elected members and outcome-based reporting. 
 
Other findings of the report include: 

 Social Enterprises are worth a combined £60 billion to the UK economy and employ 
around 2 million people; 

 Over 60% of Welsh Social Enterprises only work in one local authority area given that 
they are primarily community-based; 

 In Swansea, the number of social enterprises is growing, up by 17% from 135 in 2018 to 
158 in 2020; 

 In 2020, the sectors with the highest proportion of social enterprises were a) arts, 
entertainment, recreation and other services (26%), b) community centre, social space 
and youth clubs (20%), c) Education (10%) and Health & Care (9%); 

 Ways of working relating to relationships between local authorities and social enterprises 
vary across Wales, with a small number of councils funding their own social enterprises; 

Page 225



Appendix A 
 

4 
 

 The language relation to Section 16 duties, specifically the word “promote”, leaves a 
wide interpretation across local authorities with little activity focused on helping to create 
new Social Enterprises. 

 
 

3. Findings 
 
This report from Audit Wales highlights an opportunity for the Council to do more to actively 
promote and support the Social Enterprise sector in Swansea, as well as deliver its duties in 
relation to the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act. We recognise the role that Social 
Enterprises can play, sitting between public and private sectors to deliver a wide range of 
services and support to individuals and communities. This is particularly relevant to supporting 
disadvantaged areas such as people who are in poverty. 
 
The report provides some good practice examples from various local authorities in Wales and 
across the UK but it encourages each local authority in Wales to undertake an internal 
evaluation of where it is now with Social Enterprises. An evaluation tool has been developed 
by Audit Wales and is included in the Appendices of the ‘A missed opportunity’ Report, 
covering the following headings for local authority consideration: 
 

1) Vision; 
2) Corporate Approach; 
3) Understanding the local Social Enterprise sector; 
4) Collaboration and partnership arrangements; 
5) Strategy; 
6) Delivering the strategy; 
7) Designing services; 
8) Effective award systems; 
9) Efficient award systems; 
10) Training and information sharing; 
11) Information collection; 
12) Performance review; 
13) Risk management. 

 
 

4. Recommendations 
 
Recommendation 1 (R1) 
 

 
The report states: To get the best from their work with and funding of Social Enterprises, 
local authorities need to ensure they have the right arrangements and systems in place. We 
recommend that local authority officers use the checklist in Appendix 2 to: 
• self-evaluate current Social Enterprise engagement, management, performance and 

practice; 
• identify opportunities to improve joint working; and 
• jointly draft and implement an action plan with timeframes and responsibilities clearly 

set out to address the gaps and weaknesses identified through the self-evaluation. 
 

 
Our response:  
 
The Council welcomes the opportunity to evaluate its current position and identify actions, 
improvements and transformative work required to enable, promote and support the Social 

Page 226



Appendix A 
 

5 
 

Enterprise sector in Swansea. Through the two oversight groups that coordinate the delivery 
of the Corporate Priority ‘Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities’ – these are the 
Swansea Council Poverty Forum and Enabling Communities Group – we have 
undertaken in internal review of the evaluation tool. A table with our evaluation findings is 
including in Annex A of this document. 
 
Recommendation 2 (R2) 
 

 
The report states: To drive improvement we recommend that the local authority: 

 formally approve the completed Action Plan; 

 regularly report, monitor and evaluate performance at relevant scrutiny committees; and 

 revise actions and targets in light of the authority’s evaluation and assessment of its 
performance. 

 

 
Our response:  
 
Based on the evaluation completed as part of the first recommendation, we have identified the 
following key actions to be taken forward: 
 

Actions 

1) We will co-produce, approve, publish and promote our regional vision for Social 
Enterprises. 
 

2) We will create an engagement plan for continuous communication and interaction with 
Social Enterprise providers across Swansea. 
 

3) We will complete mapping and analysis of existing Social Enterprises across Swansea. 
 

4) We will support and deliver the Regional Social and Micro Enterprise Project Plan in 
line with key milestones, resources and constraints. 

 
5) We will implement a framework for developing and promoting Social Enterprises in 

Swansea. 
 

6) We will implement a framework for performance and financial monitoring and reporting 
relating to the work of Local Authorities in developing and promoting Social Enterprises 
in Swansea. 
 

7) We will work with our partners to promote Social Enterprises in Swansea and the value 
of social enterprise. 
 

8) We will develop the Council's relationships with local people and communities to 
increase awareness and understanding of social enterprise and help them to get more 
involved in developing new initiatives in their areas. 

 

Page 227



Appendix A 
 

6 
 

Actions 

9) We will work with our partners to improve the skills and capabilities relevant to Social 
Enterprises in Swansea. 

 

10) We will explore and recommend how information on and access to social and micro 
enterprises is best held and share that link with people with care and support needs to 
the people providing that support. 

 

11) We will advise on available quality standards for social and micro enterprise. 
 

 
 

 
These actions will form the basis of developing a focused Action Plan, aligned with our 
Corporate Priority action planning, delivery and performance management processes. 
 
 
Recommendation 3 (R3) 
 

 
The report states: To ensure the local authority delivers its Section 16 responsibilities to 
promote Social Enterprises we recommend that it reports on current activity and future 
priorities following the evaluation of its Action Plan including the Annual Report of the 
Director of Social Services. 
 

 
Our response:  
 
We are compliant with the Section 16 duties in relation to promoting and reporting on Social 
Enterprises through the Annual Report of the Director of Social Services (the current iteration 
is in development at the time of this report). We are already planning and undertaking the 
following activities to ensure that we remain aligned with current and future priorities: 
 

 An annual evaluation of performance against action plan priorities and recalibration of 
action plan objectives and timescales where required; 

 

 Inclusion of annual reporting on S16 responsibilities within Market Stability Reports 
required under the SSWBA (Wales) 2014; 

 

 Creation of Market Position Statements which communicate S16 aspirations to the 
wider social care market; 

 

 Review what and how performance information is collated and evaluated so that, if 
necessary, S16 duties can be reported more effectively in the Annual Report of the 
Director of Social Services; 

 

 Review arrangements for regional collaboration relating to S16 duties and creation of 
processes for informing and advising Regional Partnership Boards on matters relating 
to S16 responsibilities. 

 
 
 

  

Page 228



Appendix A 
 

7 
 

5. Way Forward 
 
Overview of the report findings 
 
In summary, we agree with the findings of the Audit Wales report and the recognition that, 
given the significant challenges that local authorities are facing as a result of the Cost of Living 
crisis, the impact on our communities is likely to increase in the future. There is a vital role for 
Social Enterprises to play in responding to this challenge and we can help the Social 
Enterprise sector to flourish in this region. 
 
We recognise from the evaluation which we have undertaken that there is more to be done to 
define, deliver and continuously improve our vision and strategy for Social Enterprises in 
Swansea. Under the Corporate Priority ‘Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities’, the 
Council is committed to taking action and working with our local communities and partners to 
embed the principles, cultural changes and new initiatives. 
 
Next Steps 
 
The Council’s is in a good position to take forward the identified actions and report them 
against the Corporate Priority ‘Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities’. Existing 
governance in place for coordination of this Corporate Priority will provide oversight of 
progress against these actions. Work is underway to refresh our Tackling Poverty Strategy 
and this will include a range of co-production activities to understand the needs and priorities 
of our partners, stakeholders and the communities of Swansea. 
 
 

Page 229



Appendix A 
 

8 
 

Annex A – Evaluation Table 
 

Heading Action Status Current position 
Vision We have an agreed vision on how we will 

work with Social Enterprises.  
Started  The Council is a member of the regional, multi-organisational Micro and Social Enterprise 

Group. Work on a vision has commenced and the group's purpose has been signed off as 
follows: 
 
To develop the right conditions for the sustainable development of Social and Micro Enterprise 
across the West Glamorgan Region; ensuring links with the Social Value Network.  
 
To support progress towards a rebalanced market by supporting the development of section16 
models of care based within communities and focused on the principles of the Social Services 
and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 
 
To support individuals in communities across West Glamorgan to design and develop new 
models of care with local / hyper local delivery. 

 
The Council is also a member of the regional Social Value Forum. Both of these initiatives are 
part of the governance for the West Glamorgan Regional Partnership. Though this means an 
initial focus on health and care, the intention is that the vision and subsequent approaches, 
actions and impacts will be applied across the Council. 

The vision has been shared with, and is 
understood by, all relevant staff in the 
local authority.  

 Not 
Started 

This action will commence once dependent tasks mentioned above have been 
completed. Existing communication and engagement channels will be used to deliver 
key messages across all Council departments and services. 

The vision has been shared with, 
endorsed by and is understood by 
elected members.  

 Not 
Started 

This action will commence once dependent tasks mentioned above have been 
completed. Existing relationships and forums will be used to engage with and gain 
commitment from Elected Members. Bespoke actions may be identified as part of 
further planning with Elected Members. 

The vision has been developed in 
discussion with the local County 
Voluntary Council.  

Started Swansea Council for Voluntary Service (SCVS) is a key strategic partner and a 
member of the regional Prevention and Community Coordination Board that is 
overseeing the development of a regional vision for micro and social enterprises. 

The vision has been disseminated to 
Social Enterprises we work with.  

Not 
Started 

A map of the current provision of Social Enterprises across Swansea is under 
development. This will be based on definitions and identification of relationship 
owners within partner organisations. We have existing relationships with some Social 
Enterprises including those who are members of the Social Value Forum. 

P
age 230



Appendix A 
 

9 
 

Heading Action Status Current position 

The vision clearly sets out how we 
intend to deliver our Section 16 
responsibilities for promoting Social 
Enterprises including:  
• Our work to promote social value 
through the Regional Partnership Board; 
and  
• Use of the Regional Integrated Fund to 
promote and develop Social Enterprises 

Started The Micro and Social Enterprise Group has developed a delivery plan setting out key 
work and actions including implementation of Section 16 responsibilities. Members of 
the group report into the Regional Partnership Board's governance through the 
Prevention and Community Coordination Board. 

Corporate 
Approach 

We have a corporate led approach for 
working with Social Enterprises that 
covers all departments and services.  

Not 
Started 

This action will commence once dependent tasks mentioned above have been 
completed. There is currently no consistent approach applied across Council 
departments and services for working with Social Enterprises. 

The corporate approach translates our 
vision into practical actions.  

Not 
Started 

This action will commence once dependent tasks mentioned above have been 
completed. 

We have designated a corporate lead for 
Social Enterprises who is responsible for 
overseeing and coordinating our work 
with the sector. 

Not 
Started 

This action will commence once dependent tasks mentioned above have been 
completed. There is currently no recognised officer post in the Council for leading on 
Social Enterprises, although a number of Elected Members and Council Officers have 
some responsibility for linked aspects such as community enablement, procurement 
and grant administration. 

P
age 231



Appendix A 
 

10 
 

Heading Action Status Current position 

Understanding 
the local 
Social 
Enterprise 
sector 

We have mapped out the Social 
Enterprise sector in our local authority 
area and know: 
• The number of organisations working 
locally; 
• The services they provide; 
• The communities the services are 
provided in; 
• The people the service is provided for; 
• How the services are funded; 
• The operating hours/days for services;  
• The eligibility criteria for the service (if 
any);  
• How the service fits with our Section16 
responsibilities for promoting Social 
Enterprises in delivering social care 
services; and 
• Who to contact for more information 

Started We have mapped health and social care / wellbeing social enterprises across 
Swansea and Neath Port Talbot. Further mapping work is required to identify social 
enterprises across other sectors and interacting with other Council departments. 
 
We are considering merging the Micro and Social Enterprise Group with the new 
Section 16 Forum - pending further consideration and alignment with regional 
decision-making.  

We have a record of all our Social 
Enterprise funding 

Started We are mapping this from a health and social care / wellbeing perspective but further 
mapping and analysis is required. 

We collate financial information and 
report at least  
annually on the totality of our Social 
Enterprise  
funding covering: 
• which organisations we fund;  
• the contract value;  
• the length of the contract;  
• which department/service has 
contracted; 
• the measures of success established 
for the work; and  
• what the intended benefits of the work 
are 

Started Some financial reporting exists in separate governance structures and information 
flows but there is no alignment and consolidation of this data for Social Enterprises. 
We have mapped out the conditions we believe will support Social Enterprises to 
thrive and are currently focused on success measures to inform this information and 
reporting approach. 

P
age 232



Appendix A 
 

11 
 

Heading Action Status Current position 

We raise awareness on the benefits 
presented by Social Enterprises to 
ensure all staff identify opportunities to 
collaborate with them by: 
• hosting a social enterprise day within 
the local authority; 
• putting on workshops for councillors 
and senior managers; and 
• developing activities to celebrate and 
promote social enterprise 

Started We are in the process of developing a framework to promote the understanding and 
benefits of social enterprise. Activities arising from this framework will be planned in 
detail and aligned to Council communication and engagement plans. 

Collaboration 
and 
partnership 
arrangements 

We have identified and agreed how the 
work of Social Enterprises will be 
managed and scrutinised at a:  
• corporate level – in the work of 
strategic partnerships and corporate 
scrutiny committees;  
• department level – in specific 
partnership arrangements to support 
wider policy agendas within defined 
areas; and  
• service level – on local partnerships 
and specific service-led initiatives 

Not 
Started 

As above, currently approaches to Social Enterprises across the Council are not 
aligned or governed in a corporate approach that differentiates the roles and 
responsibilities at different levels of the organisation, as well as with our partners and 
stakeholders. Some governing bodies such as the Enabling Communities Group 
(which is aligned to the Corporate Priority 'Tackling Poverty and Enabling 
Communities') could be easily adapted to provide a role in this approach. 

We effectively raise awareness of the 
work of social enterprises and involve 
local people and communities in 
developing new Social Enterprises.  

Started We have strong connections with local communities through roles like Local Area 
Coordination. This presence in communities and relationships with people (including 
community leaders and activists) provides a solid foundation for engagement and 
involvement activities. Once we have our framework and engagement plan in place, 
we will be able to proceed with this work. We are building the right conditions to 
support the growth of social enterprises. 

We have a clear and effective 
relationship with our County Voluntary 
Council as a key strategic and delivery 
partner  

Completed We have a strong working relationship with SCVS across a range of partnership 
agreements and working arrangements such as the Social Value Forum; they are a 
key strategic and delivery partner as well as an important link between statutory and 
voluntary sectors.  

P
age 233



Appendix A 
 

12 
 

Heading Action Status Current position 

We have a nominated lead senior official 
to promote and lead work through the 
regional Social Value Forum 

Not 
Started 

We have officers responsible for various aspects of delivering and engaging with 
Social Enterprises. Ensuring strategic ownership and designated leads for this work 
will be part of the development of the framework identified above. 

Strategy Our approach to Social Enterprises is 
integrated with our key strategies and 
plan – eg Wellbeing Plan, corporate 
priorities and other community and 
regional strategies.  

Started Social enterprises are currently captured within and reported against regional 
transformation plans under the West Glamorgan Regional Partnership. Social 
Enterprises align within our Corporate Plan under our wellbeing objective 'Tackling 
Poverty and Enabling Communities' and will align with our Enabling Communities 
Transformation Programme. More focused internal documents have been developed 
such as the Social Value Policy developed by Procurement. Some actions that enable 
us to deliver this strategic approach may be part of business-as-usual or internal 
plans and policies. 

We have set SMART objectives and 
actions on how we will support and 
promote the growth of Social 
Enterprises.  

Not 
Started 

This action will commence once dependent tasks mentioned above have been 
completed. We intend to take a collaborative approach to identifying and defining the 
actions to support and promote Social Enterprises, embedding the principles of co-
production in our action planning approach. 

We are clear on the benefits and risks of 
Social Enterprises for citizens, local 
communities and the local authority 

Started We are just beginning to explore the benefits and risks of Social Enterprises in 
partnership with our stakeholders and communities. Further work on this - based on 
embedding the principles of co-production in all of our work - can continue once the 
actions above such as mapping activities have been completed. 

Delivering the 
strategy 

We have enough staff and resources to 
promote and grow Social Enterprises. 

Started At present, an investment of £148K is dedicated to the development of social and 
micro enterprise in the regional space. The Council currently commission SCVS to 
deliver social enterprise development support on a local level; This officer sits on the 
regional group. Further mapping of roles and responsibilities across Council 
departments is required to understand and propose future resource requirements. 

We have staff in the right services and 
with the required seniority to deliver our 
vision for Social Enterprises. 

Not 
Started 

This action will commence once dependent tasks mentioned above have been 
completed. The Enabling Communities Group - which features senior leads and 
managers from various departments and services focused on community 
development - will be the key oversight group for this development. We recognise that 
departments and services are very open to innovation and working in different ways 
so any changes required to enable the delivery of our vision for Social Enterprises in 
Swansea will follow internal change processes. 

P
age 234



Appendix A 
 

13 
 

Heading Action Status Current position 

We have a can-do culture mindset within 
the council to make the best use of 
Social Enterprises. 

Started There are positive examples of the Council's approach to working with Social 
Enterprises and the values held up by Council staff when working with our 
communities to deliver social value. A robust framework for social enterprise will allow 
us to fully evidence and demonstrate this attitude and mindset. 

We give staff the opportunity to take 
well-managed risks and explore 
innovative practices 

Started A culture of innovation and managed risk is inherent in many departments and 
services such as social care and this translates to our policies, practices and ways of 
working.  A robust framework for social enterprise will allow us to fully evidence and 
demonstrate this behaviour in our workforce. 

Designing 
services 

We draw on the expertise and 
knowledge of Social Enterprises in 
designing new services.  

Not 
Started 

As mentioned above, we are still exploring and mapping the Social Enterprises sector 
in the Swansea / West Glamorgan region. This will help us to identify and align our 
existing relationships with Social Enterprises as well as draw upon new sources of 
expertise and knowledge. We also draw upon our partnership arrangements with the 
Third Sector to draw upon specialist resources to inform our approach. Embedding 
the principles of co-production is a key principle for this work but we require a good 
network across multiple sectors and communities to ensure co-production is done 
well. 

Our commissioners make good use of 
the Market Stability Report process to 
inform commissioning and market 
shaping activity for the social care sector 

Started This is an iterative process and we are beginning to inform commissioning and market 
shaping. Much effort has gone into developing data sets across the region.  

In designing services, we clearly set out:  
• what demand the service will meet;  
• how we have decided on the type of 
service that we require; and  
• how we will engage with current and 
potential providers to develop the 
service 

Started From a commissioning of services perspective, we have mature arrangements in 
place for developing service specifications and supplier engagement events. We 
recognise that co-design of services is an iterative process and we need to embed 
principles such as co-production across our service provisions including 
commissioned services. 

We ensure that our tender process is 
accessible for all potential collaborators. 

Started There is significant effort put into making our tendering process open and accessible, 
encouraging collaboration with existing organisations and service providers as part of 
the process.  

We can demonstrate we have the 
capacity and skills to undertake the 
strategic commissioning process 

Completed We have experienced commissioning officers working in areas such as social care to 
ensure that our strategic commissioning approach is robust and compliant. All officers 
currently undergoing training from IPC to continually refresh knowledge and 
awareness of the standards required. 

P
age 235



Appendix A 
 

14 
 

Heading Action Status Current position 

We actively look for ways to invite 
collaboration 

Started Collaboration on developing and designing services is a key aspect of our 
commissioning process. Ongoing, iterative collaboration is also encouraged. We have 
good working relationships and networks with partners, stakeholders and local 
communities, with opportunities to enhance and expand these avenues toward 
collaborative working. 

Effective 
award 
systems 

We have created a single centralised 
and corporate funding system for the 
management and award of all funding to 
Social Enterprises. 

Not 
Started 

While there are existing processes, grant funding opportunities and mature 
procurement arrangements in place to support funding of Social Enterprises, this is 
not coordinated and financed in a centralised management system. In developing our 
framework for Social Enterprises, we will look to define the systems, approaches and 
common principles for all Social Enterprise activity. 

We have effective systems to award 
funding to organisations that sets out:  
• a clear funding timetable that is 
available to all potential bidders so that 
they can prepare for opportunities;  
• the process that will be used to decide 
(for example, seeking quotations or 
using a tender or proposal process);  
• the value and risk associated with the 
various funding routes;  
• clear and published criteria that are 
understood by all organisations seeking 
funding, including community benefit and 
social value clauses;  
• the cost and resources to oversee and 
administer the process; and  
• the length of time that funding will be 
provided 

Started Although we envisage our framework development to inform a consistent strategic 
approach for Social Enterprise funding, we currently operate with an effective system 
in place for those opportunities that are available. Whenever we manage a grant 
funding opportunity, we promote this information to potential bidders and interested 
parties. Based on our further actions defined above, we may identify areas for 
improvement or opportunities to apply more consistency in our approaches across 
departments and services. 

P
age 236



Appendix A 
 

15 
 

Heading Action Status Current position 

Efficient 
award 
systems 

We have efficient corporate systems to 
award funding based on:  
• concise and clear application 
processes;  
• use of online and electronic systems to 
distribute and collate information and 
bids;  
• short end-to-end decision-making 
arrangements;  
• the minimum number of stages and 
processes required to decide; and  
• decisions being delegated to the lowest 
level. 

Started See above 

Our contract terms and conditions are 
proportionate to the level of funding 
being made and are specific to the work 
that is being funded. 

Completed Our current contract management processes ensure robust definition of Terms and 
Conditions relevant to the funding criteria of each initiative. 

We review our funding processes to 
ensure we are not excluding Social 
Enterprises from securing work. 

Started There are quality review mechanisms in place to ensure that we are continuously 
improving our funding processes. The framework we are developing will inform how 
we apply these mechanisms to ensure that Social Enterprises are appropriately 
considered at all parts of the funding model for all departments and services. 

Training and 
information 
sharing 

We provide training to support Social 
Enterprises covering:  
• how to apply for funding – the do’s and 
don’ts;  
• complying with our commissioning and 
procurement systems;  
• data collection processes;  
• performance management and scrutiny 
arrangements;  
• payment cycles and performance 
targets; and  
• contract termination/continuation 
requirements 

Started There is currently limited training directly focused on Social Enterprise development, 
primarily delivered through SCVS and third sector partners. We envisage that part of 
our framework development will include identifying a programme of training and 
development activities to support our local communities and networks. 

P
age 237



Appendix A 
 

16 
 

Heading Action Status Current position 

Information 
collection 

We have specified the information 
required to monitor and evaluate the 
performance of the Social Enterprises 
we fund 

Started While there are existing processes in place relevant to current Social Enterprise 
schemes, the framework we develop will inform a consistent approach to performance 
monitoring and evaluation. 

The information only measures relevant 
activity. 

Started See above. 

The systems to collect information are 
streamlined and efficient, and Social 
Enterprises only submit information once 
and electronically on agreed timescales 

Not 
Started 

Regional activities currently planned by our Micro and Social Enterprise Group include 
looking at how information should be stored and accessed, including not just 
performance and reporting needs but in terms of informing decisions made on the 
health and care needs of individuals supported by Social Enterprises. 

Performance 
review 

We regularly report on our Social 
Enterprise funding to scrutiny 
committee(s) against a balanced set of 
performance information that covers:  
• the service standards we set for the 
Social Enterprise we fund to perform 
against;  
• improvements in people’s wellbeing 
and social outcomes; and  
• relevant service-based performance 
data; and  
• conclusions of external audit/inspection 
reviews 

Started There is currently no mechanism in place to report on all Social Enterprise activity 
across the Council in a single consolidated report. Individual initiatives may be subject 
to scrutiny reporting as part of their relevant department or service governance 
arrangements but we intend to implement a framework that aligns performance 
information and reporting requirements for all Social Enterprise funding activities. In 
addition, our framework should align with consistent quality standards in relation to 
Social Enterprises. 

Our scrutiny and evaluation processes:  
• are proportionate for the value of the 
funding we provide; and  
• provide us with assurance that our 
funding is achieving the expected 
outcomes 

Started Existing scrutiny and evaluation processes are regularly reviewed to ensure that they 
are proportionate and effective in measuring outcomes. When they are applied to 
reviews of Social Enterprise activity, they would follow the same processes and 
standards. 

P
age 238



Appendix A 
 

17 
 

Heading Action Status Current position 

Annually we report publicly:  
• on the work of Social Enterprises;  
• on the current performance of Social 
Enterprises we fund;  
• how we will promote further 
opportunities for the sector in the future; 
and  
• how well we are performing in 
delivering our S.16 responsibilities for 
Social Enterprises. 

Not 
Started 

See above. 

Risk 
management 

We regularly review risks associated 
with our Social Enterprise funding 

Started There are risk management processes and compliance reviews in place and 
applicable to funding of initiatives on individual basis in line with relevant corporate, 
departmental and service level risk management practices. As mentioned above, the 
development of a framework for social enterprises would allow us to identify and 
mitigate risks associated with Social Enterprise developments (including funding) at a 
cross-organisational level and for mitigating actions to be taken appropriately. 

We agree risk management plans if risks 
are not being managed and mitigated. 

Started See above 

We have a rolling programme of internal 
audit systems testing and compliance 
reviews to ensure the robustness, 
efficiency and effectiveness of our 
funding of Social Enterprise services 

Started See above 

 
 

P
age 239



‘A missed opportunity’ – 
Social Enterprises
Report of the Auditor General for Wales

December 2022

Appendix B

Page 240



page 2 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

The Auditor General is independent of the Senedd and government. He examines and certifies 
the accounts of the Welsh Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, including 
NHS bodies. He also has the power to report to the Senedd on the economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness with which those organisations have used, and may improve the use of, their 
resources in discharging their functions.

The Auditor General also audits local government bodies in Wales, conducts local government 
value for money studies and inspects for compliance with the requirements of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales 
Audit Office, which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise 
the Auditor General.

© Auditor General for Wales 2022

Audit Wales is the umbrella brand of the Auditor General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office, 
which are each separate legal entities with their own legal functions. Audit Wales is not itself a 
legal entity. While the Auditor General has the auditing and reporting functions described above, 
the Wales Audit Office’s main functions are to provide staff and other resources for the exercise 
of the Auditor General’s functions, and to monitor and advise the Auditor General.

You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium. 
If you re-use it, your re-use must be accurate and must not be in a misleading context. The 
material must be acknowledged as Auditor General for Wales copyright and you must give the 
title of this publication. Where we have identified any third party copyright material you will need 
to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned before re-use.

For further information, or if you require any of our publications in an alternative format and/
or language, please contact us by telephone on 029 2032 0500, or email info@audit.wales. 
We welcome telephone calls in Welsh and English. You can also write to us in either Welsh or 
English and we will respond in the language you have used. Corresponding in Welsh will not 
lead to a delay.

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.

This report has been prepared for presentation to the Senedd 
under the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004.

Appendix B

Page 241

mailto:info%40audit.wales?subject=


page 3 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Contents

Context 4

Key findings 5

Key Facts 7

Recommendations 8

Detailed report
1 Social Enterprises can provide important services, but most  

local authorities lack a coherent strategy and are not working  
collaboratively to help support their growth and development 10

2 Local authorities do not have the right mechanisms in place to  
maximise value for money from their work with Social Enterprises 22

3 Local authorities are not delivering their responsibilities under  
the Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act and weaknesses in  
data and evaluation limits their ability to promote Social Enterprises 28

Appendices 
1 Audit approach and methods 35

2 Checklist for local authorities for effectively engaging and working  
with Social Enterprises 37

3 Differences in legislative, policy and funding for Social Enterprises  
across the three countries of Great Britain 46

4 Number of Social Enterprises by Welsh local authority and  
percentage change between 2016 - 2020 47

5 Southeast Wales Community Economic Development programme 48

6 Summary of Good Practice identified in this review 49

Appendix B

Page 242



page 4 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Context
1 As organisations, Social Enterprises sit between the public and private 

sectors. They apply commercial strategies to maximise improvements in 
financial, social and environmental well-being, often for individual groups 
in society, defined communities or geographical areas. In particular, Social 
Enterprises can benefit disadvantaged communities; create wealth where 
money is scarce; and help to tackle poverty and need. The structure of 
Social Enterprises vary and include partnerships for-profit or non-profit,  
co-operatives, mutual organisations, social businesses, community 
interest companies and charities.

2 Social enterprise can therefore work in every sector of the Welsh 
economy and in all parts of the country and are increasingly prominent 
in Welsh Parliament legislation. Section 16 of the Social Services 
and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 places a duty on local authorities to 
‘promote development of Social Enterprises to provide care and support 
and preventative services’. Likewise, the ethos and approach of Social 
Enterprises fits well with the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2015. 
Social enterprises can make a significant contribution to delivering the 
seven national wellbeing goals by helping to create a fairer and more 
equal country. 

3 Importantly, because Social Enterprises focus on keeping wealth within 
communities, they can assist people who are in poverty by: 
•  directly helping people in disadvantaged communities by providing 

services that would otherwise not be available;
• supplying basic public benefits such as social, educational, health and 

general economic interest services to local communities, including to 
people who are unable to pay;

•  creating new employment opportunities as a result of the services they 
supply; 

•  contributing to the economic development of deprived communities; and
•  targeting their work to help disadvantaged people, including vulnerable 

women, people with disabilities and ethnic minority groups. 

4  This report therefore looks at how local authorities are working to grow 
and make the most of Social Enterprises ensuring social value and social 
capital stay in communities and help people who are struggling. This is 
also the second report of our three reviews on the challenge of alleviating 
and tackling poverty in Wales. Appendix 1 sets out our audit approach 
and methods and includes more information on our poverty themed work.

Appendix B

Page 243



page 5 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Key findings

5 Our overall conclusion is that local authorities are not effectively working 
with Social Enterprises to maximise their impact, make better use of 
resources and improve services for people and communities.

6 In Part 1 of the report, we consider the strategic approach of local 
authorities to working with Social Enterprises. While they claim they value 
Social Enterprises, few local authorities have mapped their activity. Less 
than a third of local authorities consider themselves to have a proactive 
and supportive relationship with Social Enterprises and none have a 
dedicated strategy or policy that charts how they intend to promote and 
grow the sector. 

7 We also found that most local authorities have adopted a passive 
leadership role, often responding to Social Enterprises that approach 
them but not proactively seeking to work with Social Enterprises or help 
stimulate new ones. This leadership vacuum has resulted in Social 
Enterprises often being at the fringes of local authority business. An overly 
reactive approach and variable support arrangements also means that 
local authorities are missing out on the potential for Social Enterprises to 
help deliver services that can improve people’s quality of life.

8 In Part 2 we consider the mechanisms local authorities have in place 
to ensure they maximise the potential value for money of Social 
Enterprises. While most local authorities provide grants for businesses 
and the third sector, they are not using them to specifically support Social 
Enterprises. Current procurement and commissioning arrangements 
often unintentionally discourage Social Enterprises to engage. Overly 
bureaucratic approaches and a lack of capacity and resources within local 
government also limits the potential to grow the role of Social Enterprises 
in delivering services. Social value – the added value that commissioning 
processes can deliver – does not feature as a key driver for many local 
authorities. 

Appendix B

Page 244



page 6 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

9 Finally, in Part 3 we examine evaluation and impact arrangements.  
We found that most local authorities are not delivering their responsibilities 
under the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 and effectively 
promoting Social Enterprises. No Director of Social Services Annual 
Report sets out how their authority is delivering the Section 16 duty 
and the majority of reports make little reference to Social Enterprises. 
Positively, a number of authorities are working to develop micro social 
enterprise businesses and Regional Partnership Boards have a growing 
role to drive positive change. Taken together, these represent good 
opportunities for the future. Despite this, over three-quarters of local 
authorities do not have robust performance management, reporting and 
evaluation systems in place to be able to judge the impact and value of the 
work of Social Enterprises. 

Adrian Crompton
Auditor General for Wales

Social Enterprises play an important role 
in meeting needs and helping people in 
communities across Wales. Local authorities 
could do more to maximise the impact 
of Social Enterprises, get better value 
for money from their work, and improve 
services for people and communities.

Appendix B

Page 245



page 7 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Key facts

• In 2021 the UK had over 
100,000 Social Enterprises, 
worth a combined £60 billion 
to the UK economy employing  
2 million people.

• The Social Enterprise sector  
in Wales in 2020 – up to  
2,309 businesses employing 
56,000 people and 
generating £3.1 – £3.8 billion 
in value. 

• In Scotland in 2019 there were 
estimated to be 6,025 Social 
Enterprise businesses, with 
88,318 staff and a net worth of 
£6.1 billion.

• Between 2018 and 2020 the 
Social Enterprise sector in 
Wales increased by 43% rising 
from 1,601 organisations in 
2016 to 2,247 in 2020. 

• In Scotland Social Enterprises 
increased by 15.9% between 
2015 and 2019 rising from 
5,199 to 6,025 in this period.

• 5% of Welsh Social Enterprises 
are medium sized to large (i.e. 
have at least 50 employees), 
far above the equivalent for all 
businesses within the Welsh 
economy (only 1%). 

• 32% of Social Enterprises 
surveyed had no paid staff at 
all, whilst a further 9% only 
had one.

• In 2020 the mean average 
turnover level was £1.25 
million, of which: 

- 43% have a turnover of 
between £0 and £50,000;

- 34% turnover between 
£50,001 and £250,000;

- 14% turnover of between 
£250,001 and £1 million;

- 6% turnover of between 
£1.01 million and £5 
million; and 

- 4% over £5 million.

The Value of Social 
Enterprises

The size and turnover of 
the sector in Wales

Source: Social Business Wales, Mapping the Social Business Sector in Wales / 2020 Census, 
June 2021; Social Enterprise UK, No Going Back – State of the Social Enterprise Survey 2021; 
and CEIS, Social Enterprise in Scotland – Census 2019.  

Appendix B

Page 246

https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/SBW-MAPPING-SOCIAL-BUSINESS.pdf
https://www.socialenterprise.org.uk/app/uploads/2022/05/State-of-Social-Enterprise-Survey-2021-compressed.pdf
https://socialenterprisecensus.org.uk/wp-content/themes/census19/pdf/2019-report.pdf


page 8 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

10 Our recommendations are set out below. We expect each council to 
consider the findings of this review and our recommendations, and that 
its governance and audit committee receives this report and monitors its 
response to our recommendations in a timely way.

Recommendations

R1 To get the best from their work with and funding of 
Social Enterprises, local authorities need to ensure they 
have the right arrangements and systems in place. We 
recommend that local authority officers use the checklist 
in Appendix 2 to:  
•  self-evaluate current Social Enterprise engagement, 

management, performance and practice; 
•  identify opportunities to improve joint working; and 
• jointly draft and implement an action plan with 

timeframes and responsibilities clearly set out to 
address the gaps and weaknesses identified through 
the self-evaluation.

R2 To drive improvement we recommend that the local 
authority:
• formally approve the completed Action Plan;
•  regularly report, monitor and evaluate performance at 

relevant scrutiny committees; and
•  revise actions and targets in light of the authority’s 

evaluation and assessment of its performance.

Recommendations

Appendix B

Page 247



page 9 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Recommendations

R3 To ensure the local authority delivers its S.16 
responsibilities to promote Social Enterprises we 
recommend that it reports on current activity and future 
priorities following the evaluation of its Action Plan 
including the Annual Report of the Director of Social 
Services.  

Appendix B

Page 248



Social Enterprises can 
provide important 
services, but most 
local authorities lack 
a coherent strategy 
and are not working 
collaboratively to help 
support their growth 
and development 

01

Appendix B

Page 249



page 11 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

1.1  In this section of the report, we consider the strategic approach of local 
authorities to working with Social Enterprises. We review local authority 
plans, the range of information used to identify and prioritise action and 
arrangements to support the development of Social Enterprises. We also 
consider how well local authorities and Social Enterprises work together.

While they claim they value Social Enterprises, few local 
authorities have mapped their activity or planned how 
they will collaborate with them to maximise their impact 

Local authorities have not mapped out the social enterprise sector 
in their area

1.2 In order to maximise impact, it is essential that local authorities have a 
full and detailed knowledge of the services Social Enterprises provide. 
Unless you know who works in your area, what services they provide 
and what opportunities they offer, it is difficult to develop a coherent 
strategic response. In this context, mapping is critical for local authorities 
to understand the contribution that Social Enterprises are making and 
the barriers they face to growing their role and enhancing their value in 
communities. 

1.3  We found that very few local authorities have completed any formal 
mapping exercise to either understand the current role and contribution of 
Social Enterprises in their area or to identify opportunities for the future. 
While some noted that they have databases of Social Enterprises, these 
are out of date, mostly as a result of the pandemic. 

1.4  Generally, those local authorities that have dedicated staff with a 
responsibility for working with the social enterprise sector, or business 
support staff in economic development, had a better understanding of 
the local situation and could describe relative strengths, weaknesses 
and opportunities. However, even in these circumstances, officers 
acknowledged that there were still gaps in their understanding and 
their intelligence was not sufficient to drive future strategic choices and 
priorities. 

Appendix B

Page 250



page 12 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

1.5  Exhibit 1 below shows that the social enterprise sector in Wales is 
primarily community-based with most organisations operating in only one 
local authority area. This is markedly different to England where Social 
Enterprises are more likely to work across several local authority areas 
and often operate regionally, nationally and internationally. For instance, 
in 2021 only 23% of Social Enterprises in England1 work in one local 
authority. 

Exhibit 1 – number of Welsh local authorities Social Enterprises operate in

Just over 60% of Welsh Social Enterprises work in one local authority area and 
less than a quarter in six or more local authorities

Number of local 
authorities 2016 2018 2020

One 62% 59% 61%

Two 7% 7% 7%

Three 8% 7% 7%

Four 3% 3% 2%

Five 2% 3% 2%

Six to fifteen 6% 4% 4%

Sixteen to twenty-two 12% 15% 18%

Source: Social Business Wales, Mapping the Social Business Sector in Wales / 2020 Census, 
June 2021

1.6 Given that Social Enterprises in Wales are primarily community based, 
often concentrated in areas of deprivation2, it is important that local 
authorities undertake a wider mapping exercise to better understand 
the sector and the opportunities they present and use this information to 
inform their future plans. If authorities do not have a good understanding 
of the sector then it will be difficult for them identify opportunities to work 
collaboratively and agree actions to promote and grow Social Enterprises.

1 Social Enterprises UK, No Going Back: State of Social Enterprise Report 2021
2 Research by Social Business Wales found that 45% of social businesses operate in the top 

40% most deprived areas in Wales, and only 30% operate in the 40% least deprived areas.

Appendix B

Page 251

https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/SBW-MAPPING-SOCIAL-BUSINESS.pdf


page 13 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Local authorities speak about the value of Social Enterprises but are not 
always translating this into action 

1.7 A strategic approach to working with Social Enterprises will ensure the local 
authority as a whole understands what Social Enterprises offer and will set out 
how the local authority is seeking to maximise the benefits of working with Social 
Enterprises. Moreover, given Social Enterprises contribute to the enhancement 
of social cohesion, to the accumulation of social capital, and to a more equitable 
economic development at the community level, they are bodies with a strong 
poverty reduction focus. A small number of local authorities recognise that 
Social Enterprises could therefore be an inherently more sustainable method of 
delivering services given their deep-rooted work in communities and often strong 
preventive focus. 

1.8 Research by Social Business Wales shows that Social Enterprises are 
particularly strong in areas that either complement the work of local government 
or where the role and work of local authorities has diminished in recent years.  
For instance, Exhibit 2 shows a strong presence in community-based arts, 
leisure, recreation and youth work and important contributions in social care, 
health and education.

Appendix B

Page 252



page 14 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Exhibit 2 – proportion of Social Enterprises working in different sectors

Social Enterprises cut across a wide range of operational sectors but are 
primarily based in arts and recreation, community centres/groups, education, 
and health and care

Sector
Proportion 

2018
Proportion 

20203 

Arts, entertainment, recreation & other services 22% 26%

Community Centre / Social Space / Youth Club 8% 20%

Education 14% 10%

Health & Care 19% 9%

Business administration & support services 4% 6%

Other 9% 6%

Accommodation & food services 3% 6%

Agriculture, forestry & fishing 0% 3%

Information & communication 2% 3%

Retail 5% 3%

Property 6% 3%

Transport & storage 1% 2%

Professional, scientific & technical 6% 2%

Source: Social Business Wales, Mapping the Social Business Sector in Wales / 2020 Census, 
June 2021

3 The report suggests that due to the method of data collection (surveys), organisations which 
were more likely to close their doors (such as community spaces) are easier to contact and 
more likely to respond than healthcare organisations who are under heavy strain due to 
COVID-19.

Appendix B

Page 253



page 15 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

1.9 Local authorities told us that they appreciate the good qualities of 
Social Enterprises and their potential, whether they provide services 
commissioned from the local authority or are merely active at a community 
level in the local area. However, we found that no local authority has 
a dedicated Social Enterprise strategy. And, while 10 of the 21 local 
authorities responding to our survey4 stated that they have a wider policy, 
strategy and/or plan that identifies the contribution of Social Enterprises, 
our review of these plans found that they are mostly limited, lacking detail 
on future priorities and opportunities for both local authorities and the 
sector. 

1.10 For instance, none of the documents we reviewed set out a vision for 
Social Enterprises nor the potential outcomes that Social Enterprises can 
deliver for local authorities, residents and communities. A robust analysis 
of need was mostly missing from the Plans we reviewed and Social 
Enterprises did not receive more than a passing mention in any local 
authority’s COVID-19 Recovery Strategy. As a consequence, priorities and 
actions for improvement are unambitious and limited, often overlooking 
added social value and social capital outcomes that Social Enterprises can 
secure. Our survey of local authority officers also found that only seven of 
the 21 authorities responding proactively engage with Social Enterprises in 
developing future plans and activity. Consequently, the significant benefits 
of working with Social Enterprises are less pronounced and often not 
shaping local authorities’ priorities. 

4 We surveyed all local authorities and received responses from 21 of the 22. Newport City 
Council did not respond to our survey.

Appendix B

Page 254



page 16 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Local authorities are not harnessing the potential of 
Social Enterprises to help deliver improved services, 
and a better quality of life for people

1.11 Successful Social Enterprises can have a good grasp of local need, 
work within strong local networks and have legitimacy as a voice for the 
community. They are, therefore, well placed to deliver services efficiently 
and innovatively. It is important therefore that local authorities help 
communities to identify needs, opportunities and proactively work with the 
sector to deliver the services people want. The growth and sustainability of 
Social Enterprises is therefore increasingly dependent on the opportunity 
and capacity for collaboration.

Effective local authority leadership on Social Enterprises is mostly 
absent

1.12 Leadership of the social enterprise agenda often rests with a handful of 
individuals in economic development or social care, but too often those 
managing these relationships are service managers and often not senior 
enough to direct resources, policies and decisions. For example, our 
survey of local authority officers found that only three of the 21 local 
authorities responding to our survey have a lead member for Social 
Enterprises and only six a lead officer. 

1.13 We also found that most local authorities have adopted a passive 
leadership role, often responding to Social Enterprises that approach them 
rather than proactively seeking to work with existing Social Enterprises 
and help stimulate new ones. This is partly a reflection of some seeing 
Social Enterprises as ‘risky,’ citing issues with governance, handling of 
money, and legitimacy as areas of concern. Irrespective, this leadership 
vacuum is not helping to bring Social Enterprises from the fringes of local 
authority business to play a more central role. 

1.14 More than half of the local authority officers we interviewed acknowledged 
that there was much more they could and should do to lead on this 
agenda, recognising that without an investment in senior leaders time, the 
local authority is unlikely to be successful in attracting new businesses and 
entrepreneurs to commit resources. Because leadership is generally poor, 
local authorities do not have a common understanding of how they want to 
work with Social Enterprises, which means that Social Enterprises cannot 
play a more active role in tackling poverty and disadvantage. 

Appendix B

Page 255



page 17 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

1.15 A number of local authorities in England5 have sought to create a 
more cohesive leadership approach by raising awareness to improve 
understanding. For instance:

a hosting a social enterprise day within the local authority;
b putting on workshops for councillors and senior managers;
c ensuring senior management teams take responsibility for 

communicating their vision for Social Enterprises;
d setting targets for growth of the social enterprise sector; and
e developing activities to celebrate and promote social enterprise.

1.16 Good and effective leadership is therefore critical to support the Social 
Enterprise agenda’s movement to the mainstream. Particularly as there 
is significant ‘churn’ in the Social Enterprise market which is mostly 
happening outside of any engagement with or support from local 
authorities. Research shows that the social business sector in Wales is 
very dynamic, comprising a core group of well-established organisations 
but also a growing group of start-ups. 

1.17 For instance, in 2020 just under a fifth of Social Enterprises (17%) started 
trading within the last two years6 and double the number of start-ups in 
2016. Start-up activity is particularly concentrated in Northeast Wales — 
Denbighshire and Wrexham account for 15% of all start-ups. With such 
a vibrant and ever-changing sector, it is important that local authorities 
take a more proactive and less passive approach in working with Social 
Enterprises if they are to maximise their potential and help support 
businesses that are struggling. 

5 For example, Northumberland County Council raised awareness of the work conducted 
by social enterprises through information stalls aimed at staff, a social enterprise day and 
senior manager workshops to enhance understanding of the role and vision for the social 
enterprise sector. The local authority is also looking to create a cross-party member task 
group to consider how the local authority can support social enterprise. The task group will 
also champion social enterprise as a concept and promote a joint vision.

6 Social Business Wales, Mapping the Social Business Sector in Wales / 2020 Census,  
June 2021

Appendix B

Page 256

https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/SBW-MAPPING-SOCIAL-BUSINESS.pdf


page 18 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

While there are good examples of how some local authorities 
effectively collaborate with Social Enterprise, most authorities are 
not effectively promoting opportunities to widen their role and 
maximise their impact  

1.18 Collaboration between local authorities and the Social Enterprise sector 
can provide greater opportunities for all parties. It can also increase 
understanding by sharing knowledge. Just over half of local authorities 
have partnership boards or forums, usually with the third sector, which 
involve Social Enterprises, and a smaller number the presence of a sector 
led local Social Enterprise network. For example, the Blaenau Gwent 
‘voluntary sector group’ brings together many partners, including Social 
Enterprises, and works with Transport for Wales, Jobcentre Plus, and 
others to prioritise future work, including opportunities to work with Social 
Enterprises, in the county. 

1.19  In addition, a small number of local authorities have officers with specific 
responsibility for engaging with and developing relationships with Social 
Enterprises. For instance, the Business Enterprise Officer in Wrexham is 
the local authority’s key contact with the local Social Enterprise Network. 
Generally, authorities with a better understanding of the barriers facing 
Social Enterprises are in a better place to work with the sector going 
forward.

1.20  The ways in which local authorities in Wales work with Social Enterprises 
to deliver services vary considerably. A small number of authorities 
have created and funded their own Social Enterprises. For example, in 
Torfaen, Circulate operates a recycling centre, providing recycling and 
waste disposal services which in turn help achieve the local authority’s 
environmental sustainability goals. In the Vale of Glamorgan, the Big 
Fresh Catering Company is a social enterprise which provides food 
services to schools, businesses and private events, investing all profits 
into local schools. Other local authorities have externalised local authority 
services such as leisure services and libraries and transferred delivery 
responsibility to Social Enterprises with a proven record in delivering these 
activities. 

1.21 In addition, officers we interviewed flagged the important role of Social 
Enterprises and the third sector more generally during the pandemic. 
Social Enterprises ‘stepped up’ to fill gaps in provision following the 
closure of frontline offices. One officer noted that ‘Social Enterprises did 
amazing work during COVID-19, giving out food and making PPE. They 
deserve recognition. They stepped up to the plate at a time when some 
charities had to furlough all their staff!’ 

Appendix B

Page 257

https://www.circulaterecycling.co.uk/
https://www.bigfreshcatering.co.uk/
https://www.bigfreshcatering.co.uk/


page 19 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

1.22  A number of local authority officers however, reflected that the pandemic 
had limited opportunities for involving Social Enterprises in the work of 
the local authority. While others noted that Social Enterprises ‘value their 
independence’ and do not respond well to local authority involvement. 
National organisations like CWMPAS and Social Business Wales are 
seen by some local authority officers as being better placed to work with 
the sector and determine future growth strategies. In addition, County 
Voluntary Councils also play an important support and development role 
linking between local authorities and Social Enterprises.

1.23  While almost all local authorities signpost to information on Social 
Enterprises on their website, only six local authorities had a dedicated 
page for Social Enterprises, and a small number had no information on 
Social Enterprises at all. Overall, we judge the quality and level of website 
information on Social Enterprises as limited. Too often information is 
not easy to find and is more than ‘3 clicks’ away7. Local authorities are 
mostly not actively promoting opportunities to work with existing Social 
Enterprises nor effectively encouraging the creation of new ones. 

1.24 The best local authority websites include:

a a clear definition of what a Social Enterprise is; 
b have links to a wide variety of organisations to access further and 

more detailed information, particularly on legal issues, such as Social 
Business Wales, CWMPAS, Social Enterprise UK or the WCVA; and 

c provide contact details and information on local support programmes 
and grants administered by the local authority.

1.25  The findings of our officer survey set out in Exhibit 3 show that beyond 
working with forums or networks which include Social Enterprises as 
members, local authorities are not using all the available avenues to 
deliver their responsibilities to promote Social Enterprises. 

7 The three-click rule is an unofficial web design rule concerning the design of website 
navigation. It suggests that a user of a website should be able to find any information with 
no more than three mouse clicks. It is based on the belief that users of a site will become 
frustrated and often leave if they cannot find the information within the three clicks.

Appendix B

Page 258



page 20 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Exhibit 3 – local authority officer survey - Options used by local authorities to 
promote the growth of Social Enterprises

Local authorities are not effectively promoting opportunities to enhance the 
Social Enterprise sector which weakens their ability to deliver their statutory 
responsibilities 

Source: Audit Wales, Survey of Local authority Officers, January – May 2022

2

4

6

8

10

12

14
Work through a local social 
enterprise forum to engage 
with the sector

Local Newspaper articles and 
stories on social enterprises 
promoted by the council

Facebook groups/ 
posts promoting 
social enterprises

Twitter posts promoting 
social enterprises

Press and marketing 
campaigns to promote 
social enterprisesInformation sent by local 

authority to publicise 
support and plans to 
grow social enterprises

Articles on social 
enterprises included in 
Council wide newsletters

Specific leaflets on 
how you support 
social enterprises

Dedicated information 
on the local authority 
website

Targeted letter/ information 
drops to promote social 
enterprises

Council roadshows/ 
events promoting 
social enterprises

Radio adverts 
promoting social 
enterprises

Appendix B

Page 259



page 21 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

1.26  A small number of local authority officers identified raising awareness as 
an area for improvement. For example, one noted that ‘It should be [part of 
our role], but we don’t do much of that, due to not having a formal strategy. 
We don’t really report our impact either.’ And some local authorities have 
sought to encourage Social Enterprises to work collectively in order to bid 
for larger contracts or encourage them to move into areas of activity that 
better align with local authority grants and funding programmes.

1.27  However, other local authorities noted that while they would support 
emerging Social Enterprises, they would not necessarily ‘push’ them as 
a preferred option. One officer noted that they were ‘a bit cautious about 
foisting a specific model or approach on people.’ This passive approach 
to engagement and involvement with Social Enterprises is not supporting 
local authorities to make best use of the sector and we conclude that there 
is much more to do.

Appendix B

Page 260



02

Local authorities do 
not have the right 
mechanisms in place 
to maximise value for 
money from their work 
with Social Enterprises 

Appendix B

Page 261



page 23 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

2.1 In this section of the report, we consider how local authorities are working 
to exploit the potential value of Social Enterprises. We consider the 
effectiveness of procurement and commissioning approaches and whether 
they are delivering value for money and adding social value for people. 

Procurement and commissioning arrangements do not 
encourage Social Enterprises to pursue public funding. 
Local authorities do not have sufficient capacity and 
resources to grow the sector 
2.2  Exhibit 4 shows that roughly two-thirds of Social Enterprises generate 

income through trade with the general public and just under half from 
public sector grants. These are predominantly from Welsh Government 
and/or grant-making trusts rather than local authorities and in 2020 mostly 
related to the financial support made available to help businesses through 
the pandemic. With regards to bidding for and delivering commissioned 
services the data highlights that there has been a slight drop in trade 
with the public sector between 2018 and 2020, indicating the significant 
untapped potential of Social Enterprises for local authorities. 

Exhibit 4 – where Social Enterprises in Wales get their money from in 2016, 
2018 and 2020

Trading with the general public remains the main source of income for Social 
Enterprises although public sector grants are growing in importance 

Sources of income 2016 2018 2020

Trading with the general public 57% 63% 64%

Public sector Grants 39% 49% 49%

Other grants 39% 44% 42%

Trading with the public sector 23% 40% 32%

Donations 24% 33% 33%

Trading with third sector 
organisations 15% 32% 25%

Trading with the private sector 17% 29% 25%

Trading with other Social 
Enterprises 8% 22% 17%

Source: Social Business Wales, Mapping the Social Business Sector in Wales / 
2020 Census, June 2021

Appendix B

Page 262

https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/SBW-MAPPING-SOCIAL-BUSINESS.pdf
https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/SBW-MAPPING-SOCIAL-BUSINESS.pdf


page 24 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

2.3 Analysis by Social Business Wales highlights that while 32% of Social 
Enterprises currently trade with the public sector, most businesses (61%) 
do not tender for public sector work and just under a third (31%) consider 
their inability to access funding from local authorities and other public 
sector bodies as a barrier to their sustainability and growth8. This research 
also noted more generally that local authority funding of Social Enterprises 
has significantly reduced since 2014, in part because of a greater reliance 
on trade with the general public but also because of difficulties in working 
under public bodies commissioning and procurement rules9. In addition, 
the findings of the CWMPAS ‘Buy Social Buy Local project’ – which was 
set up to identify public sector spend that Social Enterprises could secure 
– found that too often the sector in Wales is not geared up to work with 
public bodies. 

2.4 Local authorities are under continuous pressure to deliver public services 
with limited budgets and resources. Combined with rising expectations 
from service users and growing demand for many statutory services, 
local authorities need to ensure they make every £1 count through their 
procurement and commissioning processes. 

2.5  Local authorities have a strong record in local economic development 
work, promoting growth and, in particular, providing help for small and 
medium size businesses. Over half of the local authority officers we 
interviewed however, did not differentiate between their wider economic 
development work and the specific opportunities Social Enterprises 
present, seeing Social Enterprises as one option among many locally. And, 
while most local authorities provide financial assistance to businesses and 
the third sector, these grants are for businesses in general, with no specific 
focus on growing Social Enterprises. Some local authorities noted that 
their procurement and commissioning approaches sought to create a ‘level 
playing field’ and did not favour one group of organisations over others. 

8 Social Business Wales, Mapping the Social Business Sector in Wales / 2020 Census,  
June 2021

9 https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/SBW-Full-Mapping-Report-English.pdf

Appendix B

Page 263

https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/SBW-MAPPING-SOCIAL-BUSINESS.pdf
https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/SBW-Full-Mapping-Report-English.pdf


page 25 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

2.6 Notwithstanding, authority officers responding to our survey also identified 
various barriers to Social Enterprises benefitting from local authority 
procurement and commissioning opportunities. These include: 

a  ‘onerous’ and ‘not proportionate’ procurement rules that discourage 
smaller businesses; 

b processes focusing too much on profit and savings and not enough 
on social value, community resilience and well-being, all areas where 
Social Enterprises can add value; 

c Social Enterprises not operating in the appropriate sector, or not offering 
all the services required;

d  a preference for local authorities to go to existing providers and ‘work 
with what we know’ rather than pushing the boundaries and actively 
seeking to develop new opportunities; and

e limited capacity, skills and resources in local authorities which reduces 
opportunity to broaden the contractor base and specifically target Social 
Enterprises.

2.7 However, despite these weaknesses we also found that most local 
authorities are not resourcing work to promote Social Enterprises. For 
example, our survey of local authorities found that only two of the 21 
responding to us have a dedicated budget to support the growth of 
Social Enterprises. Social Enterprise UK recognise four of the seven 
local authorities – Conwy, Flintshire, Gwynedd and Wrexham – as ‘Social 
Enterprise Places’ – areas where social business activity is thriving and 
there is commitment to invest in and work with the sector.10 

2.8 A number of interviewees also noted the impact of the loss of the EU 
funded Southeast Wales Community Economic Development (SEWCED) 
program, a £13.5 million programme delivered in six authorities (Bridgend, 
Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taf and 
Torfaen) that funded work on developing Social Enterprises. The SEWCED 
program ended in 2015 and, despite its success, has ended. Officers from 
the six authorities who delivered the SEWCED initiative felt the loss of 
EU funding stopped them from working collaboratively to grow the social 
business sector. Appendix 5 provides further information on this project.

10 There are 33 recognised social enterprise places in the UK of which four are in Wales.

Appendix B

Page 264

https://www.socialenterprise.org.uk/about-social-enterprise-places/


page 26 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Social value does not feature as a key driver in local 
authority commissioning

2.9 There is no single definition of social value, however Social Enterprise UK 
has defined social value in the context of procurement as ‘the additional 
benefit to the community of a commissioning/procurement process over 
and above the direct purchasing of goods, services and outcomes.’ For 
local authorities who are commissioning services it is important to consider 
and measure this social value from the perspective of those affected by 
the organisation’s work. By capturing in a monetised form the value of a 
wide range of outcomes, commissioners are then able to broadly identify 
how much social value they can get for every £1 of investment. The 
social value model of delivery is therefore a framework that supports a 
collaborative re-design of services in every area of activity.11  

2.10 Our local authority officer survey found that of the 21 who responded, 
nine authorities specifically consider social value when scoring tenders for 
services, nine do not and three did not know. Of the nine local authorities 
who do consider social value, five said the level of weighting varies across 
tenders but four did not know. 

2.11  Recent research published by Welsh Government echoes these 
conclusions noting that because local authorities are under resourced, 
procurement and commissioning teams often lack the skills and capacity 
to realise the benefits of social value12. Current approaches, which focus 
too much on cost, are leading to less sustainable models of delivery 
because too often the only area where organisations can reduce price is 
by squeezing pay and/or staff terms and conditions.

2.12  Notwithstanding, our review of local authorities’ procurement strategies 
identified some good approaches to widening impact and enhancing 
social value. For example, Caerphilly’s Procurement Strategy includes an 
option to use ‘Social/Community Benefit Clauses’ in contracts. Flintshire 
has also introduced a ‘Dynamic Purchasing System,’ allowing smaller 
businesses to fulfil small parts of larger orders, rather than going to a 
single large supplier. This can also encourage existing businesses to 
establish social enterprise arms. Flintshire and Rhondda Cynon Taf, have 
also created ‘Social Value Development Officer’ (or similar), a dedicated 
role that specialises in scrutinising tenders and budgets and identifies and 
promotes opportunities to maximise social value. 

11 cwmpas.coop/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/3.2.9.-supporting-care-commissioners-and-
procurers-to-promote-social-value-models-of-delivery-2020-ENG.pdf 

12 CWMPAS, For economic and social change: Welsh Government Social value review - 
Summary Report, June 2022. 

Appendix B

Page 265

https://cwmpas.coop/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/3.2.9.-supporting-care-commissioners-and-procurers-to-promote-social-value-models-of-delivery-2020-ENG.pdf
https://cwmpas.coop/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/3.2.9.-supporting-care-commissioners-and-procurers-to-promote-social-value-models-of-delivery-2020-ENG.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-07/social-value-review-summary-report.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-07/social-value-review-summary-report.pdf


page 27 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

2.13 A number of authorities use the Welsh Local Government Associations 
(WLGA) Themes, Outcomes and Measures13 (TOMS) metrics which 
provide a social value weighting for analysing and scoring tenders.  
For example, Flintshire told us ‘We will likely lean on our TOMS, to 
measure success, as these are pre-made and standard across the social 
enterprise sector and the local authority.’ Flintshire’s TOMs, which relate to 
their corporate priorities and well-being objectives, allow the Council to use 
its commissioning procurement activities to generate strategic place-based 
outcomes in line with local community needs. Similarly, Rhondda Cynon 
Taf similarly noted that ‘we use the TOMS system as they are national and 
include an underlying social value element. It’s considered when we look 
at their business plan.’ However, several local authorities noted that from 
their experience TOMS did not provide a helpful or workable solution for 
social care commissioning. 

2.14  The majority of local authorities would also consider it their responsibility to 
‘step in’ to support a struggling Social Enterprise if they had commissioned 
services from the organisation. However, given the limited amount 
of commissioning taking place and a natural reluctance to bail out 
organisations that are struggling, most would not seek to support them 
financially or otherwise, considering this too risky and uncertain. 

2.15 Given limitations in how authorities are promoting social value in 
commissioning and procurement, Welsh Government have recently 
reappointed CWMPAS to support the needed transformation of services 
within the social care sector, by pushing forward the development of social 
value models for care. CWMPAS has announced its intention to ‘help 
strengthen regional arrangements for rebalancing the social care market 
by introducing more co-operatives, Social Enterprises and social value 
delivery models in the Welsh social care sector’14. In addition, a sub-group 
of the National Commissioning Board is also producing a guide for social 
value in social care commissioning. While still in draft, it notes that to make 
procurement work more effectively commissioners need to think differently 
with a greater focus on place, people and use of assets. 

13 Published in November 2020, Themes, Outcomes and Measures guidance is in three parts 
with Part 1 providing an overview of the approach.  

14www.wales247.co.uk/welsh-government-appoints-cwmpas-to-transform-social-care-delivery-
across-wales  

Appendix B

Page 266

https://www.wlga.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=62&mid=665&fileid=2848
https://www.wales247.co.uk/welsh-government-appoints-cwmpas-to-transform-social-care-delivery-across
https://www.wales247.co.uk/welsh-government-appoints-cwmpas-to-transform-social-care-delivery-across


Local authorities are 
not delivering their 
responsibilities under 
the Social Services and 
Well-Being (Wales) Act 
and weaknesses in data 
and evaluation limits 
their ability to promote 
Social Enterprises 

03

Appendix B

Page 267



page 29 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

3.1 In this final section of the report, we examine how local authorities are 
delivering their responsibilities under the Social Services and Wellbeing 
(Wales) Act 2014. We also assess the strength of oversight arrangements 
and whether they allow authorities to fully evaluate the work of Social 
Enterprises, their impact and identify opportunities for the future.

The majority of local authorities are not delivering  
their responsibilities under the Social Services and  
Well-Being (Wales) Act to promote Social Enterprises

3.2 Section 16 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (the 
‘Act’) places a duty on local authorities to ‘promote development of Social 
Enterprises to provide care and support and preventative services’.  
Social enterprises themselves are well-placed to collaborate with local 
authorities to deliver social care services. Research by Social Business 
Wales15  found that:

a 54% of Social Enterprises are aware of the ‘Act’; 
b 21% reported that the ‘Act’ is central to the work that they undertake; 
c 19% incorporated the requirements of the ‘Act’ into their governance 

and policy documents;  
d 9% of Social Enterprises are legally obliged to adhere to the ‘Act’;
e 9% explained that the ‘Act’ formed part of their safeguarding policies; 
f 8% reported that the ‘Act’ informed their staff-training programme; and 
g 7% use the ‘Act’ for lobbying and marketing purposes.

3.3  We found that relatively few local authority officers we spoke to were 
aware of their legal duty to champion the use of Social Enterprises and 
very few could set out how they are working to grow the sector and deliver 
their Section 16 responsibilities. The imprecise language in the Act is 
unhelpful in this context; specifically, the word ‘promote.’ In practice local 
authorities interpret their responsibilities to ‘promote’ very widely. A number 
of authorities simply focus their efforts on working with existing Social 
Enterprises with little active promotion to encourage others and help create 
new ones. Few authorities are investing time and resources in refreshing 
policies and procurement procedures to build capacity and provide more 
opportunities to existing Social Enterprises, as well as helping to stimulate 
new ones.

15 Social Business Wales, Mapping the Social Business Sector in Wales / 2020 Census,  
June 2021.

Appendix B

Page 268

https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/SBW-MAPPING-SOCIAL-BUSINESS.pdf


page 30 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

3.4  Recent research echo these findings noting that there has not been a 
major shift by local authorities commissioning to provide more social care 
services through Social Enterprises, and the private sector is still the 
dominant partner16. Third sector partners we interviewed and surveyed 
likewise noted that since the Act went live in 2016, there has been 
little change in how local authorities work with and encourage Social 
Enterprises. Consequently, Welsh Government legislative ambitions are 
not being delivered.

3.5  One opportunity to deliver this change is through the new Social Value 
Forums created under each Regional Partnership Board17 which are 
intended to support the growth of the social value sector within the health 
and social care market. While these forums have varying degrees of 
support from statutory partners and commissioners, they do provide a 
good opportunity to engage with the sector, County Voluntary Councils and 
others within a region to identify opportunities for investment and growth. 
The 20% allocation of the Regional Integration Fund18 for the social 
value sector, managed via Regional Partnership Boards provides a real 
opportunity for working with Social Enterprises to invest in new ways of 
delivering services.

3.6 In addition, there is an expectation from Welsh Government that each 
Regional Partnership Board creates a Social Value Forum to explicitly 
deliver the S.16 responsibilities. For instance, the North Wales Social Care 
and Well-being Improvement Collaborative19 have created a Social Value 
Forum to explore how to promote social value in public services in the 
region. The Regional Market Stability Reports20 – recently completed by 
local authorities through the Regional Partnership Boards – also provide a 
wealth of information on the scale and stability of the social value market 
within health and social care and will support the work of Social Value 
Forums.

16 gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-07/social-value-review-summary-report.pdf
17 In April 2016, seven statutory regional partnerships came into being. Their purpose is to drive 

the strategic regional delivery of social services in close collaboration with health.
18 The Health and Social Care Regional Integration Fund is a 5-year fund from April 2022 to 

March 2027.
19 The North Wales Social Care and Well-being Improvement Collaborative includes the six 

local authorities in North Wales, Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board and other partners. 
The aim is to improve services, make the most of the resources available, reduce duplication 
and make services more consistent across North Wales.

20 Market Stability Reports review the sufficiency of care and support in an area to provide a 
snapshot of the sector to help plan and shape services, including care for the future.

Appendix B

Page 269

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-02/health-and-social-care-regional-integration-fund-revenue-guidance-2022-2027.pdf
https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/get-involved/social-value-forum/
https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/get-involved/social-value-forum/
https://gov.wales/market-stability-reports-code-practice-html
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-07/social-value-review-summary-report.pdf


page 31 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

3.7 A number of local authorities such as Rhondda Cynon Taf and 
Pembrokeshire are already using (or are in the process of creating)  
micro-enterprises. Micro-enterprises are small business delivering 
independent care or support services which employ fewer than 10 people. 
They are an alternative to often expensive day care services. Due to the 
current staffing pressures in social services, Micro-Enterprises offer a 
more sustainable solution as well as delivering better outcomes. 

3.8  The Act also introduced a requirement for each Director of Social Services 
to produce an annual report that sets out the local authority’s improvement 
journey in providing services to people in its area 21. Guidance for the 
annual reports requires local authorities to report their performance against 
six quality standards. Standard one – ‘Working with people to define and 
co-produce personal well-being outcomes that people wish to achieve’ – 
specifically covers the promotion of Social Enterprises.

3.9 Our review of all Reports of the Director of Social Services found that only 
eight reports referenced the use of micro-enterprises and a further three 
mentioned Social Enterprises in some capacity, whether highlighting the 
work of a specific social enterprise in the area or a service commissioned 
from a social business. The other 11 reports did not mention Social 
Enterprises and only expressed in general terms the value of working 
with the third sector. We also found that no report specifically named the 
Section 16 duty, though several did include statements acknowledging that 
the ‘Act’ requires co-production or partnership working with the third sector. 
Overall, we conclude that there is more for local authorities to do in their 
public reporting on how they are promoting Social Enterprises.

21 Welsh Government and ADDS Cymru, The Local Authority Annual Social Services Reports 
Guidance

Appendix B

Page 270

https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/hub-downloads/Guidance-for-local-authority-annual-social-services-reports.pdf
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/hub-downloads/Guidance-for-local-authority-annual-social-services-reports.pdf


page 32 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

There is minimal oversight and evaluation of Social 
Enterprises by local authorities
3.10  Social Enterprises play an important role in meeting need and helping 

people in communities across Wales. For instance, the findings of Social 
Business Wales Census in 2020, set out in Exhibit 5, show that improving 
local communities and improving the wellbeing of the people are key 
objectives for over half of all Social Enterprises. 

Exhibit 5 – the priority areas for the work of Social Enterprises in Wales

Social Enterprises are widening out the focus of their work and increasingly 
delivering activity to benefit the most vulnerable people in communities across 
Wales 

Social Enterprises social and/or environmental 
objectives 2016 2018 2020

Improving a particular community 64% 57% 66%

Improving health and well-being 39% 45% 52%

Supporting vulnerable people 35% 46% 48%

Addressing financial exclusion 26% 28% 44%

Encourage people to participate in the arts, sports & 
recreation - 32% 42%

Supporting vulnerable children and young people 20% 29% 34%

Creating employment opportunities 21% 24% 31%

Promoting education and literacy 32% 29% 29%

Protecting the environment 16% 26% 29%

Providing access to services - 22% 27%

Supporting other Social Enterprises / organisations 9% 16% 25%

Promotes and protect culture, heritage & the Welsh 
language - 21% 24%

Addressing social exclusion 7% 9% 21%

Providing affordable housing 5% 4% 3%

Source: Social Business Wales, Mapping the Social Business Sector in Wales / 
2020 Census, June 2021.

Appendix B

Page 271

https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/SBW-MAPPING-SOCIAL-BUSINESS.pdf
https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/SBW-MAPPING-SOCIAL-BUSINESS.pdf


page 33 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

3.11 Despite Social Enterprises providing services that help public bodies 
deliver their wellbeing objectives and other statutory responsibilities, local 
authorities are mostly not monitoring or evaluating their activities nor their 
impact. Five local authorities responding to our survey noted that they 
have agreed measures to judge the impact of Social Enterprises in their 
local area and report against these. Over half (13) have no arrangements 
to evaluate activity, and the remainder responding did not know. 

3.12  Because of weaknesses in performance management, reporting and 
evaluation, it is difficult for local authorities to judge how well they are 
currently performing and identify how they can support a growth and 
expansion in the role of Social Enterprises in the future. While a few local 
authorities included broad input/output measures in core documents on 
the work of partners, these are often limited to capturing the ‘number of 
Social Enterprises we work with.’ A minority of local authorities stated that 
they considered obtaining ‘qualitative’ information on the impact of Social 
Enterprises,’ drawing on service users experience, but we found little 
evidence of local authorities following this through in practice.

3.13  Local authorities are mostly not reporting to elected members on Social 
Enterprises. Consequently, those officers responsible for delivering 
services are not held to account and the ability to challenge and identify 
development opportunities are lost. Several officers we interviewed 
acknowledge that the lack of performance reporting to members restricts 
chances to encourage elected members to take ownership of this agenda 
and actively promote Social Enterprises.

3.14  Local authorities who commission services from Social Enterprises 
generally have a Service-Level Agreement (SLA) in place underpinned 
by a range of agreed performance measures to evaluate commissioned 
services. However, we found that performance reporting of SLAs focus 
heavily on ‘inputs’ and ‘outputs’ – for instance, number of service users 
dealt with – rather than assessing the wider social benefit of the work of 
Social Enterprises and the impact they have on people who receive their 
services. 

Appendix B

Page 272



page 34 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

1 Audit approach and methods

2 Checklist for local authorities 
effectively engaging and 
working with Social Enterprises

3 Differences in legislative, 
policy and funding for Social 
Enterprises across the three 
countries of Great Britain

4 Number of Social Enterprises 
by Welsh local authority and 
percentage change between 
2016 - 2020

5 Southeast Wales Community 
Economic Development 
programme

6 Summary of Good Practice 
identified in this review

Appendices

Appendix B

Page 273



page 35 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Approach
This report is the second of our themed work for 2022 looking at poverty.  
This report sits alongside our earlier report on poverty in Wales and our 
forthcoming review examining how local authorities empower people to be  
more self-reliant and resilient.
For this work our approach has been to understand how well local authorities 
are working with, promoting and developing Social Enterprises. In particular 
we have looked at the robustness of needs information, strategies, plans and 
policies for Social Enterprises and how local authorities are ensuring they 
deliver their commitments under the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 2014 to 
promote Social Enterprises. 
We examined all 22 principal local authorities in Wales at a high-level, managing 
delivery to be mindful of the pressures local authority officers are under during 
both the pandemic and the cost-of-living crisis. We ensured coverage was 
sufficient to draw a view on the whole sector but not to significantly detract from 
officers’ service delivery responsibilities. Our approach was flexible to fit around 
officers when agreeing and delivering our fieldwork.

Methods
We completed our review between August 2021 and September 2022 and used 
a range of methods in delivering our work:

• document review: we reviewed documentation from the Welsh 
Government, local authorities, PSBs and other relevant public bodies. 
This included, relevant committee minutes, corporate strategies, 
economic, business, regeneration and procurement strategies; COVID-19 
recovery plans; and the Director of Social Services Annual reports. We 
also reviewed information published by Social Business Wales, Social 
Enterprise UK and Social Enterprise Scotland.

1 Audit approach and methods

Appendix B

Page 274

https://audit.wales/publication/time-change-poverty-wales


page 36 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

•  interviews – we undertook a range of different interviews:
- officer interviews – we interviewed officers nominated by all Welsh 

principal local authorities, generally those with responsibility for Social 
Enterprises, social care or economic development. These took place 
between January and May 2022.

- national interviews – we interviewed representatives of Welsh and 
Scottish Social Enterprises, national representative bodies such as 
CWMPAS, charities, think tanks, academic institutions and research 
bodies. These took place between March and June 2022.

• focus groups – in line with our approach, some local authorities felt it was 
more appropriate for us to speak to a range of officers in focus groups to 
reduce our impact on service delivery.

• survey – we undertook a survey with local authority officers. The survey 
was open between January and May 2022, and we received responses 
from all local authorities except Newport City Council.

• websites – local authority and external resources, eg DEWIS.
• data analysis – we analysed a range of data collated and published 

by Social Business Wales, Social Enterprise UK and Social Enterprise 
Scotland. 

Appendix B

Page 275



page 37 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Action Completed Started Not Started

1 Strategic Arrangements

Vision

We have an agreed vision on how we will work with 
Social Enterprises. 

The vision has been shared with, and is understood 
by, all relevant staff in the local authority. 

The vision has been shared with, endorsed by and 
is understood by elected members. 

The vision has been developed in discussion with 
the local County Voluntary Council.

The vision has been disseminated to Social 
Enterprises we work with.

The vision clearly sets out how we intend to deliver 
our Section 16 responsibilities for promoting Social 
Enterprises including:
•  Our work to promote social value through the 

Regional Partnership Board; and
•  Use of the Regional Integrated Fund to promote 

and develop Social Enterprises.

2 Checklist for local authorities for 
effectively engaging and working  
with Social Enterprises

Appendix B

Page 276



page 38 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Action Completed Started Not Started

Corporate Approach

We have a corporate led approach for working with 
Social Enterprises that covers all departments and 
services. 

The corporate approach translates our vision into 
practical actions. 

We have designated a corporate lead for Social 
Enterprises who is responsible for overseeing and 
coordinating our work with the sector. 

Understanding the local Social Enterprise sector

We have mapped out the Social Enterprise sector 
in our local authority area and know:
•  The number of organisations working locally;
•  The services they provide;
•  The communities the services are provided in;
•  The people the service is provided for;
•  How the services are funded;
•  The operating hours/days for services; 
•  The eligibility criteria for the service (if any); 
•  How the service fits with our Section16 

responsibilities for promoting Social Enterprises 
in delivering social care services; and

•  Who to contact for more information.

We have a record of all our Social Enterprise 
funding.

Appendix B

Page 277



page 39 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Action Completed Started Not Started

We collate financial information and report at least 
annually on the totality of our Social Enterprise 
funding covering:
• which organisations we fund; 
• the contract value; 
• the length of the contract; 
•  which department/service has contracted;
•  the measures of success established for the 

work; and 
• what the intended benefits of the work are.

We raise awareness on the benefits presented 
by Social Enterprises to ensure all staff identify 
opportunities to collaborate with them by:
•  hosting a social enterprise day within the local 

authority;
•  putting on workshops for councillors and senior 

managers; and
•  developing activities to celebrate and promote 

social enterprise.

Collaboration and partnership arrangements

We have identified and agreed how the work of 
Social Enterprises will be managed and scrutinised 
at a: 
•  corporate level – in the work of strategic 

partnerships and corporate scrutiny committees; 
•  department level – in specific partnership 

arrangements to support wider policy agendas 
within defined areas; and

•  service level – on local partnerships and specific 
service-led initiatives.

Appendix B

Page 278



page 40 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Action Completed Started Not Started

We effectively raise awareness of the work of 
social enterprises and involve local people and 
communities in developing new Social Enterprises.

We have a clear and effective relationship with our 
County Voluntary Council as a key strategic and 
delivery partner

We have a nominated lead senior official to 
promote and lead work through the regional Social 
Value Forum.

Strategy

Our approach to Social Enterprises is integrated 
with our key strategies and plan – eg Wellbeing 
Plan, corporate priorities and other community and 
regional strategies. 

We have set SMART objectives and actions on 
how we will support and promote the growth of 
Social Enterprises. 

We are clear on the benefits and risks of Social 
Enterprises for citizens, local communities and the 
local authority.

Delivering the strategy

We have enough staff and resources to promote 
and grow Social Enterprises.

We have staff in the right services and with the 
required seniority to deliver our vision for Social 
Enterprises.

We have a can-do culture mindset within the 
council to make the best use of Social Enterprises.

We give staff the opportunity to take well-managed 
risks and explore innovative practices

Appendix B

Page 279



page 41 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Action Completed Started Not Started

2 Commissioning and Procurement

Designing services

We draw on the expertise and knowledge of Social 
Enterprises in designing new services. 

Our commissioners make good use of the Market 
Stability Report process to inform commissioning 
and market shaping activity for the social care 
sector.

In designing services, we clearly set out: 
•  what demand the service will meet; 
•  how we have decided on the type of service that 

we require; and 
•  how we will engage with current and potential 

providers to develop the service.

We ensure that our tender process is accessible for 
all potential collaborators. 

We can demonstrate we have the capacity and 
skills to undertake the strategic commissioning 
process.

We actively look for ways to invite collaboration

Appendix B

Page 280



page 42 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Action Completed Started Not Started

Effective award systems

We have created a single centralised and corporate 
funding system for the management and award of 
all funding to Social Enterprises. 

We have effective systems to award funding to 
organisations that sets out: 
•  a clear funding timetable that is available to all 

potential bidders so that they can prepare for 
opportunities; 

•  the process that will be used to decide (for 
example, seeking quotations or using a tender or 
proposal process); 

•  the value and risk associated with the various 
funding routes;

•  clear and published criteria that are understood 
by all organisations seeking funding, including 
community benefit and social value clauses; 

•  the cost and resources to oversee and 
administer the process; and

•  the length of time that funding will be provided.

Efficient award systems

We have efficient corporate systems to award 
funding based on: 
•  concise and clear application processes; 
•  use of online and electronic systems to distribute 

and collate information and bids; 
•  short end-to-end decision-making arrangements; 
•  the minimum number of stages and processes 

required to decide; and 
•  decisions being delegated to the lowest level.

Appendix B

Page 281



page 43 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Action Completed Started Not Started

Our contract terms and conditions are proportionate 
to the level of funding being made and are specific 
to the work that is being funded. 

We review our funding processes to ensure we 
are not excluding Social Enterprises from securing 
work.

Training and information sharing

We provide training to support Social Enterprises 
covering: 
•  how to apply for funding – the do’s and don’ts; 
•  complying with our commissioning and 

procurement systems; 
•  data collection processes; 
•  performance management and scrutiny 

arrangements; 
•  payment cycles and performance targets; and 
•  contract termination/continuation requirements.

Appendix B

Page 282



page 44 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Action Completed Started Not Started

3 Managing performance

Information collection

We have specified the information required to 
monitor and evaluate the performance of the Social 
Enterprises we fund.

The information only measures relevant activity.

The systems to collect information are streamlined 
and efficient, and Social Enterprises only submit 
information once and electronically on agreed 
timescales.

Performance review

We regularly report on our Social Enterprise 
funding to scrutiny committee(s) against a balanced 
set of performance information that covers: 
•  the service standards we set for the Social 

Enterprise we fund to perform against; 
•  improvements in people’s wellbeing and social 

outcomes; and
•  relevant service-based performance data; and 
•  conclusions of external audit/inspection reviews.

Our scrutiny and evaluation processes:
• are proportionate for the value of the funding we 

provide; and 
•  provide us with assurance that our funding is 

achieving the expected outcomes.

Annually we report publicly:
•  on the work of Social Enterprises;
•  on the current performance of Social Enterprises 

we fund; 
•  how we will promote further opportunities for the 

sector in the future; and
•  how well we are performing in delivering our 

S.16 responsibilities for Social Enterprises.

Appendix B

Page 283



page 45 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Action Completed Started Not Started

Risk management

We regularly review risks associated with our 
Social Enterprise funding.

We agree risk management plans if risks are not 
being managed and mitigated. 

We have a rolling programme of internal audit 
systems testing and compliance reviews to ensure 
the robustness, efficiency and effectiveness of our 
funding of Social Enterprise services.

Appendix B

Page 284



page 46 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Issues England Scotland Wales

Legislation 
on Social 
Enterprises

Mainly focussed 
on making better 
use of Social Value 
contracts under 
the Public Services 
(Social Value) Act 
2012

Mainly through land/
asset usage and 
requirement for 
public bodies to have 
at least one Social 
Enterprise contract

Yes, S.16 of the SSWBA 2015 
requires Local Authorities to 
“Promote Social Enterprises,  
co-operatives, user led 
services and the third sector”. 
This could also be widened 
out in the Social Partnership 
and Public Procurement Bill

National 
Strategy for 
growing Social 
Enterprises

Social Enterprises 
UK have published 
a futures report – 
Social Value 2032.

Scotland’s Social 
Enterprise Strategy 
2016-2026

Welsh Government had 
strategy in 2005 but this has 
ended. The current strategy – 
Transforming Wales Through 
Social Enterprises – was 
developed by the sector 
and is supported by Welsh 
Government

Government 
funding 
for Social 
Enterprises

Government backed 
Start Up Loan of 
£500 to £25,000 and 
Levelling Up monies

Just Enterprise, 
Developing Markets, 
Social Growth, 
Business Gateway, 
etc

Business Wales Economic 
Resilience Fund and 
Development Bank of Wales

Government 
support 
for Social 
Enterprises

Mainly provided 
via the UK 
Government’s 
Business Support 
Helpline and 38 local 
‘growth hubs’

Mainly coordinated 
via Business Support 
Scotland

Welsh Government’s Social 
Business Wales

Minister with 
responsibility 
for Social 
Enterprises

Junior Minister for 
Civil Society and 
Youth

Cabinet Minister 
for Business, 
Trade, Tourism and 
Enterprise

Cabinet Minister for Economy

Source: Audit Wales.

3 Differences in legislative, policy and 
funding for Social Enterprises across 
the three countries of Great Britain

Appendix B

Page 285

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/3/section/1/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/3/section/1/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/3/section/1/enacted
https://gov.wales/social-partnership-and-public-procurement-bill-update
https://gov.wales/social-partnership-and-public-procurement-bill-update
https://www.socialenterprise.org.uk/app/uploads/2022/05/Social-Value-2032-Creating-a-Social-Value-Economy-compressed.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-social-enterprise-strategy-2016-2026/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-social-enterprise-strategy-2016-2026/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-social-enterprise-strategy-2016-2026/
https://sewfonline.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/social-enterprise-wales-10-year-vision-and-action-plan-july-2020.pdf
https://sewfonline.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/social-enterprise-wales-10-year-vision-and-action-plan-july-2020.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/business-support-helpline
https://www.gov.uk/business-support-helpline
https://www.lepnetwork.net/
https://findbusinesssupport.gov.scot/
https://findbusinesssupport.gov.scot/
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjXlcvsmLz4AhWRXsAKHW37Bf4QFnoECBgQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fbusinesswales.gov.wales%2Fsocialbusinesswales%2F&usg=AOvVaw3LtntzcNhxAcyKR_WNOe2x
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjXlcvsmLz4AhWRXsAKHW37Bf4QFnoECBgQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fbusinesswales.gov.wales%2Fsocialbusinesswales%2F&usg=AOvVaw3LtntzcNhxAcyKR_WNOe2x


page 47 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Local Authority 2018 2020 Difference % increase
Vale of Glamorgan22 41 217 176 429%
Cardiff 228 265 37 16%
Newport 51 76 25 49%
Swansea 135 158 23 17%
Wrexham 62 78 16 26%
Ceredigion 71 79 8 11%
Flintshire 65 70 5 8%
Monmouthshire 29 34 5 17%
Isle of Anglesey 56 60 4 7%
Conwy 76 78 2 3%
Denbighshire 71 72 1 1%
Bridgend 83 85 2 2%
Gwynedd 127 128 1 1%
Caerphilly 99 98 -1 -1%
Merthyr Tydfil 67 64 -3 -4%
Pembrokeshire 121 115 -6 -5%
NPT 79 73 -6 -8%
RCT 162 155 -7 -4%
Carmarthenshire 174 164 -10 -6%
Blaenau Gwent 45 38 -7 -16%
Powys 110 100 -10 -9%
Torfaen 51 40 -11 -22%
Total identified 2,003 2,247 244 12%

Source: Social Business Wales, Mapping the Social Business Sector in Wales / 
2020 Census, June 2021.

22 Per the report by CWMPAS, the figure for the Vale of Glamorgan is an outlier, due to the 
inclusion of an additional source provided by the Vale of Glamorgan Voluntary Service. It is 
not known if this approach was adopted elsewhere in Wales.

4 Number of Social Enterprises by 
Welsh local authority and percentage 
change between 2018 - 2020

Appendix B

Page 286



page 48 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Six local authorities (Bridgend, Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Merthyr Tydfil, 
Rhondda Cynon Taf and Torfaen) funded dedicated Social Enterprise programs 
using £13.5m of EU monies under the Southeast Wales Community Economic 
Development (SEWCED) program. An evaluation of the SEWCED program 
commissioned by Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council found that the project 
had exceeded expectations in terms of generating new jobs, and all aspects of 
the project were rated highly in surveys with social enterprise beneficiaries.  
For instance, SEWCED supported:

•  the creation of 30 new jobs and 3 new Social Enterprises;
•  the provision of financial assistance to 28 local organisations; 
•  15 organisations to adopt and implement Environmental Action Plans; and 
•  13 to adopt Equality Strategies and improve how their systems for 

monitoring and evaluating delivery. 
The SEWCED program ended in 2015 and, despite the success of the project 
and the evaluation findings, the activity has not been continued or replaced in 
the majority of cases. Only two local authorities received transitional funding 
to keep on the staff they employed to work with Social Enterprises under 
SEWCED. 
The evaluation determined that ‘without the support of the SEWCED, the 
social enterprise sector in Southeast Wales would not have achieved the same 
outcomes as it did. Furthermore, without similar support in the future, these 
results would suggest that the social enterprise sector will not produce the same 
benefits as it has done as a result of the SEWCED programme.’ The interviews 
with local authorities where SEWCED were mentioned have borne this out, as 
there is no equivalent funded and organised effort to promote Social Enterprises 
active in Wales at this time. 

5 Southeast Wales Community 
Economic Development programme

Appendix B

Page 287



page 49 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Good practice – how we determine it
These are the parameters we use to judge whether to include a case study as 
good practice:

• a programme, activity or strategy that has proven effectiveness, supported 
by a comprehensive evaluation.

•  a programme, activity or strategy that has been shown to produce 
successful outcomes and is supported to some degree by subjective and 
objective data sources.

•  a programme, activity or strategy that has worked within one organisation 
and shows promise during its early stages for becoming practice with long-
term sustainable impact.

• a programme, activity or strategy that has the potential for replication 
among other organisations.

•  a programme, activity or strategy that is delivering value for money. 
Value for money is defined as the optimal use of resources to deliver the 
intended benefits.

•  a programme, activity or strategy that is delivering savings/reductions in 
expenditure with no or low impact on performance.

Within the body of the report, we have identified the following areas of good 
practice:

•  Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council – the work of the Voluntary 
Sector Group that leads on engaging with Social Enterprises – paragraph 
1.18.

•  Wrexham County Borough Council – the work of the Business Enterprise 
Officer to support and promote Social Enterprises – paragraph 1.19.

•  Torfaen County Borough Council and the Vale of Glamorgan Council – the 
creation of Social Enterprises to deliver local services – paragraph 1.20.

6 Summary of Good Practice 
identified in this review

Appendix B

Page 288



page 50 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

•  Caerphilly County Borough Council – the use of Social and Community 
Benefit Clauses in contracts – paragraph 2.12.

•  Flintshire County Council – Dynamic Purchasing System which allows 
smaller businesses to fulfil small parts of larger orders – paragraph 2.12.

• Flintshire County Council and Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council – creation of officers with specific responsibilities to identify and 
promote opportunities to maximise social value in tendering processes – 
paragraph 2.12.

• Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council and Pembrokeshire County 
Council – promotion of and work with Micro-Enterprises – paragraph 3.7.

Appendix B

Page 289



page 51 ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises

Appendix B

Page 290



Audit Wales

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff 

CF11 9LJ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Fax: 029 2032 0600

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

We welcome telephone calls in  
Welsh and English.

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

Appendix B

Page 291



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix C 
 

1 
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form.  
 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 
Service Area: Tackling Poverty Service 
Directorate: Adult Social Services 
 
Q1 (a) What are you screening for relevance? 
 
 

 New and revised policies, practices or procedures  
      Service review, re-organisation or service changes/reductions, which affect the wider community, service 

 users and/or staff  
     Efficiency or saving proposals 
     Setting budget allocations for new financial year and strategic financial planning 
    New project proposals affecting staff, communities or accessibility to the built environment, e.g., new 

 construction work or adaptations to existing buildings, moving to on-line services, changing location 
 Large Scale Public Events 
 Local implementation of National Strategy/Plans/Legislation 
 Strategic directive and intent, including those developed at Regional Partnership Boards and Public Services 

 Board, which impact on a public bodies functions 
 Medium to long term plans (for example, corporate plans, development plans, service delivery and 

 improvement plans) 
 Setting objectives (for example, well-being objectives, equality objectives, Welsh language  strategy) 
 Major procurement and commissioning decisions 
 Decisions that affect the ability (including external partners) to offer Welsh  language opportunities and 

 services 
 Other  

 
(b) Please name and fully describe initiative here:  
 
This is an IIA Screening for the report by the Tackling Poverty Service to the Governance and 
Audit Committee on the recommendations from the Audit Wales ‘A missed opportunity – Social 
Enterprises’.  The report from Audit Wales looks at evidence from local authorities across Wales 
on different approaches to working with and realising the benefits of Social Enterprises. The 
recommendations focus on each local authority conducting a self-assessment of their current 
position in order to identify actions and improvements.  
 
The report is to inform the Committee of the findings of Audit Wales’ investigation, summarise 
the recommendations of their review and highlight the proposals for actions to be taking by the 
Council in response to the review. These actions will be incorporated into the refresh of the 
Tackling Poverty Strategy. 
 
A full IIA will be carried out as part of the Tackling Poverty Strategy development in due course. 
 

 
 

Q2 What is the potential impact on the following: the impacts below could be positive 
(+) or negative (-)  

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Needs further  No  
     Investigation  Impact 
     +    -     +    -               +    -    
Children/young people (0-18)           
OIder people (50+)           
Any other age group              
Future Generations (yet to be born)            
Disability            
Race (including refugees)            
Asylum seekers           
Gypsies & travellers            Page 292



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix C 
 

2 
 

Religion or (non-)belief           
Sex           
Sexual Orientation           
Gender reassignment            
Welsh Language           
Poverty/social exclusion           
Carers (inc. young carers)           
Community cohesion           
Marriage & civil partnership           
Pregnancy and maternity           
Human Rights           
 
 
 
Q3 What involvement has taken place/will you undertake e.g. 

engagement/consultation/co-productive approaches?   
 Please provide details below – either of your activities or your reasons for not 

undertaking involvement 
 
In relation to the Audit Wales investigation, Council staff contributed to the review undertaken by 
the Auditor General for Wales through a series of interviews and the provision of documentation 
/ information between April 2021 and September 2022. 
 
In relation to the actions proposed in this report, we plan to take these actions through our 
planned approach to refreshing the Council’s Tackling Poverty Strategy. We intend to undertake 
a range of activities working with our poverty networks and forums as well as targeted 
engagement and consultation activities but this will be highlighted in our update on the strategy 
development approach. 
 
A full IIA will be carried out as part of the Tackling Poverty Strategy development in due course. 
 
 
Q4 Have you considered the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 in the 
 development of this initiative:   
 

a) Overall does the initiative support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being Objectives when considered 
together?  
 Yes                  No          
 

b) Does the initiative consider maximising contribution to each of the seven national well-being goals?  
 Yes                  No          
 

c) Does the initiative apply each of the five ways of working? 
 Yes                  No          
 

d) Does the initiative meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs?  
 Yes                  No          
 

 
 
Q5 What is the potential risk of the initiative? (Consider the following impacts – equality, 

socio-economic, environmental, cultural, legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception etc…)  

 Page 293



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix C 
 

3 
 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
                         
 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

The evaluation presented in this report identifies a range of actions that Council staff can 
deliver collaboratively and in partnership with others. This may lead to impacts on other 
Council services but the detail will emerge through detailed activity planning with the 
relevant staff. 

 
 

Q7 Will this initiative result in any changes needed to the external or internal website? 
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
 
Q8  What is the cumulative impact of this proposal on people and/or communities 
when considering all the impacts identified within the screening and any other key 
decisions affecting similar groups/ service users made by the organisation?   
(You may need to discuss this with your Service Head or Cabinet Member to consider more widely if this 
proposal will affect certain groups/ communities more adversely because of other decisions the 
organisation is making. For example, financial impact/poverty, withdrawal of multiple services and 
whether this is disadvantaging the same groups, e.g., disabled people, older people, single parents (who 
are mainly women), etc.)   
 
There is no impact for the report itself.   
 
Outcome of Screening 
 

 
Q9 Please describe the outcome of your screening using the headings below: 

• Summary of impacts identified and mitigation needed (Q2) 
• Summary of involvement (Q3) 
• WFG considerations (Q4) 
• Any risks identified (Q5) 
• Cumulative impact (Q7) 

 
This is an IIA Screening for the report by the Tackling Poverty Service to the Governance and 
Audit Committee on the recommendations from the Audit Wales ‘A missed opportunity – Social 
Enterprises’. 
 
The report is to inform the Committee of the findings of Audit Wales’ investigation, summarise 
the recommendations of their review and highlight the proposals for actions to be taking by the 
Council in response to the review (which are to be incorporated into the plans for refresh of the 
Tackling Poverty Strategy). This report has identified no implications with the IIA. 
 
 
  (NB: This summary paragraph should be used in the ‘Integrated Assessment Implications’ 

section of corporate report)  
   

 Full IIA to be completed  
 

Page 294



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix C 
 

4 
 

 Do not complete IIA – please ensure you have provided the relevant information above to support this 
 outcome 

    
 
NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before 
obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via 
email. 
Screening completed by: 
Name: Lee Cambule 
Job title: Tackling Poverty Services Manager 
Date: 29/09/23 

 

Approval by Head of Service: 
Name: Amy Hawkins 
Position: Head of Adult Services and Tackling Poverty 
Date: 12/10/23 

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

Page 295

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Community 
 

Governance & Audit Committee – 25 October 2023 
 

Report on the Audit Wales ‘Together We Can’ – 
Community Resilience and Self-Reliance Report 

Recommendations 

 
Purpose: To provide a briefing to the Governance and Audit 

Committee on the findings of the Auditor General for 
Wales review of community resilience and self-reliance in 
Wales and its recommendations for action by local 
authorities. 
 

Report Authors: Lee Cambule  

Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 
 

Finance Officer: 
 

Chris Davies 

Access to Services 
Officer: 

Rhian Millar 
 

 

For Information 
 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Swansea Council’s Report on the Audit Wales ‘Together We Can’ – 

Community resilience and self-reliance report recommendations provides a 
summary of the report and its findings, as well as highlighting the action 
taken by Swansea Council to date. This includes our response to the three 
recommendations and notes areas for further action which we intend to 
explore further. 
 

2. Context 
 
2.1 On 23 January 2023, Audit Wales published the report ‘Together We Can’ 

– Community resilience and self-reliance. The report looks at the priority 
placed on community resilience and self-reliance in local authority plans, 
and how local authorities are equipping people to be less reliant on often 
over stretched local authority services. A copy of the report is available for 
reference at https://www.audit.wales/publication/together-we-can-
community-resilience-and-self-reliance .  

 

Page 296

Agenda Item 13

https://www.audit.wales/publication/together-we-can-community-resilience-and-self-reliance
https://www.audit.wales/publication/together-we-can-community-resilience-and-self-reliance


2.2 The report shares the finding of the third of three investigations by Audit 
Wales on the challenge of alleviating and tackling poverty. The overall 
conclusion of the report is that “local authorities face a challenging and 
uncertain financial future but find it difficult to empower people and 
communities to be more self-reliance and less dependent on services”. 

 
3. Content  
 
3.1 The report identifies that there are many different interpretations and 

meanings of community resilience and self-reliance, with the report finding 
different local authorities taking various approaches to defining it. It broadly 
uses these terms to mean: 

 

 Community preparedness for adverse situations (to cope or thrive in 
adversity); 

 Support from within the community to promote individuals’ 
independence; 

 Everything in between (such as addressing complex societal issues like 
poverty). 

 
3.2 The main barriers to creating more self-reliant and resilience communities 

identified through this review include: 
 

 A lack of resources to drive the transformational change in this area; 

 Inability to redirect resources from service delivery to supporting 
communities; 

 Relationships between local authorities and community residents; 

 A lack of appetite from communities to become more self-reliant; 

 Internal culture to be direct providers of services, not enablers and 
influencers; 

 Local-level partnership and collaborative working to influence 
communities; 

 Lack of strategic vision and understanding the needs of the community; 

 Wider challenges such as poverty, rurality, transportation and digital 
exclusion. 

 
3.3 Some other highlights of the report it is worth noting include: 
 

 Most Local Authorities are operating with no clear definition of resilience or 
self-reliant communities and only three could define the characteristics of a 
self-reliant individual; 

 Local authorities that included ‘communities’ within their corporate plan 
objectives were recognised for defining their commitment to supporting 
communities to develop; 

 Volunteering is a key theme but requires a shift in culture and needs to be 
nurtured carefully to avoid burnout of the volunteering section; 

 Empowering communities to do more for themselves can take a range of 
approaches from making grant processes more agile to a less risk averse 
approach to Community Asset Transfers (CAT); 

 Community leaders, activities, and town / community councils play an 
important role in the community engagement and involvement for this work;  

Page 297



 The role of local authorities is moving from providing services to supporting 
communities to do more for themselves is unclear and requires planning 
and getting the right balance. 

 
3.4 The report highlights the following recommendations: 
 

 Recommendation 

R1 To strengthen community resilience and support people to be more self-reliant, 
local authorities need to ensure they have the right arrangements and systems in 
place. We recommend that local authorities use the evaluation tool (attached) to: 

• self-evaluate current engagement, management, performance and practice; 

• identify where improvement is needed; and 

• draft and implement an action plan with timeframes and responsibilities clearly 
set out to address the gaps and weaknesses identified in completing the 
evaluation tool. 

R2 To help local authorities address the gaps they identify following their self-
evaluation, we recommend that they: 

• formally approve the completed Action Plan arising from the evaluation exercise; 

• regularly report, monitor and evaluate performance at relevant scrutiny 
committees; and 

• revise actions and targets in light of the authority’s evaluation and assessment of 
its performance. 

 
4.  Way Forward 

 
4.1  Our analysis of the findings of Audit Wales’ report is detailed in the report 

at Appendix A which includes a completed evaluation conducted by two 
oversight groups that coordinate the delivery of the Corporate Priority 
‘Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities’ – these are the Swansea 
Council Poverty Forum and the Enabling Communities Group. 

 
4.2  The evaluation identifies 10 key actions to define, deliver and continuously 

improve our vision for resilient and self-reliant communities in Swansea. 
These actions will fall under the governance of the Corporate Priority 
‘Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities’ and progress will be 
monitored and reported via the two oversight groups above. 

 
 
5. Integrated Assessment Implications 

 
5.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and 

the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the 
exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to:: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

Page 298



 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-
economic disadvantage 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
5.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that 

public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. 
Sustainable development means the process of improving the economic, 
social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving 
the ‘well-being goals’. 

 
5.3 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid due 

regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and 
priorities, such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, the 
United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and Welsh 
language.  

 
5.4  An Integrated Impact Screening has been completed for this report with no 

 further assessment required (See Appendix C). This is an IIA Screening for 
 the ‘For Information’ Report to the Governance and Audit Committee 
 regarding the findings of the Auditor General for Wales review of 
 community resilience and self-reliance in Wales and its recommendations 
 for action by local authorities.  A full IIA will be carried out as part of the 
 development process for the Tackling Poverty Strategy in due course. 

 
6. Legal implications  
 
6.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 
7. Finance Implications 
 
7.1 There are no immediate financial implications associated with this report. 

The actions noted in section 4 will be undertaken in line with departmental 
budgets.. 

 
 
Background papers: None 
 
Appendices:  
Appendix A – Report on the Audit Wales ‘Together We Can’ – Community 
resilience and self-reliance report recommendations 
Appendix B – ‘Together We Can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance Report 
Appendix C – Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) Screening 

Page 299



Appendix A 
 

1 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Report on the Audit Wales ‘Together We Can’ 
report recommendations 

 
 

Governance & Audit Committee 
 
 

25 October 2023 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 300



Appendix A 
 

2 
 

1. Executive Summary 
 
In 2017, Swansea Council published Working towards prosperity for all in Swansea: A 
tackling poverty strategy for Swansea. This corporate strategy represented the Council’s 
commitment to reducing poverty and the impacts that poverty has on the people of Swansea. 
In line with this commitment, tackling poverty is one of Swansea Council’s well-being 
objectives defined in its Corporate Plan 2023-2027: 
 

Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities so that every person in Swansea can 
achieve their potential. 

 
On 23rd January 2023, Audit Wales published the report ‘Together We Can’ – Community 
resilience and self-reliance. The report looks at the priority placed on community resilience 
and self-reliance in local authority plans, and how local authorities are equipping people to be 
less reliant on often overstretched local authority services. The report concludes that “local 
authorities face a challenging and uncertain financial future but find it difficult to empower 
people and communities to be more self-reliance and less dependent on services”. 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the findings of this report (including the 
key recommendations for consideration) and set out proposals for our local response. 
 
 

2. Context 
 
Audit Wales published this report as the third of three key reviews relating to tackling poverty 
in Wales (the other reports being ‘Time for Change’ and ‘A missed opportunity’). This report 
was compiled based on a high-level examination of all local authorities in Wales conducted 
between September 2021 and August 2022, using document reviews, data analysis, 
interviews and surveys to inform the final report.  
 

The report recognises that community resilience and self-
reliance is important for local authorities as part of a broad 
shift in policy from ‘Doing’ to ‘Enabling’ to ‘Influencing’ 
(where the focus for local authorities is moving away from 
being service providers toward equipping communities to 
become more resilience and self-reliant). Financial 
challenges, legislative drivers and the increasing demand 
for statutory services make this move essential for local 
authorities especially in dealing with some of the worst 
levels of poverty in the UK. 
 
A key issue with this approach is that there are many 
different interpretations and meanings of community 
resilience and self-reliance, with the report finding different 
local authorities taking various approaches to defining it. 
These range from not making the definitions a priority to 
using different definitions across various services to 
believing it is not possible to define these things. 

 
The report broadly uses the terms resilience and self-reliance to cover: 

1. Community preparedness for adverse situations (to cope or thrive in adversity); 
2. Support from within the community to promote individuals’ independence; 
3. Everything in between (such as addressing complex societal issues like poverty). 

Page 301



Appendix A 
 

3 
 

 
Achieving this will involve local authorities potentially ‘resetting’ their presence in communities, 
as evidenced by the main approaches currently being used; Community Hubs, and 
Community Connectors / Navigators. This has been partly achieved through the COVID-19 
pandemic which sparked a resurgence in community activism and helped local communities 
pull together to support vulnerable people in their area. However, there is a risk that these 
good values are not embedded for the longer term and an opportunity may be missed to 
restate the role of local authorities within “resilient” communities. 
 
The report identifies the essential components or ‘building blocks’ of resilience to be: 

 Human capital – people and their skills, capacity and knowledge; 

 Social capital – networks and connections within a community, groups working 
effectively within the community (such as voluntary organisations) and resources that 
support a community coming from public, private and third sectors; 

 Built capital – physical infrastructure and commodities such as homes, roads and 
shared amenities; 

 Environmental capital – natural resources such as green and blue spaces for 
community benefits; 

 Financial capital – income, wealth and access to resources supported through civic 
and social enterprises.  

 
The main barriers to creating more self-reliant and resilience communities identified through 
this review include: 

 A lack of resources to drive the transformational change in this area; 

 Inability to redirect resources from service delivery to supporting communities; 

 Relationships between local authorities and community residents; 

 A lack of appetite from communities to become more self-reliant; 

 Internal culture to be direct providers of services, not enablers and influencers; 

 Local-level partnership and collaborative working to influence communities; 

 Lack of strategic vision and understanding the needs of the community; 

 Wider challenges such as poverty, rurality, transportation and digital exclusion. 
 
Measuring this transformation is complex as there are no established national measures to 
determine individual and community resilience. There are proxy measures that could be used 
as indicators, such as levels of active citizenship, social loneliness and levels of community 
cohesion. However, the report identifies that no local authorities in Wales are using these 
indicators effectively to evaluate community resilience. 
 
Other findings of the report include: 

 Most Local Authorities are operating with no clear definition of resilience or self-
reliant communities and only three could define the characteristics of a self-reliant 
individual; 

 Local authorities that included ‘communities’ within their corporate plan objectives 
were recognised for defining their commitment to supporting communities to develop; 

 Volunteering is a key theme but requires a shift in culture and needs to be nurtured 
carefully to avoid burnout of the volunteering section; 

 Empowering communities to do more for themselves can take a range of approaches 
from making grant processes more agile to taking a less risk averse approach to 
Community Asset Transfers (CAT); 

 Community leaders, activists, and town / community councils play an important role 
in the community engagement and involvement for this work;  

 The role of local authorities as a result of shifting from providing services to 
supporting communities to do more for themselves is unclear and requires planning 
and getting the right balance. 

Page 302



Appendix A 
 

4 
 

3. Findings 
 
This report from Audit Wales highlights an opportunity for the Council to do more to achieve a 
clear vision for community resilience and self-reliance in Swansea. The findings of the report 
recognise that this is a continuing challenge and that a lot of good work has already been done 
but recommends some of the key approaches we could take including: 
 

 Creating a clear vision of how things will work in the future; 

 Holding a two-way dialogue and communicating what change will ‘look’ and ‘feel’ like; 

 Revitalising the role of council members as community champions; 

 Refocussing the work of council staff; 

 Recognising that recasting community relationships will require different solutions in 
different places; 

 Ensuring wealth stays local and works for all the community. 
 
The report provides good practice examples from across the UK in these approaches but it 
encourages each local authority in Wales to undertake an internal evaluation of where it is 
now with community resilience and self-reliance. An evaluation tool has been developed by 
Audit Wales and is included in the Appendices of the ‘Together We Can’ Report, covering the 
following headings for local authority consideration: 
 

1) Understanding the challenge and articulating your role; 
2) Knowing your communities; 
3) Skills and knowledge to build community resilience; 
4) Making a difference. 

 
 
 

4. Recommendations 
 
Recommendation 1 (R1) 
 

 
The report states: To strengthen community resilience and support people to be more self-
reliant, local authorities need to ensure they have the right arrangements and systems in 
place. We recommend that local authorities use the evaluation tool (attached – Annex A) 
to: 
• self-evaluate current engagement, management, performance and practice; 
• identify where improvement is needed; and 

• draft and implement an action plan with timeframes and responsibilities clearly set out 
to address the gaps and weaknesses identified in completing the evaluation tool. 

 

 
Our response:  
 
The Council welcomes the opportunity to evaluate its current position and identify actions, 
improvements and transformative work required to enable communities in Swansea to 
become resilience and self-reliant. Through the two oversight groups that coordinate the 
delivery of the Corporate Priority ‘Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities’ – these are 
the Swansea Council Poverty Forum and Enabling Communities Group – we have 
undertaken in internal review of the evaluation tool.  
 
A table with our evaluation findings is including in Annex A of this document. 
 

Page 303



Appendix A 
 

5 
 

Recommendation 2 (R2) 
 

 
The report states: To help local authorities address the gaps they identify following their 
self-evaluation, we recommend that they: 
 

 formally approve the completed Action Plan arising from the evaluation exercise; 

 regularly report, monitor and evaluate performance at relevant scrutiny committees; and 

 revise actions and targets in light of the authority’s evaluation and assessment of its 
performance. 

 

 
Our response:  
 
Based on the evaluation completed as part of the first recommendation, we have identified the 
following key actions to be taken forward: 
 

Actions 

1) We will explore what community resilience and self-reliance means with our partners 
and with the people we support to develop a co-produced set of terms and definitions. 

 
2) We will develop a clear approach that embeds principles such as co-production, social 

value and strengths-based approaches to ensure that communities play a key role in 
developing community resilience and self-reliance. 

 
3) We will build on our existing partnership arrangements and wider networks, forums 

and groups to develop collaborative opportunities to improve community resilience and 
self-reliance across Swansea. 

 
4) We will develop the tools and infrastructure to conduct and sustainably maintain a 

mapping of community assets. 
 
5) We will conduct and sustainably maintain knowledge of local individuals and 

organisations supporting community resilience and self-reliance across Swansea. 
 
6) We will conduct a co-productive approach to planning and delivering programmes and 

initiatives to improve community resilience and self-reliance across Swansea. 
 
7) We will explore existing relationships and develop new partnerships / collaborative 

working practices throughout communities across Swansea. 
 
8) We will utilise opportunities to encourage people to be more active in their 

community, either through volunteering with the council, local volunteering in their 
communities or with our partners. 

 

 
These eight actions will form the basis of developing a focused Action Plan, aligned with our 
Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities Corporate Priority action planning, delivery and 
performance management processes. 
 
 

Page 304



Appendix A 
 

6 
 

5. Way Forward 
 
Overview of the report findings 
 
In summary, we agree with the findings of the Audit Wales report and the recognition that, 
given the significant challenges that local authorities are facing as a result of the Cost of Living 
crisis, the impact on council services is likely to increase in the future. There is a vital role for 
communities to play in responding to this challenge and by helping communities to become 
more resilient and self-reliant, we can help people to do more for themselves and be less 
reliant on stretched statutory services. 
 
We recognise from the evaluation which we have undertaken that there is more to be done to 
define, deliver and continuously improve our vision for resilient and self-reliant communities in 
Swansea. Under the Corporate Priority ‘Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities’, the 
Council is committed to taking action and working with our local communities to embed the 
principles, cultural changes and new initiatives. 
 
Next Steps 
 
The Council’s is in a good position to take forward the identified actions and report them 
against the Corporate Priority ‘Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities’. Existing 
governance in place for coordination of this Corporate Priority will provide oversight of 
progress against these actions. Work is underway to refresh our Tackling Poverty Strategy 
and this will include a range of co-production activities to understand the needs and priorities 
of our partners, stakeholders and the communities of Swansea. 
 
 

Page 305



Appendix A 
 

7 
 

Annex A – Self-Evaluation Table  
 

Heading  Status Current position Target 

Understanding 
the challenge 
and 
articulating 
your role 

We have clearly defined 
and agreed what 
community resilience and 
self-reliance means to us 

Not started There are a number of definitions used or referenced in different places but no 
singly definitive or co-produced definition. It is important that we develop the right 
terms and definitions for all parties so a co-production approach is essential. This 
approach should consider the needs of all of our communities including 
communities defined by shared interests and characteristics. 

March 2024 

Our vision makes clear 
what we need to do and 
what others are best 
placed to do 

Started The Council's corporate plan vision is "In 2028 Swansea is a place that has a 
thriving mixed use city centre and local economy. It is a place where people can 
gain the skills and qualifications they need to succeed in life, where everyone can 
achieve their potential and where communities are resilient and cohesive. 
Swansea is a place where human rights are respected, and people are 
safeguarded from harm and exploitation. It is a place where nature and 
biodiversity are maintained and enhanced, and carbon emissions are falling."   
 
This vision and the wider context of the Corporate Plan 2023-2027 establishes 
some elements of the priorities for enabling communities to become more resilient 
self-reliant but additional work is required to explore these priorities through our 
partnerships, networks and forums. 

December 
2023 

We have identified by 
service, the activities: 
• that the authority must 
continue to provide;  
• those that can be 
delivered in partnership 
with others; and  
• those that the 
community can lead on.  

Started Service Plans based on the corporate priorities defined in the Corporate Plan have 
been developed and define the role of the Council in not only working with 
partners but in improving the capabilities of our communities to lead on initiatives 
such as social enterprises.  

March 2024 

P
age 306



Appendix A 
 

8 
 

Heading  Status Current position Target 

We have communicated 
our definitions widely to 
ensure all key 
stakeholders understand 
what we want to achieve 
through our work on 
community resilience and 
self-reliance 

Not started As above, work on properly defining community resilience and self-reliance in a 
co-productive approach is required before engagement and communication 
actions can be taken. Planning will be based on utilising existing channels and 
forums as well as exploring opportunities unique to each of our communities. 

December 
2023 

Our key partners have 
identified how they will 
collaborate with us to 
strengthen community 
resilience and self-
reliance 

Started Key partners are involved in our planning process through Council-led groups and 
events such as the Swansea Poverty Partnership Forum and the Safer Swansea 
Partnership. Existing relationships have been used to deliver collaborative 
approaches to community resilience and self-reliance. Partners in areas like 
Education, Police and Health have their own community engagement methods to 
support these partnership approaches. 

March 2024 

We have completed a 
place-based asset 
mapping exercise to 
assess community 
resilience and capacity 
for increased self-
reliance. 

Not started Asset mapping exercises have been carried out previously in 'snapshot' exercises 
but a robust model of community asset assessment and reporting needs to be 
considered as to whether this is a priority and required for Swansea  

March 2024 

We know the number and 
types of organisations 
working locally that can 
help us improve 
community resilience and 
self-reliance 

Started Good relationships exist with communities through partnerships and approaches 
like Local Area Coordination. This allows us to have a good understanding of what 
organisations and services are operating on local and hyper-local levels. 
Organising and coordinating this data in a sustainable and accessible way is the 
next challenge. 

December 
2023 

P
age 307



Appendix A 
 

9 
 

Heading  Status Current position Target 

We know where there are 
gaps that we need to 
address 

Started Planning has been undertaken in a number of areas to identify gaps and 
opportunities for development. The Enabling Communities Group provides 
oversight of the strategic approach to that element of the Corporate Priority 
'Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities' as well as a focal point for 
collaboration and alignment of plans. More insight from communities directly could 
inform the perspective of what gaps need to be addressed as a priority for the 
people of those communities. 

March 2024 

We have agreed the 
actions required to help 
improve community 
resilience and self-
reliance in our area. 

Started Some action plans exist aligned to various corporate and partnership services and 
initiatives such as the Safer Swansea Partnership. Governance is in place to 
provide oversight of these actions through the Enabling Communities Group 
though decision-making in relation to implementing these actions are subject to 
different departmental structures and approvals. 

March 2024 

We have set SMART 
objectives and actions on 
how we will improve 
community resilience and 
self-reliance 

Started As above, work on refining the objectives and actions to improve community 
resilience and self-reliance where required.  Existing strategies, action plans and 
initiatives follow the corporate approach to setting SMART objectives and actions. 

March 2024 

We are clear on the 
benefits and risks of our 
work on community 
resilience and self-
reliance for citizens, local 
communities and the 
local authority. 

Not started As above, a co-production approach involving more insight and shared 
responsibilities with citizens and local communities is part of the way forward that 
requires further development. 

March 2024 

Knowing your 
communities 

We know who our key 
community activists and 
leaders are. 

Started Good relationships exist with communities through Elected Members, partnerships 
and approaches like Local Area Coordination. In many cases, key community 
activists and leaders are known and actively engaged with Elected Members and 
Council staff. 

Ongoing 

P
age 308



Appendix A 
 

10 
 

Heading  Status Current position Target 

We have good working 
relationships and work 
effectively with our key 
community activists and 
leaders. 

Started Relationships with those community activists and leaders known to the Council are 
generally positive and effective. There are opportunities to explore more joined-up 
cross-departmental processes to connect community activists and leaders to the 
relevant services and support across the Council.  

Ongoing 

We provide help, support 
and training to ensure our 
key community activists 
and leaders are as 
effective as they can be 

Started At present, support provided to community activists and leaders is provided in 
partnership and targeted at helping them to become more organised (e.g. help to 
run community centres and sports clubs) or to raise awareness of things they 
need to know (e.g. when small grants are available or information about 
safeguarding).  

 

TBC 

We effectively encourage 
local community activists 
and leaders to improve 
community resilience and 
self-reliance 

Not started As above, more work on the definitions, mapping and increased coproduction will 
help us to understand if further activity is required for this.  

TBC 

Skills and 
knowledge to 
build 
community 
resilience 

We are good at 
encouraging people to 
help out and do more in 
their community. 

Started Taking an active approach to encouraging people to do more in their community is 
linked to a number of drivers including our relationships with Third Sector partners 
and investment in community initiatives. Local Area Coordinators walk alongside 
people who are often looking to contribute to their community through 
volunteering. The Council actively endorses and promotes National Volunteering 
Week and other similar campaigns. There are many events and activities 
delivered in communities with the support of volunteers including grass roots 
community sports, managing assets transferred to local communities and 
engagement events coordinated with local community groups. 

 

 

Ongoing 

P
age 309



Appendix A 
 

11 
 

Heading  Status Current position Target 

We have the right staff in 
the right place to help 
improve community 
resilience and self-
reliance. 

Started Services like Libraries and roles like Local Area Coordinators (which are based 
within local community settings) enable those sorts of activity in partnership with 
community activists and leaders. Adopting a strength-based approach to 
community development ensures that we can identify what resources are needed 
to mee the needs of local people. The recent development of the Tackling Poverty 
and Enabling Communities Corporate Priority provides a catalyst for us to 
continue improving and responding to the needs of local communities. 

TBC 

We have revised job 
descriptions and person 
specifications to 
strengthen their focus on 
involvement, to help 
improve community 
resilience and self-
reliance 

Not started In Social Services, both Child and Family and Adult Services have revised roles 
ensuring Early Help and Prevention functions across teams, focusing on strength-
based approaches, local solutions and services and supporting people to be self-
reliant.  In addition, ways of working and cross-departmental organisation of 
resources could enhance help to improve community resilience and self-reliance. 

March 2025 

We give staff the 
opportunity to take well-
managed risks and 
explore innovative 
practices with 
communities 

Started Some of our community-facing roles have the ability to work in partnership with 
communities to try new ways of working and take risk-based approaches to 
solutions that meet the needs of the community. More work is required to analyse 
the extent of this risk-based approach and embed innovative thinking into our 
enabling communities plans and actions. 

Ongoing 

Our staff are good at 
influencing people to do 
more for themselves 
where they can 

Started Community-focused roles are important for encouraging and enabling people to 
take actions for the benefit of themselves, their families and their communities. 
Person-centred strength-based approaches are part of the delivery model of 
Social Services and evidence from service user stories demonstrates the effect of 
this approach and achieving positive outcomes is part of our performance 
measurement model. Removing barriers to enable people to be more independent 
(such as tackling digital exclusion) is also a part of this work. This is included in 
the Council’s Digital Strategy 2023-28 which includes goals around people-
focused digital services and accessible data that supports communities. 

Ongoing 

P
age 310



Appendix A 
 

12 
 

Heading  Status Current position Target 

Elected members support 
the authority’s work on 
strengthening community 
resilience and self-
reliance. 

Started Engagement from Elected Members on our enabling communities is very positive 
and our Cabinet Member for Community Support is a champion for our broader 
programmes of work and approaches including Local Area Coordination.  

 

As above, more work on defining and co-producing our definitions and plans for 
community resilience and self-reliance would focus this work and we will continue 
to engage Elected Members in our plans and actions as this work progresses. 
This includes Members involvement and focus on community cohesion and safety 
including the Safer Swansea Partnership which includes partners such as South 
Wales Police and Mid & West Wales Fire and Rescue Service. 

TBC 

We have put in place the 
right support to help 
Elected Members 
strengthen community 
resilience and self-
reliance in their wards 

Not started As above, further work on definitions, ways of working would be required to ensure 
we continuously provide the right support and information for Elected Members as 
well as other supporters and stakeholders. 

TBC 

We have a can-do culture 
and mindset within the 
local authority to improve 
community resilience and 
self-reliance 

Started Evidence from the oversight of the various services and initiatives across the 
Council is that our work on enabling communities is approached with a broadly 
positive mindset. Feedback from service users and partners is evidence of this 
can-do attitude. More work could be done to understand and measure the culture 
of our community-focused services as well as evidencing the positive impacts of 
the Council's efforts in this space. 

Ongoing 

We are good at 
encouraging communities 
to find their own solutions 
to problems and not rely 
on us. 

Started There is a range of evidence of how staff have encouraged specific actions for 
communities to take on for themselves. Grant funding for initiatives like Men's 
Sheds is one example of solutions that have been successfully delivered with little 
more than funding from the Council. Evidence includes our response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic such as supporting hyper-local community actions (e.g. 
collecting food and medicine for house-bound people). We are connected to a 
vibrant and active third sector across Swansea with great relationships within 
communities. Further work could be required to define better data and evidence of 
how this works, as well as working with our partners, community activists and 
leaders to celebrate these successes. 

Ongoing 

P
age 311



Appendix A 
 

13 
 

Heading  Status Current position Target 

Making a 
difference 

We have reviewed ways 
of working across the 
Council and are changing 
services to help improve 
community resilience and 
self-reliance 

Not started As above, this will be taken forward once we have completed other actions around 
definitions, ways of working, engagement with communities and clarification of 
community-focused services across the Council. 

 

We have identified how 
these changes will impact 
on people. 

Not started As above, this will be taken forward once we have completed other actions around 
definitions, ways of working, engagement with communities and clarification of 
community-focused services across the Council. 

 

We are communicating to 
citizens how our services 
are changing. 

Started There are existing corporate processes in place in relation to service 
transformation, public communications and service standards across all Council 
services. The IAA process supports this approach by ensuring Council services 
consider the needs of the population when making any changes to our services, 
including their needs in relation to participation, engagement and communication. 
Elected Members also play a crucial role in communicating with citizens at times 
of service transformation. 

Ongoing 

We have specified the 
information required to 
evaluate how our work is 
improving community 
resilience and self-
reliance 

Not started As above, this will be taken forward once we have completed other actions around 
definitions, ways of working, engagement with communities and clarification of 
community-focused services across the Council. 

 

P
age 312



Appendix A 
 

14 
 

Heading  Status Current position Target 

We use our resources, 
money and assets to 
build and retain wealth in 
our local communities 

Started There are existing programmes and initiatives in place that support community 
developments. More definition is required around social value and opportunities 
for communities to build and retain wealth through schemes such as community 
food growing partnerships. There are existing partnerships and relationships with 
communities that can be developed to explore these opportunities. 

 

For example, Beyond Bricks and Mortar (BB+M) is an important initiative to secure 
community benefits from all suitable council activities in Swansea for the lasting 
benefits of our communities. It involves introducing community benefit clauses – 
such as targeted recruitment and training – into Council contracts to ensure that 
members of our communities (especially young people and those who have been 
out of the job market for some time) are given opportunities of meaningful training 
and employment.  

Ongoing 

We use our procurement 
of services as a means of 
investing in the local 
economy. 

Started We are engaged with the Social Value movement to use procurement as a means 
of investing in local economies. Further work could be done to support 
communities to take a proactive approach to defining what is of value to them and 
how procurement practices can achieve their desired outcomes.  

Ongoing 

We work with our local 
anchor institutions to 
ensure they support 
community wealth 
building through their 
provision of services, use 
of resources, 
procurement and assets. 

Started There are existing relationships in place with key local anchor institutions like 
South Wales Police and DVLA, both within the Council and through our 
communities. We are also engaged through the Swansea Public Services Board 
(PSB) as part of collaborative working to improve local services as well as local 
social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being. The Swansea Poverty 
Truth Commission is one example of how local anchor institutions are engaged 
with and listening to the needs of our local communities. Further work could be 
done around co-design of services, embedding social value principles and 
collaborative use of resources and assets.  

 

P
age 313



Appendix A 
 

15 
 

Heading  Status Current position Target 

We encourage suppliers 
to enhance the social 
value aspects of their 
contracts through the 
inclusion of training and 
employment opportunities 
in agreements 

Started Social Value through procurement has been driven by the introduction of national 
TOMs (Themes, Outcomes and Measures) and work is ongoing within the Council 
to apply a robust model for maximising the impact of our contracts. As a result of 
more definition and direction for community resilience and self-reliance, we may 
be able to better inform the social value aspects of our commissioning and 
contractual agreements to deliver changes that our communities tell us are of 
value to them. 

Ongoing 

We regularly report on 
our community resilience 
and self-reliance work to 
scrutiny committee(s) 
against a balanced set of 
performance information 
that covers:  
• demand for local 
authority services;  
• alternative provision 
within communities and 
by partners; and  
• impact of our work on 
people’s wellbeing. 

Not started As above, this action will be taken forward once we have completed other actions 
around definitions, ways of working, engagement with communities and 
clarification of to community-focused services across the Council. 

 

Our scrutiny and 
evaluation processes 
provide us with 
assurance that our work 
is delivering anticipated 
outcomes. 

Not started As above, any additional action will be taken forward once we have completed 
other actions around definitions, ways of working, engagement with communities 
and clarification of community-focused services across the Council. There is a 
robust approach to scrutiny and evaluation in place across the council.. 

 

 

P
age 314



‘Together we can’ 
Community resilience and self-reliance

Report of the Auditor General for Wales

January 2023

Appendix B

Page 315



page 2 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

The Auditor General is independent of the Senedd and government. He examines and certifies 
the accounts of the Welsh Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, including 
NHS bodies. He also has the power to report to the Senedd on the economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness with which those organisations have used, and may improve the use of, their 
resources in discharging their functions.

The Auditor General also audits local government bodies in Wales, conducts local government 
value for money studies and inspects for compliance with the requirements of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales 
Audit Office, which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise 
the Auditor General.

© Auditor General for Wales 2023

Audit Wales is the umbrella brand of the Auditor General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office, 
which are each separate legal entities with their own legal functions. Audit Wales is not itself a 
legal entity. While the Auditor General has the auditing and reporting functions described above, 
the Wales Audit Office’s main functions are to provide staff and other resources for the exercise 
of the Auditor General’s functions, and to monitor and advise the Auditor General.

You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium.  
If you re-use it, your re-use must be accurate and must not be in a misleading context.  
The material must be acknowledged as Auditor General for Wales copyright and you must give 
the title of this publication. Where we have identified any third party copyright material you will 
need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned before re-use.

For further information, or if you require any of our publications in an alternative format and/
or language, please contact us by telephone on 029 2032 0500, or email info@audit.wales. 
We welcome telephone calls in Welsh and English. You can also write to us in either Welsh or 
English and we will respond in the language you have used. Corresponding in Welsh will not 
lead to a delay.

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.

This report has been prepared for presentation to the Senedd 
under the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004.

Appendix B

Page 316

mailto:info%40audit.wales?subject=


page 3 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Contents

Context 4

Key findings 6

Recommendations 8

Detailed report
1 Defining community resilience and self-reliance 9

2 The current approach of local authorities to creating more  
resilient communities and self-reliant people 17

3 Looking to the future and learning from elsewhere 30

Appendices 
1 Audit approach and methods 45

2 Community resilience and self-reliance evaluation tool 47

Appendix B

Page 317



page 4 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

1 This study is the final report of three under our themed programme of 
work looking at how local government is alleviating and tackling poverty. 
Through our work we have sought to:
•  Assure people on how public money is being spent on tackling and 

alleviating poverty and provide evidence on where change is needed.
•  Explain the scale of the poverty challenge facing people in Wales 

and set out how all tiers of government are working to address this.  
We highlight good practice but also identify areas where improvement  
is needed.

• Inspire a change in how money and services can be delivered in the 
future identifying new ways of doing things to help address poverty.

2  Our first report provided a baseline showing that poverty is the major 
challenge facing all tiers of government, and Wales has the greatest  
and deepest levels of poverty in Great Britain. With this context in mind,  
our second report looked at how local authorities are working to grow and 
expand social enterprises to help local government deliver more services 
and reduce demand. 

3  This final review focuses on understanding how local authorities are 
creating the conditions needed to transform ways of working and empower 
communities to thrive as independently as possible. We specifically look 
at the priority placed on community resilience and self-reliance in local 
authority plans, and how local authorities are equipping people to be less 
reliant on often over stretched local authority services.

Local authorities face a daunting challenge

4 In the last 15 years, local government in Wales has faced significant 
pressures, dealing with crisis after crisis, which has changed the way 
services are provided. Austerity tested local government’s ability to change 
and react. Local authorities adapted well in responding to this challenge, 
devising and implementing a range of efficiency measures that reduced 
the cost of services, but also finding innovative ways of working. Similarly, 
local authorities were flexible when responding to COVID-19, finding new 
ways of delivering services that protected people while overcoming the 
many challenges the pandemic presented.

Context

Appendix B

Page 318

https://www.audit.wales/publication/time-change-poverty-wales#:~:text=Our%20report%20found%20that%20the,Government%20and%20councils%20in%20Wales.
https://www.audit.wales/cyhoeddiad/missed-opportunity-social-enterprises


page 5 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

5 Local authorities are now facing more significant challenges as a result 
of the current cost-of-living crisis, and it is clear that they are again being 
challenged to support people where demand for services is likely to 
increase. But, because capacity within local authorities has been eroded 
and opportunities to deliver further efficiency savings are exhausted, 
local authorities will have to find other ways of maintaining services and 
continuing to support the wider community and in particular those most 
in need. This is also set against the current situation of public spending 
not keeping pace with inflation. While the Welsh Government revenue 
settlement for local authorities in 2023-24 will increase by 7.9% on a  
like-for-like basis compared to the current year1, this is below the rate  
of inflation which was estimated to be 9.3% at the end of November2. 

6 Against this challenging situation, local authorities are showing an 
increasing interest in encouraging and growing community resilience; 
equipping people to do more for themselves and be less reliant on the 
state. Resilience is not a new concept and has been central to how local 
authorities have traditionally responded to local emergencies such as 
flooding, natural disasters and, indeed, the pandemic. In this context, 
resilient communities are defined by their ability to deal with a sudden 
calamity but are also able to quickly bounce back to their pre-crisis state. 

7 But at a time of reductions in budgets and uncertainty in public finances, 
the idea of equipping people to do more for themselves on a more 
sustained basis, is increasingly appealing. It responds to the pressure 
of where to prioritise local authority activity and ensure there is an 
adequate safety net in place for the most vulnerable and disadvantaged. 
Consequently, community and self-resilience has begun to appear as a 
priority in more local authority corporate plans and strategy documents, 
not merely as a response to a natural disaster but as means of equipping 
people to be able to adapt and directly manage the problems they face. 

8  The application of resilience thinking is not, however, without its risks 
and challenges. While promoting resilience can be seen as a pragmatic 
response by local authorities faced with difficult decisions about how to 
use their reducing resources, it is important to recognise the limits of 
what might be achieved; resilience might serve as a strategy for helping 
communities to cope with adversity, but it cannot overturn structural 
inequalities and deliver solutions to generational issues like poverty alone.

1 Written Statement: Provisional Local Government Settlement 2023-24
2 www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/timeseries/l55o/mm23

Appendix B

Page 319

https://www.gov.wales/written-statement-provisional-local-government-settlement-2023-24
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/timeseries/l55o/mm23


page 6 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Key findings

9  Overall, we conclude that local authorities face a challenging and uncertain 
financial future but find it difficult to empower people and communities to 
be more self-reliant and less dependent on services.

10  In Part 1, we consider why community resilience and self-reliance are 
important for local authorities. We found that much of the current narrative 
on community resilience is framed by the need to respond to emergencies 
and civil contingency requirements. This narrow focus can lead to local 
authorities missing opportunities to make a broader impact and, in some 
cases, even unintentionally encouraging dependency. 

11  Importantly, recent Welsh Parliament legislation such as the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is mapping a new direction for public 
service delivery. However, we found that this has not translated into the 
fundamental shift with people being encouraged to do more for themselves 
and being less reliant on local authority services. While 19 of the 22 local 
authorities are prioritising community resilience, too often the work is 
poorly defined and the actions that underpin plans are narrowly focussed.

12  In Part 2, we outline how local authorities are currently working to 
engender more self-reliance and greater resilience in communities.  
We summarise current activity highlighting how local authorities are 
framing their changing relationship with communities. In this section,  
we also consider the effectiveness of approaches, noting areas of strength 
and good practice but also the barriers to making positive change. 

13  The growth in volunteering, community asset transfers, community hubs, 
emerging work on community empowerment and the work of community 
navigators shows the commitment of local authorities to transform how 
they operate. However, given the societal, financial and demographic 
challenges facing Wales, there is a need to scale and speed up activity. 
We acknowledge that the shift in emphasis from local authorities doing 
less and requiring others to do more is not easy to achieve.

14  There are also significant barriers to overcome, both within local 
authorities but also communities. Capacity, resources and skills are 
scarce, people are facing tougher choices and struggling to cope with the 
cost-of-living crisis. Communities and local authorities themselves also 
have different abilities and are starting from different places with their own 
unique challenges to overcome. 

Appendix B

Page 320



page 7 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

15  Positively, as a result of COVID-19, there is a huge amount of goodwill and 
commitment within communities that local authorities can build on and use. 
However, the view of partners and stakeholders we spoke to suggests that 
some local authority services are returning to their pre-pandemic ways of 
working and the opportunity to shift to being an ‘influencer’ and ‘enabler’ 
rather than ‘direct provider’ is potentially being wasted. 

16  In Part 3, we look to the future, setting out approaches and learning from 
elsewhere. We highlight positive practice and examples of how others 
are seeking to address the challenge of enabling people to be less reliant 
on local authority services and how they are supporting and enabling this 
transition. We frame this around the following:
•  creating a clear vision of how things will work in the future;
•  holding a two-way dialogue and communicating what change will ‘look’ 

and ‘feel’ like;
•  revitalising the role of local authority members as community 

champions;
•  refocussing the work of local authority staff;
•  recognising that recasting community relationships will require different 

solutions in different places; and 
•  ensuring wealth stays local and works for all the community. 

Adrian Crompton
Auditor General for Wales

The pandemic showed communities can 
play a more active role and become less 
dependent on public services but sustaining 
this requires local authorities to change how 
they work. I recognise how difficult this is in the 
current climate but also believe that change 
is necessary. Our report makes the case for 
change and provides helpful recommendations 
to help authorities make the transition.

Appendix B

Page 321



page 8 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

17 Our recommendations are set out below. We expect each local authority 
to consider the findings of this review and our recommendations, and that 
its governance and audit committee receives this report and monitors its 
response to our recommendations in a timely way.

Recommendations

R1 To strengthen community resilience and support people 
to be more self-reliant, local authorities need to ensure 
they have the right arrangements and systems in place. 
We recommend that local authorities use the evaluation 
tool in Appendix 2 to:   
•  self-evaluate current engagement, management, 

performance and practice; 
•  identify where improvement is needed; and
•  draft and implement an action plan with timeframes 

and responsibilities clearly set out to address the 
gaps and weaknesses identified in completing the 
evaluation tool.

R2 To help local authorities address the gaps they identify 
following their self-evaluation, we recommend that they:
•  formally approve the completed Action Plan arising 

from the evaluation exercise;
•  regularly report, monitor and evaluate performance at 

relevant scrutiny committees; and
•  revise actions and targets in light of the authority’s 

evaluation and assessment of its performance.

Recommendations

Appendix B

Page 322



Defining community 
resilience and 
self-reliance 

01

Appendix B

Page 323



page 10 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

The policy shift from ‘doing’ to ‘enabling’ and 
‘influencing’

1.1 Nurturing resilience is not an exact science. Neither is it a traditional 
service or a neatly defined activity in its own right. An understanding of 
the evolving role of government and the changing relationship between 
citizen and state provides the foundations; from this evolving position, 
local authorities can develop their approach to community resilience, 
embedding consistent and sustained ways of working that ultimately 
empower people and communities. 

1.2 This fundamental shift – from ‘providers’ to ‘enablers’ – is not insignificant 
or easy to achieve. Austerity drove local authorities to reflect on their 
role and in many ways necessitated a shift towards adopting a more 
enabling approach. At the same time, however, the budgetary constraints 
that demanded this shift in the first place, also significantly reduced the 
capacity and expertise needed to navigate this tricky transformation. 
However, with a challenging and uncertain future for public finances3, 
increasing demand for statutory services through an aging population4, 
and Wales already facing some of the worst poverty levels in the UK5, 
local authorities have little option but to focus their efforts on equipping 
communities to become more resilient and self-reliant.

1.3 Broadly, the terms resilience and self-reliance should encapsulate both 
community preparedness for adverse situations; the support to promote 
individuals’ independence, and everything else in between. From those we 
reviewed, we found Public Health Wales’s6 definition of resilience to be the 
most rounded; ‘an ability to draw on strengths and assets to cope or thrive 
in adversity – be that a severe or acute life event or the chronic stresses 
of everyday life’. The 2019 Public Health Wales report on community 
resilience sets out a number of key contributors to community resilience, 
highlighting its importance as a means of tackling complex societal issues 
such as poverty. These are set out in Exhibit 1. 

3 Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA), ‘Autumn Statement is a missed opportunity to 
help our communities’, November 2022

4 Welsh Government, Population and household estimates for Wales (Census 2021),  
June 2022

5 Auditor General for Wales, Time for change – Poverty in Wales, November 2022
6 Public Health Wales, Resilience: Understanding the interdependence between individuals 

and communities, 2019

Appendix B

Page 324

http://www.wlga.wales/autumn-statement-is-a-missed-opportunity-to-help-our-communities
http://www.wlga.wales/autumn-statement-is-a-missed-opportunity-to-help-our-communities
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/pdf-versions/2022/6/2/1656410438/population-and-household-estimates-wales-census-2021.pdf
https://www.audit.wales/publication/time-change-poverty-wales
https://phw.nhs.wales/files/research/resilience/resilience-understanding-the-interdependence-between-individuals-and-communities/
https://phw.nhs.wales/files/research/resilience/resilience-understanding-the-interdependence-between-individuals-and-communities/


page 11 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Exhibit 1: Public Health Wales’ ‘Building blocks of resilience’

Human capital
the innate and acquired personal attributes including skills and 
education, capacity and local knowledge

Social capital (community level)
the extent of social networks and connections within a community, 
effectiveness of local community and voluntary organisations 
(support, participation), and resources of public, private and third 
sector organisations that are available to support a community

Physical/built capital
the physical infrastructure including homes and roads,  
access to amenities

Natural/environmental capital
access to green and blue space, availability and use of  
natural resources

Financial or economic 
capital: income, wealth, access to resources, civic and  
social enterprises

Source: Public Health Wales, Resilience: Understanding the interdependence between 
individuals and communities, Public Health Wales, 2019

1.4 Defining social resilience and community self-reliance is not helped by 
different interpretations and meanings in the contexts of key legislation 
and various functions of local authorities. For example, as a core principle 
of the Social Services and Well-being Act (Wales) 2014, local authorities 
have long focused on supporting people to live independently by providing 
information, advice and assistance to prevent the escalation of their  
needs. This shifts the emphasis for local authorities to playing a more 
‘enabling’ role, albeit in the context of supporting those needing care  
and support. This has not been without its challenges and there is still 
more to do to fully embed the principles of the Social Services and  
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 and to ensure organisational cultures  
support its implementation7.

7 Audit Wales, The ‘front door’ to adult social care, Audit Wales, 2019

Appendix B

Page 325

https://phw.nhs.wales/files/research/resilience/resilience-understanding-the-interdependence-between-individuals-and-communities/
https://phw.nhs.wales/files/research/resilience/resilience-understanding-the-interdependence-between-individuals-and-communities/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
https://www.audit.wales/publication/front-door-adult-social-care


page 12 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

1.5 At the other end of the spectrum, under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Local 
Resilience Forums are responsible for co-ordinating local responses to threats 
and emergencies. Community resilience is a well-known term in this context 
but relates specifically to ensuring community preparedness for and adequate 
response to events such as pandemics, flooding, or terrorist incidents.  
The inherent focus and emphasis on emergency planning clearly relates to 
events or situations which threaten serious damage to human welfare, the 
environment or to the security of the UK8. Beyond the scope of emergency 
planning, resilience in this sense has little to do with promoting self-reliance in 
daily life and equipping people to be less dependent on the state.

1.6 A further interpretation is set out in the context of the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 – specifically, the focus on climate change and 
air quality in the national wellbeing goal of ‘A resilient Wales’. Although clearly 
relevant in a broader sense, this has little to do with creating the social and 
human conditions that help communities thrive without calling on local authorities. 
Developing resilient communities and self-reliant citizens, therefore, requires 
local authorities to ‘let go’ of control and involve and empower people.  
Despite ‘involvement’ being one of the five ways of working under the  
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act, public bodies are often not 
creating opportunities for citizens to be involved from the early stages of design 
through to evaluation and must do more to include the full diversity of the 
population9.

8 Cabinet Office, The role of Local Resilience Forums, Cabinet Office, 2013
9 Auditor General for Wales, So, what’s different? Findings from the Auditor General’s Sustainable 

Development Principle Examinations, May 2020

Appendix B

Page 326

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/36/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/62277/The_role_of_Local_Resilience_Forums-_A_reference_document_v2_July_2013.pdf
https://www.audit.wales/publication/findings-auditor-generals-sustainable-development-principle-examinations
https://www.audit.wales/publication/findings-auditor-generals-sustainable-development-principle-examinations


page 13 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Most local authorities recognise the need to create 
more resilient and self-reliant communities, but very few 
have clearly defined what this means or entails 

1.7  Given the current policy and legislative drivers, it is not surprising to find 
that local authorities’ interpretations of resilience and self-reliance are 
rooted in either emergency planning or social care, and/or linked to their 
corporate efforts to reduce carbon emissions and boost biodiversity.  
Whilst these approaches clearly make an invaluable contribution to 
people’s well-being and safety, their narrower focus can mean local 
authorities risk missing opportunities to make a broader impact and,  
in some cases, even risk encouraging dependency.

1.8  At the time of our review, we found that most local authorities have 
no clear definition of resilience or self-reliant communities, despite 19 
having well-being objectives specifically aimed at promoting community 
resilience. In a survey of local authority lead officers, fewer than half could 
define what is meant by a resilient community and only three could define 
characteristics of a self-reliant individual. 

1.9  All local authorities reference the national well-being goals, including a 
more resilient Wales, in their plans, but there is little development from 
these into local objectives or actions. The lack of definition for the terms 
‘community resilience’ and ‘self-reliance’ means they are nebulous 
and often little more than catch-all statements. Between different local 
authorities, and between different services within local authorities,  
it can mean various things. 

1.10  During interviews, we asked local authority officers to define community 
resilience and self-reliance (Exhibit 2). Some believed these are not 
possible to define, or that definitions are not a priority, or their meaning 
varies significantly between different services. While this recognises the 
holistic nature of resilience to the individual and the need to consider it in 
all service areas, it also illustrates the importance of a clear definition for 
different parts of the local authority to work towards.

Appendix B

Page 327



page 14 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Exhibit 2: example of local authority officers’ definitions of community 
resilience and self-reliance

‘A resilient community is one that reacts to a challenge.’

‘Cannot be defined.’

‘Looking at opportunities to make people in their communities 
feel more engaged.’

‘The local authority working with communities and individuals to 
find the things that matter in life without the local authority being 
the first port of call.’

‘Can be defined differently wherever you go. Different areas 
need different support.’

‘Working with residents and the community to share 
responsibility, helping communities to do more for themselves 
and give them more control over what they can do to support 
local people in their communities.’

‘The process and outcome of engaging with the third sector and 
investing in their knowledge of their communities.’

Source: Audit Wales interviews with local authority officers.

A resilient 
community 
is one that 
reacts to a 
challenge

Appendix B

Page 328



page 15 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

1.11  Other officers placed more emphasis on the need to engage with 
communities and the third sector to develop resilience – both as an 
outcome and a process. The end outcome would be that citizens work 
as a community to address issues rather than going straight to the local 
authority. There was also recognition of the need for resilience to empower 
communities to cope both with crises, but also grasp opportunities.  
Having a clear definition, therefore, enables impactful actions to be 
devised that embody these key features. Many officers we interviewed 
also view their role as helping to network community groups and involve 
them in creating infrastructure and systems to support their development. 
Others see the role of the local authority as a co-producer alongside 
partners continuing to deliver services rather than the end goal of passing 
all delivery onto partners. 

1.12 Despite this, we found some promising approaches. Bridgend’s Corporate 
Plan10 includes a well-being objective to help ‘people and communities 
to be more healthy and resilient’. This is framed around reducing or 
preventing an escalation of need in response from the local authority and 
to enable community-based solutions. Newport’s refreshed Corporate Plan 
for 2022-27 includes a well-being objective to make Newport ‘a supportive 
city where communities and care are at the heart of what we do’11.  
The plan describes how the ambition is for communities to support each 
other in a more co-operative approach. 

1.13 Successful transformation requires local authority leaders, both officers 
and elected members, to clearly articulate the benefits of the new ways 
of working and successful outcomes. This, in turn, allows officers in 
each service area to take actions to the greatest benefit locally, such as 
commissioning investment in social enterprises to keep funding within 
the local economy. Consequently, third sector and social business 
organisations that support groups that promote community resilience felt 
that local authority leadership was paramount both externally in creating 
the needed dialogue within communities but also within local authorities to 
stimulate culture change. 

1.14  In addition, many local authorities continue to frame their activities around 
continuing to be a service delivery body and have further work to do 
to help create a change in mindset and culture. Self-reliance is clearly 
influenced by the things that local authorities do. But it is also shaped by 
the things they do not do – it follows that, by supporting communities to do 
more for themselves, local authorities will ultimately change or limit what 
they do. 

10 Bridgend County Borough Council, Corporate Plan 2018-23
11 Newport City Council, Corporate Plan 2022-27

Appendix B

Page 329

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/performance-plans-and-reports/corporate-plan/
http://Newport City Council, Corporate Plan 2022-27


page 16 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

1.15 Through our interviews, we found that local authorities are comfortable in 
discussing direct provision of activities – for example, activities to support 
vulnerable people – but are less clear on their role in moving towards 
supporting communities to do more for themselves. Getting the balance 
between helping those who need support and enabling others to do more 
is a key challenge facing local authorities in creating greater levels of  
self-reliance.

Appendix B

Page 330



02

The current approach 
of local authorities to 
creating more resilient 
communities and 
self-reliant people 

Appendix B

Page 331



page 18 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

2.1 In Part 2 of the report, we outline how local authorities are currently 
working to engender more self-reliance and greater resilience in 
communities. We summarise current activity highlighting how local 
authorities are framing their changing relationship with communities.  
We consider the effectiveness of approaches, noting areas of strength and 
good practice but also the barriers to making positive change.

Local authorities have a mixed track record in helping to 
build community resilience and strengthen self-reliance

2.2 In terms of where local authorities have traditionally pitched their 
efforts in helping to build stronger and more self-reliant individuals and 
communities, their work in recent years has broadly fallen into one or more 
of the following areas – Exhibit 3.

Exhibit 3: how local authorities are helping to create resilient and self-reliant 
communities 

Supporting and 
encouraging 
volunteering

Promoting access to 
community-based 
services and early 

intervention

Community 
Asset Transfers

Empowering 
communities 

Source: Audit Wales

Appendix B

Page 332



page 19 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Supporting and encouraging volunteering 

2.3  Local authorities value the additional support provided by volunteers  
to a range of services, and volunteers bring new skills, new ideas and a 
fresh perspective. There are many examples of volunteer programmes 
within local government, and volunteering has evolved in line with the 
changing policy and operational context of local authority services.  
As local authorities increasingly focus on community engagement and 
participation, they have also begun to take a more strategic approach to 
volunteer involvement in service delivery. 

2.4  Through our interviews with local authorities, we found that volunteering 
initiatives often work best when the local authority has a close working 
relationship with their local County Voluntary Council (CVC)12. We also 
found some positive examples of how local authorities are building upon 
these local relationships to boost volunteering. For example, Caerphilly’s 
Employee Volunteering Scheme, and the Isle of Anglesey ‘good turn 
schemes’ in defined communities on the island. 

2.5 There are nonetheless some challenges around volunteering. Not all 
communities have a strong volunteering demographic and communities 
themselves have different capabilities and capacity. For instance, we 
found good work taking place within Pembrokeshire, with the creation of 
an effective volunteer network undertaking a range of activities including 
good neighbour schemes, a 50+ network and a pharmacy delivery service. 
However, it is clear that Pembrokeshire has a strong local community 
with a good range of volunteers with the skills and abilities to thrive 
independently that the local authority and its partners can draw on.  
This is not the same everywhere in Wales, and it is clearly more 
challenging to encourage volunteers in the more deprived areas. 

2.6  There is also a growing worry of burnout in the volunteering sector and 
a danger that while volunteers can play an important role, they are often 
‘papering over the cracks’ of a system under stress. Volunteering has its 
place, but it needs to be managed and nurtured carefully and requires a 
shift in culture and policy within local authorities to be successful13. 

12 Every county in Wales has a voluntary sector infrastructure body, generically called a County 
Voluntary Council or CVC. The key role of a CVC is to provide advice and information to 
local voluntary and community groups on volunteering, funding sources and a wide range of 
other issues.

13 Nesta, Making the shift to people powered services: a cross–Government agenda, gov.uk

Appendix B

Page 333

https://democracy.caerphilly.gov.uk/documents/s35601/Atodiad%201.pdf?LLL=1
https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/php_cc_and_gov.pdfhttps://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/php_cc_and_gov.pdf


page 20 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Empowering communities 

2.7  A number of local authorities are similarly focusing their efforts on 
mobilising community capacity and empowering communities to identify 
their own needs and priorities and produce workable solutions. A good 
example of this is the work of Isle of Anglesey Council with Medrwn 
Môn, an independent agency providing support and advice to voluntary 
organisations and community groups. Under the ‘network of alliances’ 
initiative, Medrwn Môn is helping to create a system of local coalitions 
across the island which are empowered to identify the problems in their 
area, the assets that are available to help tackle these problems and the 
solutions needed to address them14. An evaluation of the success of this 
initiative was not available at the time of our audit.

2.8 Caerphilly has established a Community Empowerment Fund to support 
its Transformation Strategy. The first round of funding was shared between 
18 community projects totalling over £40,000. The local authority has 
established criteria for applications to help focus efforts on improving 
resilience across the County Borough. While the criteria prioritise initiatives 
to support the establishment of new community groups, projects to support 
greater community cohesion, and projects aimed at tackling isolation and 
loneliness, although no update on the success of this work was provided 
at the time of our audit.

2.9  Despite the above, there is more that local authorities can do.  
Our analysis of responses to our survey of officers highlights that local 
authorities are not shifting efforts to empower communities to do more 
for themselves. From our survey of local authority officers, the activities 
where communities are more directly involved in delivery without local 
authority involvement are things like community litter picks, food banks 
and recycling and repurposing furniture, goods and clothing. While clearly 
important, these fall short of activities that help to encourage people to 
be more self-reliant and less dependent. In addition, procurement and 
grants processes are often not streamlined or agile enough to either 
encourage local groups to apply for funding or to get money to community 
organisations in a timely manner15.

14 Medrwn Môn, ‘What is an Alliance?’ Event, July 2022 
15 South Wales Argus, Caerphilly Council still has budget for grants to charities,  

November 2022

Appendix B

Page 334

https://www.medrwnmon.org/en/home
https://www.medrwnmon.org/en/home
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/news/news-bulletin/september-2022/the-community-empowerment-fund-is-open-for-applica
https://www.medrwnmon.org/en/news-and-events/events
https://www.southwalesargus.co.uk/news/23142817.caerphilly-council-still-budget-grants-charities/


page 21 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Community Asset Transfers 

2.10 A Community Asset Transfer (CAT) happens when a local authority 
transfers the management and/or ownership of a property asset to a  
town and community council, third-sector body or community group. 
This will sometimes include the delivery of any associated services. 
Transferring assets enables the retention of key local facilities and services 
that might otherwise be closed. Overall, we found that local authorities 
are not using CATs to help stimulate and build community resilience, and 
are mostly focussing on opportunities to reduce expenditure and divest 
themselves of assets that can no longer be subsidised. 

2.11 Our survey of town and community local authorities highlights mixed 
performance in their experience of local authorities transferring assets. 
A common complaint from town and community councils is that transfers 
of community assets are unequitable and unfair. They often take far too 
long, with some reporting that the process took multiple years, resulting 
in the loss of potential funding opportunities, spiralling costs, and sudden 
changes in contract agreements. Local authorities were categorised as 
being excessively risk averse and poor at communicating. 

2.12 Some respondents to our survey also flagged that they had no option but 
to take on the asset because of the threat that the service would otherwise 
be stopped. Several we interviewed reflected that local authorities were 
not transferring assets but liability with conditions placed on transfers 
that made success unachievable. Suggestions for improvement included 
providing an easily-accessible register of available transfers, more 
flexibility in transfer agreements, recognising the importance of  
cross-subsidisation and guaranteed ongoing support from local authorities.

Appendix B

Page 335



page 22 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Promoting access to community-based services and early intervention

2.13  Local authorities are recognising the need to reset their presence in 
communities and have focussed primarily on two approaches: 
• Community Hubs – Several local authorities including Cardiff Council 

have developed ‘community hubs,’ providing a space for people to access 
key services. The Hubs also function as a place for people to meet and 
interact and are helping to reduce isolation and loneliness. In Gwynedd, 
the community hub in Maesgeirchen, Bangor has been instrumental in 
strengthening the local authority’s presence on the estate, creating a more 
easily accessible and suitable space where services and the community can 
come together to work in partnership.   
Likewise, the positive work of the Pembrokeshire Community Hub.  
This started life as a COVID-19 response for the county and was based in 
county hall in Haverfordwest. During the pandemic, the Hub took over 10,000 
calls providing help and assistance so that citizens could access the food, 
prescriptions and the community services they needed. Following its success 
and in-depth engagement with communities and partners at a Community 
Activity and Wellbeing Day in June 2022, the Hub has recently been  
re-launched with a broader role16. 

•  Community Navigators or Connectors – Most local authorities are 
recognising the importance of the community navigator role to co-ordinate 
access to community-based services and to support the development of 
alternative non-local-authority provision. The job titles vary across Wales. 
Some are referred to as local area co-ordinators, others community 
navigators. Irrespective, local authorities recognise the value of these roles 
in helping to support resilience in communities. They often draw their roots 
from work in social care, and are focused on developing the provision of 
community-based services and activities, identifying potentially vulnerable 
people before their needs escalate and promoting access to alternative 
services17. 
For example, Bridgend County Borough Council through its ‘Local 
Community Coordination and Connecting Communities’ programme which 
supports people whose needs would not usually meet the eligibility criteria 
for care and support. The local authority, working with Swansea University, 
has quantified and evaluated the impact of this programme, highlighting that 
every £1 spent delivers a return of £4. In addition, and more importantly,  
only 4% of people referred by the Local Co-ordinators to third-sector services 
subsequently needed to access statutory help from the local authority. 

16 The Hub partnership includes Pembrokeshire Alliance of Voluntary Services (PAVS).  
Hywel Dda Health Board, Pembrokeshire County Council, Public Health Wales, PLANED, 
Volunteering Matters and West Wales Action for Mental Health.

17 The roles are rooted in the principles of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014  
and are focused on prevention, helping to ensure people’s well-being is maintained to avoid  
them requiring statutory care and support.

Appendix B

Page 336



page 23 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

There are significant cultural, resource and capacity 
barriers to overcome in helping to create more resilient 
and self-reliant communities

2.14 While it is clear local authorities have a strong track record in some key 
areas that can help create more self-reliant individuals and resilient 
communities, our survey of senior local authority officers highlights that 
significant challenges remain – Exhibit 4.

Exhibit 4: barriers to creating more self-reliant and resilient individuals 
and communities identified by local authority officers

Lack of resources, limited skills and weak capacity to be able 
to drive this agenda.

Inability to redirect resources from service delivery to 
supporting communities to be more self-reliant.

A lack of trust between the council and residents and a 
perceived inability and appetite within communities to be more 
self-reliant.

The prevailing service delivery culture within the council of 
needing to be ‘direct providers’ rather than ‘influencers’ and 
‘enablers’

Limitations in joined up working with partners on the ground to 
foster stronger community invovlement and influence.

Lack of a strategic vision and limited understanding of 
community needs and abilities

Ongoing challenges in helping connect and re-connect 
communties due to challenges of poverty, rurality, 
transportation and digital exclusion.

Source: Local Authority Officer Survey, Audit Wales analysis

Appendix B

Page 337



page 24 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

2.15 A strong message from our interviews and survey work is that local 
authorities are not using resources to effectively stimulate community 
resilience. This is unsurprising. In the current fiscal climate, with an 
uncertain future, switching resources from often over stretched services 
is no easy thing. However, without some investment on the ground 
targeted at building capacity and encouraging resilience, it is clear some 
communities will not be able to respond, and responses where they 
happen, may not be sustainable. 

2.16 Town and community councils are a key stakeholder in creating resilient 
and self-reliant communities. They are often well placed in local networks 
and hold significant community assets that can be used by groups. 
Collaborating with town and community councils opens the opportunity to 
involve communities more actively, which should increase public buy-in, 
and, in turn, help stimulate community resilience. 

2.17 Town and community council survey comments had an overwhelmingly 
negative tone. While local authorities were felt to be effective at planning 
and creating a vision, they are overwhelmingly seen as ineffective 
at putting these into action. Poor communication, as well as delays 
caused by ‘red tape,’ were cited as the reasons initiatives failed. One 
respondent recorded that due to delays, ‘the enthusiasm tends to tail 
off.’ Survey responses on specific questions identify lots of opportunity 
for improvement. For example, while half of town and community council 
respondents felt that their local authority had set out what was needed 
to help build resilient communities, only 41% felt involved in shaping the 
approach and just over a third were clear on what they could and should 
be doing – Exhibit 5. 

Appendix B

Page 338



page 25 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Exhibit 5: town and community council views on how well they collaborate 
with their local authority

Positive Negative Do not know

The local authority has clearly set out what it 
needs to do to help build resilient communities 

The local authority helps us access grant 
funding to deliver initiatives that boost 
community resilience 

As a town or community council, we feel 
involved in shaping the local authority’s work 
in our area 

The local authority provides funding to help us 
to deliver initiatives that boost community 
resilience 

My town or community council is supported by 
the local authority to help deliver their vision 

The local authority has made it clear how our 
town or community council can contribute to 
building community resilience 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Source: Town and Community Council Survey, Audit Wales analysis

Appendix B

Page 339



page 26 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

2.18 Another strong line of feedback from town and community councils is the 
lack of funding and resources. Respondents noted that local authority 
budgets have shrunk, resulting in the local authorities ‘not having 
enough experienced staff to cover statutory functions’ let alone engage 
in community development activity. In addition, services that could often 
be in the frontline in engendering community resilience, are often absent 
on the ground. For instance, the lack of focus on the role of economic 
development to keep funding within local communities and prevent wealth 
extraction is seen as a missed opportunity.

2.19 Others highlight an enduring ‘command and control’ culture in some local 
authorities, strengthening the power imbalance between the local authority 
and its communities, framing the relationship as ‘them’ and ‘us.’ This limits 
local authorities’ ability to fully engage with, involve and understand the 
community, and in turn creates difficulties for a community to fully trust the 
local authority. One respondent noted that their local authority continues 
to identify its own priorities and only then goes to local communities for 
validation of their work. 

2.20 This is not helped by local authorities’ performance monitoring and 
evaluation arrangements. Most local authorities reflect on their 
previous performance towards all well-being objectives and against 
key performance indicators as part of regular performance monitoring 
arrangements. However, we found that, because of weaknesses in how 
local authorities have articulated their vision around community resilience, 
performance monitoring is often limited to focusing on specific projects or 
initiatives and does not consider what these mean collectively in terms of 
community resilience. 

2.21 There are no national measures collected that formally determine how 
resilient people and communities are in Wales. However, a number of 
publicly available datasets can be used as proxy measures to identify the 
key challenges facing local government in nurturing more resilient and 
self-reliant communities:
•  active citizenship, measured through people’s participation in 

democratic processes and decision-making drawing on data by  
The Electoral Commission showing the proportion of eligible voters 
who participated in local authority elections. Ceredigion had the highest 
turnout of voters in the most recent election in 2022, with 48.6% of 
eligible voters voting. This compares with a turnout of 31.3% in Torfaen 
during the same election. And across Wales, turnout on average was 
almost 4% lower in 2022 compared with the 2017 election. The data 
shows that turnout in local authority areas across some of the South 
Wales Valleys is consistently lower18.

18 Views and Research, The Electoral Commission 

Appendix B

Page 340

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/who-we-are-and-what-we-do/our-views-and-research/our-research


page 27 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

•  the National Survey for Wales measures emotional and social 
loneliness over time, and these are key issues to address in promoting 
social capital. The data shows that almost a third of the Wales 
population reported feeling socially lonely in 2019-20. Data by the Office 
for National Statistics (ONS) breaks a similar measure down by local 
authority area. It shows that, by 2020-21, almost 40% of the Welsh 
population reported feeling lonely. Local authority areas in the South 
Wales Valleys, including Blaenau Gwent and Torfaen, are amongst 
those with the highest proportions of people having reported feeling 
lonely19.

•  Data Cymru publishes data showing people’s sense of belonging to 
an area and levels of community cohesion. It measures the number of 
people agreeing that they belong to the area; that people from different 
backgrounds get on well together; and that people treat each other with 
respect. It shows an increase in recent years – from an average of 51% 
agreement across Wales in 2016-17 to 70% agreement in 2020-2120. 

2.22  Through our review we found no local authority in Wales using these proxy 
measures to help evaluate or monitor resilience.

19 National Survey for Wales
20 Well-being of Wales, Data Cymru

Appendix B

Page 341

https://gov.wales/national-survey-wales
https://www.data.cymru/dashboards/wellbeing


page 28 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

The pandemic showed communities can play a more 
active role and become less dependent, but sustaining 
this requires local authorities to change how they work 

2.23  Local authorities in Wales responded to COVID-19 with effective 
leadership and extraordinary sacrifices from frontline workers, elected 
members and senior leaders. The pandemic made people more aware 
of the role of local authorities in their lives. As such there is a window of 
opportunity to reset the relationship between local authorities and their 
citizens and to use the experience of collaborating with communities as 
genuine partners to reset relationships and expectations. 

2.24 People we interviewed in particular noted that the pandemic had sparked 
a resurgence in ‘community activism’ with individuals, groups, and 
organisations working together to bring about change. Several people we 
spoke to also highlighted that the crisis encouraged local authorities to be 
more open, with officers and elected members showing a new willingness 
to involve and collaborate with people to find solutions to problems, often 
on a daily basis. 

2.25 Our town and community council survey asked recipients how the 
pandemic had impacted on resilience and self-reliance in their local 
areas. Positively, a number of respondents stated that COVID-19 had 
supported communities to ‘pull together’ and support vulnerable people in 
the community by providing meals and medication to vulnerable people 
shielding, undertaking home deliveries and community activities like litter 
picking. Some also noted that having to operate with less support from 
their local authority also helped increase resilience, demonstrating that 
individuals and communities could do more for themselves.

Appendix B

Page 342



page 29 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

2.26  We also found some good examples of local authorities taking learning 
from the pandemic to help improve community resilience. For instance, 
Gwynedd County Council are learning from the shift to prevention required 
by the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 to influence 
its work and approach elsewhere in the organisation. By rolling out 
training on the ‘What Matters’21 principles more widely to staff in other 
services, the local authority is seeking to redefine its work moving away 
from responding to need to identifying personal and local strengths and 
solutions as a way of supporting resilience. Similarly, Flintshire County 
Council is drawing on the positive response from communities during the 
pandemic to help address staff shortages in social care. Building on the 
success of people volunteering during COVID-19, the local authority is 
prioritising work to engage with its residents to encourage people to begin 
a career in care.

2.27  However, others we spoke to noted that much of the good work of 
reframing relationships and changing how people access and use services 
created by the pandemic have not been embedded and maintained. 
Despite local authorities having the experience of the pandemic to draw 
on how to do things differently, many are not grasping the opportunities 
to recast their relationship with people and communities. Through our 
interviews with officers, we found that a growing number acknowledge that 
a culture shift is required but are yet to articulate and set out what they 
will do differently to reduce dependency. As a result, there is a growing 
concern that local authorities are reverting to their traditional ways of 
working and not building on the enthusiasm and buy-in created by the 
pandemic. 

2.28  This is echoed in the evidence of our local ‘Springing Forward’ review 
delivered in 2022. Our audit work focussed on how local authorities are 
taking learning from the pandemic to transform both their workforce and 
use of assets. We found that local authorities are increasingly seeing 
flexibility and agility in their human and physical assets as critical in the 
models of service delivery they will need to apply in the future. However, 
we found little focus on the need to create more resilient communities 
and self-reliant citizens, nor a prioritisation of the steps needed to reduce 
demand on services. 

21 A ‘What Matters’ assessment is an outcomes-focused, strengths-based conversation 
between a social care practitioner and an individual to determine whether they have eligible 
care and support needs.

Appendix B

Page 343



Looking to the 
future and learning 
from elsewhere  

03

Appendix B

Page 344



page 31 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

3.1 In this final part of the report we look to the future, setting out approaches 
and opportunities from other parts of Great Britain. We acknowledge that 
different parts of Wales will have different challenges to overcome, and 
no local authority is starting from exactly the same place. However, from 
our research there are opportunities to learn from elsewhere that can help 
local authorities make this transition.

With an uncertain future and growing complexity in 
service delivery, local authorities must change how 
they work and use resources differently to empower 
communities and individuals to build resilience and 
become more self-reliant

3.2 The scale of the current challenges facing communities across Wales is 
threatening to overwhelm local authority services. Entrenched poverty, 
longstanding inequalities, uncertain public finances and growing demand 
from people with a range of complex problems are creating a tough 
operating environment22. 

3.3 It is clear that local authorities are going to face significant problems in 
the next few years with capacity continuing to be stretched, services 
increasingly becoming more targeted and potentially oversubscribed. 
There are likely to be fewer services delivered directly by local authorities, 
to fewer people, and local authority services as we know them will look 
hugely different by the end of the next decade. 

3.4 As a consequence, a key focus for local authorities will need to be 
on steering people away from their services and replacing this with 
a co-operative approach, collaborating with communities and doing 
things differently. To achieve this, local authorities need to think and 
act differently, building capacity and social capital and encouraging 
communities and citizens to do more for themselves. 

3.5 Positively, we are not starting from zero. As noted in Part 2,  
local authorities are already doing much and during COVID-19,  
we witnessed a community response on a scale and diversity that were 
previously unthinkable highlighting that many communities have significant 
depths of resilience. There is also much work already happening across 
Wales and the other nations of the United Kingdom from which we can 
learn. Exhibit 6 sets these out.

22 For instance, see the conclusions of the Future Trends Report Wales 2021 produced by the 
Welsh Government, which brings together a range of information to assist Welsh citizens 
and policy makers in understanding the big trends and drivers that are likely to shape Wales’ 
future. The most recent report of December 2021 set out a series of significant challenges 
facing local authorities in the next decade and beyond.

Appendix B

Page 345

https://gov.wales/future-trends-2021-html#section-87342


page 32 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Exhibit 6: key approaches in how local authorities are seeking 
to strengthen community resilience and self-reliance to reduce 
demand on services 

Creating a clear vision of how things will work in 
the future.

Holding a two-way dialogue and communicating 
what change will ‘look’ and ‘feel’ like.

Revitalising the role of council members as 
community champions.

Refocussing the work of council staff.

Recognising that recasting community 
relationships will require different solutions in 
different places.

Ensuring wealth stays local and works for all the 
community.

Source: Audit Wales

Appendix B

Page 346



page 33 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Creating a clear vision of how things will work in the future

3.6 When embarking on a new direction, it is important for local authorities 
to articulate what their vision for the future is. Setting a vision helps to 
describe the local authority’s purpose, what it is striving for, and what it 
wants to achieve. The vision should be derived from the local authority’s 
core values and should function as a guiding principle to support long-term 
decision making. 

3.7  Bristol City Council in its Resilience Strategy 2016 set out a long-term 
direction of travel, reflecting the need for change at all levels: starting with 
individual citizens, through local communities and neighbourhoods, to the 
city as a whole and its place in the wider world. With the overall ambition 
of creating a flourishing resilient city the Council and its partners are 
focussing on:
•  Fair – Every person living in Bristol has the assets and opportunities to 

enjoy a good quality of life.
•  Liveable – The city centre and neighbourhoods are great places for 

people of all ages to live, work, learn and play.
•  Sustainable – The city and region prosper within environmental limits 

through adopting new behaviours and technology.
•  Agile – Bristol citizens and leaders make effective decisions based on 

shared priorities and real-time information.
•  Connected – A strong network of local communities and organisations 

promotes trust, co-operation and shared action across the city.

3.8 Similarly, Oldham Council has embarked on a bold programme  
centred on becoming a co-operative borough with everybody doing  
their bit and everybody benefitting. The Council’s Corporate Plan sets  
out an ambition of ‘working with communities to reduce need by taking a 
community-centred, preventative approach to public services’. The starting 
point for the local authority was to recognise that everybody in Oldham has 
shared problems and ambitions and only by working together and looking 
at what the local authority, partners, community groups and individual 
citizens can do, are you be able to deliver change.

Appendix B

Page 347

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/files/documents/1215-bristol-resilience-strategy/file
https://www.oldham.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/7405/oldham_corporate_plan_2022-27.pdf


page 34 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

3.9 For Oldham, a whole system approach is required, engaging with 
communities to design and deliver things in partnership and emphasising 
self-help and responsibility by supporting communities to be more resilient. 
The driving ethos is to collaborate with communities to reduce need by 
focussing on four key areas of work:
•  supporting local leaders and empowering people because the local 

authority is often not well placed to deal with issues at a community 
level;

•  encouraging staff to constantly look for ways to improve services or 
solve problems, supporting them to take responsibility and act boldly;

•  putting Oldham and its people first and doing what’s best for 
communities; and

• creating a high-performance culture which focuses on knowledge and 
using data to maximise the impact of spending and service delivery 
choices.

Holding a two-way dialogue and communicating what change will 
‘look’ and ‘feel’ like

3.10 Setting a vision is one thing. Making this a reality requires local authorities 
to enable a cultural shift within their communities, away from seeing them 
as the first point of contact when seeking help to a shared understanding 
of the future role of the local authority. This will require local authorities 
to clearly articulate a strong message on what they can and will do in the 
future but also how they will support and encourage communities to do 
more for themselves. In driving this shift, local authorities will need to ask 
some fundamental questions, for instance:
•  What do we need to do differently to develop and improve the  

resilience in each of our communities?
•  What support and assistance do we need to provide and maintain  

to ensure the resilience capability and capacity in each of our 
communities is retained? 

•  How can we maintain community resilience beyond the voluntary 
sector?

•  What partnership approach and support are needed to truly  
enable community resilience?

Appendix B

Page 348



page 35 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

3.11  As a starting point, local authorities will need to have an honest 
conversation with the public about the reality of future service provision 
and the potential role of the local community going forward. Within this 
conversation, local authorities will need to engage with communities to 
determine what they might be able to do without help, and how they can 
collaborate better with local people, local groups and local community 
assets. 

3.12 Asset mapping is essential to highlight what already takes place and what 
others are doing, both for the local authority (elected members in their 
role as community champions and local authority staff) and local people. 
Likewise, local authorities will need to promote opportunities to apply for 
funding, directly to the local authority but also from other organisations, 
locally and nationally, and set out how they will support this activity. 

3.13 An example highlighted in Scotland of intense involvement of communities 
in designing and planning new approaches is the use of Community 
‘Charrettes’. Supported with funding by the Scottish Government23,  
the Charette model brings together stakeholders and decision makers to 
collaborate with experts to co-develop solutions to address problem issues 
in the physical environment of an area. Examples of recent successful 
Charrettes include Crieff and Glenrothes West. As such, Charrettes have 
the power to provoke transformation; but without careful preparation they 
can backfire, creating distrust within communities. Although traditionally 
applied to regeneration and planning work, the Charette approach is also 
being used in policy and organisational planning and change efforts. 

23 Charettes and Community Place Plans, Development Trust Association Scotland

Appendix B

Page 349

https://www.gov.scot/publications/evaluation-community-led-design-initiatives-impacts-outcomes-charrettes-making-places-funds/pages/2/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/evaluation-community-led-design-initiatives-impacts-outcomes-charrettes-making-places-funds/pages/2/
https://www.pkc.gov.uk/media/40614/2015-Crieff-Charrette-Report-Low-Res/pdf/2015_Crieff_Charrette_Report_Low_Res.pdf?m=636434216059030000
https://www.fife.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0031/278662/Golden-Glenrothes-West-Charretteplus-Report-FINAL-web.pdf
https://dtascommunityownership.org.uk/community/community-place-plans/tools-and-resources/charrettes#:~:text=A%20Charrette%20is%20a%20public,grant%20funding%20for%20the%20process


page 36 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Revitalising the role of local authority members as community 
champions

3.14 Elected members, as community leaders, can play a critical role in 
recasting the future relationship between the local authority and local 
communities. They often lead local partnerships, sit on the boards and 
management committees of voluntary groups, represent their communities 
with other organisations, such as the Police or Local Health Board, and 
regularly promote local services within the community. 

3.15 Going forward, elected members will now have to deliver a different 
community leadership role, one which focuses on encouraging people 
to take more responsibility for their neighbourhoods and inspiring people 
to do more to help out in their local community. The role of elected 
members in developing stronger and more resilient communities cannot be 
underestimated. They will have key roles to play in: 
•  managing the expectations of communities, by setting out why things 

are changing and explaining why things will be different going forward; 
•  identifying and collaborating with local community activists and leaders 

to ensure they are encouraged, supported and assisted to play a more 
prominent role in the future;

•  enabling the flow of two-way information and intelligence between local 
communities and the local authority, to identify the issues on the ground 
and provide the information local communities need to ensure they can 
get involved; and

•  acting as the channel between local community groups and the local 
authority to help develop local community-led solutions that strengthen 
resilience and meet local need. 

3.16  A number of Welsh local authorities we interviewed highlighted the 
important role of elected members in developing community resilience and 
a rejuvenated role is central to strengthening self-reliance and community 
resilience. For example, in Cardiff, officers emphasised that members 
often ‘approach life from the bottom up’ and bring a deep understanding 
of community issues and the role the Council can play in helping 
communities to thrive. 

Appendix B

Page 350



page 37 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

3.17  In Oldham, the local authority has taken this approach a step further 
introducing in 2011 a Local Leaders Programme. This has been vital in 
equipping elected members with the skills, knowledge, competencies 
and attitudes necessary for engaging with and driving a new relationship 
with communities. The course included a mix of elected member-led 
discussions, seminars offering useful tools and models, expert facilitators 
and speakers, and a range of formats for discussions and activities.  
The six modules covered:
•  the local leadership role in communities;
•  personal leadership skills and understanding; 
•  working inside the organisation and the politics;
•  a deeper look at community leadership in Oldham;
•  issues and challenges; and
•  neighbourhoods, partnerships and outward communication. 

Refocussing the work of local authority staff

3.18 As with the revitalised role for elected members, local authorities will 
also need to ensure their workforce has the skills to deliver a new way of 
working. Local authority staff are trained and experienced in delivering 
services to people, but the move towards community development and 
community resilience work will entail a quite different way of thinking and 
doing for some.

3.19  At present, the model for many local authority services is predicated 
on meeting need, with responses concentrating on delivering actions 
to address short-term acute issues. But with less emphasis on direct 
provision and more focus on influencing others to do more, the local 
authority worker of the future will need to be able to foster positive working 
relationships with networks and groups in communities. 

3.20 To do this well will require staff to be good communicators who are able 
to encourage and motivate people, facilitating change and encouraging 
communities and individuals to step up and do more. Critically, staff will 
also need to be effective problem solvers and active agents for change, 
being less concerned with process and more driven by delivering solutions 
on the ground.

Appendix B

Page 351

https://www.oldham.gov.uk/info/200572/co-operative_oldham/1191/strengthening_democracy


page 38 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

3.21  Local authorities will therefore need to develop their workforce to be able 
to respond to this new set of challenges. This will mean redefining roles 
and responsibilities for those both on the frontline, but also managers. 
Support and training will be required to help engender a new culture and 
ethos for service delivery, focussing on prevention rather than intervention. 

Recognising that recasting community relationship will require 
different solutions in different places

3.22  Communities themselves are not uniform. They will have different 
capacities, skills and assets and each will come from a different starting 
point. It is clear that there are communities in Wales which are still 
coming to terms with their post-industrial past, where levels of poverty 
remain stubbornly high, and the socio-economic challenges are vast. 
The response to engendering community resilience in these areas will 
therefore be quite different to areas with high levels of affluence and an 
active history of doing many things for themselves with little intervention or 
support from local authorities.

3.23  Irrespective, it is important that local authorities recalibrate their 
relationship with their communities and find solutions that are specific to 
the differing needs of Wales. To be successful in achieving this shift of 
emphasis – from concentrating on need and service provision to focusing 
on mobilising the energies and strengths within communities – requires 
local authorities to create a new relationship with citizens, helping to build 
capacity and improve a community’s potential to do more. For instance,  
by working with:
•  individuals, including volunteers, to build capacity to do things that 

local authorities traditionally have done;
•  groups, including faith and community groups, who offer a wealth 

of experience in helping support people and have established and 
successful links on the ground;

•  organisations, including town and community councils, local 
businesses and anchor institutions, which are active in supporting  
local interests but now need to be encouraged to do more; and  

•  networks, including associations such as county voluntary councils  
and local partnerships which are better placed to influence others to  
do what is needed.

Appendix B

Page 352



page 39 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

3.24 Research highlights that for communities to have the capacity to act, 
three things are generally required: the motivation and commitment to act; 
the resources required to support action; and the skills, confidence and 
understanding to act24. Often the starting point for local authorities is to 
understand current capacity within a community, focussing on things such 
as local needs and issues and the relative strengths and weaknesses 
of a community. Key to this is to identify the community players and 
leaders and to establish forums, systems, and structures that encourage 
participation, engagement and involvement. 

3.25 Scotland’s Urban Regeneration Forum (SURF) has a track record in 
highlighting positive examples of community-led regeneration work and 
awarded Campbelltown in Argyll and Bute the most improved place award 
in 2020. In response to socio-economic challenge, the local authority 
initiated a wide-ranging programme of activities in Campbelltown that 
secured the participation of public, private, community and third-sector 
organisations25. 

3.26 A shared vision based on trust and perseverance helped to transfer 
ownership from the local authority into the community which is now 
empowered to shape and deliver projects that respond to local 
circumstances to the extent that Campbeltown is once again a thriving 
town centre, and an increasingly attractive place to live, work and invest 
in. Importantly, less reliance is placed on the local authority with the 
community doing far more for itself. 

3.27 The work in Argyll and Bute has also been helped greatly by the policy 
framework adopted by the Scottish Government under the umbrella of the 
Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015 – Exhibit 7.

24 Building Community Capacity – Resources for Community Learning and Development 
Practice: A Guide, Scottish Government, 2007.

25 Argyll and Bute Council, Campbeltown Regeneration. 

Appendix B

Page 353

https://www.surf.scot/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2015/6/contents/enacted
https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/campbeltown-regeneration


page 40 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Exhibit 7: Community Empowerment in Scotland

The Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015 was 
introduced to help empower community bodies through the 
ownership or control of land and buildings, and by strengthening 
their voices in decisions about public services. To support 
implementation of the Act, the Scottish Government has sought 
to empower communities to do more for themselves through the 
provision of, for example:

• funding for community-led regeneration through the 
Empowering Communities Fund;

• funding participatory budgeting through the £1.5 million 
Community Choices Fund, giving people more power to  
make decisions on spending in their local areas; and

• making it easier for communities to take over land and 
buildings in public ownership through asset transfer and 
extending the community right to buy to all of Scotland;

• supporting community local authorities to represent 
communities’ opinions and needs to public bodies; and

• giving communities the ability to request to participate in 
decisions and processes which are aimed at improving 
outcomes through participation requests.

Taken together, it is clear that national policy in Scotland has 
developed to encourage and support the ownership of assets by 
communities and for communities themselves to have more say 
in how services should both be provided to them and how public 
services should collaborate with them. Scottish communities now 
have legal rights to participate in policy development and buy 
assets from public bodies. They can shape services on the ground 
and play a greater role in deciding where resources are committed.

Appendix B

Page 354

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2015/6/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.scot/policies/community-empowerment/empowering-communities-fund/
https://www.gov.scot/policies/community-empowerment/participatory-budgeting/
https://www.gov.scot/policies/community-empowerment/asset-transfer/
https://www.gov.scot/policies/community-empowerment/community-councils/
https://www.gov.scot/policies/community-empowerment/participation-requests/


page 41 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Ensuring wealth stays local and works for all the community 

3.28 Community wealth building is a people-centred approach to local 
economic development, which redirects wealth back into the local 
economy, and places control and benefits into the hands of local people. 
It is an especially helpful model for delivering services in a time of 
restrictions on public funding, austerity and growing economic uncertainty 
because it seeks to stop, or at least limit, the flow of money out of those 
communities that most need investment and financial stimulation,  
by reshaping the local economy and using an organisation’s assets in 
vastly different ways. 

3.29 To do this, community wealth building uses the economic power of large, 
locally-rooted organisations, commonly referred to as ‘Anchor Institutions’ 
– Exhibit 8. The way in which these institutions spend their money, 
employ people and use their land, property and financial assets can make 
a huge difference to a local area. The role of ‘Anchor Institutions’ cannot 
be underestimated, and they can play a defining role in creating and 
reinforcing local economic ties.

Exhibit 8: the role and value of Anchor Institutions

The term ‘Anchor institutions’ is used to refer to organisations 
which:

Have an important presence in a place, usually 
through a combination of being largescale 
employers, the largest purchasers of goods and 
services in the locality, controlling large areas of 
land and/or having relatively fixed assets.

Are tied to a particular place by their 
mission, histories, physical assets and 
local relationships. Examples include local 
authorities, NHS services, universities, trade 
unions, large local businesses, the combined 
activities of the community and voluntary 
sector and housing associations.

Source: Community business and anchor institutions, CLES, February 2019

Appendix B

Page 355

https://cles.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Community-business-and-anchor-institutions-Digital.pdf


page 42 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

3.30  The Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES) has been at the 
forefront of developing approaches to community wealth building. 
Through their work with public sector bodies, CLES have identified five 
key principles that are critical to delivering successful community wealth 
building. These are:
• plural ownership of the economy;
•  making financial power work for local places;
•  fair employment and just labour markets;
•  progressive procurement of goods and services; and
•  socially productive use of land and property.

3.31  Preston City Council have been long-term exponents of Community 
Wealth Building and are a positive example of an organisation that are 
using the CLES method, focussing on providing value for communities 
within the city directly and indirectly though their policy choices and 
spending power. The City Council’s approach, often referred to as the 
‘Preston Model’, is centred around tackling inequality by collaborating 
and building locally controlled economies, which put communities first26. 
Practical examples of how the local authority has sought to deliver this 
vision on the ground include:
•  using local authority procurement of services as a means of investing 

in the local economy and urging other local public sector partners to do 
the same. New procurement practices are providing opportunities for 
local SMEs, worker co-operatives, social enterprises and businesses to 
bid for contracts.

•  encouraging suppliers to enhance the social value aspects of their 
contracts through the inclusion of training and employment opportunities 
in agreements.

•  being an early adopter of the ‘real living wage’ locally and using the 
local authorities’ profile and soft power to influence other employers to 
do the same.

•  supporting and encouraging greater diversity of ownership in the local 
economy by investing directly in key assets in the centre of the city, 
bringing services back in-house and promoting worker cooperatives  
and community businesses;

26 Community Wealth Building 2.0 Leading Resilience and Recovery in Preston

Appendix B

Page 356

https://cles.org.uk/aboutcles/
https://www.preston.gov.uk/article/1339/What-is-Preston-Model
https://www.preston.gov.uk/media/5367/Community-Wealth-Building-2-0-Leading-Resilience-and-Recovery-in-Preston-Strategy/pdf/CommWealth-ShowcaseDoc_web.pdf?m=637498454035670000


page 43 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

•  enabling more financial wealth to be retained locally by contributing to 
the establishment of a regional development bank – the North West 
Mutual – with Liverpool City Council and the Wirral. The new bank is 
tasked with improving access to financial services for local people and 
businesses, and has a specific aim to retain banking profits in the North 
West and recycle regional savings into business loans and mortgages.

•  encouraging the Lancashire County Pension Fund to invest in Preston.

Appendix B

Page 357

https://nwmutual.co.uk/
https://nwmutual.co.uk/


page 44 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

1 Audit approach and methods

2 Community resilience and  
self-reliance evaluation tool

Appendices

Appendix B

Page 358



page 45 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Approach

Our approach was to understand local authorities’ definitions and approaches 
to building social resilience and community self-reliance and how town and 
community local authorities are supported to promote resilience.

This report sits alongside other reviews examining how local authorities 
are addressing poverty, and another review considering the role of social 
enterprises in delivering public services. Combined, they serve to examine how 
local authorities empower citizens to tackle and prevent issues developing into 
a crisis that requires statutory intervention.

We examined all 22 principal local authorities in Wales at a high level, managing 
delivery to be mindful of the pressures local authority officers are under during 
both the pandemic and the cost-of-living crisis. We ensured coverage was 
sufficient to draw a view on the whole sector but not to significantly detract from 
officers’ delivery. Our approach was flexible to fit around officers when agreeing 
and delivering our fieldwork.

Methods

We completed our review between September 2021 and August 2022 and used 
a range of methods in delivering our review:

• document review – we reviewed published research and documentation 
from the Welsh Government, local authorities and other relevant public 
bodies. We also reviewed a range of publications from representative 
groups, research organisations and public bodies in other UK countries.

• interviews and focus groups – we undertook a range of different 
interviews and focus groups:
- officer interviews – we interviewed officers nominated by all Welsh 

principal local authorities, generally those with responsibility for leading 
on social resilience and community self-reliance. These took place 
between January and May 2022.

1 Audit approach and methods

Appendix B

Page 359



page 46 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

- officer focus groups – in line with our flexible approach, some local 
authorities felt it was more appropriate for us to speak to a range of 
officers in focus groups to provide more rounded information and  
reduce our impact on service delivery.

- national interviews – we interviewed representatives from national 
bodies, UK-wide think tanks, research organisations and representative 
bodies. These took place between March and July 2022.

• surveys – we undertook two surveys to inform our work:
- a national survey of town and community councils – we invited all  

732 town or community councils in Wales to share their views on 
social resilience and community self-reliance through an online survey. 
We received a total of 336 responses, including 195 fully completed 
submissions and a further 141 partially completed responses. The 
completed responses represent roughly one in every four town or 
community council in Wales, and we received responses from all  
22 local authority areas.

- survey of senior local authority officers. We invited all 22 local 
authorities to participate and received 21 responses. Despite being 
invited to take part, Pembrokeshire County Council elected not to 
respond.

• data analysis – we collected and analysed a range of publicly available 
datasets from the Welsh Government, the UK Government, the Office for 
National Statistics, and third-sector organisations.

Appendix B

Page 360



page 47 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Action Yes No
Do not 
know

Understanding the challenge and articulating your role

We have clearly defined and agreed what 
community resilience and self-reliance means to 
us.

Our vision makes clear what we need to do and 
what others are best placed to do.

We have identified by service the activities:
•  that the authority must continue to provide; 
•  those that can be delivered in partnership with 

others; and 
•  those that the community can lead on.  

We have communicated our definitions widely to 
ensure all key stakeholders understand what we 
want to achieve through our work on community 
resilience and self-reliance.

Our key partners have identified how they will 
collaborate with us to strengthen community 
resilience and self-reliance.

We have completed a place-based asset mapping 
exercise to assess community resilience and 
capacity for increased self-reliance. 

We know the number and types of organisations 
working locally that can help us improve 
community resilience and self-reliance.

We know where there are gaps that we need to 
address.

2 Community resilience and  
self-reliance evaluation tool

Appendix B

Page 361



page 48 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Action Yes No
Do not 
know

We have agreed the actions required to help 
improve community resilience and self-reliance in 
our area. 

We have set SMART objectives and actions on 
how we will improve community resilience and 
self-reliance.

We are clear on the benefits and risks of our work 
on community resilience and self-reliance for 
citizens, local communities and the local authority.

Knowing your communities

We know who our key community activists and 
leaders are.

We have good working relationships and work 
effectively with our key community activists and 
leaders. 

We provide help, support and training to ensure 
our key community activists and leaders are as 
effective as they can be.

We effectively encourage local community activists 
and leaders to improve community resilience and 
self-reliance.

Skills and knowledge to build community resilience

We are good at encouraging people to help out 
and do more in their community.

We have the right staff in the right place to help 
improve community resilience and self-reliance.

We have revised job descriptions and person 
specifications to strengthen their focus on 
involvement, to help improve community resilience 
and self-reliance.

Appendix B

Page 362



page 49 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Action Yes No
Do not 
know

We give staff the opportunity to take well-managed 
risks and explore innovative practices with 
communities.

Our staff are good at influencing people to do more 
for themselves where they can.

Elected members support the authority’s work 
on strengthening community resilience and self-
reliance.

We have put in place the right support to help 
Elected Members strengthen community resilience 
and self-reliance in their wards.

We have a can-do culture and mindset within the 
local authority to improve community resilience 
and self-reliance.

We are good at encouraging communities to find 
their own solutions to problems and not rely on us.

Making a difference

We have reviewed ways of working across the 
Council and are changing services to help improve 
community resilience and self-reliance.

We have identified how these changes will impact 
on people.

We are communicating to citizens how our 
services are changing. 

We have specified the information required to 
evaluate how our work is improving community 
resilience and self-reliance.

We use our resources, money and assets to build 
and retain wealth in our local communities.

Appendix B

Page 363



page 50 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Action Yes No
Do not 
know

We use our procurement of services as a means 
of investing in the local economy. 

We work with our local anchor institutions to 
ensure they support community wealth building 
through their provision of services, use of 
resources, procurement and assets. 

We encourage suppliers to enhance the social 
value aspects of their contracts through the 
inclusion of training and employment opportunities 
in agreements.

We regularly report on our community resilience 
and self-reliance work to scrutiny committee(s) 
against a balanced set of performance information 
that covers: 
• demand for local authority services; 
•  alternative provision within communities and by 

partners; and
•  impact of our work on people’s wellbeing.

Our scrutiny and evaluation processes provide 
us with assurance that our work is delivering 
anticipated outcomes.

Appendix B

Page 364



page 51 ‘Together we can’ – Community resilience and self-reliance

Appendix B

Page 365



Audit Wales

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff 

CF11 9LJ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

We welcome telephone calls in  
Welsh and English.

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

Appendix B

Page 366



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix C 
 

1 
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form.  
 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 
Service Area: Tackling Poverty Service 
Directorate: Adult Social Services 
 
Q1 (a) What are you screening for relevance? 
 
 

 New and revised policies, practices or procedures  
      Service review, re-organisation or service changes/reductions, which affect the wider community, service 

 users and/or staff  
     Efficiency or saving proposals 
     Setting budget allocations for new financial year and strategic financial planning 
    New project proposals affecting staff, communities or accessibility to the built environment, e.g., new 

 construction work or adaptations to existing buildings, moving to on-line services, changing location 
 Large Scale Public Events 
 Local implementation of National Strategy/Plans/Legislation 
 Strategic directive and intent, including those developed at Regional Partnership Boards and Public Services 

 Board, which impact on a public bodies functions 
 Medium to long term plans (for example, corporate plans, development plans, service delivery and 

 improvement plans) 
 Setting objectives (for example, well-being objectives, equality objectives, Welsh language  strategy) 
 Major procurement and commissioning decisions 
 Decisions that affect the ability (including external partners) to offer Welsh  language opportunities and 

 services 
 
(b) Please name and fully describe initiative here:  
 
This is an IIA Screening for the report by the Tackling Poverty Service to the Governance and 
Audit Committee on the recommendations from the Audit Wales report ‘Together We Can’ – 
Community resilience and self-reliance. The report from Audit Wales looks at the priority placed 
on community resilience and self-reliance in local authority plans, and how local authorities are 
equipping people to be less reliant on often overstretched local authority services. The 
recommendations focus on each local authority conducting a self-assessment of their current 
position in order to identify actions and improvements. 
 
The report is to inform the Committee of the findings of Audit Wales’ investigation, summarise 
the recommendations of their review and highlight the proposals for actions to be taking by the 
Council in response to the review. These actions will be incorporated into the refresh of the 
Tackling Poverty Strategy. 
 
A full IIA will be carried out as part of the Tackling Poverty Strategy development in due course. 
 
 

 
 

Q2 What is the potential impact on the following: the impacts below could be positive 
(+) or negative (-)  

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Needs further  
     investigation 
     +    -     +    -               +    -    
Children/young people (0-18)          
OIder people (50+)         
Any other age group           
Future Generations (yet to be born)          
Disability          
Race (including refugees)          
Asylum seekers          Page 367



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix C 
 

2 
 

Gypsies & travellers          
Religion or (non-)belief         
Sex         
Sexual Orientation         
Gender reassignment          
Welsh Language         
Poverty/social exclusion         
Carers (inc. young carers)         
Community cohesion         
Marriage & civil partnership         
Pregnancy and maternity         
 
 
Q3 What involvement has taken place/will you undertake e.g. 

engagement/consultation/co-productive approaches?   
 Please provide details below – either of your activities or your reasons for not 

undertaking involvement 
 
In relation to the Audit Wales investigation, Council staff contributed to the review undertaken by 
the Auditor General for Wales through a series of interviews and the provision of documentation 
/ information between April 2021 and September 2022. 
 
In relation to the actions proposed in this report, we plan to take these actions through our 
planned approach to refreshing the Council’s Tackling Poverty Strategy. We intend to undertake 
a range of activities working with our poverty networks and forums as well as targeted 
engagement and consultation activities but this will be highlighted in our update on the strategy 
development approach. 
 
A full IIA will be carried out as part of the Tackling Poverty Strategy development in due course. 
 
Q4 Have you considered the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 in the 
 development of this initiative:   
 

a) Overall does the initiative support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being Objectives when considered 
together?  
 Yes                  No          
 

b) Does the initiative consider maximising contribution to each of the seven national well-being goals?  
 Yes                  No          
 

c) Does the initiative apply each of the five ways of working? 
 Yes                  No          
 

d) Does the initiative meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs?  
 Yes                  No          
 

 
 
Q5 What is the potential risk of the initiative? (Consider the following impacts – equality, 

socio-economic, environmental, cultural, legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
                         Page 368



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix C 
 

3 
 

 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 
 
Q7  What is the cumulative impact of this proposal on people and/or communities 
when considering all the impacts identified within the screening and any other key 
decisions affecting similar groups/ service users made by the organisation?   
(You may need to discuss this with your Service Head or Cabinet Member to consider more widely if this 
proposal will affect certain groups/ communities more adversely because of other decisions the 
organisation is making. For example, financial impact/poverty, withdrawal of multiple services and 
whether this is disadvantaging the same groups, e.g., disabled people, older people, single parents (who 
are mainly women), etc.)   
 
There is no impact for the report itself.   
 
Outcome of Screening 

 
Q8 Please describe the outcome of your screening below: 

• Summary of impacts identified and mitigation needed (Q2) 
• Summary of involvement (Q3) 
• WFG considerations (Q4) 
• Any risks identified (Q5) 
• Cumulative impact (Q7) 

 
This is an IIA Screening for the report by the Tackling Poverty Service to the Governance and 
Audit Committee on the recommendations from the Audit Wales report ‘Together We Can’ – 
Community resilience and self-reliance. 
 
The report is to inform the Committee of the findings of Audit Wales’ investigation, summarise 
the recommendations of their review and highlight the proposals for actions to be taking by the 
Council in response to the review (which are to be incorporated into the plans for refresh of the 
Tackling Poverty Strategy). This report has identified no implications with the IIA. 
   

 Full IIA to be completed  
 

 Do not complete IIA – please ensure you have provided the relevant information above to support this 
 outcome 

    
 
NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before 
obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via 
email. 
Screening completed by: 
Name: Lee Cambule  
Job title: Tackling Poverty Service Manager 
Date: 29/09/23 

 
Approval by Head of Service: 
Name: Amy Hawkins 
Position: Head of Adult Social Services and Tackling Poverty 
Date:  

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

Page 369

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 

City & County of Swansea – Detailed 

Audit Plan 2023 

Audit year: 2023 

Date issued: October 2023 

Document reference: 3834A2023 

 

 

Page 370

Agenda Item 14



 

Page 2 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

This document has been prepared as part of work performed in accordance with statutory functions. Further 

information can be found in our Statement of Responsibilities. 

Audit Wales is the non-statutory collective name for the Auditor General for Wales and the Wales Audit 

Office, which are separate legal entities each with their own legal functions as described above. Audit Wales 

is not a legal entity and itself does not have any functions. 

No responsibility is taken by the Auditor General, the staff of the Wales Audit Office or, where applicable, the 

appointed auditor in relation to any member, director, officer or other employee in their individual capacity, or 

to any third party. 

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention is 

drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000. The section 

45 Code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public authorities, including 

consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor General for Wales, the 

Wales Audit Office and, where applicable, the appointed auditor are relevant third parties. Any enquiries 

regarding disclosure or re-use of this document should be sent to the Wales Audit Office at 

infoofficer@audit.wales. 

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding in Welsh will not 

lead to delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd gohebu yn 

Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg. This document is also available in Welsh.  

 

Page 371

https://www.audit.wales/publication/statement-responsibilities-financial-statements-audit-0
mailto:infoofficer@audit.wales


About Audit Wales  

Our aims and ambitions 

 

Page 3 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 Page 372



Contents 

Page 4 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

Introduction  5 

Your audit at a glance 8 

Financial statements’ materiality 10  

Significant financial statements’ risks  11 

Other areas of focus 12 

Financial statements’ audit timetable 14 

Planned performance audit work 15 

Certification of grant claims and returns 16 

Statutory audit functions 16 

Fee and audit team 17 

Audit quality 19 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – key ISA315 changes and impact    20 

 

Page 373



Introduction 

Page 5 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

This Detailed Audit Plan specifies my statutory responsibilities as your external auditor 

and to fulfil my obligations under the Code of Audit Practice.  

It sets out the work my team intends undertaking to address the audit risks identified and 

other key areas of focus during 2023. 

It also sets out my estimated audit fee, details of my audit team and key dates for 

delivering my audit team’s activities and planned outputs. 

 

  

Page 374



 

Page 6 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

My audit responsibilities 

I complete work each year to meet the following duties: 

• I audit the Council and Group’s financial statements to make sure that public 

money is being properly accounted for. 

• The Council has to put in place arrangements to get value for money for the 

resources it uses, and I have to be satisfied that it has done this. 

• The Council needs to comply with the sustainable development principle when 

setting and taking steps to meet their well-being objectives. The Auditor General 

must assess the extent to which they are doing this. 

Audit of financial statements 

I am required to issue a certificate and report on your financial statements which includes 

an opinion on their ‘truth and fairness’ and an assessment as to whether the Narrative 

Report and Annual Governance Statement is prepared in line with the CIPFA Code and 

relevant guidance and is consistent with your financial statements and my knowledge of 

the Council. 

In addition to my responsibilities for auditing the Council and Group’s financial 

statements, I also have responsibility for: 

• responding to questions and objections about the accounts from local electors 

(additional fees will be charged for this work, if necessary); 

• auditing the City & County of Swansea’s pension fund accounts (a separate audit 

plan has been prepared for the audit of the pension fund); 

• the limited assurance review of the Swansea Bay Port Health Authority; and 

• the certification of a number of grant claims and returns as agreed with the funding 

bodies. 

I do not seek to obtain absolute assurance on the truth and fairness of the financial 

statements and related notes but adopt a concept of materiality. My aim is to identify 

material misstatements, that is, those that might result in a reader of the accounts being 

misled. The levels at which I judge such misstatements to be material is set out later in 

this plan.  

I will also report by exception on a number of matters which are set out in more detail in 

our Statement of Responsibilities. 

There have been no limitations imposed on me in planning the scope of this audit. 

 

  

Page 375

https://www.audit.wales/publication/statement-responsibilities-financial-statements-audit-0


 

Page 7 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023  

Performance audit work 

I carry out a programme of performance audit work to discharge my duties1 as Auditor 

General in relation to value for money and sustainable development. 

My local performance audit programme will continue to be delivered through a 

combination of an Assurance and Risk Assessment Project, bespoke local projects and 

thematic projects examining risks common to all councils.  

The majority of my performance audit work is conducted using INTOSAI auditing 

standards. The International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions is a global 

umbrella organisation for the performance audit community. It is a non-governmental 

organisation with special consultative status with the Economic and Social Council 

(ECOSOC) of the United Nations.

 

1 When we undertake audit work under our statutory powers and duties we may collect 

information from public bodies that contains some personal data. Our general audit fair 

processing notice, explains what we do with personal data, and how you can contact our 

Data Protection Officer. 

Page 376



Your audit at a glance 

Page 8 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

 

My financial statements audit will concentrate on the 
following areas of identified risks 

My audit planning has identified the following risks: 

Significant financial statement risk 

• Management override of controls 

 

 

Other areas of audit focus 

• Valuation of pension fund liability 

• Valuation of land and buildings 

• New fixed assert register system 

• Senior officer remuneration 

 

 

 

 

My performance audit will include: 

• Assurance and Risk Assessment and any follow up work 

• Thematic reviews: 

1. Commissioning and contract management 

2. Financial sustainability in local government 

 

 

 

 

Materiality  

Materiality £10.4 million 

Reporting threshold £518,000 

Page 377



 

Page 9 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023  

 

 

Group 

 

We will also perform an audit of City & County of Swansea Group (incorporating the 
National Waterfront Museum and the Wales National Pool). 

 

Page 378



Financial statements’ materiality 

Page 10 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

 

Materiality £10.4 million 

My aim is to identify and correct material misstatements, that is, those that might other 
cause the user of the accounts into being misled. 

 

Materiality is calculated using: 

• 2021-22 gross expenditure of £1,036 million 

• Materiality percentage of 1% 

 

I report to those charged with governance any misstatements above a trivial level (set 
at 5% of materiality). 

 

 

Areas of specific interest 

There are some areas of the accounts that may be of more importance to the user of 
the accounts and we have set a lower materiality level for these: 

• Senior officer remuneration £1,000 

• Related party disclosures £10,000 (for disclosures relating to individual Members 
or officers) 

 

 

 

Page 379



Significant financial statements’ risks  

Page 11 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

Significant risks are identified risks of material misstatement for which the assessment of 

inherent risk is close to the upper end of the spectrum of inherent risk or those which are 

to be treated as a significant risk in accordance with the requirements of other ISAs. The 

ISAs require us to focus more attention on these significant risks. 

Exhibit 1: significant financial statement risks 

Significant risk Our planned response 

The risk of management override of 

controls is present in all entities. Due to 

the unpredictable way in which such 

override could occur, it is viewed as a 

significant risk [ISA 240.32-33]. 

The audit team will: 

• assess the design and 

implementation of controls over 

journal entry processing; 

• test the appropriateness of 

journal entries and other 

adjustments made in preparing 

the financial statements; 

• review accounting estimates for 

bias; and 

• evaluate the rationale for any 

significant transactions outside 

the normal course of business. 

Page 380



Other areas of focus 

Page 12 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

I set out other identified risks of material misstatement which, whilst not determined to be 

significant risks as above, I would like to bring to your attention. 

Exhibit 2: other areas of focus 

Audit risk Our planned response 

Valuation of pension fund net liability 

The Local Government Pension scheme 

(LGPS) pension fund liability as reflected 

in the financial statements represents a 

material estimate. 

The nature of this estimate means that it 

is subject to a high degree of estimation 

uncertainty as it is sensitive to small 

adjustments in the assumptions used in 

its calculation 

The audit team will: 

• evaluate the instructions issued 

by management to their 

management expert (actuary) for 

this estimate and the scope of the 

actuary’s work; 

• assess the competence, 

capabilities and objectivity of the 

actuary who carried out the 

valuations; 

• assess the accuracy and 

completeness of the information 

provided by the Council to the 

actuary to estimate the liability; 

• test the accuracy of the pension 

fund net liability and disclosures 

in the financial statements with 

the actuarial report from the 

actuary; and 

• assess the reasonableness of the 

assumptions made by the actuary 

by reviewing the report of the 

consulting actuary (auditor’s 

expert) and undertaking any 

additional procedures require 

Valuation of land and buildings 

The value of land and buildings reflected 

in the balance sheet and notes to the 

accounts represent material estimates. 

Land and buildings are required to be 

held on a valuation basis which is 

dependant on the nature and use of the 

assets. This estimate is subject to a high 

degree of subjectivity depending on the 

specialist and management assumptions 

adopted and changes in these can result 

in material changes to valuations. 

The audit team will: 

• review the information provided to 

the valuer to assess for 

completeness; 

• evaluate the competence, 

capabilities and objectivity of the 

professional valuer; 

• test a sample of assets revalued 

in the year to ensure the 

valuation basis, key data and 

assumptions used in the valuation 

process are reasonable, and the 

Page 381



 

Page 13 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023  

Assets are required to be revalued every 

five years, but values may also change 

year on year and there is a risk that the 

carrying value of assets reflected in the 

accounts may be materially different to 

the current value of assets as at 31 

March 2023. 

 

revaluations have been correctly 

reflected in the financial 

statements; 

• evaluate the assumptions made 

by management as to why it 

considers that land and buildings 

not revalued in 2022/23 are not 

materially misstated; and  

• test the reconciliation between 

the financial ledger and the asset 

register. 

New fixed asset register system 

The Council have implemented a new 

fixed asset register system during the 

year which will be used to produce all the 

entries in the financial statements 

relating to property, plant and equipment. 

There is a risk that asset information has 

not been transferred correctly to the new 

system which increases the risk that 

assets may not be correctly stated in the 

financial statements. 

 

The audit team will 

• review the migration of data from 

the old to the new system to 

ensure that information has been 

correctly transferred to the new 

system; 

• test a sample of asset 

transactions during the year to 

ensure they are in line with our 

expectations and correctly 

reflected in the financial 

statements.  

Senior officer remuneration 

The Council has detailed and complex 

disclosures for senior officer 

renumeration and there have been 

changes to appointments to these posts 

in 2022-23. 

There is a risk that these are not 

appropriately disclosed in the financial 

statements as remuneration paid to 

senior officers continues to be of high 

interest and are material by nature. 

 

The audit team will: 

• understand the movements in the 

senior officer team during 2022-

23. 

• ensure that remuneration 

disclosed is consistent with 

supporting evidence; and 

• ensure that amounts paid are 

consistent with those approved by 

the Council.  

 

 

  

Page 382



Financial statements’ audit timetable 

Page 14 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

I set out below key dates for delivery of my accounts audit work and planned outputs. 

Exhibit 3: key dates for delivery of planned outputs 

Planned output Work undertaken Report finalised 

2023 Outline Audit Plan March 2023 April 2023 

2023 Detailed Audit Plan September/October 2023 October 2023 

Audit of financial statements work: 

• Audit of Financial Statements Report 

• Opinion on the Financial Statements 

November 2023 - March 2024 March 2024 

 

Page 383



Planned performance audit work 

Page 15 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

I set out below details of my performance audit work and key dates for delivery of 

planned outputs. 

Exhibit 4: key dates for delivery of planned outputs 

Assurance and risk 

assessment and any 

follow up work 

 

Project to identify the level of audit 

assurance and/or where further audit 

work may be required in future years in 

relation to risks to the Council putting in 

place proper arrangements to secure 

value for money in the use of resources 

and acting in accordance with the 

sustainable development principle. This 

Assurance and Risk assessment work 

may involve any follow up/tracer work 

that we may identify from our audit 

reports and recommendations in 

previous years. 

Ongoing 

Thematic review – 

financial sustainability 

of local government  

A review of councils’ financial 

sustainability including a focus on the 

actions, plans and arrangements to 

bridge funding gaps and address 

financial pressures over the medium 

term. 

Timescales for individual 

projects will be discussed with 

you and detailed within the 

specific project briefings 

produced for each audit.   

Thematic review – 

commissioning and 

contract management  

A review focusing on how councils’ 

arrangements for commissioning, and 

contract management apply value for 

money considerations and the 

sustainable development principle.  

Timescales for individual 

projects will be discussed with 

you and detailed within the 

specific project briefings 

produced for each audit. 

 

We will provide updates on the performance audit programme through our regular 

updates to Council officers and Governance and Audit Committee. 

Page 384



Certification of grant claims and 
returns, and statutory audit functions 

Page 16 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

Certification of grant claims and returns 

I have also been requested to undertake certification work on the Council’s grant claims, 

which I anticipate will include Housing Benefits, Teachers Pension, NDR and pooled 

budget returns. 

Statutory audit functions 

In addition to the audit of the accounts, I have statutory responsibilities to receive 

questions and objections to the accounts from local electors. These responsibilities are 

set out in the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004: 

• Section 30 Inspection of documents and questions at audit; and  

• Section 31 Right to make objections at audit. 

As this work is reactive, I have made no allowance in the fee table below. If I do receive 

questions or objections, I will discuss potential audit fees at the time.

Page 385



Fee and audit team 

Page 17 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

In January 2023 I published the fee scheme for the 2023-24 year as approved by the 

Senedd Finance Committee. My fee rates for 2023-24 have increased by 4.8% for 

inflationary pressures. In addition, my financial audit fee has a further increase of 10.2% 

for the impact of the revised auditing standard ISA 315 on my financial audit approach. 

More details of the revised auditing standard and what it means for the audit I undertake 

is set out in Appendix 1. 

 

I estimate your total audit fee will be £418,181 

Exhibit 5: audit fee 

This table sets out the proposed audit fee for 2023, by area of audit work, alongside the 

estimated audit fee for last year. 

Audit area Proposed fee (£)2 Estimated fee last year 

(£) 

Audit of accounts3 281,932 245,329 

Performance audit work4 108,332 102,676 

Grant certification work5 25,828 24,645 

Other financial audit work6 2,089 2,032 

Total fee 418,181 374,682 

 

Planning will be ongoing, and changes to my programme of audit work, and therefore my 

fee, may be required if any key new risks emerge. I shall make no changes without first 

discussing them with the Council. 

 

 

 

2 Notes: The fees shown in this document are exclusive of VAT, which is not charged to 

you. 

3 Payable November 2022 to October 2023. 

4 Payable April 2023 to March 2024. 

5 Payable as work is undertaken. 

6 Swansea Bay Port Health Authority 

Our financial audit fee is based on the following assumptions: 

• The agreed audit deliverables sets out the expected working paper 
requirements to support the financial statements and includes timescales and 
responsibilities. 

• No matters of significance, other than as summarised in this plan, are 
identified during the audit. 

Page 386

https://www.audit.wales/publication/fee-scheme-2023-24


 

Page 18 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

 

The main members of my team, together with their contact details, are summarised in 

Exhibit 6. 

Exhibit 6: my local audit team 

Name Role Contact number E-mail address 

Derwyn Owen Engagement Director 02920 320 651 Derwyn.Owen@audit.wales 

Gillian Gillett Audit Manager (Financial 

Audit) 

02920 829 305 Gillian.Gillett@audit.wales 

Non Jenkins Audit Manager 

(Performance Audit) 

02920 320 500 Non.Jenkins@audit.wales 

Leanne Malough Audit Lead (Financial 

Audit) 

02920 320 687 Leanne.Malough@audit.wales 

Bethan Roberts Audit Lead (Performance 

Audit) 

02920 829 366 Bethan.Roberts@audit.wales 

 

I can confirm that my team members are all independent of the Council and your officers. 

Page 387



Audit quality  

 

Page 19 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

Our commitment to audit quality in Audit Wales is absolute. We believe that audit quality 

is about getting things right first time. 

We use a three lines of assurance model to demonstrate how we achieve this. We have 

established an Audit Quality Committee to co-ordinate and oversee those arrangements. 

We subject our work to independent scrutiny by QAD* and our Chair, acts as a link to our 

Board on audit quality. For more information see our Audit Quality Report 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 388

https://www.audit.wales/publication/audit-quality-report-2022-building-trust-audit


Appendix 1 

Page 20 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023 

The key changes to ISA315 and the potential 
impact on the Council 

Key change Potential impact on the Council 

More detailed 

and extensive 

risk 

identification 

and 

assessment 

procedures 

Your finance team and others in your organisation may receive 

a greater number of enquiries from our audit teams at the 

planning stage of the audit. Requests for information may 

include: 

• information on your organisation’s business model and how 

it integrates the use of information technology (IT); 

• information about your organisation’s risk assessment 

process and how your organisation monitors the system of 

internal control; 

• more detailed information on how transactions are initiated, 

recorded, processed, and reported. This may include 

access to supporting documentation such as policy and 

procedure manuals; and 

• more detailed discussions with your organisation to support 

the audit team’s assessment of inherent risk.  

Obtaining an 

enhanced 

understanding 

of your 

organisation’s 

environment, 

particularly in 

relation to IT 

Your organisation may receive more enquiries to assist the 

audit team in understanding the IT environment. This may 

include information on: 

• IT applications relevant to financial reporting; 

• the supporting IT infrastructure (e.g. the network, 

databases); 

• IT processes (e.g. managing program changes, IT 

operations); and 

• the IT personnel involved in the IT processes.  

Audit teams may need to test the general IT controls and this 

may require obtaining more detailed audit evidence on the 

operation of IT controls within your organisation.  

On some audits, our audit teams may involve IT audit 

specialists to assist with their work. Our IT auditors may need 

to engage with members of your IT team who have not 

previously been involved in the audit process.  

Page 389



 

Page 21 of 22 - City & County of Swansea – Detailed Audit Plan 2023  

Key change Potential impact on the Council 

Enhanced 

requirements 

relating to 

exercising 

professional 

scepticism 

Our audit teams may make additional inquiries if they identify 

information which appears to contradict what they have already 

learned in the audit. 

Risk 

assessments 

are scalable 

depending on 

the nature and 

complexity of 

the audited 

body 

The audit team’s expectations regarding the formality of your 

organisation’s policies, procedures, processes, and systems 

will depend on the complexity of your organisation. 

Audit teams 

may make 

greater use of 

technology in 

the 

performance 

of their audit 

Our audit teams may make use of automated tools and 

techniques such as data analytics when performing their audit. 

Our teams may request different information or information in a 

different format from previous audits so that they can perform 

their audit procedures. 

Page 390



 

 

Through our Good Practice work we share emerging practice and insights from 

our audit work in support of our objectives to assure, to explain and to inspire.  

Our newsletter provides you with regular updates on our public service audit work, 

good practice and events, which can be tailored to your preferences. 

For more information about our Good Practice work click here. 

Sign up to our newsletter here. 

 Audit Wales 

1 Capital Quarter  

Tyndall Street 

Cardiff CF10 4BZ 

Tel: 029 2032 0500 

Fax: 029 2032 0600 

Textphone: 029 2032 0660 

E-mail: info@audit.wales 

Website: www.audit.wales 

We welcome correspondence and 

telephone calls in Welsh and English. 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau 

ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. 

Page 391

https://www.wao.gov.uk/our-work/good-practice
https://www.wao.gov.uk/news/launch-audit-wales-newsletter
mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/


 

Page 1 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea Council 

Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – 
City and County of Swansea Council 

Quarterly Update: 30 September 2023 

Annual Audit Summary 

Description Timetable Status 

A report summarising completed audit work since the 

last Annual Audit Summary, which was issued in May 

2023. 

Complete Published: 

Annual Audit 

Summary 2022  

 

Financial Audit work  

Description Scope Timetable Status 

Audit of the 

Council’s 2022-23 

statement of 

accounts 

To provide an opinion on the ‘truth 

and fairness’ of the Council’s 

financial statements for the financial 

year ended 31 March 2024. 

November 

2023 – March 

2024 

 

In progress 

Certification of 

Grant returns for 

financial year 2022-

23:  

• Housing Benefit 

Subsidy 

• Non-Domestic 

Rates 

• Teachers’ 

Pension 

Contributions 

 

Certification that nothing has come 

to our attention to indicate that the 

return is: 

• Not fairly stated 

• Is not in accordance with the 

relevant terms and conditions 

 

September 

2023 -March 

2024 

Non-Domestic 

Rates –Work 

Started 

Teachers 

Pension 

Contributions – 

Work Started 

Housing 

Benefit 

Subsidy – Not 

started 

 

 

Page 392

Agenda Item 15

https://audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-annual-audit-summary-2022
https://audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-annual-audit-summary-2022


Page 2 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea Council 

Performance Audit work  

2021-22 

Performance 

Audit work  

Scope Timetable Status 

Well-being of 

Future 

Generations Act 

(Wales) 2015 

(WFG Act) 

examinations 

We will seek to integrate the delivery 

of our WFG examinations of steps to 

deliver well-being objectives with our 

other audit work. We will discuss this 

with the Council as we scope and 

deliver the audit projects listed in this 

plan. 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

Improvement 

reporting audit 

Audit of discharge of duty to publish 

an assessment of performance. 

December 

2021 

Complete 

 

Page 393



Page 3 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea Council 

2021-22 

Performance 

Audit work  

Scope Timetable Status 

Assurance and 

Risk 

Assessment 

Project to identify the level of audit 

assurance and/or where further audit 

work may be required in future years 

in relation to risks to the Council 

putting in place proper arrangements 

to secure value for money in the use 

of resources.  

At the Council the project is likely to 

focus on: 

• Financial position  

• Self-assessment arrangements 

• Recovery planning 

• Implications of the Local 

Government and Elections 

(Wales) Act 

• Carbon reduction plans 

 

Ongoing 

 

Complete:  

 

Published ARA 

2021-22 

progress 

update letter 

summarising 

Implications of 

the Local 

Government 

and Elections 

(Wales) Act, 

and Self-

Assessment 

arrangements. 

 

Published ARA 

2021-22 

Carbon 

Reduction 

plans summary  

 

Published ARA 

2021-22 

Financial 

Position 

Update  

 

Draft Recovery 

Planning 

finalised (see 

also local risk 

work too) 

Springing 

Forward – 

Examining the 

building blocks 

for a sustainable 

future 

As the world moves forward, learning 

from the global pandemic, this review 

looks at how effectively councils are 

strengthening their ability to transform, 

adapt and maintain the delivery of 

services, including those delivered in 

partnership with key stakeholders and 

communities. 

Autum 2021 

onwards 

Drafting 

Page 394

https://www.audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-assurance-and-risk-assessment-progress-update
https://www.audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-assurance-and-risk-assessment-progress-update
https://www.audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-assurance-and-risk-assessment-progress-update
https://www.audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-assurance-and-risk-assessment-progress-update
https://www.audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-assurance-and-risk-assessment-progress-update-carbon
https://www.audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-assurance-and-risk-assessment-progress-update-carbon
https://www.audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-assurance-and-risk-assessment-progress-update-carbon
https://www.audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-assurance-and-risk-assessment-progress-update-carbon
https://www.audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-assurance-and-risk-assessment-progress-update-carbon
https://audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-assurance-and-risk-assessment-2021-22-financial
https://audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-assurance-and-risk-assessment-2021-22-financial
https://audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-assurance-and-risk-assessment-2021-22-financial
https://audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-assurance-and-risk-assessment-2021-22-financial
https://audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-assurance-and-risk-assessment-2021-22-financial


Page 4 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea Council 

2021-22 

Performance 

Audit work  

Scope Timetable Status 

‘Achieving 

Better Together’ 

Transformation – 

a local project to 

‘review’ new 

transformation 

arrangements 

The focus of the work is real time 

working alongside the Council in 

taking forward its new transformation 

arrangements to: • Remobilise the 

Council • Refocus the Council to be 

efficient and effective in delivering its 

Corporate Plan and current priorities • 

Reshape to look beyond the next two 

years in setting out its new Corporate 

Plan building on ‘Sustainable 

Swansea – fit for the future’ We have 

worked alongside the Council as it 

further develops its recovery plan as a 

‘critical friend’ and in learning from 

and sharing practice and assurance 

and insight 

Ongoing 

 

Report 

finalised  

 

2022-23 

Performance 

Audit work  

Scope Timetable Status 

Assurance and 

Risk 

Assessment 

Project to identify the level of audit 

assurance and/or where further audit 

work may be required in future years 

in relation to risks to the Council 

putting in place proper arrangements 

to secure value for money in the use 

of resources and acting in accordance 

with the sustainable development 

principle. 

March 2022 – 

December 

2023 

 

Ongoing  

 • Financial position Ongoing 

monitoring of 

financial 

position 

Ongoing 

Page 395



Page 5 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea Council 

2022-23 

Performance 

Audit work  

Scope Timetable Status 

 • Capital programme management September – 

December 

2023 

AW will not 

undertake 

detailed work 

at all councils 

as part of our 

2022-23 work 

programme. 

We are 

currently 

exploring our 

options for 

undertaking a 

detailed piece 

of work on this 

topic either in 

2023-24 or 

future years. 

 • Use of performance information – 

with a focus on service user 

feedback and outcomes 

February – 

September 

2023 

Report being 

finalised 

 • Setting of well-being objectives March 2023 – 

July 2023 

Report 

published 

Setting of Well-

being 

Objectives 

 

Thematic 

Review – 

Unscheduled 

Care 

A cross-sector review focusing on the 

flow of patients out of hospital. This 

review will consider how the Council is 

working with its partners to address 

the risks associated with the provision 

of social care to support hospital 

discharge, as well as prevent hospital 

admission. The work will also consider 

what steps are being taken to provide 

medium to longer-term solutions. 

August 2022 – 

July 2023 

Fieldwork 

nearing 

completion, 

reporting from 

September 

2023 onward. 

Page 396

https://www.audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-setting-well-being-objectives
https://www.audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-setting-well-being-objectives
https://www.audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-setting-well-being-objectives


Page 6 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea Council 

2022-23 

Performance 

Audit work  

Scope Timetable Status 

Thematic review 

– Digital 

A review of councils’ strategic 

approach to digital, and the extent to 

which this has been developed in 

accordance with the sustainable 

development principle; and that it will 

help to secure value for money in the 

use of councils’ resources. 

January – 

September 

2023. 

Report being 

finalised 

  

Page 397



Page 7 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea Council 

2023-24 

Performance 

Audit work  

Scope 

 

Timetable Status 

Assurance and 

Risk 

Assessment 

Project to identify the level of audit 

assurance and/or where further audit 

work may be required in future years 

in relation to risks to the Council 

putting in place proper arrangements 

to secure value for money in the use 

of resources and acting in accordance 

with the sustainable development 

principle. 

April 2023 – 

December 

2023 

 

Ongoing 

Thematic review 

– Financial 

Sustainability 

A review of councils’ financial 

sustainability including a focus on the 

actions, plans and arrangements to 

bridge funding gaps and address 

financial pressures over the medium 

term. 

March – June 

2024 

Scoping 

Thematic review 

– 

commissioning 

and contract 

management 

A review focusing on how councils’ 

arrangements for commissioning, and 

contract management apply value for 

money considerations and the 

sustainable development principle. 

January – July 

2024 

Scoping 

  

Page 398



Page 8 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea Council 

Local government national studies planned/in progress 

Study Scope Timetable Status Fieldwork 

planned at 

Swansea 

Council 

Planning for 

sustainable 

development – 

Brownfield 

regeneration 

Review of how 

local 

authorities are 

promoting and 

enabling better 

use of vacant 

non-domestic 

dwellings and 

brownfield 

sites 

October 

2022 – 

September 

2023 

Report drafting – 

publication due  

November/December 

2023 

Yes – interview 

with nominated 

officer at seven 

councils and 

survey. 

Governance of 

special 

purpose 

authorities – 

National Parks 

Review of 

systems and 

effectiveness 

of governance  

November 

2022 – 

September 

2023 

Report drafting – 

publication due 

November/December 

2023. 

No 

Corporate 

Joint 

Committees 

(CJCs) 

Assessing 

CJCs’ 

progress in 

developing 

their 

arrangements 

to meet their 

statutory 

obligations 

and the Welsh 

Government’s 

aim of 

strengthening 

regional 

collaboration. 

September 

2022 – 

August 

2023 

individual letters have 

been issued to the 

four CJCs. National 

summary report due 

for publication 

October/November 

2023. 

Yes – We 

explored the 

Council’s 

perspective via 

our routine 

liaison meetings.  

Fieldwork 

included 

interviews with 

the chief 

executive, 

director of 

finance and chair 

of each of the 

four CJCs. 

Page 399



Page 9 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea Council 

Study Scope Timetable Status Fieldwork 

planned at 

Swansea 

Council 

Governance in 

Fire and 

Rescue 

Authorities 

Review of 

systems and 

effectiveness 

of governance 

September 

2023 – 

March 2024 

Project brief issued No 

Homelessness Examining 

how services 

are working 

together to 

progress the 

response to 

homelessness. 

tbc Scoping tbc 

  

Page 400



Page 10 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea 

Council 

Estyn  

Our link inspectors are continuing to work with Torfaen as part of our follow-up process for an 

authority causing significant concern. Wrexham local authority was removed from the causing 

significant concern category following a monitoring visit in July. We inspected Gwynedd in the week 

beginning 26 June and Carmarthenshire in the week beginning 10 July. Both reports have been 

published on our website.  We will be inspecting Conwy local government education service on the 

week beginning 6 November. 

Field work being carried out across local authorities during the autumn term includes a focus on 

attendance, school improvement and the work of the local authority to mitigate the impact of poverty 

on learners’ attainment. 

Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 

CIW planned 

work 2023-25 

Scope Timetable Status 

Thematic 

reviews 

 

 

CLDT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Deprivation of 

Liberty 

Safeguards – 

10 years on  

 

 

 

 

Working with HIW we will complete a 

small sample of joint CLDT inspections 

in 2024. We will use this approach to 

evaluate and consider our approach to 

joint inspection.  

 

 

We are working in partnership with HIW 

to consider our approach and follow up 

on the report: A National Review of the 

use of Deprivation of Liberty 

Safeguards (DoLS) in Wales 

(hiw.org.uk) undertaken in 2014.  

 

 

 

 

2024-25 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2024-25 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scoping  

Stoke pathway Working in collaboration with HIW a 

National Review of Patient Flow: a 

journey through the stroke pathway 

(hiw.org.uk) has recently been 

published.  

Complete Published 

 

Page 401

https://www.hiw.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-06/141103dolsnationalreviewen.pdf
https://www.hiw.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-06/141103dolsnationalreviewen.pdf
https://www.hiw.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-06/141103dolsnationalreviewen.pdf
https://www.hiw.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-06/141103dolsnationalreviewen.pdf
https://www.hiw.org.uk/system/files/2023-09/05092023%20-%20PatientFlowStrokePathwaySummary%2CEN.pdf
https://www.hiw.org.uk/system/files/2023-09/05092023%20-%20PatientFlowStrokePathwaySummary%2CEN.pdf
https://www.hiw.org.uk/system/files/2023-09/05092023%20-%20PatientFlowStrokePathwaySummary%2CEN.pdf


Page 11 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea 

Council 

CIW planned 

work 2023-25 

Scope Timetable Status 

National review 

of Care 

Planning for 

children and 

young people 

subject to the 

Public Law 

Outline pre-

proceedings 

Purpose of the review 

To provide external scrutiny, assurance 

and to promote improvement regarding 

the quality of practice in relation to the 

care planning for children and young 

people subject to the public law outline 

pre-proceedings. 

To consider the extent to which 

practice has progressed since the 

publication of both the CIW ‘National 

Review of care planning for children 

and young people subject to public law 

outline pre-proceedings’ and the 

publication of the PLO working group 

report 2021 including best practice 

guidance. 

In progress Publication 

November 2023 

Deprivation of 

Liberty 

Safeguards 

Annual 

Monitoring 

Report for 

Health and 

Social Care 

2022-23 

The 2020-21 report was published on 7 

February 2021 

 

The 2021-2022 report is underway 

Published 

 

 

To be 

confirmed 

Published 

 

 

Preparing 

Page 402

https://www.careinspectorate.wales/national-review-use-deprivation-liberty-safeguards-dols-wales-2021-22


Page 12 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea 

Council 

CIW planned 

work 2023-25 

Scope Timetable Status 

Joint 

Inspection 

Child 

Protection 

Arrangements 

(JICPA) 

We will complete a further two multi-

agency joint inspections in total.  

 

The findings following Denbighshire 

County Council have been published - 

Joint Inspectorate Review of Child 

Protection Arrangements (JICPA): 

Denbighshire 2023 | Care Inspectorate 

Wales 

 

The findings following Bridgend County 

Borough Council have been published - 

Joint Inspectorate Review of Child 

Protection Arrangements (JICPA): 

Bridgend 2023 | Care Inspectorate 

Wales 

 

We will publish a national report in late 

spring 2024. 

April 2023 – 

April 2024 

Delivery 

Performance 

review of Local 

Authorities  

We continue to inspect Local 

Authorities in line with our updated 

Code of Practice for our local authority 

inspection activity | Care Inspectorate 

Wales 

 

How we inspect local authority services 

and CAFCASS Cymru 

Ongoing Ongoing 

  

Page 403

https://www.careinspectorate.wales/joint-inspectorate-review-child-protection-arrangements-jicpa-denbighshire-2023
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/joint-inspectorate-review-child-protection-arrangements-jicpa-denbighshire-2023
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/joint-inspectorate-review-child-protection-arrangements-jicpa-denbighshire-2023
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/joint-inspectorate-review-child-protection-arrangements-jicpa-denbighshire-2023
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/joint-inspectorate-review-child-protection-arrangements-jicpa-bridgend-2023
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/joint-inspectorate-review-child-protection-arrangements-jicpa-bridgend-2023
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/joint-inspectorate-review-child-protection-arrangements-jicpa-bridgend-2023
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/joint-inspectorate-review-child-protection-arrangements-jicpa-bridgend-2023
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/230510-we-have-published-our-updated-code-practice-our-local-authority-inspection-activity
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/230510-we-have-published-our-updated-code-practice-our-local-authority-inspection-activity
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/230510-we-have-published-our-updated-code-practice-our-local-authority-inspection-activity
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/230510-we-have-published-our-updated-code-practice-our-local-authority-inspection-activity
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/230510-we-have-published-our-updated-code-practice-our-local-authority-inspection-activity
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/how-we-inspect-local-authority-social-services-and-cafcass-cymru
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/how-we-inspect-local-authority-social-services-and-cafcass-cymru


Page 13 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea 

Council 

Audit Wales national reports and other outputs published 

since September 2022 

Report title Publication date and 

link to report  

NHS workforce – data briefing September 2023 

Income Diversification for National Park Authorities in Wales September 2023 

Approaches to achieving net zero across the UK  September 2023 

Springing Forward: Lessons learnt from our work on workforce and 

assets (in local government) 

September 2023 

Local Government Financial Sustainability Data tool update (further 

update planned autumn 2023) 

September 2023 

NHS finances data tool – to 31 March 2023 September 2023 

Public interest reports – Ammanford Town Council and Llanferres 

Community Council 

September 2023 

Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board - Quality Governance 

Arrangements Joint Review Follow-up 

August 2023 

‘Cracks in the Foundations’ – Building Safety in Wales August 2023 

Maximising EU funding – the Structural Funds Programme and the Rural 

Development Programme 

June 2023 

Digital inclusion in Wales (including key questions for public bodies) March 2023 

Page 404

https://www.audit.wales/news/new-data-briefing-highlights-workforce-challenges-faced-nhs-wales
https://audit.wales/publication/income-diversification-national-park-authorities-wales
https://www.audit.wales/publication/approaches-achieving-net-zero-across-uk-0
https://www.audit.wales/publication/springing-forward-lessons-our-work-workforce-and-assets
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiMTE1ZjlkOGMtZTcwZi00MzNhLWE1ZTYtOTBiZWM0YjJjOGE4IiwidCI6ImRmZDY5MmYwLTE2YmYtNDQ0OS04OGUzLWU3NzM1ZGZjY2ZlOCIsImMiOjh9
https://www.audit.wales/publication/nhs-wales-finances-data-tool-march-2023
https://www.audit.wales/news/significant-deficiencies-identified-financial-management-and-record-keeping-ammanford-town
https://audit.wales/publication/cwm-taf-morgannwg-university-health-board-quality-governance-arrangements-joint-review
https://www.audit.wales/publication/cracks-foundations-building-safety-wales
https://www.audit.wales/publication/maximising-eu-funding-structural-funds-programme-and-rural-development-programme
https://www.audit.wales/publication/digital-inclusion-wales


Page 14 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea 

Council 

Report title Publication date and 

link to report  

Orthopaedic Services in Wales – Tackling the Waiting List Backlog March 2023 

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board – Review of Board 

Effectiveness 

February 2023 

Welsh Government purchase of Gilestone Farm January 2023 

Together we can – Community resilience and self-reliance January 2023 

A Picture of Flood Risk Management December 2022 

‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises December 2022 

Poverty Data Tool November 2022 

‘Time for change’ – Poverty in Wales November 2022 

Learning from cyber-attacks October 2022 

(distributed privately to 

audited bodies) 

National Fraud Initiative 2020-21 October 2022 

COVID-19 business support in 2020-21 – Memorandum for the Public 

Accounts and Public Administration Committee 

October 2022 

Payment to the Welsh Government’s Former Permanent Secretary on 

Termination of Employment 

September 2022 

Page 405

https://www.audit.wales/publication/orthopaedic-services-wales-tackling-waiting-list-backlog
https://www.audit.wales/publication/betsi-cadwaladr-university-health-board-review-board-effectiveness
https://www.audit.wales/publication/welsh-government-purchase-gilestone-farm
https://www.audit.wales/publication/together-we-can-community-resilience-and-self-reliance
https://www.audit.wales/publication/picture-flood-risk-management
https://www.audit.wales/publication/missed-opportunity-social-enterprises
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiNDg4Y2M3NjctYWUyMS00NTQ2LWJhNmUtZmVjMmZhOGU2YjUyIiwidCI6ImRmZDY5MmYwLTE2YmYtNDQ0OS04OGUzLWU3NzM1ZGZjY2ZlOCIsImMiOjh9&pageName=ReportSection0d8d49278965a2510172
https://www.audit.wales/publication/time-change-poverty-wales
https://www.audit.wales/cyhoeddiad/national-fraud-initiative-2020-21
https://www.audit.wales/publication/covid-19-business-support-2020-21
https://www.audit.wales/publication/payment-welsh-governments-former-permanent-secretary-termination-employment


Page 15 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea 

Council 

Report title Publication date and 

link to report  

Equality Impact Assessments: More than a Tick Box Exercise? September 2022 

Welsh Government – setting of well-being objectives September 2022 

Welsh Government workforce planning and management September 2022 

Audit Wales national reports and other outputs (work in 

progress / planned)1, 2 

Title Indicative publication date  

Covering teachers’ absence – follow-up (letter to the Public 

Accounts and Public Administration Committee) 

October 2023 

NHS quality governance October/December 2023 

A465 Section 2 – update November/December 2023 

Ukrainian refugee services December 2023/January 2024 

 

1 We will continue to keep our plans under constant review, taking account of the evolving 

external environment, our audit priorities, the context of our own resourcing and the 

capacity of audited bodies to engage with us. Follow up work could also lead to other 

outputs, as may other local audit work where we consider there is merit in a national 

summary output of some kind.  

2 We have also published to our website a paper – Our work programme for 2023-2026 –

that provides additional detail about our national work (including local thematic reviews). 

In addition to new work that we will be taking forward in 2023-24, the paper includes 

details about indicative topics for work to start in 2024-24 or 2025-26. 

Page 406

https://www.audit.wales/news/making-equality-impact-assessments-more-just-tick-box-exercise
https://www.audit.wales/publication/setting-well-being-objectives-welsh-government
https://www.audit.wales/cyhoeddiad/welsh-government-workforce-planning-and-management
https://www.audit.wales/sites/default/files/2023-05/our-work-programme-23.pdf


Page 16 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea 

Council 

Title Indicative publication date  

Local government digital strategy review – national 

summary  

January 2024 

Local government use of performance information, 

outcomes and service user perspective – national 

summary 

November/December 202 

Affordable housing February/March 2024 

Active travel Spring 2024 

Cancer services To be confirmed (scoping) 

Velindre Cancer Centre To be confirmed (scoping) 

Welsh Government capital and infrastructure investment To be confirmed (scoping) 

Addressing biodiversity decline (pan-public sector and at 

Natural Resources Wales) 

R&D work underway September to 

December 2023. Data gathering with 

representative groups. Outputs will 

inform any further audit work. 

Further and higher education funding and oversight – 

Commission for Tertiary Education and Research 

To be confirmed (scoping) 

The senior public service To be confirmed (scoping early 2024) 

Challenges for the cultural sector To be confirmed (starting in 2023-24) 

Rebalancing care and support To be confirmed (starting in 2023-24) 

Page 407



Page 17 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea 

Council 

Title Indicative publication date  

Tackling NHS waiting lists To be confirmed (starting in 2023-24) 

Access to education for children with Additional Learning 

Needs 

To be confirmed (starting in 2023-24) 

Audit Committees. ‘What does good look like?’. R&D work 

to understand the broad audit committee landscape across 

all sectors in Wales. Outputs to support Good Practice 

Exchange events and potential future audit work. 

R&D work Sept – Dec 2023 

Good Practice Event Spring 2024 

Good Practice Exchange events and resources  

Title Link to resource   

Strategy to Action: How digital makes a difference to everyday lives 

This event will take a practical and honest view at the digital landscape in 

Wales and will offer practical ideas for public and third sector 

organisations which will help them achieve the best value for money. 

27 September 2023 

09:00 – 13:00 – North 

Wales – To register for 

North Wales 

 

5 October 2023 09:00 

– 13:00 – Cardiff – To 

register for Cardiff 

Working in partnership to improve wellbeing This event will bring 

together the North Wales Insight Partnership, the Public Service Boards 

and the C4C community to share wellbeing plans across the North Wales 

region, as well as sharing the innovative work being undertaken by a 

range of sectors around wellbeing in our communities. The event will 

provide opportunities to discuss how we can connect all of this work to 

deliver real change. 

24 October 2023 09:30 

– 16:30  

To register for North 

Wales  

Cardiff date TBC  

Page 408

https://audit.wales/events/digital-strategy-north-wales
https://audit.wales/events/digital-strategy-cardiff
https://audit.wales/events/working-partnership-improve-wellbeing-0
https://audit.wales/events/working-partnership-improve-wellbeing-0


Page 18 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea 

Council 

Title Link to resource   

Integrity in the Public Sector ‘Trust is built and maintained through 

competence, reliability, and honesty, as well as the building of genuine 

and sound relationships between the public sector and the public it 

serves. That means the public sector must be accountable for the 

management and delivery of public services and outcomes, for the 

direction and control of the work it does, the resources it manages, and 

for its behaviour and ethics.’  This event will look at how public services 

can promote a culture of integrity.  

5 December 2023 

10:00 – 12:00 Online  

To register  

Podcast: Auditing Community Resilience In this edition of The 

Exchange, our Local Government team discuss some of the factors that 

cause poverty in Wales, as well as the value provided by social 

enterprises, and the importance of keeping wealth in communities. 

To listen  

Recent Audit Wales blogs 

Title Publication date  

Building Safety – Have we learnt from Grenfell? 1 August 2023 

Helping people to help themselves 15 February 2023 

A perfect storm – the cost of living crisis and domestic abuse 21 November 2022 

Tackling poverty means tackling poverty data 11 November 2022 

Cost of living and putting away the bayonet 21 September 2022 

Heat is on to tackle Climate Change 18 August 2022 

Direct Payments in Wales 15 June 2022 

Page 409

https://audit.wales/events/integrity-public-sector
https://audit.wales/news/podcast-auditing-community-resilience
https://www.audit.wales/blog/audit-wales/2023/8/1/building-safety-have-we-learnt-grenfell
https://www.audit.wales/blog/audit-wales/2023/2/15/helping-people-help-themselves-community-resilience-and-self-reliance
https://www.audit.wales/blog/audit-wales/2022/11/21/perfect-storm-cost-living-crisis-and-domestic-abuse
https://www.audit.wales/blog/audit-wales/2022/11/11/tackling-poverty-means-tackling-poverty-data
https://audit.wales/blog/audit-wales/2022/9/21/cost-living-and-putting-away-bayonet-0
https://www.audit.wales/blog/audit-wales/2022/8/18/heat-tackle-climate-change
https://www.audit.wales/blog/audit-wales/2022/6/15/direct-payments-wales


Page 19 of 19 - Audit Wales Work Programme and Timetable – City and County of Swansea 

Council 

Title Publication date  

Unscheduled Care in Wales – a system under real pressure 21 April 2022 

 

Page 410

https://www.audit.wales/blog/audit-wales/2022/4/21/unscheduled-care-wales-system-under-real-pressure


 
 

Report of the Head of Democratic Services  
 

Governance & Audit Committee – 25 October 2023 
 

Governance & Audit Committee Action Tracker Report 

 

Purpose: 
 

This report details the actions recorded by the 
Governance & Audit Committee and response to 
the actions. 
 

Report Author: Jeremy Parkhouse 
 

Finance Officer: N/A 
 

Legal Officer: N/A 
 

Access to Services 
Officer: 

N/A 

 

For Information 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 During the course of Governance & Audit Committee meetings various 

actions may be decided which are recorded on the minutes of the 
meetings. 

 
1.2 As agreed in 2016/17 an Action Tracker process was put in place to ensure 

transparency over the outcomes of actions agreed by Committee. 
 
1.3 The Action Tracker records the actions agreed by the Governance & Audit 

Committee and provides an outcome for each action. 
 
1.4 The up to date Action Tracker 2023/24 is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
1.5 The Action Tracker is regularly updated and any completed actions will be 

marked ‘Completed’ and coloured in grey. 
 
1.6 The Action Tracker is reported to each Governance & Audit Committee 

meeting for information. 
 

Page 411

Agenda Item 16



2. Integrated Assessment Implications 
 
2.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and the 

socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the exercise of their 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-
economic disadvantage 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
2.1.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that public 

bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. Sustainable 
development means the process of improving the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving 
the ‘well-being goals’. 

 
2.1.2 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid due 

regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and priorities, 
such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, carers, the United 
Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and Welsh language. 

 
2.2 There are no implications associated with this report. 
 
3. Financial Implications 
 
3.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 
Background Papers:  None 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Governance & Audit Committee Action Tracker 2023/24 (Recently 

closed actions highlighted). 
 

Page 412



Appendix 1 

Governance & Audit Committee - Action Tracker 2023/2024 

Date of 
Meeting 

Minute 
Ref 

Action Nominated 
Officer(s) 

Status / Timescale 

     

13/09/23 33 Governance & Audit Committee Work Plan   

  The Director of Finance stated that the Draft Statement of Accounts 
2022/23 and Audit Wales – Audit of Accounts Report – City & County 
of Swansea – Draft were delayed and would be deferred to the 
December Committee meeting. 

Ben Smith / 
Audit Wales 

Ongoing 
Added to the Work Plan for 6 December 
2023 meeting. 

13/09/23 31 Annual Review of Performance 2022-23 (including Self-
Assessment Report) 

  

  The suggested amendments to the draft report be updated prior to the 
report being presented to Council. 

Ness Young / 
Richard 

Rowlands 

Ongoing 
Report is scheduled for Council on 9 
November 2023. 

13/09/23 30 Education Directorate: Internal Control Environment 2023/2024   

  The Chair noted that the monitoring of the position at Clydach Primary 
School would be done by the Education Performance Scrutiny Panel 
and added that the Committee would gain assurance from their 
findings.  She requested that it be added to the Action Tracker Report. 

Education 
Performance 

Scrutiny 
Panel 

Ongoing 
The request is being considered. 

13/09/23 28 Internal Audit Recommendation Follow-Up Report Quarter 1 
2023/24 

  

  The Chair requested that in future, this report be combined with the 
quarterly monitoring report. 

Nick Davies / 
Simon 

Cockings 

Ongoing 
The request is being considered for the Q2 
reports due at the December meeting. 

  The Committee also queried the reporting of all outstanding high / 
medium risks that had not been actioned in future in order for long term 
outstanding risks to be identified. 

Nick Davies / 
Simon 

Cockings 

Ongoing 
For consideration. This will require the 
interrogation of the audit system and 
ultimately, some additional man hours to 
see the required information can be 
extracted. Feasibility to be investigated. 

  A report regarding external audit recommendations would be provided 
in December 2023 and the action added to the Action Tracker Report. 

Ness Young / 
Richard 

Rowlands 

Ongoing 
Added to the Work Plan for 06/12/23 
meeting. 
 
 
 

P
age 413



13/09/23 26 Internal Audit Monitoring Report - Quarter 1 - 2023/24   

  The audit of regional working, the scope of testing and the possibility of 
providing information to Committee on what areas had been tested. 

Nick Davies / 
Simon 

Cockings 

Closed 
Regional Working Internal Final Audit Memo 
issued in June and the areas included in the 
review circulated to the Committee. 

  Gas boiler servicing, the related risk potential with delays as a result of 
Covid and providing an update in a future quarterly report. 

Nick Davies / 
Simon 

Cockings 

Closed 
Response provided by Nigel Williams, Head 
of Building Services circulated to the 
Committee. 

  Lettings at Swansea Marina and Boat Parks, assurances provided by 
officers and gaining further assurance with follow-up information during 
the next quarter. 

Nick Davies / 
Simon 

Cockings 

Closed 
Response provided by Steve Kern, Marina 
Manager circulated to the Committee. 

  Destinations Lettings audit – providing confirmation that the unpaid 
licence fee had been paid, was being recovered or had been revoked. 

Nick Davies / 
Simon 

Cockings 

Closed 
Response provided by Jamie Rewbridge, 
Strategic Manager Leisure Partnerships 
Health Wellbeing circulated to the 
Committee. 

19/07/23 22 Governance & Audit Committee Action Tracker Report   

  The Chair referred to the following: - 
 

 Minute No.6 – 14 June 2023 – Fleet Maintenance Audit Report 
2022/23 

 
The Chair asked for the total mileage for each of the vehicles to make 
sure the vehicles are being used to achieve the best benefits to the 
environment and to the financial position of the Council. The additional 
information requested is still awaited. 
 
The Chair also requested that details of the discussion be fed back to 
the Chief Auditor and Fleet Manager. 

Mark Barrow 
/ Simon 

Cockings 

Closed 
Response circulated 28/09/2023 

19/07/23 19 Internal Audit Section - Fraud Function Annual Report for 
2022/2023 

  

  The Corporate Fraud Manager stated that he would provide responses 
regarding / action the following: - 
 
• Agency staff / contractor investigations. Closed 
• Housing Options advice regarding housing succession fraud.  
             Closed 
• Provide reasons for closure in future reports. 

Jonathon 
Rogers 

Ongoing 
Response circulated in August 2023 
regarding Housing Options advice on 
housing succession fraud. 
 
Response circulated in October 2023 
regarding agency staff / contractor 

P
age 414



• Provide examples of cases studies in future training sessions. investigations. 

19/07/23 17 Annual Complaints Report - Six Month Update.   

  The Director of Corporate Services would liaise with Sarah Lackenby, 
Head of Head of Digital and Customer Services regarding the actions / 
changes required. 

Ness Young / 
Sarah 

Lackenby 

Closed 
Email circulated – 13/09/2023. 
 

19/07/23 16 Minutes   

  Minute No. 9 – Internal Audit Recommendation Follow-Up Report – 
Quarter 4 2022/23 – amend paragraph 3 to: - 
 
‘The Committee queried the recommendation tracking of the Food & 
Safety Division, namely the disposal of electronic records being 
disposed of in accordance with the Council’s retention policy (LR Rec).  
The Chief Auditor confirmed that he would add that aspect of the audit 
to the audit of the review of Application Controls – CX System (Flare 
Replacement), which is in the Audit Plan’. 

Simon 
Cockings 

Closed 
Data retention is included in the planned 
audit of the CX/Flare System and has been 
noted on the audit programme. 

14/06/23 13 Governance & Audit Work Plan   

  It was highlighted that there was not any training contained in the Work 
Plan. The Chair stated that future training was being considered. The 
Director of Corporate Services would discuss prior to the next meeting. 

Chair / Ness 
Young  

Ongoing 
A training session would be arranged as 
soon as possible. 

14/06/23 10 Audit Wales - City & County of Swansea Annual Audit Summary   

  The request that the report be forwarded to Council / Cabinet was 
noted and would be discussed further following the meeting. 

CMT Closed 
Report would not be reported to Cabinet / 
Council. Governance & Audit Committee is 
the appropriate Committee to receive the 
report. 

14/06/23 7 Accounts Receivable   

  The Chair thanked the officers for a detailed report and requested an 
update be provided in approximately 6 months. 

Rachael 
Davies / 
Michelle 
Davies  

Ongoing 
Added to the Work Plan for January 2024. 
 
 

12/04/23 111 Internal Audit Strategy & Annual Plan 2023/24   

   The Chair asked the Chief Auditor to consider whether the reviews of 
Clydach and Crwys Primary Schools, which had been requested by the 
Education Department, were the responsibility of the department and 
not Internal Audit. She added that due to the size of the Plan and the 
resources issues, the request could be pushed back to be dealt with by 
central management. 

Simon 
Cockings 

Closed 
The audit of Clydach has been completed 
and Crwys is due in Q3 at the request of the 
Director of Education as a result of specific 
added value work requested as part of the 
2023/24 consultation process. Comments 
will be considered for any future requests of 
a similar nature. 

P
age 415



08/03/23 105  Governance & Audit Committee Action Tracker Report   

  The Chair highlighted the following: - 
 

 Minute 90 (08/02/2023) – Audit Wales Reports – Readiness of the 
Public Sector for Net Zero Carbon by 2030 – Councillor A S Lewis 
(Deputy Leader of the Council) had updated the Climate Change 
and Nature Performance Panel regarding progress and would 
provide the Committee with a briefing note in order to provide 
assurance. 

Councillor 
Andrea 

Lewis / Geoff 
Bacon 

Ongoing 
Audit Wales have rightly identified the need 
for all public bodies to develop costed plans 
to meet political aspirations and legal 
obligations. It remains relatively early days 
and at this stage it is not realistic to have a 
fully costed plan that’s aligned to the MTFP 
and beyond. The costed plan doesn’t and 
couldn’t align with a 4-year MTFP as the 
programme will develop and continues up 
until 2030.  
 
As yet there has been no statement from 
WG concerning additional funding. The 
council recognises it obligations and the 
expectations placed upon it and the wider 
public sector and will continue to develop its 
own methodology and share and learn best 
practice with others to try and ensure 
comparability and consistency where 
possible. Conversations are ongoing with 
Welsh Government Energy Services as to 
how an action plan can be refined and 
properly delivered which strikes a pragmatic 
balance between the realistic and affordable 
at a truly local, council wide level and what 
will require regional, national and 
international joint working and very 
substantial additional funding support . A 
future draft/interim report will follow when 
completed.  

08/02/23 88 Social Services Absence Management Audit Report Update   

   Comparators being provided in future reports to allow the Committee to 
observe if absences are reducing or not and Introducing measures that 
were aimed at reducing future sickness. 

Rachael 
Davies 

Ongoing 
Update to be provided at 25/10/23 meeting. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 416



14/12/22 70  Annual Review of Performance 2021-22   

   The following be added to the 2022/23 report: - 

  Consider methods & methodologies for 2022/23 in parts 1, 2, 3. 

 Linking the performance and risk assessments for 2022/23. 

 Recognizing improvements that would need to be articulated within  
the report around stronger analysis. 

 Improving the links between consultation engagement and 
stakeholder reference.  

Richard 
Rowlands 

Closed 
Report provided to Committee on 
13/09/2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

27/09/22  The Chair requested that an evaluation of the effectiveness of 
Occupational Health be completed.  

Rachael 
Davies 

Ongoing 
A review of sickness management and the 
end-to-end absence management process 
including Occupational Health will be 
completed by October 2023 and the findings 
will be reported to the meeting on 
06/12/2023. 

08/02/22 74 Internal Audit Recommendation Follow-Up Report - Quarter 3 
2021/22 

  

  The Chair highlighted that a suitable solution in respect of External 
Audit Recommendation Tracking should be found as soon as possible 
in order for the Council to have a far better control of the situation. 

Ness Young / 
Richard 

Rowlands 

Closed  

Duplicate with Minute No.28 – 13/09/23. 
Report scheduled for 06/12/23. 

 

P
age 417



 
 

Report of the Head of Democratic Services  
 

Governance & Audit Committee – 25 October 2023 
 

Governance & Audit Committee Work Plan  
 

Purpose: 
 

This report details the Governance & Audit 
Committee Work Plans to May 2024. 
 

Report Author: Jeremy Parkhouse 
 

Finance Officer: N/A 
 

Legal Officer: N/A  
 

Access to Services 
Officer: 

N/A  

 

For Information 
 

1. Introduction 

 
1.1 The Governance & Audit Committee Work Plan to May 2024 in Terms 

of Reference Order is attached at Appendix 1. 
  
1.2 The Additional Work programme Governance and Audit Committee 
 as a result of the Local Government and Elections Act is attached at 
 Appendix 2. 
 
1.3 The Scrutiny Programme Committee Work Plan 2023/24 report is 

attached at Appendix 3.  
 
1.4 The Scrutiny & Monitoring of External Audit / Inspection / Regulatory 
 (AIR) Reports (2023/24) is attached at Appendix 4. 
 
1.5 The updated Governance & Audit Committee Terms of Reference is 

attached at Appendix 5. 
 
1.6 The dates included for the meetings in 2023/24 were approved at the 

Council’s Annual Meeting on 18 May 2023.  
 
 
 

Page 418

Agenda Item 17



2. Integrated Assessment Implications 
 
2.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty 

and the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must 
in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
and other conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-
economic disadvantage 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs. 

 
2.1.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that 

public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. 
Sustainable development means the process of improving the economic, 
social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at 
achieving the ‘well-being goals’. 

 
2.1.2 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid 

due regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and 
priorities, such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, 
carers, the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child 
(UNCRC) and Welsh language. 

 
2.2 There are no impact assessment implications associated with this report. 
 
3. Financial Implications 
 
3.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 419



Background Papers:  None. 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 -   Governance & Audit Committee Work Plan to May 2024 in Terms 
                       of Reference Order. 
Appendix 2 -  Additional Work Programme - Governance and Audit Committee 

as a result of the Local Government and Elections Act. 
Appendix 3 - Scrutiny Programme Committee Work Plan 2023/24 
Appendix 4 -  Scrutiny & Monitoring of External Audit / Inspection / Regulatory 

(AIR) Reports (2023/24). 
Appendix 5 -  Governance & Audit Committee Terms of Reference. 
 

Page 420



                           Governance & Audit Committee Workplan 2023/24                         Appendix 1 

Terms of 
Reference 

14 June 
2023 

19 July  
2023 

13 September  
2023 

25 October 
2023 

 6 December  
2023 

17 January 
2024 

28 February 
 2024 

 10 April 
2024 

June 
2024 

(24/25) 

Training          

Governance & 
Assurance 

Election of Chair & 
Vice Chair  
 
Appointment of 
Committee Member 
on Annual 
Governance Group 
 

Complaints 
Update Report 
2022/23 

 Scrutiny 
Annual Report 
2022-23. 
 
The 
Governance 
and 
Assurance 
Arrangements 
of Swansea 
Council's 
Strategic 
Partnerships – 
6 Month 
Update 
 
Public 
Services 
Ombudsman 
for Wales 
Annual letter 
to the Council 
for the period 
2022-23 

Review of 
Sickness 
Management and 
Absence 
Management 
Process. 
 

Annual 
Complaints 
Report 
 
 
 

The 
Governance 
and Assurance 
Arrangements 
of Swansea 
Council's 
Strategic 
Partnerships. 
 
Update on the 
Council's 
Transformation 
Programme, 
including 
Governance 

Draft  
Committee 
Work 
Programme 
2024/25 

Annual 
Governance 
Statement 
2023/24 
 
Draft 
Governance 
& Audit 
Committee 
Annual 
Report 
2023/24 
 
Election of 
Chair & Vice 
Chair  
 
Appointment 
of Committee 
Member on 
Annual 
Governance 
Group 
 

Internal Audit IA Quarter 4 
2022/23  Monitoring 
Report  
 
IA Quarter 4 
2022/23 
Recommendation 
Tracker Report  
 
Fleet Maintenance 
Update 
 
Accounts 
Receivable Update 
 
DBS Update  
 

Annual Report 
of School Audits 
2022-23 
 
 
 
 

IA Quarter 1 2023/24 
Monitoring 
Report 
 
Moderate Report - 
Catering and 
Cleaning Team 23/24 
 
IA Quarter 1 2023/24 
Recommendation 
Tracking Report 

Employment 
of Agency 
Staff Update 
 
Management 
of Absence 
Update 
 
Moderate 
Report – 
Clydach 
Primary 
School 

 
External 
Assessment 
Report 
2023/24. 
 

IA Quarter 2 
2023/24 
Monitoring 
Report 
 
IA Quarter 2 
2023/24 
Recommendatio
n Tracker Report  
 
Fundamental 
Audits 2022/23 – 
Recommendatio
n Tracker Report 

Accounts 
Receivable 
Update 

Employment of 
Agency Staff 
Update 
 
Management of 
Absence 
Update 
 
IA Quarter 3 
2023/24 
Monitoring 
Report 
 
IA Quarter 3 
2023/24 
Recommendati
on Tracker 
Report  
 
IA Annual Plan 
Methodology 
Report 2024/25 
 
Draft IA Annual 
Plan 2024/25 

IA Charter 
2024/25 
 
IA Strategy & 
Annual Plan 
2024/25 
 
 

Internal Audit 
Annual 
Report 
2023/24 
 
 

Risk 
Management 

& 
Performance 

  Q1 Risk Monitoring 
Report 
 
The Annual Review 
of Performance 2022-

 Q2 Risk 
Monitoring 
Report 
 
 

Performance 
Management 
update. 

Q3 Risk 
Monitoring 
Report 

 Q4 Risk 
Monitoring 
Report 

P
age 421



                           Governance & Audit Committee Workplan 2023/24                         Appendix 1 
                                                                                     23 (including Self-

Assessment Report) 

Counter Fraud  Corporate 
Fraud Annual 
Report 2022/23 
and Corporate 
Fraud Annual 
Plan 2023/24 

  Corporate Fraud 
– Six Month 
Update 

    

Operational 
matters / key 

risks 

  Update on Internal 
Control Environment 
– Director of 
Education 
 

Update on 
Internal 
Control 
Environment - 
Director of  
Social 
Services 

Update on 
Internal Control 
Environment -  
Director of 
Finance 

 Update on 
Internal Control 
Environment – 
Director of 
Place  

Update on 
Internal 
Control 
Environment 
– Director of 
Corporate 
Services 

 

External Audit 
 
 
 

Audit Wales Report 
- City & County of 
Swansea Annual 
Audit Summary 
 

Audit Wales 
Work 
Programme and 
Timetable – City 
and County of 
Swansea 
Council. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Audit Wales 
Work 
Programme 
and Timetable 
– City and 
County of 
Swansea 
Council. 
 
Audit Wales – 
2023 Audit 
Plan 
 
'A Missed 
Opportunity' - 
Social 
Enterprises. 
 
'Together we 
can' - 
Community 
Resilience and 
Self-Reliance 

Audit Wales  
Work Programme 
and Timetable – 
City and County 
of Swansea 
Council. 
 
Setting of well-
being objectives 
– City 
and County of 
Swansea Council 
 
Audit Wales - 
Audit of Accounts 
Report - City & 
County of 
Swansea - Draft. 
 
External Audit 
Recommendations. 

  
Audit Wales 
Work 
Programme 
and Timetable 
– City and 
County of 
Swansea 
Council. 
 
 
 

Audit Wales - 
Assurance 
and Risk 
Assessment - 
Financial 
Position 
Update 
 
Audit Wales 
Report - City 
& County of 
Swansea 
Annual Audit 
Summary 
 
Audit Wales - 
2024 Audit 
Plan 

 

Financial 
Reporting 

    Draft Statement 
of Accounts 
2022/23 

    

P
age 422



Appendix 2 

 Additional Work programme Governance and Audit Committee 
As a result of the Local Government And Elections Act. 

 
Across all areas of the work programme, consideration and acknowledgement will be given to the views, feedback and assurance 
from the scrutiny and performance committees that robust overview and scrutiny has taken place of decisions, policies and 
proposals and the assurance then given to Audit committee when they are reviewing the area of work in relation to Assurance, risk 
environment, Regulatory compliance and overall governance.   
 

Area of work  Owner  Frequency  
 

The frequencies are a 
guide and additional 

reviews may take place 
as and when the 
committee feel 

necessary. 

Month to present to 
committee  

To review the Council’s corporate 
governance arrangements against the 
good governance framework  

Ness Young / Richard 
Rowlands  

Every 2 years  See Annual Governance 
Statement 

To review the Council’s draft annual 
Self-Assessment Report,  

Richard Rowlands   Annual  September 

To review the Council’s draft response 
to the Panel Performance Assessment 
Report  

Richard Rowlands  Once every 4 years  TBC 

To review the Council’s draft response 
to any Auditor General’s 
recommendations arising from a 
special inspection in respect of the 
Council’s performance requirements 

Ness Young As and When required  TBC 

To review the programme of work from 
regulators  

Richard Rowlands  Annually  Quarterly  

P
age 423



Appendix 2 

To review and assess the authority’s 
ability to handle complaints effectively 

Sarah Lackenby  Annual  January 

To review the Annual Governance 
Statement prior to approval 

Richard Rowlands  Annual  May 

To consider the Council’s 
arrangements to secure value for 
money and review assurances and 
assessments on the effectiveness of 
these arrangements. 
 

Richard Rowlands / Ness 
Young  

Annual  Possibly covered to a degree 
in the self-assessment report 
but too early to say. 

To consider the Council’s framework 
of assurance 

Richard Rowlands / Ness 
Young  

Annual  See Internal Audit Assurance 
Map 

To monitor the effective development 
and operation of risk management 

Richard Rowlands  Each meeting  Quarterly Overview of Risk 
Reports 

To consider reports on the 
effectiveness of internal controls and 
monitor the implementation of agreed 
actions 

Simon Cockings  As and when required  Quarterly Monitoring Reports 
throughout the year.  

To review the assessment of fraud 
risks and potential harm to the Council 
from fraud and corruption 

Simon Cockings  Every 6 months Fraud Function Annual Plan – 
March  
 
Fraud Function Annual 
Report – July  
 
Fraud Function Half-Year 
Update Report - December 

To monitor the counter fraud strategy, 
actions and resources 

Simon Cockings  Every 6 Months  Fraud Function Annual Plan – 
March  
 
Fraud Function Annual 
Report – July  
 

P
age 424



Appendix 2 

Fraud Function Half-Year 
Update Report - December 

To Receive proposals in relation to the 
appointment of external providers of 
internal audit services and to make 
recommendations 
 

Simon Cockings as and when n/a  

To review the governance and 
assurance arrangements for 
significant partnerships or 
collaborations 
 

Director of Corporate 
Services / Richard 
Rowlands / Relevant 
Director  

Annual  / as and when 
new Partnerships or 
collaborations are 
established  

June/July 

To approve the internal audit charter 
and resources 

Simon Cockings  Annual  Internal Audit Charter Report 
– April  

To consider the Chief Internal 
Auditor’s annual report and opinion, 
and a summary of internal audit 
activity (actual and proposed) and the 
level of assurance it can give over the 
Council’s corporate governance 
arrangements 

Simon Cockings Annual Internal Audit Annual Report 
– May  

To consider reports from the Chief 
Internal Auditor on Internal Audit’s 
performance during the year including 
the performance of external providers 
of internal audit services 

Simon Cockings Every 6 months  Quarterly Monitoring Reports 
throughout the year. 

To consider a report on the 
effectiveness of internal audit to 
support the Annual Governance 
Statement, where required to do so by 
the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
 

Simon Cockings Annual Internal Audit Annual Report 
– May 

P
age 425



Appendix 2 

To consider any impairments to 
independence or objectivity arising 
from additional roles or responsibilities 
outside of internal auditing of the Chief 
Internal Auditor. To approve and 
periodically review safeguards to 
limit such impairments 
 

Simon Cockings Annual Internal Audit Charter Report 
– April 

To receive reports outlining the action 
taken where the Chief Internal Auditor 
has concluded that management has 
accepted a level of risk that may be 
unacceptable to the authority or there 
are concerns about progress with the 
implementation of agreed actions 
 

Simon Cockings As and when  Quarterly Monitoring Reports 
throughout the year. 

To consider reports dealing with the 
management and performance of the 
providers of internal audit services 

Simon Cockings As and when required  Quarterly Monitoring Reports 
throughout the year. 

To consider a report from internal 
audit on agreed recommendations not 
implemented within a reasonable 
timescale. 

 

Simon Cockings Quarterly  Quarterly Monitoring Reports 
throughout the year. 

To contribute to the Quality Assurance 
and Improvement Programme and in 
particular the external quality 
assessment of internal audit that takes 
place at least once every five year 

Simon Cockings Every 5 Years  Internal Audit Annual Report 
– May 

To consider the external auditor’s 
annual letter, relevant reports, and to 
those charged with governance. 

Ben Smith   Annual  External Auditor’s annual 
letter – July 

P
age 426



Appendix 2 

To review the annual statement of 
accounts. 

Ben Smith  Annual  Report of S151 officer 
including Statement of 
Accounts –  July 

To consider the external auditor’s 
report to those charged with 
governance on issues arising from the 
audit of the accounts 

Ben Smith  Annual  External Audit Annual Report 
- July 

To publish an annual report on the 
work of the committee. 
 

Paula O’Connor  Annual  Draft Audit Committee Annual 
Report – May  

 

P
age 427



Appendix 3 
Scrutiny Programme Committee – Work Plan 2023/24 
 

ACTIVITY 18 Jul 2023 19 Sep 2023 17 Oct 2023 
 

14 Nov 2023 19 Dec 2023 16 Jan 2024 

Scrutiny Work 
Programme 

Agreement of Scrutiny 
Work Programme 

Scrutiny Annual Report 
2022/23 

 

    

Cabinet Member 
Portfolio Responsibility 
Q & A Sessions 

 Active Travel (CM for 
Environment & 
Infrastructure) 

  Support for Businesses 
(CM for Investment, 
Regeneration, Events & 
Tourism) 
 

Leader / Economy, 
Finance & Strategy  
 

Other Cabinet Member / 
Officer Reports 

  Scrutiny of Swansea 
Public Services Board 
(PSB Chair – Cllr 
Andrea Lewis) 
 

- Annual Corporate 
Safeguarding Report 
(CM for Care Services / 
Director of Social 
Services) 
- Children & Young 
People’s Rights 
Scheme (annual report) 
(CM for Community – 
Support) 

 

Delivery of Corporate 
Priority – Tackling Poverty 
(annual item) (Leader / 
CM for Wellbeing) 

 

Scrutiny Performance 
Panel Progress Reports 

  Education Service Improvement, 
Regeneration & Finance 
 

Adult Services Child & Family 
Services 

Pre-decision Scrutiny 
 

FPR7 Redevelopment 
of 277-278 Oxford 
Street - Community 
Hub Project 

 Oracle Fusion Project 
Implementation / Project 
Closure Report (Leader 
/ CM for Service 
Transformation) 

   

Final Scrutiny Inquiry 
Reports / Follow Up on 
Scrutiny Recs. 

   - Follow Up on Bus 
Services Working Group 
(CM for Environment & 
Infrastructure) 
- Anti-Social Behaviour 
Inquiry Final Report 

 
 

Follow Up on Road 
Safety Working Group 
(CM for Environ. & 
Infrastructure 

P
age 428



ACTVITY 13 Feb 2024 19 Mar 2024 16 Apr 2024 14 May 2024 
 

  

Scrutiny Work 
Programme 
 

 Audit / Scrutiny 
Relationship – 
Discussion w/ Chair of 
Governance & Audit 
Committee 

 End of Year Review   

Cabinet Member 
Portfolio Responsibility 
Q & A Sessions 

Delivery against 
Workforce 
Development Strategy 
(CM for Corporate 
Services & 
Performance 

     

Other Cabinet Member / 
Officer Reports 

Annual Complaints 
Report 2022-23  
(CM for Service 
Transformation) 

- Scrutiny of Swansea 
Public Services Board 
(PSB Chair – Cllr 
Andrea Lewis) 
- Welsh Language 
Standards (annual 
report) (CMs for 
Education & Learning / 
Culture, Human Rights 
& Equalities) 

 

Crime & Disorder 
Scrutiny - Safer 
Swansea Community 
Safety Partnership 
(Joint Chairs of Safer 
Swansea Partnership) 

   

Scrutiny Performance 
Panel Progress Reports 
 

Climate Change & 
Nature 

 

Education Service Improvement, 
Regeneration & 
Finance 
 

   

Pre-decision Scrutiny    
 
 
 

   

Final Scrutiny Inquiry 
Reports / Follow Up on 
Scrutiny Recs. 

   Follow Up on Co-
production Working 
Group (CM for 
Community - Support) 

  

 

P
age 429



Appendix 4 

Scrutiny & Monitoring of External Audit / Inspection / Regulatory Reports (2023/24) 
 
The Chair of the Governance & Audit Committee and Chair of the Scrutiny Programme Committee decide between them the route 
that specific reports should take, i.e., whether reported to and monitored by G & A Committee or SPC, as deemed appropriate.  
 
External reports that are relevant for Scrutiny are allocated either to the Scrutiny Programme Committee or referred to relevant 
Scrutiny Performance Panels and scheduled for discussion, as appropriate.  
  
When a report has been issued to the Council and is available for Scrutiny, the relevant Scrutiny Chair / Convener is made aware, 
and it can be highlighted to Committee / Panel members within the next available meeting agenda. 
 
Reporting to Scrutiny will typically require relevant Cabinet Members / Officers to attend meetings to discuss implications and 
present action plans along with statements about progress. Scrutiny Officers will engage with relevant Cabinet Members / Officers 
to forward plan the scheduling of Committee / Panel discussion at the right time, e.g., with a response / action plan (showing any 
progress to date), making the best use of time given pressure on scrutiny work plans / workloads.   
 
The Committee / Panel can then receive assurance from Council leads about their response to any external reports and provide 
challenge to ensure improvement, making observations, and arranging further monitoring as necessary.  
 
Depending on content, every report may not require the same level of involvement and consideration (given degree of importance 
or interest) therefore it will be up to relevant scrutiny lead member(s) to determine best approach in dealing with relevant reports. In 
certain cases, the Committee / Panel may take an exceptional approach to reports, e.g., being provided with information outside of 
meetings and only scheduling for discussion at a meeting with relevant Cabinet Member / Officer where there are specific issues, 
concerns about action / progress. Flexible approaches will relieve pressure on workloads and ensure best use of time and 
resources. 
 
The Governance & Audit Committee is provided with a log of reports being dealt with by Scrutiny so that it can maintain an 
oversight of monitoring and be assured that reports are being effectively followed up. 
 
 

P
age 430



Appendix 4 

Report Title Type of 
Report 

Lead Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Scrutiny 
Committee / 
Performance 
Panel 

Report(s) to Scrutiny  
 

Monitoring by 
Scrutiny 
Complete  
(YES / NO?) 

A report on education 
services in City and County 
of Swansea  
(September 2022) 
 

Estyn 
 

Education & 
Learning 

Education Panel 27 October 2022 
15 December 2022 
15 June 2023 
 
 

NO 
Further monitoring 
scheduled for 
14 Dec 2023 
 

‘Time for Change’ – Poverty 
in Wales (November 2022) 

Audit 
Wales 
(National) 

Economy, 
Finance & 
Strategy AND 
Well-being 

Scrutiny 
Programme 
Committee 

17 January 2023 NO 
Tackling Poverty is 
an annual item at 
Committee – actions 
arising from Audit to 
be followed up in 
Dec 2023 

‘A missed opportunity’ – 
Social Enterprises 
(November 2022) 

Audit 
Wales 
(National) 

Care Services Adult Services 
Panel 

5 September 2023 NO 
Discussion on 
Action Plan / 
progress to be 
arranged – likely 
Mar 2024 

‘Together We Can’ – 
Community Resilience and 
Self-Reliance  
(January 2023) 

Audit 
Wales 
(National) 

Community 
(Support) 

Adult Services 
Panel 

7 August 2023 YES 

Rose Cross Residential 
Care Home Inspection  
(May 2023) 

CIW Care Services Adult Services 
Panel 

28 June 2023 YES 

P
age 431

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2022-08/Inspection%20report%20City%20and%20County%20of%20Swansea%202022_0.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2022-08/Inspection%20report%20City%20and%20County%20of%20Swansea%202022_0.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2022-08/Inspection%20report%20City%20and%20County%20of%20Swansea%202022_0.pdf
https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=590&MId=10958&Ver=4&LLL=0
https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=590&MId=10960&Ver=4&LLL=0
https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=590&MId=11133&Ver=4&LLL=0
https://www.audit.wales/publication/time-change-poverty-wales
https://www.audit.wales/publication/time-change-poverty-wales
https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=188&MId=10869&Ver=4&LLL=0
https://www.audit.wales/cyhoeddiad/missed-opportunity-social-enterprises
https://www.audit.wales/cyhoeddiad/missed-opportunity-social-enterprises
https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=588&MId=11364&Ver=4&LLL=0
https://www.audit.wales/publication/together-we-can-community-resilience-and-self-reliance
https://www.audit.wales/publication/together-we-can-community-resilience-and-self-reliance
https://www.audit.wales/publication/together-we-can-community-resilience-and-self-reliance
https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=588&MId=11363&Ver=4&LLL=0
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/sites/default/files/inspection-reports/00009591-lcgg_c_17052023_e.pdf
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/sites/default/files/inspection-reports/00009591-lcgg_c_17052023_e.pdf
https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=588&MId=11185&Ver=4&LLL=0


Appendix 4 

Ty Waunarlwydd Home For 
The Elderly Inspection 
(June 2023) 
 

CIW Care Services Adult Services 
Panel 

28 June 2023 YES 

Setting of Wellbeing 
Objectives (August 2023) 

Audit 
Wales 
(National) 

Corporate 
Services & 
Performance 

Service 
Improvement, 
Regeneration and 
Finance 

17 October 2023  

 
NOTE: 

 
Estyn:  All individual School Estyn Inspection outcome summaries and links to full reports are included in Education Scrutiny 
Performance Panel agendas for information / awareness. The Panel will follow up on any where there are concerns and some when 
good practice has been highlighted. 

P
age 432

https://www.careinspectorate.wales/sites/default/files/inspection-reports/00009590-vfmg_c_01062023_e.pdf
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/sites/default/files/inspection-reports/00009590-vfmg_c_01062023_e.pdf
https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=588&MId=11185&Ver=4&LLL=0
https://www.audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-setting-well-being-objectives
https://www.audit.wales/publication/city-and-county-swansea-council-setting-well-being-objectives


  Appendix 5 

  Agreed by Council – 7 July 2022 

  Governance & Audit Committee – Terms of ReferenceCM3 
 

Statement of Purpose 
 

The Governance and Audit Committee is a key component of the City and 
County of Swansea’s corporate governance. It provides an independent and 
high level focus on the audit, assurance and reporting arrangements that 
underpin good governance and financial standards. 
 
The purpose of the Governance and Audit Committee is to provide 
independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk management framework, 
the internal control environment and the performance assessment of the 
Council. It provides an independent review of the governance, performance 
assessment, risk management and control frameworks and oversees the 
financial reporting and annual governance processes. It oversees internal 
audit and external audit, helping to ensure efficient and effective assurance 
arrangements are in place. 
 
Membership  
 
The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 provides that two thirds of the 
members of the Committee are to be members of the council and one third 
must be lay members. Only one member of the Cabinet or Assistant to the 
Cabinet may sit on the Committee, and that person must not be the Leader. 
The Chair must be a lay member and the vice chair must not be a member 
of the Cabinet or an Assistant to the Cabinet. 

 
Governance, Performance, Risk and Control 

 
a) To review the Council’s corporate governance arrangements against 

the good governance framework and consider annual governance 
reports and assurances. 

 
b) To review the Council’s draft annual Self-Assessment Report, and 

make any appropriate recommendations for changes to the 
conclusions or actions the Council intends to make. 

 

c) To review the Council’s draft response to the Panel Performance 
Assessment Report, and make any appropriate recommendations 
for changes. 

 

d) To review the Council’s draft response to any Auditor General’s 
recommendations arising from a special inspection in respect of the 
Council’s performance requirements and to make any appropriate 
recommendations for changes. 

 

e) To review and assess the authority’s ability to handle complaints 
effectively and to make any associated reports and 

Page 433



  Appendix 5 

  Agreed by Council – 7 July 2022 

recommendations in relation to the authority’s ability to handle 
complaints effectively. 

 
f) To review the Annual Governance Statement prior to approval and 

consider whether it properly reflects the risk environment and 
supporting assurances. 

 
g) To consider the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money 

and review assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of 
these arrangements. 

 
h) To consider the Council’s framework of assurance and ensure that it 

adequately addresses the risks and priorities of the council. 
 
i) To monitor the effective development and operation of risk 

management in the Council. 
 
j) To monitor progress in addressing risk related issues reported to the 

Committee. 
 
k) To consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and 

monitor the implementation of agreed actions. 
 
l) To review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the 

Council from fraud and corruption. 
 
m) To monitor the counter fraud strategy, actions and resources. 

 

n) To review any proposals in relation to the appointment of external 
providers of internal audit services and to make recommendations. 

 

o) To review the governance and assurance arrangements for 
significant partnerships or collaborations. 

 
Internal Audit 

 
p) To approve the internal audit charter and resources. 

 
q) To approve the risk-based internal audit plan, containing internal 

audit’s resource requirements, the approach to using other sources 
of assurances and any work required to place reliance upon those 
other sources. 

 

r) To approve significant interim changes to the risk based internal 
audit plan and resource requirements. 

 

Page 434



  Appendix 5 

  Agreed by Council – 7 July 2022 

s) To make appropriate enquiries of both management and the Chief 
Internal Auditor to determine if there are any inappropriate scope or 
resource limitations. 

 
t) To consider the Chief Internal Auditor’s annual report and opinion, 

and a summary of internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and 
the level of assurance it can give over the Council’s corporate 
governance arrangements. 

 

u) To consider the Chief Internal Auditor’s annual report. 
 

v) To consider reports from the Chief Internal Auditor on Internal 
Audit’s performance during the year including the performance of 
external providers of internal audit services. 

 

w) To consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support 
the Annual Governance Statement, where required to do so by the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations. 

 

x) To consider any impairments to independence or objectivity arising 
from additional roles or responsibilities outside of internal auditing of 
the Chief Internal Auditor. To approve and periodically review 
safeguards to limit such impairments. 

 
y) To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as 

requested. 
 

z) To receive reports outlining the action taken where the Chief Internal 
Auditor has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk 
that may be unacceptable to the authority or there are concerns 
about progress with the implementation of agreed actions. 

 
aa) To consider reports dealing with the management and performance 

of the providers of internal audit services. 
 
bb) To consider a report from internal audit on agreed recommendations 

not implemented within a reasonable timescale. 
 
cc) To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports, and 

the report to those charged with governance. 
 

dd) To contribute to the Quality Assurance and Improvement 
Programme and in particular the external quality assessment of 
internal audit that takes place at least once every five years. 

 

Page 435



  Appendix 5 

  Agreed by Council – 7 July 2022 

ee) To provide free and unfettered access to the Governance and Audit 
Committee Chair for the Chief Internal Auditor, including the 
opportunity for a private meeting with the Committee. 

 

External Audit 
 
ff) To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports, and 

to those charged with governance. 
 

gg) To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor. 
 
hh) To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to 

ensure it gives value for money. 
 
ii) To commission work from external audit. 

 

jj) To advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships 
between external audit and other inspector agencies or relevant 
bodies 

 
Financial Reporting 

 
kk) To review the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider 

whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed and 
whether there are concerns arising from the financial statements or 
from the audit that need to be brought to the attention of the Council. 

 
ll) To consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with 

governance on issues arising from the audit of the accounts. 
 

Accountability Arrangements 
 

mm) To report to full Council on a regular basis on the Committee’s 
performance in relation to the terms of reference and the 
effectiveness of the Committee in meeting its purpose. 
 

nn) To report to Council on an annual basis and to publish an annual 
report on the Committee’s work, its performance in relation to the 
Terms of Reference, and its effectiveness in meeting its purpose. 

 

oo) To raise the profile of probity generally within the Council and to 
report on matters of concern to the individual Cabinet Member, 
relevant Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet or to Council as necessary 
and appropriate. 

 

pp) To work in synergy with the Scrutiny Committees of the Council and 
liaise with other Council Committees as and when appropriate to 
avoid duplication in work programmes. 

Page 436



  Appendix 5 

  Agreed by Council – 7 July 2022 

 

qq) To report to those charged with governance on the committee’s 
findings, conclusions and recommendations concerning the 
Appendix 1 adequacy and effectiveness of their governance, risk 
management and internal control frameworks, financial reporting 
arrangements, and internal and external audit functions 

 

rr) To publish an annual report on the work of the committee. 
 

Training and Development 

 

ss) To attend relevant training sessions including specialist training 
tailored for Members of the Governance and Audit Committee. 
 

 

Page 437


	Agenda
	3 Cofnodion.
	Cofnodion

	4 Adroddiad Archwilio Ysgolion Gynradd Clydach 2023.  (Er Gwybodaeth) (David Roe)
	Report of the Director of Education
	Governance and Audit Committee – 25 October 2023

	5 Adroddiad Asesu Allanol 2023/24. (Er Gwybodaeth) (Simon Cockings)
	05 (2 of 7) - External Assessment Report 202324 - Appendix 1
	05 (3 of 7) - External Assessment Report 202324 - Appendix 2
	05 (4 of 7) - Internal Audit Charter 202324 - Appendix C
	05 (5 of 7) - Internal Audit Charter 202324 - Appendix D
	05 (6 of 7) - External Assessment Report 202324 - Appendix 3
	05 (7 of 7) - External Assessment Report 202324 - Appendix 4

	6 Cyfarwyddiaeth Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol: Amgylchedd Rheoli Mewnol 2023/24.  (Er Gwybodaeth) (David Howes)
	06 (2 of 4) - Appendix A - Social Services Risks@2 Oct 23
	06 (3 of 4) - Assurance Map SS - Updated 10-02-23
	06 (4 of 4) - DH231004am - Appendix C

	7 Adroddiad Blynyddol Craffu 2022-23 a'r Rhaglen Waith Craffu. (ER Gwybodaeth) (Cynghorydd P M Black)
	07 (2 of 5) - App 1 - Scrutiny Annual Report 2022-23
	07 (3 of 5) - App 2 - AGREED Scrutiny Work Programme 2023-24
	07 (4 of 5) - App 3 - Committee Work Plan 2023-24
	07 (5 of 5) - App 4 - Progress - Panels Working Groups Regional Scrutiny

	8 Llythyr Blynyddol Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru 2022-23.  (Er Gwybodaeth) (Sarah Lackenby)
	08 (2 of 2) - Appendix A

	9 Trefniadau Llywodraethu a Sicrhau Partneriaethau Strategol Cyngor Abertawe.  (Er Gwybodaeth) (Richard Rowlands)
	09 (2 of 2) - IIA_screening_form GA com 161023

	10 Cyflogaeth Staff yr Asiantaeth - Diweddariad 2023.  (Er Gwybodaeth) (Rachael Davies)
	10 (2 of 2) - IIA Governance and Audit Agency Workers October 2023

	11 Diweddariad Adroddiad Archwilio Rheoli Absenoldeb.  (Er Gwybodaeth) (Rachael Davies)
	11 (2 of 2) - IIA Governance and Sickness Absence October 2023

	12 Adroddiad ar 'gyfle a gollwyd' Archwilio Cymru - Mentrau Cymdeithasol yn adrodd argymhellion. (Er Gwybodaeth) (Lee Cambule)
	12 (2 of 4) - Appendix_A_Report_on_Audit_Wales_A_missed_opportunity_Report
	12 (3 of 4) - Appendix_B_A_missed_opportunity_Social_Enterprises
	‘A missed opportunity’ - Social Enterprises
	Contents
	Context
	Key findings
	Key facts
	Recommendations
	Social Enterprises can provide important services, but most local authorities lack a coherent strate
	While they claim they value Social Enterprises, few local authorities have mapped their activity or 
	Local authorities are not harnessing the potential of Social Enterprises to help deliver improved se

	Local authorities do not have the right mechanisms in place to maximise value for money from their w
	Procurement and commissioning arrangements do not encourage Social Enterprises to pursue public fund
	Social value does not feature as a key driver in local authority commissioning

	Local authorities are not delivering their responsibilities under the Social Services and Well-Being
	The majority of local authorities are not delivering  their responsibilities under the Social Servic
	There is minimal oversight and evaluation of Social Enterprises by local authorities

	Appendices
	1 Audit approach and methods
	2 Checklist for local authorities for effectively engaging and working  with Social Enterprises
	3 Differences in legislative, policy and funding for Social Enterprises across the three countries o
	4 Number of Social Enterprises by Welsh local authority and percentage change between 2016 - 2020
	5 Southeast Wales Community Economic Development programme
	6 Summary of Good Practice identified in this review


	12 (4 of 4) - Appendix_C_IIA_Screening_Form_A_missed_opportunity_GAC_Oct_2023

	13 Adroddiad ar 'Gyda'n Gilydd Gallwn' Archwilio Cymru - argymhellion adroddiad gwytnwch cymunedol a hunanddibyniaeth. (Er Gwybodaeth) (Lee Cambule)
	13 (2 of 4) - Appendix_A_Report_on_the_Audit_Wales_Together_We_Can_Report
	13 (3 of 4) - Appendix_B_Together_we_can_Community_resilience_and_self_reliance
	‘Together we can’  Community resilience and self-reliance
	Contents
	Context
	Key findings
	Recommendations
	Defining community resilience and self-reliance
	The policy shift from ‘doing’ to ‘enabling’ and ‘influencing’
	Most local authorities recognise the need to create more resilient and self-reliant communities, but

	The current approach of local authorities to creating more resilient communities and self-reliant pe
	Local authorities have a mixed track record in helping to build community resilience and strengthen 
	There are significant cultural, resource and capacity barriers to overcome in helping to create more
	The pandemic showed communities can play a more active role and become less dependent, but sustainin

	Looking to the future and learning from elsewhere 
	With an uncertain future and growing complexity in service delivery, local authorities must change h

	Appendices
	1 Audit approach and methods
	2 Community resilience and  self-reliance evaluation tool


	13 (4 of 4) - Appendix_C_IIA_Screening_Together_We_Can_Report

	14 Archwilio Cymru - Cynllun Archwilio Manwl Dinas a Sir Abertawe 2023.
	15 Rhaglen Waith ac Amserlen Archwilio Cymru - Cyngor Dinas a Sir Abertawe.
	16 Adroddiad Olrhain Gweithredu y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio.  (Er Gwybodaeth) (Jeremy Parkhouse)
	17 Cynllun Gwaith y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio.  (Er Gwybodaeth) (Jeremy Parkhouse)
	17 (2 of 6) - Audit Committee Workplan 2023-24
	17 (3 of 6) - Work programme Governance and audit Committee Nov 2021v2
	17 (4 of 6) - Scrutiny Committee Work Plan 2023-24
	17 (5 of 6) - Scrutiny & External Audit Reports - UPDATED LOG
	17 (6 of 6) - Terms of Reference




